
 London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Cabinet 
 

Agenda 
 

 

MONDAY 
15 JULY 2024 
7.00 pm 
 
 
 
GROUND FLOOR 
145 KING STREET 
LONDON W6 9XY 
 
Watch the meeting 
live on YouTube: 
youtube.com/hammer
smithandfulham 

Membership 
 
Councillor Stephen Cowan, Leader of the Council 
Councillor Ben Coleman, Deputy Leader 
Councillor Rebecca Harvey, Cabinet Member for Social Inclusion and 
Community Safety  
Councillor Bora Kwon, Cabinet Member for Civic Renewal,  
Councillor Alex Sanderson, Cabinet Member for Children and Education 
Councillor Wesley Harcourt, Cabinet Member for Climate Change and 
Ecology 
Councillor Andrew Jones, Cabinet Member for The Economy,  
Councillor Frances Umeh, Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Homelessness  
Councillor Rowan Ree, Cabinet Member for Finance and Reform 
Councillor Sharon Holder, Cabinet Member for Public Realm 
 

Date Issued 
05 July 2024 

If you require further information relating to this agenda please contact: 
Katia Neale, Committee Coordinator, tel: 07776 672 956 or email: 
katia.neale@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

Reports on the open Cabinet agenda are available on the Council’s 
website: www.lbhf.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy 

 
 

  

 
 

Members of the Public are welcome to attend but spaces are limited. To register for a place 
please contact katia.neale@lbhf.gov.uk. Seats will be allocated on a first come first serve 
basis. A loop system for hearing impairment is provided, together with disabled access to 

the building. 
 

https://www.youtube.com/hammersmithandfulham
https://www.youtube.com/hammersmithandfulham
mailto:katia.neale@lbhf.gov.uk
http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy
mailto:katia.neale@lbhf.gov.uk


 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DEPUTATIONS 

Members of the public may submit a request for a deputation to the Cabinet on item 
numbers 4-6 on this agenda using the Council’s Deputation Request Form. The completed 
Form, to be sent to Katia Neale at the above address, must be signed by at least ten 
registered electors of the Borough and will be subject to the Council’s procedures on the 
receipt of deputations. Deadline for receipt of deputation requests: Wednesday 10 July 
2024. 

COUNCILLORS’ CALL-IN TO SCRUTINY COMMITTEES 

A decision list regarding items on this agenda will be published by Tuesday 16 July 2024.  
Items on the agenda may be called in to the relevant Accountability Committee. 
 
The deadline for receipt of call-in requests is: Friday 19 July 2024 at 3.00pm. Decisions 
not called in by this date will then be deemed approved and may be implemented. 
 
A confirmed decision list will be published after 3:00pm on Friday 19 July 2024. 

 

 
 



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

Cabinet 
Agenda 

 
15 July 2024 

 
Item  Pages 

1.   MINUTES OF THE CABINET MEETING HELD ON 3 JUNE 2024  4 - 8 

2.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

3.   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS   

 If a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item, 
whether or not it is entered in the Authority’s register of interests, or any 
other significant interest which they consider should be declared in the 
public interest, they should declare the existence and, unless it is a 
sensitive interest as defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the nature 
of the interest at the commencement of the consideration of that item or 
as soon as it becomes apparent. 
 
At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in 
attendance and speak, any Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary 
interest or other significant interest may also make representations, give 
evidence or answer questions about the matter.  The Councillor must 
then withdraw immediately from the meeting before the matter is 
discussed and any vote taken.  
 
Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance and 
speak, then the Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest should 
withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is under consideration. 
Councillors who have declared other significant interests should also 
withdraw from the meeting if they consider their continued participation 
in the matter would not be reasonable in the circumstances and may 
give rise to a perception of a conflict of interest. 
 
Councillors are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a 
dispensation to that effect has been obtained from the Standards 
Committee. 
 

 

4.   THIRD SECTOR INVESTMENT FUND STRATEGY REPORT   9 - 31 

5.   QUEENSMILL SCHOOL TRANSITIONAL FUNDING  32 - 39 

6.   HAMMERSMITH TOWN CENTRE SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING 
DOCUMENT  

40 - 225 

7.   FORWARD PLAN OF KEY DECISIONS  226 - 277 

 



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

.  London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Cabinet 
Minutes 

 

Monday 3 June 2024 
 

 

 
NOTE: A recording of the meeting can be watched at on YouTube at:  
YouTube, https://youtube.com/live/lRL8Wqsw2o0?feature=share 
 
 
PRESENT 
 
Councillor Stephen Cowan, Leader of the Council 
Councillor Wesley Harcourt, Cabinet Member for Climate Change and Ecology 
Councillor Andrew Jones, Cabinet Member for The Economy 
Councillor Sharon Holder, Cabinet Member for Public Realm and Lead Member for 
Inclusive Community Engagement and Co-production 
Councillor Rebecca Harvey, Cabinet Member for Social Inclusion and Community Safety 
Councillor Bora Kwon, Cabinet Member for Civic Renewal 
Councillor Rowan Ree, Cabinet Member for Finance and Reform 
Councillor Alex Sanderson, Cabinet Member for Children and Education 
Councillor Frances Umeh, Cabinet Member for Housing and Homelessness 
 
ALSO PRESENT 
 
Councillor Adronie Alford 
  

 
1. MINUTES OF THE CABINET MEETING HELD ON 13 MAY 2024  

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 13 May 2024 be 
confirmed and signed as an accurate record of the proceedings, and that the 
outstanding actions be noted. 
 
 

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Ben Coleman. 
 
 

3. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 
 
 

Page 4

Agenda Item 1

https://youtube.com/live/lRL8Wqsw2o0?feature=share


______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

4. HATE CRIME STRATEGY 2024-2028  
 
Councillor Rebecca Harvey, Cabinet Member for Social Inclusion and  

Community Safety, introduced the report. This strategy’s four main objectives 

were to prevent hate crime and increase community cohesion, increase trust to 

encourage reporting of hate crimes, provide effective support to those affected 

it and to take coordinated action against perpetrators. The rise in Antisemitic 

and Islamophobic offences in London since the start of the conflict in the Middle 

East, highlighted the need for greater community cohesion and support for 

victims and witnesses of hate crime.  

 

AGREED UNANIMOUSLY BY THE CABINET MEMBERS: 

 
That Cabinet approves the contents and publication of Hammersmith & 
Fulham’s Hate Crime Strategy 2024 – 2028.  
 
Reason for decision:  
As set out in the report. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
As outlined in the report. 
 
Record of any conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
Note of dispensation in respect of any declared conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
 

5. AMENDMENTS TO FIXED PENALTY NOTICE CHARGES TO BE ISSUED 
BY THE LAW ENFORCEMENT TEAM  
 
Councillor Rebecca Harvey, Cabinet Member for Social Inclusion and  

Community Safety, introduced the report proposing some minor amendments to 

the Cabinet report approved on 4 December 2017, which set out the Fixed 

Penalty Notices charges for Littering and Fly tipping offences.  

 

Councillor Adronie Alford stated that residents should not be penalised for litter 
dropped from plastic bags on their gardens by rubbish collectors during 
collection. 
 
The Leader agreed that this had been a frustrating issue, but it was decreasing 
since a new contractor had been appointed. It would decrease even more 
significantly by replacing plastic bags with refuse, food waste and recycling 
bins. 
 
Bram Kainth, Strategic Director of Environment said that he was not aware of 
litter spillage being left behind since the new contractor had been appointed. 
However, if there was any specific instance that his was happening he would 
take it personally with the contractor to ensure it would not happen again. 

Page 5



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

AGREED UNANIMOUSLY BY THE CABINET MEMBERS: 

 
1. The existing FPN charge for the offence of leaving litter under section 88 

of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 is increased from £80 (with an 
early repayment amount of £60) to £150 (with an early repayment 
amount set at £100).  

 
2. The existing FPN charge for waste deposit (fly tipping) offences involving 

larger deposits of waste and litter (for example 2 bags and above 
equivalent) under section 33ZA of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 
is increased from £200 (with an early repayment amount of £150) to 
£1000 (with an early repayment amount set at £500). 

 
3. The council introduces a new FPN charge for breaches of the 

Household Waste Duty of Care under section 34(2A) of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 set at £400 (with an early repayment 
amount set at £250). 

 
4. The Council introduces these changes with effect from 01 July 2024. 

 
Reason for decision:  
As set out in the report. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
As outlined in the report. 
 
Record of any conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
Note of dispensation in respect of any declared conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
 

6. H&F COMPANIES UPDATE  
 
Councillor Rowan Ree, Cabinet Member for Finance and Reform introduced the 
report providing an update on the status of the companies owned by the 
Council. This update would be presented to Cabinet on a regular basis 
following the dissolution of the Commercial Revenue Committee. 
 
AGREED UNANIMOUSLY BY THE CABINET MEMBERS: 

 
1. To note that Appendices 1-7 are not for publication on the basis that they 

contain information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information) as set out 
in paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as 
amended). 

 
2. To note the status of the companies. 
 
 

Page 6



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

Reason for decision:  
As set out in the report. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
As outlined in the report. 
 
Record of any conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
Note of dispensation in respect of any declared conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
 

7. AVONMORE PRIMARY SCHOOL - CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTOR 
PROCUREMENT STRATEGY BUDGET AND REQUEST  
 
Councillor Andrew Jones, Cabinet Member for the Economy introduced the 
report setting out the latest stage of the redevelopment of Avonmore Primary 
School, which would provide a new primary school, enhanced nursery, and 91 
new homes of which 50% would be affordable. This report was seeking 
approval for both a capital budget and the works procurement strategy for the 
principal construction contractor to complete the development. 
 

AGREED UNANIMOUSLY BY THE CABINET MEMBERS: 

 
That Cabinet: 
 

1. Notes that Appendix 2 is not for publication on the basis that it contains 
information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular 
person (including the authority holding that information) as set out in 
paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as 
amended). 

 
2. Notes that Full Council approval will be sought for a total Development 

capital budget, including contingencies, to deliver the proposed new one 
form entry school and associated nursery and SEND facilities and new 
homes, to be funded through a combination of HRA  and GF borrowing, 
Right to Buy receipts and capital sales receipts from shared ownership 
and private leasehold sales, as set out in exempt Appendix 2. 

 
3. Authorises the Strategic Head of Regeneration and Development to take 

decisions on expenditure against this contingency budget subject to the 
continued viability of the development. 

 
4. Approves the Procurement Strategy, as set out in Appendix 3, to procure 

a principal construction contractor, using a single stage lump sum JCT 
standard form of building contract, on a design and build basis, via a two-
step mini competition procurement route, using the preferred Notting Hill 
Genesis Framework Agreement (NHG). 

 
 
 

Page 7



______________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

That Full Council: 
 
5. Approves a total Development capital budget, to deliver the proposed 

new school, nursery and new homes. The budget will be funded through 
a combination of HRA and GF borrowing, Right to Buy receipts and 
capital sales receipts from shared ownership and private leasehold sales, 
as set out in exempt Appendix 2. 

 
Reason for decision:  
As set out in the report. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected: 
As outlined in the report. 
 
Record of any conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
Note of dispensation in respect of any declared conflict of interest: 
None. 
 
 

8. FORWARD PLAN OF KEY DECISIONS  
 
The Key Decision List was noted. 
 
 

9. DISCUSSION OF EXEMPT ELEMENTS (ONLY IF REQUIRED)  
 
There was no discussion of exempt elements. 
 
 
 

 
Meeting started: 7.00 pm 
Meeting ended: 7.16 pm 

 
 

Chair   

 
RESOLVED: 
Reason fo r decision:  

As set out i n the report.  
 

Alt ernative options considered  and  reject ed: 
As outlined in the r eport.  

 

Record of any conflict of int erest:  
None. 

 
Note of dispensation  in respect of any declared conflict of int erest:  

None. 

 
 

Page 8



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM 

Report to: Cabinet  
 

Date: 15/07/2024 
 

Subject:  Third Sector Investment Fund Strategy Report  
 
Report of:  Councillor Rebecca Harvey, Cabinet Member for Social Inclusion 

and Community Safety  
 

Report authors:  Rebecca Richardson, Strategic Commissioner (Adult Social 
Care), Katharina Herrmann, Programme Lead  

 

Responsible Director:  Jacqui McShannon, Executive Director of People 
  

 

SUMMARY 
 
This strategy sets out the priorities and principles for the award of grants under the 
Third Sector Investment Fund (3SIF) round to be launched in 2024/25 and 
implemented in 25/26.  It details the Council intention to strengthen its support for 
H&F’s Voluntary & Community Sector (VCS) so we can better support our residents.  
The priorities and principles for the grants round have been drawn down from 
existing Council strategies and from working with the VCS. which have then been 
grouped under Hammersmith & Fulham Council values. Residents’ views have been 
sought and will be factored in, with a focus on disabled residents. The priorities will 
help H&F to be a borough that is resilient to change and unprecedented 
circumstances.  
 
The Council (in line with the public sector) is facing considerable demographic, 
legislative and financial pressures. It is important that this planned investment is 
delivered in a financially efficient and effective manner in line with the Council’s 
values. Consequently, there will be an expectation that successful organisations will 
be able to showcase and demonstrate the outcomes being delivered (as set out in 
paragraph 35 of the report). 
 
The Council will be investing up to £3.9m into our VCS to ensure that together we 
are able to improve the quality of life for our residents.  
 
3SIF grants will be awarded under a select number of thematic areas as set out in 
the corporate plan as follows: 
 
1. Building a better future for children & young people 
 
2. Promoting healthier, longer and more independent living   
 
3. Promoting fairness, equity, and inclusion across our borough (including 

supporting refugees and asylum seekers in the borough) 
 
4. Preventing poverty and its impacts 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



 

 

5. Making H&F a great place in which to live, work and thrive – including for sports 
and culture. 

 
6. Creating a safer and resilient borough for everyone 
 
7. Tackling the climate emergency 
 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That Cabinet Agrees:  
 
1. To launch a Third Sector Investment Fund Round under the seven priority areas 

set out in this paper.  
 
2. That the newly allocated funding will run from 1st April 2025 to 31st March 2028, 

with the option to extend by 1 more year (up to 31st March 2029).  

3. To approve the establishment of a framework for the approval of grants falling 
within the Third Sector Investment fund. Under this framework the Cabinet grants 
delegated authority for the Award of Grants under the Third Sector Investment 
fund from 1st April 2025 up to 31st March 2028 with a potential extension of one 
year up to 31st March 2029 to the Executive Director of Finance and Corporate 
Services in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Social Inclusion and 
Community Safety.  

 

 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Our Values   Summary of how this report aligns to the H&F 
Values   

Building shared prosperity   Invests in local people employed by local third sector 
organisations and volunteers and a sector critical to 
building value in the community and enhancing 
shared prosperity.    

Creating a compassionate 
council   

Invests in community outcomes and a wide range of 
opportunities to help residents maintain their 
independence and build supportive networks, 
between the local authority, voluntary organisations 
and residents using services.    

Doing things with local 
residents, not to them   

Locally focussed investment delivered with and for 
communities. Residents and local organisations are 
involved in the build-up to the new funding round 
and asked to feed back on their priorities. 

Being ruthlessly financially 
efficient   
   

Investment in prevention and early interventions to 
avoid need for costly intervention too late to ensure 
best outcomes for residents.  Support services that 
demonstrably support the Council in its core duties. 

Taking pride in H&F   
   

Invests in community activities including arts and 
cultural projects and those enhancing green 

Page 10



 

 

spaces.  The 3SiF fund helps to develop and sustain 
a thriving community sector. 

Rising to the challenge of the 
climate and ecological 
emergency   

Invests in activities that enhance the environment 
including refreshed funding outcomes. Most 
volunteers engaged with the third sector do so close 
to home – reducing travel costs and impact.    

Financial Impact 
 
1.  The approved investment funding for the 3SIF Programme totals £3.67m in  
     2024/25 (this includes the London Council’s Grants Programme of £0.14m and  
     Small Grants/Coach Voucher Scheme at £0.18m).  
 
2    The investment is partly funded by Public Health Grant of (£0.99m), HRA  
    (£0.03m) and the remaining £2.65m is funded within the overall General Fund.  
     The public health funding is predicated on delivering the outcomes of this  
     programme and cannot be guaranteed or relied upon indefinitely.  
 
3.   An additional £0.20m per year (for a 3-year period only) will be made available  
      from prior grants to support programmes to be delivered by the voluntary sector  
      specifically, refugees and asylum seekers in the borough. 
 
4.   A number of the organisations have on-going funding for a period of 10 years  
     ending in March 2028 (detailed in Section 10). This together with some other  
     programmes will be on-going annual commitments totalling £1.117m.  
 
5.  The Council (in common with all public sector services) continues to face  
     significant medium term financial challenges with increasing demographic  
     pressures on many services.  This will necessitate an on-going review of all  
     services including funding to external contractors and organisations. It is   
     therefore important that this investment delivers outcomes over and above those  
     already delivered by the Council.   
 
6.  The grants programme can be undertaken on the basis that funding is protected  
     for 2024/25 and the likelihood that this will continue into 2025/26. The funding  
     for future years (including inflation) will need to be approved as part of the  
     Council’s annual budget approval and to reflect the financial challenges that are  
     being faced. 
 
Completed by: 
Name: Charles Mensah        
Position:  Principal Accountant Financial Planning Social Care and Public Health 
Telephone: 020 8753 2523                        
Email: prakash.daryanani@lbhf.gov.uk     
Verified by: James Newman, AD Finance, 23 May 2024 

 

Legal Implications 
Under the Council’s Financial Regulations (F.37) members may approve a 
framework for the administration of any specified class of grant and assistance over 
the value of £20,000 by the relevant SLT Director for the efficient conduct of 

Page 11

mailto:prakash.daryanani@lbhf.gov.uk


 

 

business. The recommendations in this report are establishing a framework under 
this regulation. 
 
The Council’s Financial Regulations impose requirements on the award of grants, 
set out in F.37. The assessment and award process set out in this report will assist in 
achieving this. 
 
Grants made to organisations which constitute “enterprises” in that they are engaged 
on an economic activity which offers goods or services on a market” will be subject 
to the requirements of the Subsidy Control Act 2022. 
 
Where grants constitute “minimal financial assistance” under the Act, the procedural 
steps set out in s 38 need to be followed. This entails giving a “minimal financial 
assistance notification” to the recipient. This requires them to specify that the 
maximum threshold for such subsidies (£315,000 over three financial years) will not 
be exceeded. The grant cannot be paid until the relevant confirmation has been 
received. 
 
Subsidies which exceed the minimal financial assistance threshold need to comply 
with the subsidy control principles in the Act and the details need to be published on 
the subsidy control database. Specific legal advice should be sought about 
payments of grants falling within this category. 
 
John Sharland, Senior solicitor (Contracts and procurement) 
9th May 2024 
 

Background Papers Used in Preparing This Report 
 None  
 

 

DETAILED ANALYSIS 

Proposals and Analysis of Options  

 
Introduction  
 
1. In Hammersmith & Fulham we are committed to supporting our communities to 

thrive. As a diverse borough, we know it’s important to listen to the voice of 
residents and encourage a dynamic and responsive third sector that is well 
attuned residents’ needs. That is why we are continuing our commitment to the 
Third Sector Investment Fund (3SIF) under the renewed set of priorities and 
principles which are set out in this strategy. 

 
2. Residents across our borough are facing the deepest fall in living standards on 

record with poverty levels already increased significantly across the UK. Since 
2010, Hammersmith & Fulham’s funding from central government has been cut 
by 54% in real terms so the challenge facing local people today is even more 
stark.  

 

Page 12



 

 

3. Although the Council and residents face austerity. We help our poorest with a 
generous council tax support scheme. We introduced an ethical approach to 
debt which means we will work collaboratively with families who struggle to pay. 
We are the only council in England to abolish home care charges. We provide 
free breakfast to all primary school children and free lunches for our most 
economically disadvantaged children in and out of school term time, in our effort 
to combine compassion and inclusivity with ruthless financial efficiency.  

 
4. The Council through this strategy paper is committed to supporting residents 

and the third sector by renewing our grants funding strategy. As we seek value 
for money for our residents, we want to strengthen our third sector, through our 
renewed Third Sector Strategy; we are investing up to £3.9m intended to deliver 
a broad range of Council priorities for which we are calling on all the VCS to rise 
to the challenge and urgently tackle the big issues through both traditional and 
non-traditional routes. 

 
5. The Council (in line with the public sector) is facing considerable demographic, 

legislative and financial pressures. It is important that this planned investment is 
delivered in a financially efficient and effective manner in line with the Council’s 
values. Consequently, there will be an expectation that successful organisations 
will be able to showcase and demonstrate the outcomes being delivered (as set 
out in paragraph 35 of the report). 

 
6. The 3SIF grants programme can be undertaken on the basis that funding is 

protected for 2024/25 and the likelihood that this will continue into 2025/26. The 
funding for future years will need to be approved as part of the Council’s annual 
budget approval and to reflect the financial challenges that are being faced. 

 
Option 1 – Award grants as part of new round for 3+1 years - Recommended. 
7. This option would recommend that a grants round is launched on the priorities 

and principles set out in this paper. 3SIF priorities and processes set out in this 
paper have been updated to align with current strategic priorities, as set out in 
the Corporate Plan and incorporate experiences and feedback to develop a 
grants programme that delivers continuously improving impact and value to an 
even wider range of residents.  

 
8. Preference would be given to organisations that can demonstrate that they align 

with and support Council priorities using preventative or innovative approaches 
to support residents. As part of this refresh, we would need to consider 
monitoring arrangements for grants and how we can make best use of BI for 
reporting on outcomes achieved.  

 
9. Option 1 would see grants awarded for three years (April 2025 to March 2028).  

This option would give increased assurance to successful applicants but also 
less opportunities for unsuccessful applicants to rebid. We recommend that this 
is mitigated by increasing the annual allocation of Small Grants funding to be 
given out on a rolling basis. 

 
10. This option would align 3SIF with the end of the Advice Partnership Contracts 

(The Law Centre, Action on Disability and Hammersmith & Fulham Citizen’s 
Advice Bureau) and as such enable the council to consider a review of its entire 

Page 13



 

 

3SIF budget at the same time. This will be initiated by a Needs Analysis of the 
Third Sector and subsequent Third Sector Strategy which will inform any 
recommendations for grants in for 27/28. 

 
Option 2 – Award grants as part of new round for 2+1 years – Not 
recommended.  
 
11. The two-year grant period would be used to gather renewed evidence on the 

value of investment in the third sector by better monitoring outcomes for 
residents and communities.  

 
12. However, a two-year period would not align with the ending of the Advice 

Partnership Contracts and therefore any recommendations from a wider Third 
Sector Strategy would be limited to existing funding allocations.  

 
 
Option 3 – Extend the current grant arrangements by 2 years to allow time for 
the development of a full Third Sector Strategy.  – Not recommended  
13.  This would provide a familiar approach to the sector and allow for time of a full 

review of the sector and the Council’s relationship with it whilst maintaining 
stability for funded organisations and residents. However, it would mean 
maintaining outdated priorities and processes that has been criticised as vague, 
not reflecting current priorities, lacking alignment across services, 
disadvantaging new small voluntary sector providers who may have been 
waiting for the opportunity to compete for funding from the 3SIF and is also a 
model of monitoring that is no longer fit for purpose. There have been several 
extensions already and the bulk of the funding has not been available to the 
wider range of applicants since 2014. 

Priorities  
 
14. Officers have worked across Council departments and with the sector, to link 

3SIF to these priorities.  3SIF grants will be awarded under a select number of 
thematic areas as set out in the corporate plan. The priorities are drawn down 
from existing Council strategies which have then been grouped under 
Hammersmith & Fulham Council values. Residents’ views have been sought 
and will be factored in, with a focus on disabled residents. The priorities will 
help H&F to be a borough that is resilient to change and unprecedented 
circumstances. 

 

 Building a better future for children & young people 
 

 Promoting healthier, longer and more independent living   
 

 Promoting fairness, equity, and inclusion across our borough (including 
supporting refugees and asylum seekers in the borough) 

 

 Preventing poverty and its impacts 
 

 Making H&F a great place in which to live, work and thrive – including for 
sports and culture. 

 

Page 14



 

 

 Creating a safer and resilient borough for everyone 
 

 Tackling the climate emergency 
 

15. Not in scope for new grants round 
 
The table below show activity that sits outside of the funding available for the next  
third sector investment fund grants round.   
 

Service area Reason Total allocated  

Advice Partnership 
Contracts (2028) 

10-year contracts with Action 
on Disability, H&F Law 
Centre and Citizens Advice 
Bureau that do not have a 
break clause.  

£796,802 

London Councils Grants 
Programme (mandatory 
contribution, amount set 
annually by London 
Councils) 

Pan-London grants 
programme focuses on 
Homelessness and 
domestic/sexual violence 
support. 

£140,000   
 

Small Grants and coach 
voucher scheme   

Open all year round for 
applications. 

 £180,500 

Total    £1,117,302 

 
Although we have a number of advice contracts in place this should not deter 
applicants who wish to apply for funding to provide advice services. 
Principles 

16. To ensure the seven priorities are delivered on, we have devised a set of 
principles which underline the priorities. Applications will be marked against 
their ability to deliver against the principles using scoring criteria. The basis for 
the principles was devised in collaboration with the sector who highlighted 
themes; build alliances of support between organisations and institutions, 
inclusivity, address the Cost-of-Living Crisis, supporting our children and our 
‘at risk’ residents, enhance partnership working. The principles have been 
updated for the 2024 grants round and are set out below. 

Collaborative 
17. We believe that that organisations should demonstrate an ability to build 

alliances of support, working together to achieve shared outcomes for 
residents and avoid overlaps. We want organisations funded under 3SIF to be 
committed to coproduction with individual residents and communities to 
improve outcomes.  

 
Inclusive 

18. We think that services should reflect the communities that we serve. Working 
to eliminate discrimination in all its forms, tackling racism in services; enabling 
minoritised communities and Disabled People to shape the services they 
receive.  

 

Page 15



 

 

Adaptable and Agile  
19. Since the 2013 Grants Round, H&F has changed dramatically. Unforeseen 

pressures such as the Covid-19 Pandemic and the subsequent Cost of Living 
Crisis have placed great challenges on our communities. We want 
organisations to demonstrate that they can adapt to meet these challenges 
and still deliver for our communities, that they can attract new users to their 
services. This means having a clear understanding of the needs of the 
residents they work with and the wider context of residents in H&F.  
 

Preventative  
20. We want our third sector partners to work with us to promote the wellbeing 

and good mental health of residents. The third sector has a key role in 
supporting residents with meaningful activities and meaningful connections; 
doing this will empower residents to thrive.  

 
    Demonstrates Impact 

21.  We want organisations who are known to have a good track record of 
delivering for the residents of Hammersmith & Fulham. Moving forward this 
means having specific, measurable, achievable, relevant and time bound 
(SMART) outcomes framework. We need organisations to demonstrate in 
their applications what they have achieved and how; also, how they can verify 
this and what they can do during times of crisis.  Organisation must be able to 
work with the Council in times of crisis. 

 
       Well Organised 

22. To ensure that we are being ‘ruthlessly financially efficient’ we want to support 

organisations that are using funding for maximum impact. This means having 

skilled staff and development plans, having clear governance structures, 

having a clear feedback mechanism for compliments and complaints to 

support continuous improvement and transparency. Organisations should be 

transparent and able to report timely and accurately against an agreed set of 

outcomes and targets and participate in the monitoring process within the 

deadline set and be open to scrutiny and the appraisal process 

 

Coproduction  
23. Whilst some coproduction work with the wider voluntary sector took place in 

2022/23, in 2024 it was recognised that renewed coproduction was needed 

with residents in Hammersmith & Fulham. Officers have conducted outreach 

events including attending the borough’s full Tenants and Residents Meeting 

on 19th March, outreach at Family Hubs, Old Oak and the Fulham Court 

launch on 11th and 18th April and organised a drop in at Mind sport Centre on 

27th March. Information about potential future 3SiF priorities and process was 

distributed and responses from residents showed strong interest in:  

 

 equalities of access 

 intergenerational activities 

 support for parents of young children. 

 more activities for disabled residents 

 community safety  

Page 16



 

 

  
24. A six week survey aimed at gathering the views of our residents and local 

VCS organisations went live between May and June 2024. The findings from 
the survey , which received 131 responses, have been summarised in a 
separate report, but key messages include:    

 

 Long term funding stability and security is a key challenge and priority for the 
future of the sector.  
 

The sector could be more ‘joined-up’ in how it operates, and more opportunities to 
collaborate with the council and across the sector would be welcome. 

 The sector could benefit from more support to remain resilient, resourced, and 
have the right skills and training available.   

 

 Building a better future for children and young people was the most commonly 
supported priority of those presented in the survey, and also the area the VCS 
was said be best placed to help.   

 

 Other commonly referred to priorities for respondents included services 
relating to younger, older and Disabled residents, and mental health and 
housing services.  

 
25. A co-production exercise with voluntary sector organisations took place in 

2022/23.This included 4 events held in March, April, May and June 2022. 
Three were hosted by H&F at Edward Woods and Sands End Community 
Centres, a 3rd Sector only one by SOBUS as a VCS CEO forum. There was 
appreciation from organisations for the existing funding programme. The local 
cost of living alliance events have also provided important feedback about our 
grants programme. Improvements suggested across various engagement 
activities included: 

 Longer funding terms are needed, to help with planning and staff retention, 
and business continuity, particularly in relation to core costs. The sector would 
welcome the opportunity for VCS organisations to apply for crisis support. 

 A tiered process for applications and monitoring, in proportion to the grant 
value would be beneficial – smaller amounts (i.e. up to £50k pa) should not 
require the same level of scrutiny as higher ones. 

 Transparency and fairness in the process are very important, as is clear and 
ongoing communication about time frames. 

 The sector would welcome advice to help navigate grant application 
processes, greater visibility of funding opportunities, and generally 
streamlined application processes.  

 
26. Notes on some of the events and related presentations can be found here: 

3SIF – Sobus 
 

Application Process  
 

27.  The grant agreements will be updated. They will continue to contain clearly 
defined break clauses and conditions of monitoring. Currently, monitoring 
demands are similar across all grant agreements. It is proposed that we 

Page 17

https://sobus.org.uk/3sif/


 

 

create three funding strands for 3SIF which organisations can apply against. 
The proposed tiers are set out in the table below. Tier 1 would prioritise 
applications from otherwise unfunded groups. The new tiers will help to 
tighten the monitoring process and requirements and make both more 
adequate to the level of funding awarded. 

 
Proposed Funding Tiers 
 

 Funding Amount per 
annum  

Suggested Monitoring Recommendations  

1 Small (application via 
Small Grants which is 
open all year) maximum 
£10,000, turn around 
period 6 weeks or less. 

Monitoring report on how event/project went 
returned 6 weeks after date of event/project close. 
Demographic information reported.   
 

2 Medium - £10,00 - 
£34,999 

6 monthly monitoring reports on agreed KPIs 
6 monthly monitoring meetings (Teams or In-
person)  
Annual summary report required from 
organisations. 
Monitoring visit if required.  
Attendance at VCS Forums 

3 Large - upwards of 
£35,000 

Quarterly monitoring of KPIs 
Monitoring meetings/visits (Teams or In-person)  
Twice yearly visits  
Annual summary report 
Participation in quarterly VCS forum meetings 
encouraged and expected. 
Attendance at VCS Forums 

 
28. Whilst applications below £10,000 annual value would continue be assessed 

and allocated using the small grants scheme process.. Awards below £35,000 
would, if successful, result in a simple grant agreement with lower-level 
monitoring requirements. All grant agreements will include terms and 
conditions that will allow Hammersmith & Fulham to cease funding if a grant 
fund is being misused or not used for the purposes set out in the 3SIF 
specification. The Council is committed to full transparency and accountability 
for the ways public moneys are spent, and severe overall reductions in 
available funds are making this more important than ever.  

29. It is recommended to consider increasing the small grant’s allocations of 
£180,500 to £250,000 per annum which will be co-terminus with the 3SIF 
programme. This would increase the flexibility of the overall grants 
programme as a larger share would be available for allocation all year round. 
It is recommended that this is considered at the Award stage subject to 
approval of the relevant Cabinet Member for Social Inclusion and Community 
Safety. 

Subsidy Control 

Page 18



 

 

30. Where grants constitute “minimal financial assistance” under the Act, the 
officers will issue a “minimal financial assistance notification” to the recipient. 
This requires them to specify that the maximum threshold for such subsidies 
(£315,000 over three financial years) will not be exceeded. The grant cannot 
be paid until the relevant confirmation has been received. If any proposed 
grant would cause the minimal financial assistance level to be exceeded, 
officers will seek further legal advice to ensure that the provisions of the 
Subsidy Control Act are complied with. Applicants will have to declare 
interests and assets as part of the process. 

 
Reasons for New Approach 
 

31. As part of the new grants round we want to ensure that monitoring 
requirements are proportionate to the level of investment that organisations 
receive.  

 
32. The proposed new approach as set out at point 21 has a range of benefits 

which are set out under the headings below. 
 
Proportionality:  
 

 Under the current monitoring/award system, lower amounts of funding are 
subject to very similar requirements as larger one; application effort and 
monitoring should be in proportion to the sums awarded.  

 Larger awards can be subject to a stricter monitoring regime without 
impacting smaller scale projects. 

 The new arrangements and requirements will be part of the application 
information, allowing organisations to make informed choices about what 
scale of funding agreement would suit them best and plan accordingly. 

 
Inclusivity:  
 

 This approach would allow for applications to be assessed within a field of 
organisations who are applying for similar amounts. It will provide a stepping 
stone for organisations who have delivered through small grants funding to 
scale up their ambitions without being overburdened with requirements.  

 It will assist smaller and newly emerging organisations who will have 
increased opportunity to apply for funding all year round. 

 A new tier between small grants and high-level grants is likely to meet the 
needs of organisations aiming to take the next step upwards from grassroots 
level in terms of user numbers, project size and staffing levels.  

 The new approach addresses the outcomes of the co-production exercises 
with the local voluntary sector. 
 

33. It is essential that the application process is inclusive and accessible for a 
range of organisations. Our network of the local voluntary sector will be used 
to promote the availability of this funding to Disabled People and minoritised 
communities. Application forms can be translated into community languages, 
and we will have applications available in Easy Read, workshops on 
application process to be offered. 

 

Page 19



 

 

34. When the new grants application process is launched all applicants will be 
informed that previously agreed funding will terminate at the end of March 
2025 and new successful applicants (this may not include all organisations 
currently in receipt of grant funds) will be awarded grants from April 2025. 

 

Assessment Process  
35. After the closing date, applications will be assessed for eligibility; those not 

meeting basic eligibility requirements will be set aside. Proposed eligibility 
requirements are:  
 

 applicants must be constituted not-for-profit organisations with their own bank 
accounts. 

 must be registered with the relevant regulator (i.e. Charity Commission) and 
have submitted all required documents such as annual accounts. 

 services/projects applied for must benefit H&F residents.  

 must have an up-to-date safeguarding policy. 

 must have no conflicts of interest.  
           

36. All remaining applications need to be scored by at least 2 assessors, 
preferably 3, more if any specialist insight is required to establish the potential 
value and quality of a proposal.  

 
37. Detailed scoring requirements for meeting each rank will be set out in the 

application forms. The proposed scoring for each rank is as follows: 
 

 Excellent (meeting all criteria to a high standard): 5 points.  

 Good (meeting all criteria to a good standard): 4 points. 

 Adequate (meeting all criteria sufficiently): 2 points.  

 Poor (not meeting all criteria, and/or not meeting them well): 1 point.  

 Insufficient (not meeting criteria): 0 points.     
 

38. The best scoring applications will be forwarded for consideration in 
moderation meetings. Based on experience from previous funding rounds, 
3SIF will be highly oversubscribed and the number of excellent, good or 
adequate applications will exceed the funds available. The moderation 
process will therefore take some time, involve a range of stakeholders 
(officers from different departments) and needs to be carefully managed to 
ensure fairness and transparency.  

 

Award Criteria  
39. The award criteria for grants will be based on applications evidence of 

delivering against the priorities and principles set out above. Applicants 
should apply against at least one of the Priority areas set out. The quality of 
their application will then be scored against the principles set out at points 10 -
16. 

 

Award Process 
40. Organisations will be informed about the final decisions regarding their grant 

funding applications as soon as the Strategic Director of Finance in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Social Inclusion and Community 

Page 20



 

 

Safety approves the recommendations. It is proposed to alert applicants to 
any recommendation reports that can be accessed by the public as soon as 
they go online. 

 

Monitoring   
41. As part of the new grants round we are introducing a new modernised 

monitoring approach. This places a focus on agreed quantitative and 
qualitative measures and outcomes. Successful grant organisations will be 
expected to be compliant with new monitoring approach. Grant Agreements 
will be signed between the Council and all successful organisations before the 
new grants are launched. Grant Agreements will set out the terms and 
conditions that need to be met for the organisation to receive continued 
funding via 3SIF. Breaches to the Grant Agreement may impact funding. 

 
42. The success of the approach will be dependent on agreeing key performance 

indicators or targets with organisations that they can meaningfully report 

against.  

 

Implementation  
43. After the Cabinet decision meeting and following the call-in period, 

organisations will receive a letter confirming their award by email and be 
invited to complete a grant agreement template that sets out the agreed 
conditions, targets and monitoring expectations in detail. If organisations are 
informed of their awards in late December 2024/early January 2025, this 
process should be complete by end of February 2025. 

 
44. Successful applicants are expected to start agreed projects and services on 

01/04/2025 provided the milestones proposed in the timetable (below) can be 
achieved. 

 
Long term ambitions 

45. This strategy has set out our plans to continue to invest in the Third Sector 

through the provision of a substantial grants scheme. This scheme has for a 

long time had far reaching impacts on our communities, whilst helping the 

Council to deliver on a range of priority areas. As set out in the H&F Plan 

2023-26, our long-term ambition is to maintain a strong and capable third 

sector that is well equipped to support our rapidly changing communities. We 

believe the sector can have a key role in helping us to build stronger, active, 

and more connected communities across our borough. 

 

46. To do this, we are planning to co-produce a new Third Sector Strategy that 

will begin development in 2025, working with residents and local organisations 

to find the best ways forward to meet shared ambitions. We want to better 

understand the needs of the sector and help build capacity to enable local 

VCS groups to serve our communities, whilst remaining flexible to changing 

needs. This new strategy will provide the golden thread through which future 

support and investment in the sector is guided.  

Page 21

https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/publications/corporate-plan/hf-plan-2023-2026
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/publications/corporate-plan/hf-plan-2023-2026


 

 

 

47. Indicative Timetable for July Launch of Grants Round  
 

Phase Activity Start Deadline 

Strategy 
Governance 

Strategy Approved at 
CMB 

Thursday 9th May Thursday 9th May 

Strategy Approved at 
SLT Business 

Wednesday 15th 
May 

Wednesday 15th 
May 

Political Cabinet Monday 3rd June Monday 3rd June 

Cabinet Monsay 15th July Monday 15th July 

Call in Monday 15th July Friday 19th July 

Grants Round & 
Moderation 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Grant Award 
Governance  

 
Grants Round Open Monday 29th July Monday 23rd 

September 

Evaluation of applications Monday 23rd 
September 

Friday 4th October 

Moderation of 
applications 

Monday 4th 
October 

Friday 18th 
October 

Award Report Business 
SLT 

Wednesday 13th 
November 

Wednesday 13th 
November 

Cabinet Member 
Approval 

Thursday 21st 
November 

Thursday 21st 
November 

Call in Friday 22nd 
November 

Friday 28th 
November 

Organisations notified 
of outcome. 

Monday 6th 
January 

Monday 6th 
January 2025 

Warm up to launch. 
 

Monitoring agreed and 
formalised with 
successful organisations 

Monday 6th 
January 

Friday 31st 
January 

Signing of grant 
agreements 

Friday 31st 
January 

Friday 21st March 

Launch Launch Grants 1st April 2025 1st April 2025 

Equality Implications  

 
48. A full Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) can be found at Appendix 3. 

  

Risk Management Implications 

  
49. There is a programme risk that the defined strategy rollout plan is both 

complex and time challenging and is not therefore achievable as defined.  
This would result in impacts to either delivery dates, the quality of the 
deliverables or the trust and involvement of impacted organisations.  To 
mitigate this, it is recommended that all plans are independently reviewed by 
all contributing teams and departments and that the schedule is closely 
project managed with a rigorous change control mechanism. 

 

Page 22



 

 

50. There is a programme risk that the findings of the report gathering 
investigation significantly alters the content and timeline of the strategy.  This 
risk should be monitored to assess the impact of any changes and any 
findings reported and assesses as in the above risk. 
 

51. The financial risks of third sector investment cannot be overstated.  Close 
financial tracking of all investments must be put in place. 

 
Jules Binney, Risk and Assurance Manager, 23rd May 2024 

Climate and Ecological Emergency Implications  

 
52. Implementing climate friendly measures in our work and a considered effort to 

make a positive contribution towards tackling the Climate and Ecological 

Emergency is a high priority for H&F.  The funding application process 

outlined above will set out clear standards to all potential applicants, who will 

all need to demonstrate awareness and willingness to make reasonable 

changes and contributions. Applications will be scored accordingly, applicants 

that cannot demonstrate awareness and willingness to adapt will not succeed. 

 

53. Possible examples of adaptations would be: 

- creating better energy efficiency of buildings  

- transport adaptations that reduce impact on local environments and air quality 

such as pooling transport, better us of public transport wherever possible, and 

use of low impact ULEZ compliant vehicles.to arrange outings and shopping 

trips for their service users with mild mobility problems. 

- Promote life-style adaptations that meet the cleaner and greener agenda and 

help service user to adapt them. This could range from advice on healthy 

eating and active travel options to paper-free offices, to name a few 

examples.  

- Share and help implement ideas and innovations that support environmental 

improvements in H&F. 

Implications verified by: Hinesh Mehta (Strategic Lead, Climate Change), June 2024 

Hinesh.Mehta@H&F.gov.uk  

 

LIST OF APPENDICES 
 
Appendix 1 – Examples of Outcomes Sought from Investment  
Appendix 2 - H&F Equality Impact Analysis Tool 

Page 23

mailto:Hinesh.Mehta@H&F.gov.uk


LONDON BOROUGH OF HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM 

 Appendix 1 -Examples of Outcomes Sought from Investment  

 

Promoting healthier, longer and more independent living  
 Adult residents will sustain or improve their physical 
and/or mental wellbeing.  
 Residents will have greater awareness of the range of 
community services on offer in H&F to support them 
achieve these outcomes.eg greater use of technology to 
increase awareness and that enable live postings of 
events and activities taking place daily, that reach a wide 
audience. 
 Isolated residents from all backgrounds, including 
older residents, Disabled residents, neurodiverse 
residents, residents with mental health needs, learning 
disabilities and young people preparing for Adulthood, 
with SEND and those from minoritised communities, 
have greater access to community activities to increase 
their independence skills and well-being both in person 
and through improved access to community support (at 
home or in the community) and ability to use new 
technology. 
 Residents, particularly those living with Dementia will 
remain alert and active for as long as possible and 
develop their personal resilience to meet new challenges. 
 (outlined above) The mental health needs of adults 
are better supported, particularly in the long-term context 
of Covid-19.  
 Support and awareness raising will include a wide 
range of health needs such as breast feeding, awareness 
of symptoms of conditions such as menopause and 
Prostate Cancer and other severe and long-term health 

Preventing poverty and its impacts   
 residents will be empowered to deal with issues 
and crises to prevent them escalating, through 
advice, Legal Advice (including self-help as a first 
step) and legal representation.   
 Young people preparing for Adulthood and their 
parents/carers have greater access to IAG as to 
benefits and support to mitigate against poverty and 
its impacts. 
 Residents facing, or at risk of food insecurity will 
be supported through any crisis period and provided 
with appropriate support and tools to bring about 
long-term food security, and knowledge about 
healthy eating. Support in providing food that is 
tailored to cultural needs 
 Families are supported to maximise entitlements 
to services through access to information, advice 
and guidance. 
 Residents are supported with financial inclusion 
& debt advice. 
 Residents are supported through employment 
advice to sustain jobs or seek help to challenge 
unfair work treatment that risks resulting in them 
experiencing poverty. 
 People facing homelessness have access to 
timely advice to help sustain tenancies. 
Residents struggling with fuel poverty will be able to 
receive support to help take them out of fuel poverty 
through a range of measures. 

P
age 24



 

 

conditions.  
 Residents of all ages are brought together in 
purposeful, mutually beneficial intergenerational activities 
which promote well-being, knowledge sharing and 
community cohesion. 
 Building capacity for residents from Black, Asian and 
Minoritised Ethnic communities (global majority 
backgrounds), raising awareness of conditions that could 
adversely impact on them and how to access better 
health care and support to meet their needs. 
 Residents who are house bound feel included and 
able to access services and support. 

 

 

Making H&F a great place to live, work and thrive – including 
sports & culture. 

 Recognising the diverse cultures and heritage in our 
communities and celebrating the contributions they bring 
to our borough. 
 Residents will be supported and empowered through 
a range of intergenerational activities, utilising the skills 
and knowledge that different age groups hold to benefit 
communities. 
 Reduce the number of long-term unemployed 
residents especially those who are neurodiverse (those 
with Autism and Learning Disabilities) and mental health 
needs, and create more supported employment 
pathways for young people Preparing for Adulthood with 
SEND to engage in employment and ensure young 
people from all backgrounds have an opportunity to 
engage in a range of employment opportunities, no 
matter their abilities, and can shape their future.   
 Provide a wide range of support for young carers and 

Creating a safer borough for everyone  
 Residents will feel safer in the community and in their 

homes.  
 Women and girls will feel better protected from all forms 

of violence.   
 Communities will be stronger through prevention and 

intervention work. 
 Residents who have been or are at risk of being 

impacted by crime feel supported, offenders/ex-
offenders are helped to re-integrate into community. 
Those affected by crimes are supported by schemes 
such as a restorative justice approach.  

 Residents who have been impacted or are at risk of 
being impacted by hate crime have access to support 
services. 
 

P
age 25



 

 

all people with caring responsibilities; this outcome cuts 
across promoting healthier lives, preventing poverty, 
inclusion and better future for young people agendas.  
 Support the objectives of the H&F Cultural Strategy 
by helping to develop and promote a thriving borough for 
the arts; supporting people to create and produce 
excellent art of all kinds; and by giving residents from a 
wide range of backgrounds more opportunity to 
experience and participate in artistic and cultural activity.  
 ESOL training support will be provided and/or 
signposted to.  
 Local 3rd sector groups are contributing to Economic 
Growth for Everyone, H&F’s industrial strategy, by 
teaching skills and helping with affordable workspaces 
through community hubs. 
 All organisations receiving funding will be expected to 
attract funding and investment from other sources into 
the borough, or find innovative ways to empower 
residents to contribute/volunteer and be involved in 
community life, thereby supporting residents as well as 
the local economy. 
 

Building a better future for children and young people   
 Children and young people are supported to reach their full 

potential through education initiatives resulting in 
improvements in attendance, attainment, and reduction in 
exclusions in H&F schools.   

 The % of young people with SEND entering supported 
internships/apprenticeships increases through a broad range 
of activities that increases pathways to employment. 

 The % of young people with SEND entering sustained 
employment post internship/apprenticeship increases 

Promoting fairness, equity and inclusion across our 
borough (including supporting refugees and asylum 
seekers in the borough)  

 Groups receiving funding reflect the diverse 
communities living within the borough. 

 Residents from all backgrounds, but particularly 
minoritised communities and those at risk of 
social exclusion, will have equal access to the 
support they need and peer networks.  

 Disabled residents are able to access all services 

P
age 26



 

 

through a broad range of activities that increases pathways 
to employment.  

 Children and families have improved healthy lifestyles and 
emotional wellbeing to give them the best start in life.  A 
programme of activities and support for Young Carers to 
provide opportunities that they would not otherwise have. 

 Deliver guidance for young people on healthy relationships 
through schools and youth clubs. 

 

and activities without barriers. 

 Local 3rd sector groups are supported to work 
collaboratively, develop strong partnerships and 
rise to the current challenges facing our 
residents. 

 Increased opportunities for residents to 
participate in Arts & Cultural activities, including 
those that reflect diverse cultural communities. 
 Activities are accessible to people who are from 
economically disadvantaged backgrounds especially 
those from single-parent households, large families 
and families from Black, Asian and Minoritised 
Ethnic Groups (global majority groups).  
 Local groups will have access to low-cost 
transport services which enable them to deliver their 
services.  
 Creating an Autism friendly borough, through 
greater awareness raising and supporting 
communities to be more inclusive and supportive. 
 Offering a range of support and assistance with 
integration to refugees. 
 Support is provided to tackle the barriers that 
prevent progression through mentor schemes to 
build resilience, confidence and self-esteem and 
help improve mental health. 
 Community groups are empowered and 
supported to  access funding and grants, maximising 
opportunities for innovative ways to generate income 
such as crowdfunding. 
 Helping care leavers to live independent and 
fulfilling lives. 

Tackling the Climate Emergency  

P
age 27



 

 

 Residents participate in community gardening activities and 
community spaces and parks are improved and better used 
as a result.   

 Residents and community organisations will have a better 
understanding of the climate emergency and how it can be 
addressed, including recycling, sustainability, active travel 
and how their actions impact the borough.   

 

P
age 28



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM 

Appendix 2 - H&F Equality Impact Analysis Tool  

 

 3SIF strategy report 

Timeline  1 April 2025 – 31 March 2028  

Name and 

details of 

policy, 

strategy, 

programme   

Title of EIA: 3SIF strategy report  

Through the third sector investment fund (3SIF), H&F invests 

in improved outcomes in communities, such as 

commissioned advice and guidance services, grant funded 

projects across a range of themes, small grants and support 

to the third sector itself to develop.   

   

Lead   Name: Katharina Herrmann, Programme lead, 

Katharina.Herrmann@H&F.gov.uk Tel No: 077 7667 2421 

EIA 

Completion 

date  

08.05.2024 

 
 

Partial EIA (renewal of grants programme)  

Analyse 

the 

impact of 

the 

program

me  

Protected 

characteristic  

Analysis   

  

Impact: 

Positive, 

Negative

, Neutral  

Age  Future services will provide dedicated 

age-specific activities including having 

the best start in life, improving health 

and adult social care and building a 

stronger economy.   

Positive  

Disability  All applicants receiving a grant must 

commit to supporting residents 

irrespective of any disability. One of the 

themes for the funding programme is 

social inclusion and some projects will 

include activities specifically for 

disabled people. 

Positive  

Gender 

reassignment  

All funded services must treat all 

service beneficiaries fairly and be non-

discriminating to all groups of residents.  

Neutral  

Page 29

mailto:Katharina.Herrmann@lbhf.gov.uk


 

 

Marriage and 

Civil 

Partnership  

This information is only collected where 

appropriate to the project. No resident is 

prevented from accessing services or 

activities due to their marital status.  

Neutral  

Pregnancy 

and maternity  

A section of the programme is designed 

to give children a best start in life and 

help residents on their parenting 

journey. 

Positive  

Race  

  

All organisations receiving a grant must 

commit to supporting residents 

irrespective of their race.  

Positive   

Religion/ belief  This information is collated where 

relevant for example if projects were 

specific to a particular festival or event, 

but residents would not be precluded 

from any activity as a result of their 

religion or belief.   

Neutral  

Sex  Renewing of the grants programme 

would not impact on residents on the 

basis of their sex.  

Positive   

Sexual 

orientation  

This information is collated where 

relevant, and no resident will be unable 

to access any of the services or 

activities because of their sexual 

orientation. Where it was highlighted as 

a concern, appropriate equality 

monitoring would be put in place.  

Neutral  

Care Leavers  The needs of care leaver are being met 

by some of the currently funded 

organisations, whilst providers may 

change, future funding will continue to 

make support for care leavers a high a 

priority. 

Neutral 

Human Rights or Children’s Rights  

Will the decision affect Human Rights, as defined by the Human 

Rights Act 1998? No  

Will it affect Children’s Rights, as defined by the UNCRC (1992)? No  

Analysis of relevant data   

Examples of data can range from census data to customer satisfaction surveys. 

Data should involve specialist data and information and where possible, be 

Page 30



 

 

disaggregated by different equality strands.    

Documen

ts and 

data 

reviewed  

Organisations submit quarterly monitoring – from this we know:  

 Approximately a third of residents using services in the 

improving health and adult social care theme identify as having 

a disability.  

 Of residents accessing projects under the providing the best 

start for young people theme 45% were of white origin and 55% 

were from other ethnic backgrounds.  

Any equality issues identified through the monitoring of these will be 

addressed directly with the organisation directly.   

Consultation   

  3rd sector organisations and H&F residents are being consulted 

through meetings and surveys; this is an ongoing process.  

Analysis of impact and outcomes  

  The impact of the projects previously funded has been captured 

through the annual reporting. It showed significant activity for the 

benefit for H&F residents and a positive impact for people with the 

following protected characteristics: age, disability, pregnancy, race 

and sex. Reporting also highlighted additional investment into the 

borough secured by organisations in receipt of 3SIFgrant funding from 

other funders. This will be continued to be facilitated and monitored in 

regard to future funding awards. 

 

Page 31



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM 

 

Report to: Cabinet   
 

Date:  15/07/2024 
 

Subject: Queensmill School transitional funding  
 

Report of: Councillor Alex Sanderson, Cabinet Member for Children and Education 
  Councillor Rowan Ree, Cabinet Member for Finance and Reform 
 

Report author: Daryle Mathurin, Head of Assets and Resources  
 

Responsible Director: Jacqui McShannon, Executive Director of People  
Sukvinder Kalsi, Executive Director of Finance and 
Corporate Services 

  

 

SUMMARY 
 
Queensmill School is a core member of the Hammersmith & Fulham family of special 
schools, which delivers high quality education to children and young people in the 
borough and the wider region. 
 
The Department for Education is the responsible body for Queensmill School and 
have agreed the voluntary transfer of the school to a new Academy Trust. Ormiston 
Academy Trust (OAT) has been identified by the Department as the new academy 
sponsor for Queensmill School.  
 
This report seeks approval for a jointly crafted approach with Queensmill School, 
Ormiston Academy Trust, the Department for Education, and its Education Skills 
Funding Agency to develop a transitional funding approach in support of a 
transformation programme for a sustainable delivery model.  
 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

1. Approval of  £595,044 interim funding per annum (up to a maximum of 
£935,837) in transitional funding to Ormiston Academy Trust for a 19-month 
period from September 2024 to March 2026 to match the resources currently 
allocated to support a small cohort of Hammersmith & Fulham high needs 
learners requiring provision above and beyond that would normally be 
expected from the Queensmill School current model. 
 

2. To note the ongoing discussions and associated risk for additional funding 
from Hammersmith & Fulham from the outcome of negotiations with the 
Department for Education and its Education Funding Skills agency for a 
package of up to £1.361m  in transitional funding for a 19-month period 
September 2024 to March 2026 to support the redesign of the Queensmill 
delivery model. 
 

Page 32

Agenda Item 5



 

 

3. To delegate authority to the Director of Education and SEND, in consultation 
with the Executive Director of People and the Cabinet Member for Children 
and Education to agree a 19-month transformation programme with Ormiston 
Academy Trust for Queensmill School.  
 

4. To delegate authority to the Director of Education and SEND, in consultation 
with the Executive Director of People and the Cabinet Member for Children 
and Education to agree inflationary uplifts to proposed funding levels following 
the outcome of 2024/25 teachers and non-teachers national pay awards 
consistent with transformation programme to be agreed. 
 

 

 

Wards Affected: All 
 

 

Our Values Summary of how this report aligns to 
the H&F Values 

Building shared prosperity Continue the delivery of special 
education for Hammersmith & Fulham 
children and young people with a 
diagnosis of autism. 

Creating a compassionate council 
 

Support the sustainability of Queensmill 
School to continue the delivery of 
special education support Hammersmith 
& Fulham children and young people.  

Doing things with local residents, not to 
them 
 

The transformation approach was co-
produced with Queensmill School and 
key delivery partners.   

Being ruthlessly financially efficient 
 

Continue the delivery of a robust 
specialist and complex autism offer to 
meet the special educational needs of 
Hammersmith & Fulham children and 
young people locally. 

Taking pride in H&F 
 

Continue the delivery of a robust 
specialist autism education pathway for 
Hammersmith & Fulham children and 
young people. Queensmill School plays 
an important role in supporting 
Hammersmith & Fulham children and 
young people to play and active part in 
their local community, achieving paid 
employment, independent living, good 
health, and relationships. 

Rising to the challenge of the climate 
and ecological emergency 
 

Improving the Queensmill School built 
environment will form a key part of the 
transformation programme. Investment 
in remedial works to support the 
handover of the school in good 
condition to the academy trust and 
reduce the eco footprint.  

Page 33



 

 

 

Financial Impact 
  
Recommendation 1 
 
Recommendation 1 concerns interim transitional funding with respect to complex 
needs among Hammersmith and Fulham resident learners at Queensmill School for 
which LBHF is the funding authority. This transitional funding is based on an 
estimate based on the Strategic Resource Management Review undertaken with 
respect to current resources currently deployed by Queensmill Trust for this cohort. 
 
Transitional funding pending Business Transformation at Queensmill School would 
be at an annual cost of £591,055 per annum and a maximum of £935,857 for a 19 
month period (5 academic Terms from September 2024 to March 2026).  
 
This represents the maximum expected transitional cost pending professional review 
of resource delivery required to effectively meet the needs of this cohort with 
complex needs. 
 
It is expected that Ormiston Academy Trust as the proposed new trust provider will 
be able to identify a target model for meeting the needs of this cohort earlier than 
31st March 2026 and will be subject to the transformation plan to be agreed in 
Recommendation 3. 
 
When a target operating model is identified and agreed post transformation, LBHF 
will be in a position to agree a new evidenced baseline top-up for the provision at 
Queensmill School including this complex cohort. This will be subject to a separate 
decision in due course and will represent a permanent funding model for the 
provision at Queensmill School. 
 
The financial impact of the transitional funding will be met from Hammersmith and 
Fulham High Needs Block, The impact of the maximum transitional funding by April 
to March financial years is per Table 2. 
 
Table 2 – Maximum impact of Proposed Transitional funding per Annum 

Financial Year £ 

2024/25 344,782 

2025/26 591,055 

Total 935,837 

 
Within the High Needs Safety Valve plan there is headroom for placement number 
growth of £1.1m each financial year between April 2024 and March 2026. 
Constrained funding growth in the High Needs Block of the Dedicated Schools Grant 
against a context of cost of living increases in the last 24 months has resulted in 
increased risk with respect to containing High Needs expenditure within funding 
levels. Close financial monitoring will be required over the coming months to review 
commitments against available funding. 
 
Recommendation 2 to 4 
 

Page 34



 

 

LBHF understand there are significant opportunities and costs to make efficiencies 
versus the current operating model at Queensmill Trust. Following Transformation 
activity, LBHF will be in a position to set appropriate evidenced based top-up 
increases. It is proposed that EFSA be asked to provide transitional funding whilst 
efficiencies and economies of scales are identified and implemented. 
 
Transitional funding from LBHF and the ESFA should cease as soon as an 
evidenced based top-up for a value for money delivery model has been achieved 
and LBHF can agree permanent top-up funding arrangements with the Trust 
Provider and other placing local authorities who bear responsibility for top-up funding 
for non-H&F resident pupils. 
 
 
Financial Implication prepared by Tony Burton, Head of Finance for Children’s 
Services and Education, 4th June 2024 
 
Verified by James Newman. AD Finance, 5 June 2024 
 

Legal Implications 
  
The Council has a statutory duty under the Children and Families Act 2014 to meet 
the needs of pupils and young people up to the age of 25 with special educational 
needs. 
 
The approval of the package of transitional funding to OAT to support the 
programme of Queensmill School transformation contributes to the fulfilment by the 
Council of these obligations.  
 
  
Jade Monroe, Chief Solicitor, 3 June 2024 
 

Background Papers Used in Preparing This Report 
  
N/A  
  

 
 

DETAILED ANALYSIS 

Background 

 
1. Queensmill is a special school for children and young people with a diagnosis of 

autism from 3 to 19 years. The school was formerly maintained by Hammersmith 
& Fulham and converted to academy status in June 2021. Since conversion, the 
school has been managed by The Queensmill Trust (“TQT”). TQT is a multi-
academy trust which is also responsible for another (smaller) school specialising 
in children with a diagnosis of autism, Kensington Queensmill, “KQ” (which 
opened in September 2021). 
 

2. Queensmill School recorded healthy reserve balances as a Hammersmith & 
Fulham maintained school. Prior to completion of the academy conversion 

Page 35



 

 

process, colleagues in the Children’s Service Finance Team worked with the 
school to support a shared understanding of its financial position and at the time 
indicated the following:   

 
- Queensmill reported a retained revenue deficit of £196,717 at 31st March 

2021 in April 2021, following a forecast surplus of circa £100,000. 
- The 2021/22 budget plan from the school was pending and it was 

expected that Queensmill would need to find efficiencies to manage within 
the increased funding envelope proposed whilst subsuming the SALT 
costs. 

 
3. This review resulted in a decision to regularise the school’s place funding 

arrangements in May 2021, providing an additional £500,000 from April 2021. 
Along with the additional place funding, the school agreed to undertake a 
programme of efficiencies to support a sustainable delivery model and balanced 
budget.  
 

4. In addition to the decision to regularise place funding, additional funding has 
been passported to the school since it became an academy, in keeping with the 
High Needs grant conditions, including:   

 
- £72,000 supplementary grant for one year from April 2022. 
- £133,087 Teachers Pay Additional Grant per annum from September 

2023. 
- £235,000 additional High Needs Grant per annum from April 2023, 

representing a funding increase of 3.4% of the total core school funding.   
- £192,000 estimated funding from placing authorities, equivalent to a 3% 

increase in total funding. This implements the Government’s Special 
School Minimum Funding Guarantee from April 2023. 

- £219,000 further increase made up of a top-up increase from placing 
authorities of £1,184 per pupil. This is the equivalent of a 6.58% increase 
from April 2023. 

- £34,000 estimated funding from placing authorities, equivalent to a 0.5% 
increase in total funding.  This implements the Government's Special 
School Minimum Funding Guarantee from April 2024. 

 
5. TQT has made subsequent unevidenced requests for a top-up increase despite 

extensive efforts to constructively engage with TQT to support a shared 
understanding of its use of existing resources and opportunities to develop a 
more sustainable delivery model.  
 

6. The Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) issued TQT with a Notice to 
Improve letter in March 2023, arising from its non-compliance with its funding 
agreement. The ESFA continues to provide significant funding to TQT and has 
made this support contingent upon the voluntary transfer of Queensmill School 
and KQ to a new Academy Trust. 

 
7. Ormiston Academy Trust (OAT) has been identified as a new academy sponsor 

for Queensmill School and KQ. Both the OAT and TQT boards have agreed the 
voluntary transfer, with this now requiring Department for Education approval.  

 

Page 36



 

 

8. Hammersmith & Fulham Officers continue to work with the Department for 
Education, TQT and OAT for an orderly transition for Queensmill pupils and the 
wider school community. 

 

School Resource Management Review  

 
9. In discussion with Queensmill, the Department for Education and latterly OAT, 

the Council commissioned a school SEND funding expert to undertake a 
Resource Management Review of TQT. This review was intended to support a 
shared understanding of TQT’s use of its resources and opportunities for 
improvement, and to identify any funding uplifts that may be needed.  
 

10. The review has now been completed and for the first time provides an insight into 
the systemic issues surrounding resource management at TQT. There is 
however limited assurance on the quality of the data provided by TQT to support 
the review. Owing to the quality of the data, further detailed analysis will be 
required by OAT, TQT and the Council in developing a plan to implement the 
recommendations.  

 
11. The review concluded that for 2023/24 TQT is forecasting an in-year deficit of 

£1.034m. A programme of efficiencies has identified likely cost savings of 
£1.217m by April 2026 across Queensmill Trust with further opportunities 
possible to.  improve this picture.  A significant proportion of these opportunities 
would be expected to impact the resources required to meet need at Queensmill 
School and H&F satellite units. 

 
12. The review also unsurfaced a small cohort of high needs learners currently 

receiving a higher level of support that is beyond the current Queensmill delivery 
model.   

 
13. The review provided several costed and uncosted recommendations that 

together form a systemic programme of change to support a sustainable delivery 
model. Chief among these is the need for capital investment to reconfigure the 
Queensmill School estate in aid of the systemic changes needed for a more 
sustainable delivery model.  

 

Queensmill programme of transformation  

 
14. It may help for readers of the report to refer to points one to eight above which 

provides the background and extensive efforts of Council Officers to engage with 
TQT, the DfE and its ESFA to better understand and resolve the funding 
challenges of Queensmill School.  
 

15. Along with providing a clear understanding of the systemic issues affecting TQT’s 
resource management, the review provides a clear insight into the protracted and 
prolonged period of discussion to get to this point. It paints a picture of an 
organisation at the early stages of financial and resource management 
awareness.  

 

Page 37



 

 

16. It is therefore timely that the DfE have facilitated and TQT have agreed for the 
voluntary transfer of Queensmill School and KQ to OAT. The inclusion of OAT in 
the picture provides the addition of a credible partner to own and oversee the 
transformation agenda that is needed for a sustainable Queensmill School.  

 
17. Together with DfE colleagues, a 19-month transformation programme has been 

proposed. Negotiations are ongoing with the ESFA and OAT for transformation 
funding of up to £1.361m to support the programme of change. It is hoped that 
this will be concluded after the pre-election period but the failure to resolve this 
remains a risk for both the Council and OAT.  

 
18.  For its part, the Council will agree to provide £0.591 per annum for a period up to 

19 months of additional funding to provide the resources currently allocated to a 
small cohort of learners with special educational needs above the Queensmill 
School current delivery model. This will ensure the school has the interim 
resources in place to provide the support that it currently delivered and thereby 
providing interim relief to this recently identified challenge. The transformation 
programme will support an understanding of the needs of this cohort and the 
actual resources required moving forward.  
 

Reasons for Decision 

  
19. This decision is required in dispensation of the Council’s Children and Families 

Act 2014 duties to secure the provision specified in Education, Health, and Care 
Plan. It also supports the DfE’s current process to transfer Queensmill School to 
a new Multi-Academy Trust.   
 

Equality Implications  

 
20. There are no direct negative equality implications for groups with protected 

characteristics, under the Equality Act 2010, by the approval of the package of 
transitional funding to OAT to support the programme of Queensmill School 
transformation.  This decision provides certainty and the development of a 
sustainable delivery model to support pupils with a diagnosis of autism.  

 

Risk Management Implications 

  
21. Despite the transition model described in this document, there remains a severe 

financial risk that Queensmill School may not be considered to be a viable 
concern, leading to potential social and reputational risks. To mitigate this risk the 
transition plan must be closely monitored by LBH&F with reports, updates, and 
continuous financial tracking. 
 

22. There is a programme risk that there is a new focus at the Department of 
Education following the result of the general election of 2024 leading to a change 
in funding or review focus. To mitigate this LBH&F should prepare a response 
strategy. 

 

Page 38



 

 

23. Queensmill recent Ofsted inspection rated the quality of provision as Good. 
LBH&F Officers will need to work with Queensmill, OAT, the DfE and other 
relevant partners to minimise any unintended disruption of the transformation 
programme on the school community.   
 

Jules Binney, Risk and Assurance Manager, 3rd June 2024  

Climate and Ecological Emergency Implications  

 
24. The recommendation is to provide transitional funding to support a programme of 

transformation at Queensmill school. This includes capital investment from the 
Department for Education to improve the built environment.   
  

25. The H&F Education Service and Climate Emergency Unit are jointly crafting a 
schools decarbonisation plan for engagement with the H&F school community. 
While this plan focusses primarily on scope 1 and 2 assets (those within H&F 
operational control), Council staff are also considering what can be done to 
encourage decarbonisation of scope 3 schools including Academies. This 
process will include OAT as a local academy sponsor.   

  
Verified by Tim Pryce, Energy Lead 04/06/2024  
 
 
 

  
 

LIST OF APPENDICES 
 
N/A  
 
 

Page 39



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM 

   
 

Report to: Cabinet  

Date: 15/07/2024 

 
Subject: Hammersmith Town Centre Supplementary Planning Document 
 
Report of: Councillor Andrew Jones, Cabinet Member for the Economy   
  
Report author: David Gawthorpe, Team Leader, Policy and Spatial Planning 
  
Responsible Director: Bram Kainth, Executive Director of Place 
  

 
SUMMARY 
 
This report seeks approval to proceed to Cabinet to adopt the Hammersmith Town 
Centre Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). This Supplementary Planning 
document is a clear statement of our commitment to continue to deliver on our 
pledges to our residents. It provides an important planning framework to enable us to 
be pioneering in our approach to promoting regeneration and managing change in 
Hammersmith Town Centre, in particular it will support the vision and delivery of 
objectives in the Industrial Strategy and Corporate Plan to deliver a Flyunder and 
working with residents to redesign central Hammersmith. The SPD builds upon 
Hammersmith’s existing strengths as a major office and retail centre, but also seeks 
to diversify the town centre offer, strengthening its role as a centre for arts, culture 
and leisure, alongside encouraging additional growth of new residential and 
commercial developments.  
 
The SPD should improve implementation and delivery of policy objectives which 
reflect the Council’s vision to house more people in genuinely affordable homes; a 
stronger local economy that provides training and job opportunities for local people; 
a ‘greener’ borough; and securing and promoting health facilities for residents. It will 
help deliver a step change in the quality of the physical and built environment in 
Hammersmith, focusing on transforming the public realm and transport network, 
reconnecting the town with the riverfront, creating new public spaces and more 
legible routes; as well as redevelopment and refurbishment of buildings throughout 
the area.  
 
We’re passionate and ambitious for Hammersmith Town Centre. We’re aiming high 
and want it to be a centre that residents and business can be proud of. The Town 
Centre has exciting and bold opportunities ahead and our vision is to grasp these 
and make sure this prosperity is shared – and no-one is left behind. We are 
committed to delivering on the aims of our Industrial Strategy and this SPD along 
with the review of our Local Plan will provide an important planning framework to 
deliver our ambitions for regeneration and development in the borough. 
 

  

Page 40

Agenda Item 6



   
 

   
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That Cabinet approves the SPD for adoption incorporating amendments following 
the public consultation. The amendments are outlined in a schedule of 
representations at appendix 3. 
 

 

Wards Affected: All 
 

 
 

Financial Impact  

 
The costs of consulting on and adopting the Draft SPD will be charged against 
existing revenue budgets, mainly those relating to staffing and minor printing costs, 
within the Policy and Spatial Planning budget.  
 
Comments completed by Daniel Rochford, Head of Finance (The Economy & 
Housing Revenue Account), 15th May 2024 
 
Comments verified by Sukvinder Kalsi, Director of Finance, 23rd May 2024. 

Our Values Summary of how this report aligns to 
the H&F Values 

Building shared prosperity The SPD encourages growth and 
investment in the town centre and 
promotes job opportunities and support 
for the high street. 
  

Creating a compassionate council 
 

The council will be providing guiding 
principles for development which may 
be accessible to local charity and 
voluntary organisations.  

Doing things with local residents, not to 
them 
 

Planning together for growth and well-
being. Building upon the outcomes of 
the resident-led Hammersmith 
Masterplan (2019). 
 

Being ruthlessly financially efficient 
 

The costs associated with consulting on 
and adopting this SPD will be funded 
from existing approved budgets. 

Taking pride in H&F 
 

Giving local businesses, and residents 
an opportunity to contribute towards the 
growth of the centre.  

Rising to the challenge of the climate 
and ecological emergency 
 

The council helping support local 
businesses and residents to remain 
locally, avoiding the need to travel out of 
the borough.  

Page 41



   
 

   
 

Legal Implications 

  
The preparation and adoption of the SPD is governed primarily by the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and the Town and Country Planning (Local 
Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended) (“ the 2012 Regulations”). They 
require that the SPD be in general conformity with the London Plan and not conflict 
with the adopted development plan. The National Planning Practice Guidance states 
that the role of a SPD is to build on and provide more detailed advice or guidance on 
policies in an adopted Local Plan.   
 
Regulation 5 of the 2012 Regulations specifies what documents are local 
development documents. Regulation 6 defines a Local Plan as any document 
referred to in regulation 5(1)(a)(i),(ii) or (iv) or 5(2)(a) or (b).  
 
A SPD is a local development document that is not a Local Plan and is limited to 
including statements, as specified in Regulation 5(iii), that describe any 
environmental, social, design and economic objectives which are relevant to the 
attainment of the development and use of land specified in the Local Plan. 
 
SPDs do not form part of the development plan, they cannot introduce new planning 
policies into the development plan. Once adopted, the SPD will be a material 
consideration in decision making to which regard will have to be had when 
considering any planning application.  
 
Part 5 of the 2012 Regulations sets out the procedure to be followed prior to the 
adoption of SPDs.  
 
The Council must prepare SPDs in accordance with its Statement of Community 
Involvement (section 19(3) PCPA 2004).  
 
Before the SPD is adopted, the Council must prepare a statement setting out who 
was consulted, a summary of the main issues raised and how those issues have 
been addressed in the SPD as required by  regulation 12(a) of the 2012 Regulations. 
The Council must also make copies of the consultation statement available together 
with details of the date by which representations must be made and where the 
representations must be sent (regulation 12(b) of the 2012 Regulations.  
Part 3 of the Council’s Constitution provides that the development and 
implementation of the Council’s planning policies is within the portfolio of the Cabinet 
Member for Economy.  The adoption of the SPD would be a key decision and will be 
made in accordance with Executive Procedure Rules as set out in Part 4 of the 
Council’s Constitution, published on the Key Decisions list and a decision to adopt 
not taken until 28 days after it has been published.  The decision will be taken by the 
Cabinet after the necessary notice of the meeting has been provided.   
 
Implication completed by Mrinalini Rajaratnam, Chief Solicitor Property and Planning 
23 May 2024 
 

Background Papers Used in Preparing This Report  

None 

Page 42



   
 

   
 

 

 
DETAILED ANALYSIS 

Proposals and Analysis of Options  

  
1. The SPD provides guidance for development associated within Hammersmith 

Town Centre. It contains a brief identification of the overarching policy context, 
including national and London wide policy relevant to meeting local housing, 
economic and business needs. 

 
2. The SPD is informed by a Resident-led Masterplan completed in 2019.The 

Masterplan was shaped through extensive collaboration with local residents and 
outlines the key opportunities and challenges in Hammersmith, areas for growth 
and key interventions to help restore the identity of the town centre. It focusses 
particularly on the public realm, giving the streets and spaces back to the 
pedestrians, whilst providing space for new development and bringing cultural life 
to the heart of Hammersmith. This SPD seeks to provide a planning framework 
for the elaborate on the masterplan findings to provide planning guidance for 
developers and residents for Hammersmith town centre. 
 

3. The SPD sets out a range of requirements to be delivered through the planning 
application process, as well as more detail on implementation to ensure policy 
objectives are delivered. In particular, it indicates areas of opportunity within the 
centre, including Hammersmith Broadway and King Street together with key 
interventions such as a potential Flyunder and improvements to the gyratory. 
There is also specific guidance related to accessibility, sustainability, heritage, tall 
buildings and density, public realm and transportation. 
 

4. The SPD is necessary to ensure that up-to-date guidance on Hammersmith Town 
Centre is in place to help implement the council’s Industrial strategy, to support 
the adopted Local Plan and to comply with regulatory requirements.  
 

5. The adoption of the SPD will provide more detail on the application of the 
Hammersmith regeneration area and other related policies in the Local Plan. 
Once adopted, the SPD will be a material consideration in planning decisions 
although it will not be part of the development plan.    
 

6. The production and adoption of this Supplementary Planning document provides 
additional guidance for LBHF in positively influencing pre-application discussions 
and determining planning applications relating to Hammersmith Town centre and 
regeneration area. 
 

Post adoption requirements  
 
7. After adoption, it will be necessary under the Town and Country Planning (Local 

Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 to make the SPD, available for inspection 
and to publish on the Council’s website.  The Council must also make an 
adoption statement available and notify any person who requested to be notified 

Page 43



   
 

   
 

of the publication of the SPD. The adoption statement must be sent to the 
Secretary of State.  

 
8. The Council are not required to carry out a sustainability appraisal for the SPD 

(this now only applying to development plan documents) pursuant to the Planning 
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  However, the SPD must be considered 
against the requirements of the Environmental Assessment of Plans and 
Programmes Regulations 2004 and a draft screening statement made available.  

Reasons for Decision 

  
9. To progress the SPD to adoption to ensure that up-to-date guidance is in place to 

support the adopted Local Plan and to comply with regulatory requirements.  
  
10. The adoption of the SPD will provide more detail on the application of the 

strategic and boroughwide policies in the Local Plan.  The SPD will be a material 
consideration in planning decisions although it will not be part of the development 
plan.    

Equality Implications  

 
11.  An Equalities Impact Assessment (EQIA) has been carried out, in relation to the 

SPD (see appendix 2), and it shows only neutral or positive impacts of the 
planning guidance on protected groups.   

  
12. The EQIA assists the Council in demonstrating compliance with its public sector 

equality duty under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.  

Risk Management Implications 

  
13. The report contains an assessment of available options and the recommended 

option provides the best fit with the Council’s priorities including doing things with 
and not to residents through the consultation process and building shared 
prosperity by encouraging growth and investment in the town centre and 
promoting job opportunities and support for the high street. 

  
Implications verified by Jules Binney, Risk and Assurance Manager, 22nd May 2024 
 

Climate and Ecological Emergency Implications  

 
14. The built environment accounts for 79% of the borough’s direct emissions, with 

significant emissions arising from both the construction and operation of new 
development. Effective planning policy and guidance is therefore essential to 
ensure new development adheres to the highest possible low-carbon and 
biodiversity standards. 

 
15. The public consultation and adoption of an SPD for Hammersmith Town Centre 

enables the council to better assess planning applications for new development 
within the centre and this will help the built environment contribute to achieving 

Page 44



   
 

   
 

net zero greenhouse gas emissions. The SPD seeks to provide detailed 
guidance as to how development and regeneration of the town centre can assist 
in mitigating and adapting to climate change. 

 
16. The climate unit will work with the planning team to ensure a final consultation 

draft is comprehensive in the guidance it sets out, and that the council’s net zero 
objective is clearly integrated into and communicated by the SPD’s vision and 
objectives. 

 
Implications completed by: Hinesh Mehta, Assistant Director of Climate Change, 15th 
May 2024. 
 

Local Economy and Social Value  

 
17. Aligning with aims of the Council’s Industrial Strategy, the SPD will help 

reimagine the physical and built environment in Hammersmith town centre, 
transform the public realm and transport network, create new public spaces and 
redevelop buildings for new mixed uses that will create economic opportunities 
for local businesses and residents. Further to this, the SPD will secure 
Hammersmith’s status as an important commercial, transport and cultural centre, 
whilst diversifying the town centre offering and creating a key destination to live, 
work and visit. 

 
Implications completed by: Sam Ridley, Place Shaping Officer, 20th May 2024.  

Section 106 

 
18. The SPD promotes structural change in the movement and open space networks 

across the town centre alongside improvements to the quality of the physical and 
built environment. It therefore provides the basis for securing obligations towards 
these purposes in all new planning applications that come forward within the 
area, ensuring all development makes an appropriate contribution towards 
delivery of the vision for the area. 

 
Implications completed by: Matthew Paterson, Head of Spatial Planning,15th May 
2024  

Consultation 
 

19. Public consultation on the draft SPD ran for 8 weeks until 19th April 2024. The 
document was made available on our website and on our ‘Have your say’ 
consultation portal. In addition, we promoted participation in the consultation on 
our digital channels, the weekly e-newsletter as well as on the ‘Nextdoor’ 
engagement platform. The SPD was made available at the borough reference 
libraries and on the Council’s website, as set out in the Council’s Statement of 
Community Involvement. Additional targeted consultation was carried out, 
including publicity via the Council’s Twitter account. The Council wrote to specific 
consultation bodies outlined in the Regulations and to general consultation 
bodies, such as amenity groups, resident associations, businesses and others. 

Page 45



   
 

   
 

The council carried out a series of workshops in Hammersmith to help explain 
the SPD and to answer questions from residents and stakeholders. 

 
20. The Council received representations from 39 organisations and individuals 

during the consultation which amounted to 149 individual comments. A summary 
of the consultation responses is set out below. Full details of the representations 
and how these have been addressed have been appended to this report (see 
appendix 3).  

 
21. There was a broad range of consultees who responded to the consultation 

including borough residents, Historic England, the Greater London Authority 
(GLA), Natural England, Port of London Authority (PLA), Transport for London 
(TfL) and the Environment Agency (EA). 

  

22. Overall, comments were positive and welcomed the ambitions to for 
Hammersmith Town Centre. However, each representation made suggestions of 
how the document could go further. 
 

23. One of the main issues raised by residents was the feasibility and funding for a 
Flyunder in the centre. Comments were received from residents who suggested 
that the likelihood of the Flyunder is questionable and raised concern that other 
transport related projects for the centre could be undermined by the pursuit of 
this project. For example, one resident stated that it will be necessary to plan the 
centre of Hammersmith with the genuine probability the Flyunder scheme will not 
be realised. Transport for London (TfL) welcomed the opportunity to work with 
the Council but stated that they do not have any funding allocated to the 
interventions in the SPD in their current Business Plan.  

 

24. Several major landowners/developers made representations, including owners of 
the Livat Centre, Marks and Spencer and Reef Group, Romulus and Royal 
London Asset Management seeking clarification on a number of matters 
associated with specific sites and properties. They sought amendments to the 
key sites to include further interventions, such as greater building heights and 
extensions to site boundaries. Appendix 3 outlines how the SPD will be changed 
in response to these comments. The council have made clear that the indicative 
guidance provided in the SPD on key sites is not policy and that with the 
exception of the Flyunder and the Civic Campus they are not formal site 
allocations. Planning regulations are clear that SPDs are guidance documents 
only, are a material consideration in planning decisions, but do not set policy. 

 

25. A small number of comments were received on matters not covered by the SPD. 
This included queries about the status of Hammersmith Bridge and the need to 
get that re-opened. Whilst this falls outside of the SPD boundary the council 
understand the concerns about the Bridge and are committed to keeping 
residents and others updated with the latest information about the Bridge. The 
Environment Agency and the PLA were keen that the river be discussed further 
in the SPD. The council are keen to re-establish the linkages with the town 
centre and the river but the river itself remains outside of the SPD boundary.  

 

Page 46



   
 

   
 

26. Local residents raised some useful comments on pertinent issues relating to the 
quality of the public realm, the heights of buildings and the traffic in the centre.  
The council agree that the traffic issues in the centre are an important concern 
and that is why many of the ambitions within the SPD are associated with 
improving the traffic flow and layout of the centre to maximise opportunities for 
better public realm and pedestrian access. Other respondents were keen that 
the SPD better emphasises inclusive and accessible design in the centre so that 
the needs of everyone are considered and the centre provides a positive 
experience. The council agree and a number of updates have been made to the 
SPD to reflect this (see appendix 3), including signposting other strategies on 
healthy streets and the GLA’s Safety in Public Spaces guide for Women, Girls 
and Diverse People.  

 

Post Consultation Changes  

 

27. As a result of the consultation, only minor changes are considered necessary to 

the SPD prior to adoption.    

 
28. Full details of the representations and how these have been addressed are 

appended to this report (Appendix 3). The minor text changes have been 
inserted into the SPD. 
 
 

LIST OF APPENDICES 
 
Appendix 1 – Hammersmith Town Centre SPD  
Appendix 2 – Equalities Impact Assessment 
Appendix 3 – Hammersmith Town Centre SPD Representations Schedule  
 

Page 47



HAMMERSMITH
TOWN CENTRE
THE HEART OF WEST LONDON

SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT

CABINET DRAFT

JULY 2024

APPENDIX 1

Page 48



2
Page 49



We’re passionate and ambitious for Hammersmith Town Centre. We’re 
aiming high and want it to be a centre that residents and business can 
be proud of. The Town Centre has exciting and bold opportunities ahead 
and our vision is to grasp these and make sure this prosperity is shared – 
and no-one is left behind. 

The town centre is a key contributor to the economy of west London, 
representing one of west London’s most important commercial centres 
as well as the primary retail destination for many of the borough’s 
residents. It is also an important centre for arts, entertainment and public 
administration.

We believe the wealth and opportunity generated by development in 
Hammersmith Town Centre and across the borough should be shared by 
the residents of Hammersmith & Fulham, particularly our young people. 
That means training the next generation to take advantage of the high-
skills, high-reward job market. And it means the companies who are 
building and developing in the Town Centre must do their bit to fund the 
genuinely affordable homes that local people need so they can afford 
to live here. 

People love living in Hammersmith and it is vital to bring people and 
businesses together to act as partners in regenerating, improving and 
protecting our local areas. New opportunities like the Civic Campus 
development for revitalising Hammersmith Town Centre must not only 
protect our rich heritage but provide the best in public open space 
and quality architecture. Building on our thriving arts and culture scene, 
creating more vibrant and buzzing public spaces and facilities that are 
accessible to all local residents and not a privileged few. 

We are determined to make Hammersmith & Fulham the greenest 
and most environmentally positive borough in the UK. Our residents 
deserve a safe, clean and green Town Centre and we have set our 
direction of travel with the highest numbers of electric cars and ground-
breaking action plans for improving air quality, biodiversity and transport 
connections. This Supplementary Planning Document is ambitious in 
seeking the removal of the Flyover and replacing it with a flyunder tunnel 
which would provide considerable benefits in reconnecting the town 
centre to the river and greatly improve the environment in the town 
centre. We also want to explore the option to replace the gyratory with 
two way traffic, which would provide the opportunity to create a new 
area of open space on one side of the gyratory

This Supplementary Planning document is a clear statement of our 
commitment to continue to deliver on our pledges to our residents 
alongside our internationally acclaimed Industrial Strategy. It provides an 
important tool so we can be pioneering in our approach to promoting 
regeneration and managing change in Hammersmith Town Centre 
so that everyone benefits and we can take even greater pride in this 
Centre.

3

Foreword 

Cllr Andrew Jones 
Cabinet Member for The 
Economy

Page 50



4
Page 51



5

Contents

Introduction	 7
Setting the Scene	 8
Where we are now	 10
Purpose of the SPD 	 12

Vision	 16
Objectives for Delivery	 18
What we can achieve - Spatial framework	 26

Realising opportunities	 28
Hammersmith Broadway 	 29
King Street 	 35
Eastern Quarter	 41
Northern Quarter	 45

Developer Guidance	 50
A. Climate Change and Sustainability 	 51
B. Supporting Appropriate Density	 52
C. Architectural Excellence	 55
D. Diversifying and Promoting New Uses	 56
E. Active and Accessible Places	 60

Delivery and Implementation	 64

Page 52



6
Page 53



The City 
30 minutes

Heathrow
35 minutes

Paddington
20 minutes

Old Oak Common 
(Future HS2 Station)  

30 minutes

HAMMERSMITH 

White City

Fulham

South Fulham

Hammersmith Town Centre 
is designated as a major 
town centre in the London 
Plan and is a key contributor 
to the economy of west 
London, being one of its 
most important commercial 
centres. In recent years there 
has been growing interest in 
development opportunities 
within Hammersmith with 
several large-scale planning 
applications recently approved 
or completed for a number of 
key sites.

Hammersmith is located north 
of the River Thames; its special 
riverside location provides 
Hammersmith with a unique 
character and forms the 
physical heart of the borough. 
With many established 
community and heritage assets, 
including theatres and historic 
pubs, the area also has a rich 
culture and history making it 
an attractive destination for 
visitors.

Hammersmith is strategically 
located in the heart of west 
London, halfway between 
Heathrow Airport and central 
London. With excellent 
transport links, this makes 
it a highly connected and 
accessible place to live, work 
and visit.

The Hammersmith Regeneration 
Area is complemented by three 
other important London Plan 
Opportunity Areas; within which 
further significant regeneration 
is planned in the borough. 

White City Opportunity Area 
is situated to the north and 
Earls Court & West Kensington 
Opportunity Area in Fulham to 
the south east of the borough.

Introduction

7
Page 54



11,923
Population 

£5bn  
Investment by H&F Businesses since 2017

£956,111
Average House Price

£46k
Average income

30
Minutes to 
Heathrow, 
Paddington and 
Kings Cross

75%
Population of 
Working age

70m
Footfall through the 
town centre p/a

HQ
Immediate Media
Disney 
Virgin Media/O2

6th 
Most competitive 
economy in UK

0.8%
House 
prices 
since 2015

2
Tube Stations 

16
Historic Pubs

1887
Hammersmith Bridge opened

36ac. 
of riverside

130%
    in office rents (per sqft) since 2005

Home of the
Apollo/Lyric 
Theatre

8

Setting the Scene

Page 55



Strengths 
	� Excellent transport connections to central 

London & Heathrow Airport 

	� Riverside location

	� Home to many cultural, arts & entertainment 
venues

	� Rich historic environment

	� Thriving office market with many international 
businesses & creative industries 

	� High footfall- workers, residents & visitors

Opportunities
	� Inclusive mixed-use development 

opportunities to deliver new homes and jobs 
including affordable homes

	� Strengthen the cultural and night time 
economy offer 

	� Improve the quality, accessibility and 
inclusivity of the public realm and open 
spaces

	� Resilience/change resulting from the Covid 
Pandemic

	� Stitch the town centre back together, 
improving inclusive connections to the river 
and improve air quality/urban greening

Threats
	� Decline in traditional high 

street retail stores

	� HIgh cost of infrastructure 
improvements 

	� Sites in multiple ownership

	� Limited control over sites in 
private ownership

	� Crime/Anti-social behaviour

	� Management of evening 
economy 

	� Urban heat island effect 
(overheating) 

	� Flooding

Weaknesses
	� Poor quality public realm, 

dominated by vehicular traffic 
and causing congestion

	� Lack of green open space and 
biodiversity

	� Poor pedestrian environment 
and barriers to movement for 
disabled people

	� Lack of a strong recognisable 
identity 

	� High Road and building 
greenhouse gas emissions; 
alongside poor air quality & 
noise pollution 

	� Lack of affordable housing

9
Page 56



Where we are now

10

LANDMARK HOUSE
mixed-use office and hotel 
development

CIVIC CAMPUS
mixed-use development - civic campus, 
cinema, housing and public square 

245 HAMMERSMITH ROAD
mixed-use office and 
workspace development

SOVEREIGN COURT 
mixed-use housing and 
commercial development

161 TALGARTH ROAD
Hotel and student 
accommodation development

TRIANGLE/1012HG 
540,000 square foot 
office development 

Recently completed/under construction Consented Live planning application Other key opportunitiesPage 57



11

LANDMARK HOUSE
mixed-use office and hotel 
development

CIVIC CAMPUS
mixed-use development - civic campus, 
cinema, housing and public square 

245 HAMMERSMITH ROAD
mixed-use office and 
workspace development

SOVEREIGN COURT 
mixed-use housing and 
commercial development

161 TALGARTH ROAD
Hotel and student 
accommodation development

TRIANGLE/1012HG 
540,000 square foot 
office development 

Recently completed/under construction Consented Live planning application Other key opportunities Page 58



In recent years, Hammersmith 
has seen growing interest in 
development opportunities, 
with several large-scale 
planning applications recently 
approved or completed for a 
number of key sites. 

In particular, the renewal of 
the Civic Campus, including 
Hammersmith Town Hall is 
currently under construction. 
Once completed, the Civic 
Campus will provide an 
accessible and inclusive  
cultural hub and important 
gateway development at 
the western edge of the town 
centre. 

culture and leisure, alongside 
encouraging additional 
growth of new residential and 
commercial developments. 
Delivering a step change in the 
quality of the physical and built 
environment in Hammersmith is 
a central aim of the SPD.

Key objectives of the SPD focus 
on transforming the public 
realm and transport network, 
creating accessible and 
inclusive new public spaces 
and more legible routes; as well 
as inclusive redevelopment 
and refurbishment of buildings 
throughout the area. 

Elsewhere in Hammersmith, the 
current flyover and gyratory 
system together form a major 
focus for change, as part of the 
transformation of the centre

This Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) sets out 
a shared vision for the 
regeneration of Hammersmith 
up to 2035. 

The SPD builds upon 
Hammersmith’s existing 
strengths as a major office and 
retail centre, but also seeks 
to diversify the town centre 
offer, strengthening its role as 
an inclusive centre for arts, 

Purpose of the SPD 

12

Hammersmith Regeneration Area as adopted in the Local PlanPage 59



Policy Context 

This SPD seeks to supplement 
existing Policies set out in the 
Council’s Local Plan (2018). The 
Mayor’s London Plan provides 
the regional policy framework 
for London. The London Plan 
was adopted in March 2021. 
The London Plan designates 
Hammersmith as a Major Town 
Centre and contains a range 
of relevant planning policies for 
Hammersmith including those 
on tall buildings, town centres, 
housing, cultural/community 
facilities, urban greening, 
sustainable development, 
affordable workspace and 
employment. 
At the national policy level, 
the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) 2023 acts as 
the over-arching policy context 
for this SPD.

Delivery of key strategies 

The SPD also seeks to assist in 
the delivery of the council’s key 
corporate strategies:

	� Climate Change SPD 
(2023) - The SPD delivers 
upon the key objectives 
of this recently adopted 
document, encouraging 
innovative approaches to 
achieve net zero carbon 
and biodiversity-enhancing 
developments

	� Industrial Strategy (2019) - 
The SPD delivers upon the 
objectives of the industrial 
strategy, encouraging 
growth in enterprise, 
innovation, skills and 
infrastructure throughout 
Hammersmith and other key 
places across the borough

Masterplanning/Design Coding 
and Planning Briefs

The Council expects 
landowners to work together to 
bring forward key opportunity 
sites, which are subject to 
multiple ownerships.  

Use of site wide masterplanning 
supported by appropriate 
design coding to facilitate 
the optimisation and 
comprehensive/inclusive 
development, will be 
encouraged as part of the 
Development Management 
process.  

The Council may also produce 
Planning Briefs to guide  
development of key sites.

Where a phased approach 
to development is brought 
forward, development 
proposals should illustrate 
how they would not fetter the 
ability of adjacent sites/land to 
achieve an optimum form of 
development and/or achieve 
the other objectives of this SPD.

Design Review Panel/Inclusive 
Design Review Panel

In order to ensure that 
development is of the highest 
design quality, and promotes 
principles of accessible and 
inclusive design, development 
proposals will be expected to 
be subject to review by our 
Design Review and Inclusive 

13
Page 60



Design Review Panels.
Resident-led Masterplan 

In 2019 the council published 
the Hammersmith Regeneration 
Area Masterplan which is 
an important precursor to 
this SPD. Shaped through 
extensive collaboration 
with local residents, the 
masterplan outlines the key 
opportunities and challenges 
in Hammersmith and identifies 
areas for growth and key 
interventions to help restore the 
identity of the town centre. 
The masterplan focusses 
particularly on the public realm, 
giving the streets and spaces 
back to the pedestrians, whilst 
providing space for new 
development and bringing 
cultural life to the heart of 
Hammersmith. 

This SPD seeks to elaborate 
on the masterplan findings to 
provide planning guidance for 
developers and residents for 
Hammersmith town centre. 

14

Hammersmith Town Centre Working PartyPage 61



15

VISION

Page 62



16

Vision

Page 63



Hammersmith is a fantastic place to live, 
do business and embrace culture and arts. 
Moving forward, we will build upon these 
strengths to reaffirm the role of the town as 
the buzzing and well-connected heart of 
West London life

Our vision is to restore the heart of the 
town centre, where new developments 
create a wide variety of opportunities for 
employment as well as living in inclusive 
and affordable homes. We will also 
redesign the highway network to enhance 
movement and connections with existing 
open/ green spaces and key cultural 
destinations  

	> 2,800 new homes including provision of 50% genuinely affordable homes

	> 10,000 new jobs including the provision of new affordable and flexible 
workspace for SME start-ups/scale-ups 

	> Replace the Hammersmith flyover with a tunnel, ‘a flyunder’ remove an 
eyesore and physical barrier, significantly enhancing the townscape, lessening the 

impact of through traffic, release valuable land for development 

	> Green and healthy town centre including delivery of new public space 
and landscaping/urban greening to enhance amenity, air quality and 
biodiversity, creating green corridors/active travel

	> Contribute towards the delivery of net zero carbon buildings 

	> Enhance our existing Arts and Culture offer through festivals/pop-up events and 

improving the evening economy 

	> Create an accessible and inclusive town centre which provides a positive 
experience for all

New developments will strengthen the 
identity of an accessible and inclusive  
town centre; focussing on creating a 
healthy, green and pedestrian friendly 
environment.  High quality buildings will 
complement and reveal the heritage 
of Hammersmith, whilst also reducing 
mitigating and adapting to climate 
change; creating a more liveable place  

Development linked to other growth areas 
including White City, will promote shared 
growth and economic benefits, including 
new homes, jobs and a wider mix of uses; 
enabling business, our communities and 
visitors alike to thrive

Key Outcomes

17

Hammersmith - The Heart of West London 

Page 64



Creating a stronger sense of 
place throughout the town 
centre will be critical to its
transformation. Stitching the 
town centre back together 
through a more diverse mix of 
uses, activities and new public 
spaces will help to restore the 
heart of the town.

With redevelopment of the 
Civic Campus to the west 
and rethinking the role of 
Hammersmith Broadway, St. 
Paul’s square and Queen 
Caroline Street in the central 
area will complement its 
transformation,  enabling King 
Street to become a strong 
spine of activity between 
these two quarters. To the east, 
transformation of the highway 
will enable stronger links to be 
created between the West 
London College, LAMDA, The 
Ark and the town centre.

The River Thames is also a key 
part of Hammersmith’s unique 
character. Improving links to 
the river will help to reinforce 
this element of Hammersmith’s 
identity.

Hammersmith has a strong 
reputation as a place to do 
business, with major employers 
such as L&G building 250,000 sq 
ft of flexible office space at 245 
Hammersmith Road and firms 
like customer science business 
dunnhumby currently being 
located in the town centre. 

We will exploit our rapid 
connectivity to central 
London and beyond by 
encouraging new creative 
and entrepreneurial uses 
throughout the town centre 
as part of new developments 
and the repurposing of existing 
buildings/spaces. Maximising 
delivery of new affordable 
workspace will be critical to this 
offer, enabling our residents 
and local SMEs to start-up and 
grow in Hammersmith.

Performing arts form the 
main strength of our cultural 
offer, with the Lyric Theatre, 
The Apollo and Riverside 
Studios providing our main 
cultural centres. These centres 
are supported by existing 
restaurants, bars and smaller 
music venues. There is also a 
range of visitor accomodation  
within the town centre. 

Growing and diversifying 
the evening and night-time 
economy will help establish 
a more vibrant and liveable 
town centre. Enabling more 
flexibility for start-up cultural 
and night-time economy uses, 
alongside delivering new public 
realm, programmed events 
and public art will help to 
strengthen the performance 
of Hammersmith and create a 
thriving local community.

Restoring the heart 
of Hammersmith

Anchoring creative and 
entrepreneurial hubs

Strengthening our cultural core/
night time economy 

18

Objectives for Delivery

Page 65



Growth of housing within the 
town centre, will help to create 
a more vibrant place overall. 

Housing growth will be focused 
around maximising delivery of 
genuinely affordable homes for 
our local communities. These 
homes will be well designed 
across a mix of tenures and 
sizes to meet the needs of all 
our residents

Transforming the existing 
road network around the 
town centre offers several 
opportunities to improve 
pedestrian movement and 
create new/enriched areas 
of public space which would 
improve air quality and improve 
health outcomes for our 
residents. 

The current flyover and gyratory 
system form a major focus 
for change, as part of the 
transformation of the town 
centre. Work is underway 
to explore options to either 
downgrade or replace these 
features with a flyunder. In 
addition to environmental 
outcomes suggested above, 
delivery of these changes 
could also release/enlarge the 
scale of several sites for future 
development.

New developments will assist 
in addressing climate change, 
and delivering net zero. 
Reducing carbon emissions and 
improving air quality. Flood risk 
reduction, green infrastructure, 
landscaping and sustainable 
construction  throughout the 
lifetime of development will 
make Hammersmith a more 
liveable place. 

Improving the public realm 
through provision of new/
enhanced pedestrian/ cycle 
links coupled with the delivery 
of new and improved public 
spaces including areas of soft 
landscaping will provide our 
communities and visitors with a 
more positive experience of the 
town centre.  

Transformation of existing 
highways will provide 
opportunities to create healthy 
streets, introducing new tree 
planting and improving air 
quality. New public spaces 
will enable programming of 
additional outdoor events, 
facilitating communities making 
the most of these spaces. 

Delivering genuinely affordable 
homes for local people 

Delivering a Fly-under A sustainable, green and 
liveable Hammersmith

19
Page 66



20

SPATIAL FRAMEWORK

Page 67



21

SPATIAL FRAMEWORK

Page 68



Key Concepts

ENHANCE OUR CIVIC, CULTURAL AND
EVENING ECONOMY

Enrich the current town centre offer, by enabling new/ existing 
community, cultural and entertainment uses  

IMPROVING CONNECTIONS
TO THE RIVER

Restitch the town centre back together and promote access 
to the river.  Encourage the use of green and blue 
infrastructure and active travel. Create safe, green and 
animated routes

PROMOTE EMPLOYMENT 
AND NEW HOMES 

Promote development mixed-use schemes to enable 
employment/housing growth, including genuinely affordable 
homes

PROVIDE A NETWORK
OF PUBLIC SPACES

Provide new and enhanced high-quality public space and 
squares including, Unity Square, Hammersmith Broadway Square 
and St Pauls Open Space

22
Page 69



ENHANCE OUR CIVIC, CULTURAL AND
EVENING ECONOMY

Enrich the current town centre offer, by enabling new/ existing 
community, cultural and entertainment uses  

IMPROVING CONNECTIONS
TO THE RIVER

Restitch the town centre back together and promote access 
to the river.  Encourage the use of green and blue 
infrastructure and active travel. Create safe, green and 
animated routes

PROMOTE EMPLOYMENT 
AND NEW HOMES 

Promote development mixed-use schemes to enable 
employment/housing growth, including genuinely affordable 
homes

PROVIDE A NETWORK
OF PUBLIC SPACES

Provide new and enhanced high-quality public space and 
squares including, Unity Square, Hammersmith Broadway Square 
and St Pauls Open Space

23
Page 70



Key Concepts

IMPROVE CONNECTIVITY AND ACCESSIBILITY

Ensure that the town centre is served by high quality 
pedestrian/cyclist routes to key activities and uses. 

CREATE AN UPGRADED TRANSPORT INTERCHANGE

Support development of Hammersmith Broadway to create a 
high-quality interchange, alongside new development and 
public spaces.

REIMAGINING TRANSPORT INFRASTRUCTURE - 
FLYUNDER/GYRATORY

Transforming the town centre, creating a more liveable place; 
bringing forward projects including the flyover/gyratory. Making 
the A4 less of a barrier; as a cycle route with lower speeds and 
more surface level crossings.  

SUPPORT THE ROLE 
OF KING STREET

Ensure that King Street retains its role as the main retail centre, 
whilst supporting a more diverse range of uses.  Improving public 
realm and high-quality new buildings/shopfronts.

24
Page 71



IMPROVE CONNECTIVITY AND ACCESSIBILITY

Ensure that the town centre is served by high quality 
pedestrian/cyclist routes to key activities and uses. 

CREATE AN UPGRADED TRANSPORT INTERCHANGE

Support development of Hammersmith Broadway to create a 
high-quality interchange, alongside new development and 
public spaces.

REIMAGINING TRANSPORT INFRASTRUCTURE - 
FLYUNDER/GYRATORY

Transforming the town centre, creating a more liveable place; 
bringing forward projects including the flyover/gyratory. Making 
the A4 less of a barrier; as a cycle route with lower speeds and 
more surface level crossings.  

SUPPORT THE ROLE 
OF KING STREET

Ensure that King Street retains its role as the main retail centre, 
whilst supporting a more diverse range of uses.  Improving public 
realm and high-quality new buildings/shopfronts.

25
Page 72



REIMAGINING TRANSPORT INFRASTRUCTURE - 
FLYUNDER/GYRATORY

IMPROVING CONNECTIONS 
TO THE RIVER

IMPROVE CONNECTIVITY 
AND ACCESSIBILITY

ENHANCE OUR CIVIC, CULTURAL 
AND EVENING ECONOMY

SUPPORT THE ROLE OF KING STREET PROMOTE EMPLOYMENT 
AND NEW HOMES 

PROVIDE A NETWORK 
OF PUBLIC SPACES

CREATE AN UPGRADED 
TRANSPORT INTERCHANGE

26

What we can achieve - Spatial framework

Page 73



REIMAGINING TRANSPORT INFRASTRUCTURE - 
FLYUNDER/GYRATORY

IMPROVING CONNECTIONS 
TO THE RIVER

IMPROVE CONNECTIVITY 
AND ACCESSIBILITY

ENHANCE OUR CIVIC, CULTURAL 
AND EVENING ECONOMY

SUPPORT THE ROLE OF KING STREET PROMOTE EMPLOYMENT 
AND NEW HOMES 

PROVIDE A NETWORK 
OF PUBLIC SPACES

CREATE AN UPGRADED 
TRANSPORT INTERCHANGE

27
Page 74



Through extensive analysis 
four character areas have 
been identified within the 
Hammersmith Regeneration 
Area. 

	� Hammersmith Broadway
	� King Street 
	� Eastern Quarter 
	� Northern Quarter

These Character Areas are 
based on their contribution of 
existing land uses,
town centre function and 
future regeneration
opportunities. 

The regeneration area 
also includes a number of 
Conservation Areas which 
contribute to the unique and 
varied character of the area.

The section of the SPD seeks 
to provide key guidance 
in relation to strategic site 
allocations within the Local 
Plan; namely for the flyover and 
gyratory. 

Other guidance within the SPD 
relates to the identification of 
key character areas and sites 
which could be delivered in 

future.  This guidance is not 
intended to be a formal site 
allocation, instead providing 
a high-level discussion of key 
design principles, which could 
be developed in future. More 
detailed guidance may come 
forward in the form of planning 
briefs/masterplans.

Site owners/developers are 
recommended to engage in 
early pre-application discussion 
with officers to bring forward 
detailed proposals for individual 
sites.

Northern Quarter

King Street
Hammersmith Broadway

	� Eastern Quarter 

28

Realising opportunities

Character Areas within Hammersmith Page 75



Existing Townscape

Hammersmith’s historic 
heart with key town centre 
functions providing activity 
and vibrancy. Characterised 
by a severe lack of townscape 
cohesion created by 
transport interventions and 
redevelopment between 1960-
80’s.

Consists of groups and 
individual buildings of good 
quality and architectural 
interest/character, such as 
historic pubs, St Paul’s church, 
art deco Apollo Theatre and 
Hammersmith and City Line 
station.  Alongside R. Seifert’s 
Livat Centrel and No 1 Lyric 
Square, constructed in the 
1970s.

Within the flyover/gyratory 
area, the Broadway Centre, 
a post-modern building 
of introverted design with 
interchange between 
Underground/bus servies and 
shopping centre. Limits visually 
strong routes/links to the town 
centre. The gyratory forms a 
strong barrier around the site, 
creating an island site. 

King Street includes a mix of 
modern/historic buildings of 
diverse scales/designs grouped 
around the traditional high 
street. Lyric Square forming 
the current heart of the town 
centre. 

29

Plan of Hammersmith Broadway

Image of Landmark House 

Grade II* St Pauls Church 80s Hammersmith Broadway

Lyric Theatre and Square

Kings 
Mall

St Pauls 
Church

Listed Buildings Buildings of Merit

Hammersmith Broadway 

Page 76



This will include an enlarged 
St Paul’s square and a new 
public transport interchange/
public space - Broadway 
Plaza. Enhanced links between 
these spaces will open-up 
connections to the wider 
town centre. Explore options 
to deliver better connections 
between the two stations either 
at grade or below ground.

Future Vision

Transforming the central part 
of the regeneration area will 
provide significant opportunities 
to implement major changes 
to transport infrastructure, 
employment, commercial and 
visitor facilities for Hammersmith.

These changes will enable the 
creation of new and enhanced 
areas of public space.

High-quality new development 
will enable good growth, 
through improvements 
to the townscape, local 
environmental quality and 
Hammersmith’s identity overall; 
new commercial floorspace will 
prioritise new cafes, restaurants 
and community spaces to 
support key arts and cultural 
venues; creating new vibrant 
and active ground floor uses.  
Alongside these uses new 
employment space and homes 
will be promoted to maximise 
activity throughout the day.

30

Primary pedestrian routes
Secondary pedestrian routes
Cultural routes
Active frontage

New public realm

Key

1

2

3

4

5

6

Page 77



Key Interventions

Replace the flyover/sections 
of the A4, creating a 
healthy urban boulevard in 
its place, improving links to 
the river and releasing land 
for development that will 
contribute to regeneration of 
Hammersmith Town Centre

Comprehensive 
redevelopment of 
Hammersmith Broadway;   
vibrant mix of uses ; new 
public space and a well-
integrated transport 
interchange

Encouraging cultural, 
entertainment and leisure 
uses around the Broadway-
King Street axis and Queen 
Caroline Street, to create a 
new cultural route (Culture 
Trail) that connects the Lyric/
Lyric Square and the Apollo 
Theatre

Integrating the Apollo within 
the town centre through 
creation of new cultural links 
and an enlivened public 
realm  

Utilising highway land 
released by transformation 
of the gyratory to enable 
new development and 
public space including an 
enlarged St Pauls Square

Creating a network of links 
between public spaces 
and places of interest, to 
include a new enlivened 
pedestrian route between 
Lyric Square and the Apollo, 
including the Livat Centre, 
and improved permeability 
of the Broadway Centre 
site with links to King Street, 
the Hammersmith & City 
Line Station, Fulham Palace 
Road, St Paul’s Church and 
the new podium square 
behind 245 Hammersmith 
Road

31

Characterful cultural route Transport interchange 

Imagined New Hammersmith station and squareQueen Caroline Street 

1

2

3

4

5

6

Page 78



HRA2 Strategic Site - 
Flyover, Hammersmith Gyratory and adjoining land

A

B

A.	 Flyunder

The A4 Hammersmith flyover  
is a key transport artery that 
provides daily access from 
the M4 into central London 
to nearly 90,000 vehicles 
per day. The flyover has a 
significant adverse effect on 
its surrounding public realm, 
severing the town centre’s 
connectivity and restricting 
access to the river. 
 
The council’s firm ambition 
is to, in partnership with TfL 
and the GLA, replace the 
flyover with a tunnel (the 
flyunder) to restore the heart 
in Hammersmith. 
  
Once the flyover is removed, 
it is likely that a new east-
west road will be required 
to provide access for local 
traffic, alongside provision 
of a cycle route along the 
A4 and more surface level 
crossings.  

Rather than a traditional street 
for vehicular movement, it 
is envisaged this would be 
designed as a green boulevard 
- a destination in its own right.

The removal of the flyover will 
generate a broad range of 
benefits for Hammersmith town 
centre, its residents, and its 
visitors, enabling:
 
	� reduction in noise levels 

and air pollution, much-
improved quality of life 
for residents and a better 
experience for visitors

	� release of valuable land 
for development to deliver 
affordable homes and jobs 
for local people. 

	� reconnecting Hammersmith 
to the River Thames 

	� enhanced permeability, 
creating new pedestrian/
cycle connections

	� improved public realm, 
open spaces and 
placemaking 

 B.	 Gyratory

Reconfiguration of the 
existing gyratory system 
would significantly enhance 
Hammersmith Town Centre.  

The preferred option is to 
reconfigure the gyratory to 
two-way working, removing 
the western leg (Blacks Road 
and Hammersmith Bridge 
Road).  Reconfiguration of 
the gyratory would include:

	� enhancement of the 
public realm to the 
north of Hammersmith 
Broadway and key public 
transport interchanges

	� delivery of the cultural 
route along Queen 
Caroline Street linking the 
Lyric and Apollo

	� enhancement and 
enlargement of St Paul’s 
Open Space

32

Strategic Site - HRA2 - The flyunder and gyratoryPage 79



Enabling Delivery

Flyunder 

Whilst the flyunder will 
undoubtedly yield significant 
benefits for Hammersmith 
and the entire borough, it is 
a long-term project that will 
take time to implement and 
require significant funding from 
development, as well as other 
sources. 

The SPD therefore sets out a 
transitional approach to realise 
the vision for Hammersmith 
while the flyover is in place for 
the short-term, but enables the 
delivery of the flyunder in the 
longer-term once appropriate 
funding is secured.  

The council has updated the 
business case for the flyunder to 
take account of the economic 
shifts accelerated by the 
pandemic, and to understand 
where new opportunities to 
fund the flyunder have arisen. 
The cost of constructing the 
flyunder is estimated to be 
£811m. 

The council is now eager to 
reconvene discussions with 
TfL and the GLA in order to 
develop a feasibility and 
implementation plan to 
progress the project to its next 
stage, and to discuss options for 
financing the funding shortfall.

Gyratory

Further detailed modelling 
and feasibility work with TfL 
and the Council is required 
to understand the full impact 
of the preferred option for 
reconfiguration of the gyratory.

Consultation will be required 
and detailed modelling on the 
preferred option should be 
undertaken and include the 
following:

	� Traffic modelling of 
gyratory peninsulisation to 
define best measures for 
improvement

	� Modelling impact on local 
junctions, signalling and  
transport alignments  

	� Modelling impact on air 
pollution and identifying 
appropriate mitigation 
measures  

Moving forward, both 
the flyunder and gyratory 
projects will require additional 
transport modelling work to 
be undertaken; to understand 
the potential impacts of any 
changes to this infrastructure 
at both a borough-wide and 
localised level.  

This modelling will aim to ensure 
that changes result in wider 
improvements to highway, 
frieght and cycle movement 
networks.

King Street

Talgarth Road

33

Preferred two-way gyratory Page 80



The Livat Centre is a significant shopping 
destination within the town centre. Future 
use and diversification of this site could 
facilitate the wider renewal of the town 
centre, through:

	� Retaining and supporting new/varied 
retail uses; whilst also encouraging 
diversification and inclusion of new 
restaurants/cafes and community uses

 
	� Considering options to improve the 

relationship of the site with public realm 
and key spaces

Indicative development parameters 
	� The scale of any development should 

be complementary to the existing 

Key site - 
Livat Centre

Future development of this group of sites 
could facilitate the wider renewal of the 
town centre, through:

	� Retaining and supporting new/varied 
retail use; whilst also encouraging 
diversification and inclusion of new 
restaurants & cafes and community 
uses

 
	� Delivering new pedestrian links between 

Lyric Square and St Paul’s Open Space

Indicative development parameters 
	� Large/tall buildings varying between 

5-11 storeys could be achievable; 
subject to consideration of townscape 
context and historic assets 

Key Site - 
1-79 King St/12 Blacks Rd

Hammersmith Broadway is a key public transport interchange, 
providing access to local buses and the tube.  The existing 
building incorporates a variety of different uses.

Comprehensive redevelopment of the site could consider:

	� Creation of a new, enhanced public transport interchange 

	� New civic square, play space and public realm improvements, 
inlcluding improved pedestrian links between Hammersmith 
Broadway/tube station and the wider town centre

 
	� Addtional space for retail, restaurants/cafes and new offices; 

including affordable and flexible workspace for SME’s

	� Housing development, including genuinely affordable housing

Indicative development parameters 
	� Tall Buildings articulated of building heights ranging between 

10 – 20 storeys may be achievable; subject to consideration of 
townscape context and historic assets. 

Key Site - 
Hammersmith Broadway

Hammersmith Station - 
a key interchange

34
Page 81



Listed Buildings Buildings of Merit

Existing Townscape

Traditional high street and 
its hinterland providing 
connections towards 
Brackenbury Village in the north 
and the river to the south. King 
Street is characterised by an 
interesting mix of small scale 
high-street buildings of various 
styles and ages, but overall 
the quality of the public realm 
is poor, with many buildings in 
need of refurbishment. 

The A4 forms the southern 
boundary, restricting links to 
the river/Furnival Gardens. It 
includes the Town Hall (Grade II 
Listed) and the Hope & Anchor 
Pub (Grade II Listed). Housing 
estates (Riverside Gardens-
1930’s & Aspen Gardens- 1948) 
are a key part of the character 
and appearance of this area.

To the east Victorian terraces/
mansion blocks on Angel Walk/
Bridge Avenue. Large scale 
commercial buildings, Thames 
Tower and Landmark House 
which are currently being 
redeveloped. 

The north has a more intimate 
character featuring  lanes/
mews including a mixture of 2-3 
storey terraces and warehouse 
style commercial buildings/
railway arches. 

35

King Street 

Plan of King Street

Riverside gardens 

145 King Street King Street

Bridge Avenue/Aspen Gardens

Town 
Hall

King Street

A4 Flyover

Page 82



Aspen 
GardensRiverside 

Gardens

Civic
Campus

Future Vision

King Street will continue to 
be the main spine of retail 
activity in the town centre.  
New developments will be 
promoted which expand the 
retail and commercial offer 
of the high street to provide a 
stronger mix of uses, including 
the introduction of upper floor 
residential and community 
activities.

The renewal of the Civic 
Campus will support the 
diversification of the High Street, 
introducing new community 
and cultural uses; alongside a 
new public square to provide 
a destination at the western 
extent of the town centre.
  

Introduction of new uses and 
more successful inks with other 
prominent sites of townscape 
and community interest such 
as Landmark House and the 
railway arches will also add 
to the diversity and vibrancy 
of the area. Transformation of 
the public realm to create a 
vibrant high street boulevard 
with informal seating, play, 
tables and chairs will provide a 
more enjoyable experience of 
this space overall. 

36

Primary pedestrian routes
Secondary pedestrian routes
Cultural routes
Active frontage

New public realm

Key

1

2

3

4

5

Page 83



Key Interventions

Encouraging a more diverse 
mix of active uses along 
King Street that contribute 
to improving the vitality and 
viability of the town centre 
including shops, restaurants, 
cafes, community and 
cultural uses, with residential 
on the upper floors of 
buildings. In addition, the 
quality of shopfronts will be 
improved

The Civic Campus will 
provide a catalyst for 
drawing the evening/
nighttime economy to the 
West of King Street

Facilitating opportunities 
to bring the vacant railway 
arches north of King Street 
back into active use, 
promoting them for SME’s 
including creative industries 
and workshops

Refurbishing the Town Hall 
and redeveloping adjoining 
land to create a new Civic 
Campus for the west of 
King Street, with new public 
space and supporting uses 
including residential, offices, 
retail, community and 
cultural facilities

Widening the pavements 
on both sides of King Street, 
reducing the width of the 
roadway to allow for buses 
and cycles only to improve 
the experience of King Street 
for pedestrians 

Providing a variation of 
attractive, creative and 
animated crossings to 
enhance pedestrian/cycle 
links from the town centre to 
the riverside

37

Activated railway arches Attractive underpasses

King Street re-imagined

1
2

3

4

5

Page 84



Renewal of the Civic Campus, including Hammersmith Town Hall is 
currently under construction.

Once completed, the Civic Campus will provide a gateway at 
the western edge of the town centre. This will include:

	� Refurbishment of Grade II Listed Town Hall to provide a new 
civic centre with new council office space and a rooftop bar/
restaurant with public access

	� New civic square, play space and public realm improvements
 
	� A cinema with retail, restaurants & cafes

	� Offices including affordable and flexible workspace for SME’s

	� 214 homes - including 52% genuniely affordable homes

Indicative development parameters 
	� Large buildings (6 - 8 storeys) may be achievable; subject to 

consideration of townscape context and historic assets

HRA1 Strategic Site - 
Civic Campus

38

Refurbished Town Hall

New Civic Square

Page 85



King Street

King Street is the historic spine of Hammersmith town centre, 
featuring key retail/commercial premises and an abundance of 
high-quality buildings. This important route also connects the key 
anchors of Hammersmith Broadway/Lyric Square to the east with 
the Civic Campus to the west.

Transformation of the public realm along King Street forms a key 
physical intervention for the regeneration of the town centre.  
The council’s ambition is to work with key partners including TfL, 
to enable King Street to become a people rather than vehicular 
focussed space.

This means reconfiguring and reimaging the existing space to 
optimise footpaths, introduce additional public space, street trees, 
street furniture, wayfinding signage and lighting to soften and 
create a more attractive pedestrian environment.

To achieve these outcomes, at this stage, downgrading of the 
existing highway environment is considered to be the best route to 
achieve this change, rather than the full pedestrianisation of this 
space.

Enabling delivery 

Early consideration of the amount of space which can be 
reconfigured and reimaged will be informed by survey work to 
explore the maximum amount of space required for vehicular 
traffic to function within King Street.  This will include looking to 
formalise servicing and deliveries, to minimise interruption at peak 
periods of pedestrian usage.

Transport modelling may be required to fully understand the 
impacts of these changes upon the continued function of King 
Street.  

For cyclists, options will be explored to provide a more meaningful, 
formalised cycle route along the A4 in partnership with TfL, to 
complement any permanent safer cycling facilities within King 
Street.  It is recognised that any changes to the operation of 
King Street will impact a wide variety of users of this space, and 
therefore consultation and coproduction of any scheme to 
transform King Street will be required.

	� Works to transform King Street will also need to be informed by 
other significant highways works to the flyover and gyratory.

Key Intevention -
King Street

39
Page 86



40
Page 87



Listed Buildings Buildings of Merit

Existing Townscape

This area primarily functions 
as a major employment/
commercial hub, characterised 
by modern and large-scale 
buildings, many of which have 
been redeveloped or provide 
opportunities for development. 

The area includes Hammersmith 
Road, a historic link between 
central London and 
Hammersmith town centre. 
There are a number of heritage 
assets on the border of the 
regeneration area boundary to 
the north.

The southern parcel of land is 
bound by the railway tracks to 
the south and A4 flyover to the 
north; the area includes the Ark 
(Building of Merit). The area is 
fragment and disengaged from 
the rest of the town centre.

The central area is 
characterised by modern, large 
scale buildings of 10-12 storeys, 
built in the 1970/80’s. There is 
a lack of relationship between 
buildings and streetscape; 
with a lack of integration to 
townscape within the core 
town centre. 

The eastern boundary is 
formed by Shortlands, that is 
characterised by a significant 
drop in scale and style of the 
built environment. 

41

Plan of Easter Quarter

Novotel 

245 Hammersmith Road A4 Flyover looking west 

The Ark

Novotel

The 
Ark

Eastern Quarter

Page 88



Future Vision

The eastern edge of the 
regeneration area will 
be transformed to realise 
opportunities to provide 
large floorplates and flexible 
developments to strengthen its 
focus as a major employment 
and visitor hub. 

Development within this area 
will provide high quality office 
accommodation and new 
homes which will improve the 
local townscape, create a 
strong synergy with the town 
centre and strengthen identity. 

Reconfiguration of the 
gyratory system and delivery 
of the flyunder will allow for 
the creation of improved 
pedestrian permeability and 
the introduction of additional 
landscaping to activate the 
public realm. These improved 
connections will link the 
Broadway/King Street to Barons 
Court, West London College 
and LAMDA, better anchoring 
these education institutions with 
the town centre.

42

Primary pedestrian routes
Secondary pedestrian routes
Cultural routes
Active frontage

New public realm

Key

1

2

3

4

5

Page 89



Key Interventions

Encouraging the 
refurbishment and 
redevelopment of existing 
commercial blocks to 
provide new high quality 
commercial and mixed 
use development including 
offices, residential visitor 
accommodation, leisure  
and community uses. and 
residential (if appropriate)

Creating new internal links 
through blocks to provide 
quieter routes and public 
spaces away from main 
roads, providing links 
between the Broadway, the 
new podium behind 245 
Hammersmith Road and 
between the Ark and the BP 
petrol station to the south of 
Talgarth Road

Creating an urban boulevard 
on Talgarth Road above 
the flyunder that provides 
healthy and comfortable 
east-west connections

Ensuring that existing and 
new buildings forming the 
Talgarth Road corridor 
create a visually interesting 
and positive composition of 
building forms in the context 
of the Ark to create a 
gateway to the town centre 
from the east

Protecting heritage and 
strengthen the character 
and identity of the area 
by respecting the setting 
of historic buildings on 
Hammersmith Road 

43

Podium Gardens behind 245 Hammersmith Road

1
2

3

4

5

Page 90



The block formed by the existing 245 Hammersmith Road, 3 
Shortlands, Novotel and Metro Building developments provide a 
key opportunity to secure new density mixed-use develoment.  
Recent development of 245 Hammersmith Road has introduced 
high-quality office floorspace and new podium public space.  

Comprehensive redevelopment of these sites could include:

	� Introduction of new mixed-use development including 
employment, leisure and residential uses

	� New permeable links, public space and public realm 
improvements

 
	� Addtional space for affordable and flexible workspace for 

SME’s

	� Housing development, including genuinely affordable housing

Indicative development parameters 
	� Tall buildings of around 10 – 23 storeys may be achievable; 

subject to consideration of townscape context and historic 
assets

Key site - 
3 Shortlands/Novotel/Metro Building

245 Hammersmith Road

The 161 Talgarth Road/Petrol Filling Station sites, currently serve 
as an island site.  There is an opportunity to better integrate these 
sites within the town centre and The Ark/LAMDA developments .

	� Introduction of new mixed-use development including 
employment, leisure and residential uses

	� New permeable links, public space and public realm 
improvements

Indicative development parameters 
	� Tall buildings of around 10 – 22 storeys may be achievable; 

subject to consideration of townscape context and historic 
assets.

Key site - 
161 Talgarth Road/Petrol Filling Station

161 Talgarth Road - Under 
Construction

3 Shortlands

44
Page 91



Existing Townscape

Primarily commercial in nature 
but including mix of civic, 
commercial and residential 
uses. The railway tracks 
separate the area into two, 
creating a significant barrier 
to movement, between 
Hammersmith Broadway and 
Lyric Square.

The central area around 
Beadon Road/Hammersmith 
Grove, consists of large scale 
post-war commercial buildings 
contrasting with the Victorian 
terraces to the north/west. 
Recent redevelopment of 
commercial buildings have 
introduced taller buildings. 

The east includes Shepherds 
Bush Road, a key link to the 
commercial and entertainment 
centres of Shepherds Bush and 
White City.   The buildings are 
of a consistent scale and style 
from the 19-20th century that 
defines the area’s character.  
Historic buildings along this 
road including the Carnegie 
Central Library (Grade II Listed), 
Hammersmith Police Station 
and the Old Fire Station. 

The Western area  consists of a 
new residential development 
Sovereign Court. The area has 
a strong contextual relationship 
with Bradmore Conservation 
Area characterised by 
Victorian terraces, historic 
schools and churches. 

45

Northern Quarter

Plan of Northern Quarter 

12 Hammersmith Grove

Sovereign Court Hammersmith fire station 

Brook House Hotel

Shepherds 
Bush

 Road

Sovereign 
Court

Hammersmith 
Grove 

Listed Buildings Buildings of Merit

Page 92



Future Vision

The area to the north of the 
Broadway moderates between 
the vibrancy and diversity of 
the historic town centre and 
Hammersmith’s residential 
neighbourhoods to the north. 

The area also provides the main 
route to the important nearby 
centres of activity in Shepherd’s 
Bush, Westfield and White City 
with major cultural, shopping 
and entertainment venues. 

Recent developments within 
this area, have brought forward 
high density schemes with a mix 
of commercial and residential 
uses.  

Future development within 
the area, should look to 
complement the positive 
design features of these 
developments; providing well-
defined links with Lyric Square 
and the Broadway Centre 
will be a priority, alongside 
strengthening connections 
towards Shepherd’s Bush.

Consideration of traffic 
management within Beadon 
Road, Glenthorne Rd and King 
Street will enable active travel.

46

Primary pedestrian routes
Secondary pedestrian routes
Cultural routes
Active frontage

New public realm

Key

1

2

Page 93



Encouraging active 
ground floor frontages and 
improvements to the design 
of shopfronts and public 
realm along Shepherds 
Bush Road as the main 
connection to Shepherds 
Bush and White City

Key Interventions

Reactivating the disused 
railway viaduct to create 
the ‘Hammersmith High-line, 
a linear park and green 
link to improve east-west 
connectivity from the arches 
to Beadon Road and with 
Livat Centre

47

Visualisation of a the ‘Hammersmith High-line

New York - High-Line

1 2

Page 94



The Triangle site occupies a prominent location when entering 
Hammersmith from the Hammersmith and City Line station.  The 
site benefits from an extant planning permission for an office-led 
development.

Redevelopment of the site could include:

	� Providing a complementary offer to the recently completed 
10/12 Hammersmith Grove office-led development; including 
affordable and flexible workspace for SME’s

	� Considering options to improve the relationship of the site with 
public realm and key spaces including Lyric Square

Indicative development parameters 
	� Tall buildings of around 8 – 14 storeys may be achievable; 

subject to consideration of townscape context and historic 
assets

Key site - 
Triangle 

Triangle site benefits from 
extant planning consent

48

DEVELOPER GUIDANCE

HAMMERSMITHAPOLLO

Page 95



49

DEVELOPER GUIDANCE

HAMMERSMITHAPOLLO

Page 96



In order to assist the 
development of high-quality 
development schemes and 
enabling the achievement of 
the spatial framework principles 
for Hammersmith, the following 
design guidance has been 
prepared.  This guidance 
seeks to supplement existing 
policies and strategies for the 
Regeneration Area providing 
guidance relating to several 
key development parameters.

This guidance is not exhaustive 
and is intended to assist 
developers to gain an 
additional understanding of 
the important elements which 
should be considered from the 
outset of developing proposal 
schemes for individual sites.

Early engagement should 
be sought with the planning 
service to gain specific 
feedback upon emerging 
proposals.

H1 - Sustainable 
Placemaking

Developments must be 
designed to reduce carbon 
emissions, to improve the 
micro-climate and maximise 
urban greening. Assisting 
delivery of net zero carbon, 
new development sites 
within Hammersmith Town 
centre  should realise benefits 
from both their situation 
and orientation to exploit 
opportunities for natural 
ventilation and heating, 
minimising daily energy use.

New developments will 
need to adopt the highest 
possible climate standards 
to support the achievement 
of net-zero carbon emissions 
and be designed to be well-
adapted for a changing 
climate, as well as meeting 
mandatory biodiversity net 
gain of at least 10% and utilise 
the urban greening factor 
for to maximise increases in 
biodiversity.

Use of innovative, modern 
construction methods 
and sustainable materials 
throughout the construction 
cycle will be supported 
to promote the circular 
economy. 

Transformation of transport 
infrastructure, including 
the flyover/gyratory 
system alongside new and 
enhanced public spaces, 
will provide significant 
opportunities to improve air 
quality and health outcomes 
across the town centre.

Alongside these interventions, 
new development proposals 
should consider wider 
opportunities to provide 
public benefits including 
urban greening, promotion of
sustainable transport/freight 
and increasing biodiversity. 
They will also need to 
make sure that important 
resources such as water are 
conserved by integrating 
water efficiency measures 
and recycling facilities are 
provided to help minimise 
the generation of waste and 
maximising recycling.

50

Developer Guidance

Page 97



Buildings should be energy 
and resource efficient during 
construction and throughout 
their lifespan and be able 
to adapt to different uses/ 
technical requirements. The 
need for heating and cooling 
should be minimised to reduce 
associated carbon emissions, 
and to free up roof level 
spaces for amenity and green 
infrastructure. 

Development should follow the 
London Plan Energy Hierarchy 
of being ‘lean, clean and 
green’ minimising energy 
demand, using local energy 
sources, (where available) and 

Leading the way, tackling 
the climate change agenda, 
our aim is to be the greenest 
borough in the country; with 
net zero carbon emissions by 
2030. Issues such as air quality 
and CO2 emissions, flooding, 
overheating and drought 
are current/future challenges  
across Hammersmith town 
centre.  These issues are 
key barriers to achieving 
these goals and ensure our 
communities and visitors are 
able to fully enjoy and use the 
town centre.  

Resident-led commissions on air 
quality and biodiversity have 
been established, alongside 
a Climate and Ecological 
Emergency Commission to 
assist with recommendations 
to achieve significant 
improvements.  The Council 
has adopted a Climate and 
Ecological Strategy (2021) and 
Climate Change SPD (2023) the 
themes of which underpin this 
SPD.

Renewing the public realm and 
streets to improve air quality 
and provide more comfortable, 
greener routes to promote 
walking and cycling will be 
a priority, alongside inclusive 
wayfinding. Particular areas of 
focus for improvements to air 
quality and the public realm, 
will be focussed around the 
A4, hammersmith gyratory and 
King Street.

A. Climate Change and Sustainability 

New and enhanced public 
spaces and routes will be 
complemented by buildings 
sensitively designed to 
reduce their potential 
impacts upon microclimate 
including managing wind 
tunnelling, air pollution, noise 
and overshadowing, whilst 
also encouraging improved 
residential quality whilst also 
encouraging improved access 
to natural daylight/sunlight and 
provision of appropriate private 
external areas of amenity away 
from areas of poor air quality/
noise.

It is expected that urban 
greening, including living walls 
and deciduous tree cover will 
be incorporated into buildings, 
spaces and routes to create 
a green network that reduces 
local flood risk and provides a 
net gain in biodiversity, cooling, 
air quality and amenity value 
to communities.  As part of this 
approach, provision of new/
enhanced enabling links into 
the existing London ecological 
network of parks, waterways 
the river and introduction 
of SUDs measures will be 
encouraged.

Development proposals 
should also consider servicing,  
including waste management, 
deliveries and impacts upon 
freight distribution at an early 
stage of their design; to ensure 
that these functions reduce 
air pollution/noise and support 
use of ultra-low emission freight 
vehicles.

Addressing these considerations 
early in the design process will 
create a more comfortable 
pedestrian environment and 
will make Hammersmith more a 
liveable and enjoyable place.

maximising the generation and 
use of renewable energy on-
site.

51
Page 98



Key

Not suitable for tall buildings (2-6 storeys)

Large buildings may be appropriate subject to 
consideration of local context (7-10 storeys)

Suitable locations for taller buildings (10+ storeys) 

B. Supporting Appropriate Density

H2 - Tall Buildings

Tall buildings can be 
incorporated into new 
developments where they 
assist in enhancing the 
quality of the environment 
particularly by providing new 
public realm, public access 
to other amenity spaces; 
alongside promoting legible 
routes and visual interest.

Locations and design of tall 
buildings should be carefully 
considered to respect 
existing parks and squares, 
the existing townscape and 
historical context, important 
local and river views and the 
skyline of the town centre.

The gradient map below 
provides an overarching 
strategy approach to guide 
development of tall buildings 
in Hammersmith.

Within the King Street and 
Northern Fringe areas, new 
buildings should generally 
be designed to respect the 
existing townscape context 
and key heritage assets. 
The scale of any large/tall 
building should be carefully 
considered within this fine-
grain context.

Tall buildings of a more 
significant scale may be 
appropriate within the 
Hammersmith Broadway 
and Eastern Fringe areas.  As 
part of more comprehensive 
development proposals, tall 
buildings of a 10+ storeys 
(+30m) may be achievable.  

In these instances, any 
new tall building should be 
supported by the provision 
of new public spaces with 
comfortable micro-climatic 
conditions, active ground 
floor uses and the highest 
architectural quality. 

52

Illustrative gradient-map of location suitability for tall buildings updatedPage 99



Map of indicative locations for key landmark/gateway buildings

The Hammersmith and Fulham 
Local Plan (2018) identifies the 
Hammersmith town centre 
as an area within which tall 
buildings may be appropriate.  
Policy DC3 of Local Plan and  
Policy D9 of the London Plan 
(2021), identify a series of key 
criteria for the assessment of 
proposals for tall buildings.

This SPD seeks to supplement 
these policies, providing 
additional guidance 
upon those areas where 
tall buildings may be 
considered acceptable; 
alongside a suggestion of the 
potential scale which such 
developments may achieve.  

Notwithstanding this guidance, 
proposal schemes will need to 
robustly demonstrate that any 
tall building would not have a 
disruptive and harmful impact 
upon the skyline and views of 
key heritage assets.  

  

H3 - Landmarks and 
Gateways

Transformation of the town 
centre provides opportunities 
to improve the legibility of 
Hammersmith overall, utilising 
new developments and 
improved view corridors to 
encourage wayfinding to 
new and enhanced public 
spaces, cultural/civic/leisure 
facilities and public transport 
interchanges.

Creation of landmark/
gateway buildings would 
be encouraged through 
detailed consideration of the 
scale and/or architectural 
language of any proposal. 

Development proposals 
should also seek to reinforce 
the role and legibility of 
existing landmarks and 
historic assets, improving 
views and connections to 
these assets.

53
Page 100



A

B

C

D

E

F

GI

H

J

K

Key Views
A    River Bank – West
B     Hammersmith Bridge
C    Margravine Cemetery
D    Great Church Street
E     Brook Green
F     Bute Gardens
G    Shepherds Bush Road
H    Grove Mews
I      Hammersmith Grove
J     Raynham Road
K   King Street

 St Paul’s Church, the Lyric 
theatre and Hammersmith 
Broadway currently act as 
key landmarks within the 
town centre. However new 
development should be 
encouraged to promote 
additional wayfinding and 
markers to new public spaces 
and key uses throughout the 
town centre to enhance the 
pedestrian experience overall.  
On-going developments 
including the Civic Campus 
and Landmark House are 
already serving to reinforce this 
principle.   

Proposals which are 
considered to have a 
disruptive and harmful 
impact on the skyline will not 
be supported.

Development proposals should 
include relevant assessment 
of the townscape and visual 
impact upon the character of 
Hammersmith Town Centre.  
The views presented in the 
illustration below are not 
exhaustive.  Further views 
may require testing, in order 
to inform the assessment of 
individual proposals.  

H4 - View management
 
Development proposals 
within the town centre 
will need to consider their 
impacts upon the existing 
townscape.

A series of key short, medium 
and long-range views which 
should be considered; 
alongside more detailed 
townscape/streetscene 
considerations in establishing 
massing principles for 
development proposals.

54

Map showing view locations Page 101



C. Architectural Excellence

H5 - High-quality Architecture

New development should 
create a positive and 
respectful response to 
existing heritage assets 
within Hammersmith.  
Proposals should also assist in 
transforming and replacing 
less successful buildings with 
high-quality, sustainable 
developments. Cumulatively, 
development should assist 
in re-stitch the town centre 
back together, enhancing 
existing positive townscape 
and creating a better place 
overall. 

Many of the locations 
promoted for development 
have the opportunity to 
provide iconic, landmark 
buildings which will celebrate 
the role and identity of 
Hammersmith as the heart of 
West London.

More recently periods of 
growth within the town centre 
have resulted in relatively 
poor-quality architecture. 
Renewal of the town centre 
should be focussed to replace 
these developments with more 
active, attractive buildings 
which make a positive 
contribution to the town centre; 
creating well defined, legible 
and attractive streetscapes. 

Promoting a vibrant 

Hammersmith has a rich 
character of historic buildings 
with a wide variety of heritage 
assets including St Paul’s 
Church, Hammersmith Town 
Hall and Hammersmith Apollo 
as notable examples of key 
historic buildings within the 
town centre.  

55

One Bishopsgate Plaza - PLP The Hoxton Southwark - LSD 4 Pancras Square - Eric Parry 

Neo Bankside - RSH-P

Page 102



D. Diversifying and Promoting New Uses

H6 - Mix of Uses

Throughout the Regeneration 
Area increased diversity 
in the range of uses being 
provided will be encouraged 
to maximise opportunities for 
businesses and communities 
to thrive and grow.  

Building on the strong 
retail and employment 
base provided within 
Hammersmith, new 
workspaces will be 
encouraged which support 
SMEs and independents to 
access affordable floorspace 
and frontages across the 
town centre.   

We will also seek to increase 
the amount of housing and 
affordable housing to create 
a more diverse and vibrant 
town centre.

Retail uses

The enhancement of the 
central and eastern extent of 
King Street as the focus of a 
consolidated retail use will be 
encouraged, as will upgrading 
the retail offer provided by 
the small and independent 
traders on the western part of 
King Street. Whilst other retail 
uses may be supported within 
the town centre area, (within 
a redesigned Hammersmith 
Broadway), the scale and 
offer of use should seek to 
complement the retail offer 
along King Street and not seek 
to compete with it. 

Meanwhile, temporary and 
pop-up retail uses will also 
be supported, particularly in 
vacant premises.

Office/workspace uses

New and improved office 
accommodation will be 
supported to continue the role 
of the town centre as strategic 
office location and deliver 
10,000 jobs by 2035.  

We have recently adopted 
our Affordable Workspace 
Supplementary Planning 
Guidance (SPD) to help 
deliver affordable workspace 
particularly for small local 
businesses, start-ups and 
not-for-profit sector.  The 
SPD and accompanying 
evidence should improve 
implementation and delivery 
of policy objectives which 
reflect the Council’s vision to 
see a stronger local economy 
that provides training and job 
opportunities for local people; 
and securing and promoting 
employment. 

56

H&M - Hammersmith Co-working SpacePage 103



Supporting the Evening 
Economy

Uses which enrich the evening 
economy will be supported 
with due regard to relevant 
Local Plan policies.  Uses 
which seek to enliven key 
cultural routes to strengthen 
connections between existing 
cultural/arts/leisure uses and 
areas of public space will be 
encouraged.

Restaurant and cafe uses

Diversification of the cafe and 
restaurant offer within the town 
centre will be encouraged, 
particularly where such uses 
promote activation of new/
enhanced public spaces and 
key routes through provision of 
active frontages and external 
café culture.

Hours of operation, 
management and servicing 
of these uses will be carefully 
considered.

Cultural/Arts/Leisure and 
Community uses

Hammersmith is already served 
by a range of cultural/arts /
leisure and community uses.  
Uses which seek to retain, 
enhance or complement 
these uses will be supported 
particularly to support the 
development of cultural routes/
connections. 

Re-purposing areas of 
underused space, such as 
railway arches to provide 
additional facilities will also 
be encouraged as well as 
supporting the temporary 
use of buildings and vacant 
premises for temporary uses 
and pop-up events such as 
exhibitions, creative workshops 
and local markets  

Whilst promoting the important 
arts/culture and leisure role of 
the centre, the council will seek 
to ensure that any adverse 
impact that some uses can 
have on local residents, such as 
anti-social behaviour and noise 
is minimised.

57

Renovated Railway Arches - White city Maltby Street Market  Page 104



Residential uses

Intensification of residential 
uses on appropriate sites 
within the town centre will be 
encouraged, particularly as 
part of any new mixed-use 
developments and as part of 
proposals which seek to make 
more efficient use of both 
unused or underused areas 
above ground floor level. 
All new housing developments 
must provide adequate 
amenity space for residents 
including courtyards, balconies, 
roof gardens and communal 
gardens. 

Within the town centre 
regeneration area there is an 
expectation to deliver 2,800 
homes across a mix of tenures 
and typologies including 
accessible and adaptable 
homes. The council expects 
50% of new homes to be 
genuinely affordable. 

Defend Council Homes

In January 2021, the Council 
adopted a policy to defend its 
own council housing stock.  This 
policy will apply to all Council 
housing within the SPD area 
including:

	� Ashcroft Square 
	� Riverside Gardens
	� Aspen Gardens

It is not currently expected that 
any development, beyond 
repairs and maintenance will 
take place within any of the 
estates within the SPD area. 

The defend council homes 
policy shall only apply, and 
come into operation when 
there is a Redevelopment 
Proposal. 

Visitor accommodation uses

Provision of new visitor 
accommodation can assist 
in bringing visitors and 
footfall into the town centre, 
complementing other town 
centre uses such as cultural/
arts/leisure facilities.  New visitor 
accommodation should add 
to the existing offer, providing 
a mix in quality and value 
offered.

Any new visitor 
accommodation should 
also provide floorspace and 
ancillary functions which are 
inclusive of use by the general 
public; this may include 
provision of affordable shared 
workspace, conferencing/
meeting spaces and gyms, 
restaurants etc.  

58

Landmark House Dorset Hotel - Shepherds BushPage 105



Social and Community 
Infrastructure 

Development (particularly 
residential) will also need to be 
supported by improvements 
to social and community 
infrastructure in the local area 
including schools, health and 
community space which will 
be secured via s106 obligations 
and/or CIL contributions.

Betting Shops, Pawnbrokers, 
Payday Loan Shops and Hot 
Food Takeaway use

Applications for new betting 
shops, pawnbrokers, payday 
loan shops and hot food 
takeaway uses will be carefully 
considered.  Generally, 
the concentration and 
clustering of these uses will 
be managed to ensure that 
Hammersmith remains a diverse 
and balanced town centre 
location. Policy TLC6 of the 
Local Plan sets out a criteria-
based approach against which 
proposals will be assessed.

59

Markets - Lyric Square Page 106



H7 - Active and accessible 
Hammersmith

New developments should 
be arranged to create well-
defined, legible streetscapes 
and seek to encourage 
activity within lower floor 
levels to achieve a positive 
relationship to the public 
realm and to maximise 
opportunities to create a 
more accessible, safe and 
liveable town centre.  

Proposals should seek to aid 
legibility and wayfinding 
by pedestrians throughout 
Hammersmith town centre. 

E. Active and Accessible Places

All proposals should seek to 
deliver principles of inclusive 
and accesible design, 
removing barriers to access 
from all residents, visitors and 
users of the town centre.

For commercial 
developments this includes, 
providing level access at 
key entrances, and inclusive 
internal enviroments.

In residential developments, 
this includes providing 
accessible and 
adaptable dwellings and 
accessible communal/
circulation spaces.                           

Activity at Ground Floor

New developments will be 
encouraged to maximise 
active frontages, particularly 
when addressing key public 
spaces, cultural routes and 
key movement corridors.  In 
these instances, innovative and 
efficient use of the ground floor 
layout will be encouraged to 
promote animated frontages.  

To achieve continuity and 
visual cohesion of public 
realm and routes, proposals 
for new developments, 
alongside alterations to 
existing developments, will be 

60

Civic Campus - Unity Square 

Southgate public realm - Macgregor Smith Landscape

Green Streets

Activated public square

Page 107



encouraged to rationalise, tidy-
up and screen service areas to 
provide the minimum required 
to be functional and usable for 
the use(s) of the building.  

Where achievable, service 
areas should be located to 
less prominent/publicly visible 
areas.  In addition, the use 
of consolidated freight and 
servicing arrangements will also 
be encouraged.   If areas of 
servicing are provided, public 
art, landscaping and lighting 
will be encouraged to ensure 
that these areas compliment 
the wider public realm.  

Shepherds Bush and Westfield/
Television Centre.  Use of public 
art, innovative lighting and 
signage/wayfinding between 
these venues.

An enhanced programme of 
markets and outdoor events 
throughout new and enhanced 
areas of public space – 
working with local communities 
and Hammersmith BID to 
promote early consideration 
of functional requirements to 
ensure that spaces can be 
used to the maximum of their 
potential.

Where desirable, publicly 
accessible links should be 
provided through large sites to 
increase the permeability of the 
town centre.

Maximising activity within 
public realm

Establishment of a series of 
links between key cultural, art 
and entertainment venues 
will help to strengthen the 
relationship and identity of 
these uses. Links between the 
Apollo, Lyric Theatre and Civic 
Campus will be supported at 
local level, alongside wider 
links to Riverside Studios, 

61

Aldgate Square - Gillespies

120 Fenchurch street rooftop TV Centre - Active spaces

Terraces - Stafson New Ludgate - Gustafson 
Page 108



New public spaces should 
be designed to facilitate 
additional programmes of 
use from the outset, including 
provision of relevant servicing 
and electricity supply.  Early 
engagement with key 
providers/third-party groups 
will be required to establish 
the programming/functional 
requirements of public spaces.

Improving the existing street 
environment 

Complementing transformative 
improvements to the public 
realm, there will be support for 
new/existing developments 
to contribute towards 
the upgrade of the street 
environment.  

Opportunities to set-back 
frontages and provide more 
generosity to space for 
pedestrian movement/café 
culture will be supported.  
Rationalisation and 
transformation of service/
back-of-house areas; alongside 
removal of street clutter will 
also be encouraged to provide 
inclusive access to the town 
centre.

Public roof-top access
Hammersmith has a range 
of fantastic panoramic 
views across London; new 
developments, particularly 
tall buildings should maximise 
opportunities for the wider 
community to access views 
through the provision of active 
roof-top uses. Public access to 
these spaces will be secured 
through s106 commitments.

Development proposals should 
seek to contribute towards 
improved wayfinding and 
legibility across the public realm 
of Hammersmith town centre, 
considering the range of needs 
which should be designed into 
spaces - see also GLA’s Safety 
in Public Spaces: Women, Girls 
and Diverse People and the 
Mayor’s strategy to eliminate 
Violence Against Women and 
Girls (VAWG).

Consideration should also 
be given to secured by 
design standards – see 
Secured by design SBD and 
Crime Prevention through 
Environmental Design (CPTED).

62
Page 109



63

DELIVERY

Page 110



64

Delivery and Implementation

Page 111



The SPD sets out a vision for the 
regeneration of Hammersmith 
up to 2035. It provides the 
opportunity to implement a 
comprehensive approach 
to redevelopment within 
the regeneration area whilst 
ensuring that key infrastructure 
is in place to support the 
growth in homes and jobs 
targets for Hammersmith 
identified in the Local Plan. 
Developer interest in the 
area remains strong and 
a coordinated approach 
ensures key objectives can 
be delivered by different 
landowners that will collectively 
transform the area.

To be effective however, 
there needs to be a clear 
understanding of how 
projects and initiatives could 
be delivered, who would 
be involved and how they 
might be funded. There also 
needs to be an assessment 
of the infrastructure required 
to support the vision and key 
interventions identified in this 
SPD.  

Delivery Partners 

Although the council will take 
a leading role in facilitating 
delivery of the vision and 
objectives for Hammersmith 
identified in this SPD, support 
will be needed from a range 
of other stakeholders, delivery 
bodies and agencies (both 
public and private) who will 
also have a role in funding,
enabling and delivery. 

Landowners

This includes The Council, TfL 
and private bodies

Are expected to engage and 
bring forward proposals which 
will deliver upon the vision for 
Hammersmith within the SPD.

Delivery Bodies

This includes The Government, 
GLA and other bodies

Will be engaged to deliver 
funding and resources 
to enable delivery and 
the advancement of key 
infrastructure projects.

Stakeholders

This includes Hammersmith BID, 
businesses and local residents

Will be engaged to support, 
enable and co-produce 
delivery of the vision for 
Hammersmith within the SPD. 

Funding

The funding of projects and 
interventions identified in 
this SPD are expected to be 
funded by a combination of 
public/private investment, 
including:

	� Planning Obligations-CIL/
S106

	� Developer
	� TfL
	� GLA/Government grants- 

HIF, LEP & Future High Streets 
funding

	� Council capital funding

65
Page 112



Planning Obligations- S106 & 
CIL

It is likely that the majority of 
infrastructure will be funded by 
developer contributions in the 
form of planning obligations. 
The Council will seek planning 
obligations under S106 of The 
Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 to assist in funding 
infrastructure and other 
improvements and to ensure 
developments can meet other 
policy requirements. 

Planning obligations are likely 
to include the items set out
below but this is not an 
exhaustive list and other 
matters may also need to
be covered on consideration of 
each planning application:

	� Direct delivery by the 
developer- add/amend

	� Public realm improvements
	� Heritage
	� Education contributions 

(for any residential 
development)

	� S278 for offsite works/
contributions

	� TfL Active Travel/Healthy 
Streets measures

	� Construction traffic 
	� Travel plan (and monitoring 

fees)
	� Safeguard public rights of 

way
	� 50% affordable housing 

provision: Our expectation 
will be that all will be 
delivered on site and 
accord with the Local Plan

	� Employment and Skills 
	� Affordable workspace
	� Community space & 

facilities including public 
access arrangements

	� Open space including 
management, access and 
maintenance arrangements

	� Carbon off-set payments
	� Other site specific 

requirements 

Planning obligation 
contributions will be considered 
on a case by case basis in 
relation to every planning 
application received relating 
to the regeneration area 
defined in this SPD and will be 
applicable to all development 
proposed.

Contributions will be assessed 
in proportion to the size and 
impact of the development, 
viability relating to the 
development (which will be 
independently assessed as part 
of the development process), 
the cost of infrastructure works, 
alongside land ownership (this is 
not an exhaustive list and other 
considerations may arise as 
part of a planning application).

The Council also introduced 
its Community Infrastructure 
Levy (CIL) in 2015. The levy is 
applied to certain types of new 
developments
based on floor area and 
the funds received are used 
to help pay for a range of 
infrastructure improvements 
which the Council identifies in 
its Infrastructure Plan. 

CIL will be applied to all 
relevant proposals coming 
forward in the
regeneration area.  It should 
be noted that any sums due 
are non-negotiable. The 
Hammersmith Regeneration 
Area falls with two CIL charging 
zones, Central A (Hammersmith 
Town Centre) and Central B. 
Further details are available on 
the Council’s website.

The council will also expect 
developers to submit a detailed 
viability assessment to enable 
an effective negotiation on the 
maximum reasonable amount 
of affordable housing including 
quantity and mix that can be 
achieved and the appropriate 
amount of contributions 
towards infrastructure. If 
appropriate the council will 
also require viability reviews 
at stages in the development 
period to establish the scope 
for increasing the amount 
of affordable housing or 
infrastructure contributions 
if future market conditions 
improve. 

66
Page 113



Next Steps - 0-5 Years (Short 
Term)

	� Publish the draft SPD 
for public consultation 
and engage with 
landowners, developers, 
key stakeholders, residents/
community groups and 
businesses

	� Engage with TfL and the 
GLA to put together a 
business case for the 
flyunder, setting out major 
benefits and opportunities

	� Proactively seek external 
funding for the flyunder and 
submit bids for government 
and/or GLA funding where 
appropriate/available

	� Engage and work with TfL 
to investigate options to 
reconfigure key roads and 
junctions to alleviate traffic 
dominance and improve 
the public realm including 
reconfiguration of the 
gyratory and King Street

Co-Production and 
Engagement

The Council prides itself on 
doing things with our residents, 
not to them.  In considering 
the delivery of the range 
of objectives for the town 
centre, there will be a strong 
expectation to co-produce 
strategies, projects and 
development schemes with our 
residents, community groups 
and key stakeholders from the 
outset.

For developers, this means 
bringing forward early 
enagement in relation to 
emerging proposals from the 
early stages of pre-application 
discussions to ensure that the 
views of these groups help to 
shape and inform proposals 
and build shared prosperity 
throughout the borough.

Key Example - Hammersmith 
Civic Campus

From the outset of developing 
this project, the Council 
established a working party, 
of key community and 
stakeholder representatives 
to help shape and inform 
the design approach to this 
important site.

The working party have helped 
to support the project to gain 
planning consent and are 
currently engaged to support 
on-site delivery. 

	� Engage and work with TfL 
to discuss opportunities for 
mixed use redevelopment 
of the Broadway site and 
potential for over station 
development of the 
Hammersmith & City Line 
Station

	� Work closely with 
developers, landowners, 
local residents/groups, 
businesses and key 
stakeholders to bring 
forward successful planning 
applications for key sites 
currently in advance pre-
application discussions

	� Develop an effective town 
centre management plan, 
including engagement with 
the Hammersmith BID

	� Develop a detailed delivery 
and infrastructure plan for 
the town centre, identifying 
key projects, funding and 
phasing

	� Prepare detailed guidance 
for shopfront and signage 
design in the town centre

67
Page 114



Like many other town centres 
across London, Hammersmith 
has a range of opportunities 
to meet the challenges of 
the post-pandemic world. 
The Council is committed 
to supporting the long-term 
economic resilience of the 
town centre, given the shift 
in the role of the high street, 
uncertainty for office space 
demand, growth of online 
retail, and the growing role of 
high streets as destinations with 
distinct identities.

Building inclusive spaces 
and growth is key to our 
Industrial Strategy. Enabling 
Hammersmith to regain its 
role as the heart of West 
London will require focus on 
creating a safe, accessible and 
welcoming environment. 

We will assist in providing 
capacity for retailing, 
commercial uses alongside 
leisure/cultural activities to grow 
and flourish; whilst enabling 
creation of new high-quality job 
and training opportunities for 
our residents. 

Community Capacity Building 

We will work with key 
stakeholders, including 
businesses, community groups 
and Hammersmith BID to ensure 
that early engagement and 
partnership approaches help 
to inform our approach, build 
capacity, and foster resilience.

Future-Proofing the Economy 

Supporting the delivery of our 
Industrial Strategy and enabling 
Hammersmith to thrive. In the 
short-term we will work to:
 
	� Capture opportunities from 

businesses moving out of 
Central London and into 
Hammersmith

	� Promote activity to support 
affordable workspace for 
high-growth sectors

	� Provide affordable space 
for start-up and new 
enterprises

	� Recovery through creating 
new employment and skills 
opportunities in resilient and 
sustainable sectors

	� Programming events and 
leisure activities which drive 
footfall and use of the town 
centre throughout the day 
and within the evening/
night-time hours

	� Creating strong links 
between the Lyric theatre, 
Civic Campus and Apollo 
to enable recovery and 
development of the cultural 
economy

Delivering new/enhanced 
public realm and green spaces

Ahead of delivering upon 
our longer-term ambitions of 
the SPD, to create new and 
improved public spaces. 
Meantime and interim projects 
will be developed to provide 
businesses, local residents and 
visitors improved access to 
public space throughout the 
town centre.

A  Civic Campus 

Implementation of the Civic 
Campus development is well 
underway, this includes the 
provision of a new public 
square and landscaping to 
provide a much-needed 
anchor to the western extent of 
the town centre.

Estimated Completion – 2024

B  Lyric Square 

Lyric Square is the main public 
square within Hammersmith 
and is a highly successful 
space. In short-term we will look 
to review this space and secure 
appropriate enhancements 
to enliven this to enable 
additional programming of 
events/uses.

Implementation – 1 – 3 years

Transforming our Town Centre

68
Page 115



Key 

Civic Campus - new public square 

(Under-construction)

King Street - public realm visioning

Flyover short-term Improvements

Pocket parks and spaces 

Improved links 

Upgrades to Lyric Square

Alterations to gyratory

Developer-led inteventions

A

B

C
D

E

C  King Street

We will bring forward semi-
permanent measure to replace 
Covid temporary measures to 
support improved cycle access 
and wider use of the public 
realm by pedestrians; including 
links to Ravenscourt Station. 
Alongside these changes, we 
will also develop a long-term 
vision for the public realm.

Promotion of active travel 
will be developed through 
traffic modelling of Beadon 
Rd, Glenthorne Road and King 
Steet.

Implementation – 1- 3 years

E  A4/Flyover 

Work with TfL to explore 
and bring forward short-
term improvements to the 
A4 including the potential 
to reduce traffic speeds, 
introduce at grade pedestrian 
crossing/upgrade of subways 
and new cycle routes.  Work 
to bring forward improvements 
to areas under the flyover, 
encouraging urban greening 
and creation of pocket parks.

Implementation 1 - 3+ years

D  Hammersmith Gyratory 

Work to bring forward interim 
works to the northern extent 
of the gyratory to create 
additional cycle connectivity 
have recenlty been 
completed.

The Council will develop 
a permanent concept in 
collaboration with TfL.

Implementation – 3+ years

69
Page 116



Spatial Planning Team

www.lbhf.gov.uk/planning

Page 117



1 

APPENDIX 2 - Hammersmith Town Centre Supplementary Planning Document 
Full Equality Impact Analysis 

(Note: the Equality Impact Analysis contained herein is referred to as EQIA, and not EIA for the purposes of this report. This is to avoid confusion 
with Environmental Impact Assessments, which are known as EIA in planning terms.) 

Overall Information Details of Full Equality Impact Analysis 

Financial Year and 
Quarter 

2024 Q1 

Name and details of 
policy, strategy, 
function, project, 
activity, or programme 

This Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) sets out a shared vision/ the Council’s vision for the regeneration of 
Hammersmith up to 2035. The SPD builds upon Hammersmith’s existing strengths as a major office and retail centre, 
but also seeks to diversify the town centre offer, strengthening its role as a centre for arts, culture and leisure, alongside 
encouraging additional growth of new residential and commercial developments.  
The central aim of this Supplementary Planning Document is to deliver a step change in the quality of the physical and 
built environment in Hammersmith. 

Key objectives of the SPD focus on transforming the public realm and transport network, creating new public spaces 
and more legible routes; as well as redevelopment and refurbishment of buildings throughout the area.  
The SPD also seeks to assist in the delivery of the council’s key corporate strategies such as the Climate Change 
SPD (2023) encouraging innovative approaches to achieve net zero carbon and biodiversity-enhancing developments; 
and the Industrial Strategy (2019) supporting growth in enterprise, innovation, skills and infrastructure in Hammersmith 
and key places across the borough.  

The SPD is the outcome of the Hammersmith Regeneration Area Masterplan published by the council in 2019. Shaped 
through extensive collaboration with local residents, the masterplan outlines the key opportunities and challenges in 
Hammersmith and identifies areas for growth and key interventions to help restore the identity of the town centre. This 
SPD seeks to elaborate on the masterplan findings to provide planning guidance for developers and residents for 
Hammersmith town centre 

The SPD as all supplementary planning documents, does not propose new policy but seeks to supplement existing 
Policies in the Local Plan (2018) and principles in the Planning Guidance SPD providing supplementary guidance  to 
new development that will come forward for Hammersmith. The SPD should thus be read in conjunction with the 
council’s policy documents.  

P
age 118



 2 

Lead Officer  Name:  Eleonora Tafuro 
Position: Planning officer, Policy & Spatial Planning Team, Economic Department 
Email: localplan@lbhf.gov.uk    
 

Date of completion of 
final EQIA 

January 2024 

 
 
 
 

Section 02  Scoping of Full EIA 

Plan for completion Timing: This Equality Impact Assessment (EQIA) will support the consultation of the SPD due to take place in January 
2024 
 
Resources: Officer time  
 
Lead Officer:  David Gawthorpe, Team Leader Development Planning Team  
 

What is the policy, 
strategy, function, 
project, activity, or 
programme looking to 
achieve? 

The purpose of the Hammersmith SPD is to provide planning guidance for developers and residents for the 
regeneration and enhancement of Hammersmith Town Centre. The document seeks to supplement  and strengthen 
existing Policies set out in the council’s Local Plan (2018). The SPD provides the opportunity to implement a 
comprehensive approach to redevelopment within the regeneration area whilst ensuring that key infrastructure is in 
place to support the growth in homes and jobs targets for Hammersmith identified in the Local Plan. 
 
The SPD sets out the following key objectives to achieve and deliver the Council’s vision for the regeneration of 
Hammersmith:  
 

• Enhance our civic, cultural and evening economy  

• Support the role of King Street  

• Provide a network of public spaces  

• Promote employment and new homes 

• Create an upgraded transport interchange 

• Reimaging transport infrastructure 

• Improving connections to the river  

P
age 119



 3 

• Improve connectivity and accessibility  
 

 
 

Section 03 Analysis of relevant data and/or undertake research 

Documents and data 
reviewed 

The following documents and data have been used to help inform this Equality Impact Analysis: 

 

Equalities Plan 2021-25 

The Council’s draft Equality Plan 2021-2025 sets out the Council’s vision for tackling inequality and responding to the 
public sector equality duty. The document draws on five objectives: 

 

1. Everyone in our borough must feel valued when the Covid-19 pandemic ends.  
2. Removing barriers to inclusion.  
3. Ensuring that our services tackle the disproportionate impact on young people of the risks of street crime and 

exploitation by gangs.  
4. Improving opportunities for all.  
5. Becoming an employer of choice and fostering greater inclusion  

 

Hammersmith & Fulham Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021  

Hammersmith & Fulham Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021 sets out an ambitious vision for improving 
the health and wellbeing of people in the borough and securing a sustainable system for the future. The strategy is for 
a people-centred health and social care system that supports communities to stay well, consistently providing the high 
quality care and support the most vulnerable people in the community. This includes tackling health inequalities within 
our communities, overcoming high levels of child poverty and child obesity and severe mental illness in the country. 
the strategy is therefore considered to be compliant with the statutory codes in relation to equalities characteristics. 

 
Census 2021   
The 2021 Census describes the resident population of the UK and its constituent countries, by age and sex, and 
provides information on how the population has changed over time.      
Data source: [Hammersmith and Fulham population change, Census 2021 – ONS. Hammersmith and Fulham census 
population profile - 1981 to 2021 (bothness.github.io)]   

 
Office for National Statistics (ONS)   
The office for National Statistics provides statistics on population as the most up to date data collected from the Census 
2021.     

P
age 120

https://www.ons.gov.uk/visualisations/censuspopulationchange/E09000013/
https://bothness.github.io/censusprofiles/E09000013/?year=2021
https://bothness.github.io/censusprofiles/E09000013/?year=2021


 4 

 

Greater London Authority (GLA) projections 2020  

The trend-based projections 2020 is the most recent set of projections released in September 2021 by the Greater 
London Authority (GLA).  

 

Demographics of Equality Target Groups 

A summary of the demographic situation in relation to each of the equality groups is given below. This provides a 
starting point for the analysis of likely impacts of the Hammersmith SPD on these protected categories. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 121



 5 

Population and Population Density 
Hammersmith and Fulham covers an area of 16 square kilometres (6 square miles). The 2021 Census shows that the 
total population in 2021 was 183,200 people in Hammersmith and Fulham. This is a 0.4 % increase from the previous 
census data collected in 2011. This increased to 183,295 according to mid-year population projections published by 
the ONS.  
 
Figure 1: Population change for Local Authorities in London 
 

 
(Source: Official National Statistics, 2023)   

This is lower than the increase for England (6.6%), where the population grew by nearly 3.5 million to 56,489,800. At 
0.9%, Hammersmith and Fulham's population increase is lower than the increase for London (7.7%). In 2021, 
Hammersmith and Fulham ranked 107th for total population out of 309 local authority areas in England, which is a fall 
of eight places in a decade.  

 
 

P
age 122



 6 

 
Table 1: population trend over the last 10  years prior to the 2021 census  

 

 

 
 

 
(Source: Varbes Demographic Statistics, Sourced February 2023)  

 
Hammersmith and Fulham has a population density of 11,178 people per square kilometre (km2), based on the latest 
population estimates taken in mid-2021. There were 434 residents per square kilometre in England in 2021, up from 
407 per square kilometre in 2011. Population density varies from area to area. As of 2021, Hammersmith and Fulham 
is the sixth most densely populated of London's 33 local authority areas, with around 80 people living on each football 
pitch-sized area of land.                                                                                                                                                            
 
Age    
Age statistics collected by the ONS show the adult population of Hammersmith and Fulham, that is how many people 
there are over the age of 18, is 156,503. There has been an increase of 15.2% in people aged 65 years and over, a 
decrease of 0.5% in people aged 15 to 64 years, and a decrease of 4.2% in children aged under 15 years. The largest 
decrease was recorded in the 0-4 age group 23.7%, while the elderly population has increased by 15.7% (London 
+15.3% and England +20.1%).   
  
Figure 2: Population change (%) by age group in Hammersmith and Fulham, 2011 to 2021   

  

  2012  2013  2014  2015  2016  2017  2018  2019  2020  2021  

Total 
Borough 
Population  

182,1
17  

181,42
1  

181,67
9  

182,18
3  

181,78
3  

182,99
8  

184,42
6  

185,14
3  

183,54
4  

183,29
5  

P
age 123



 7 

   
(Source: ONS Census 2022)    

   
It has been estimated that while there will be growth in the borough’s population in all age groups, the main growth 
will occur for people aged 84 and over. The population in that age group is expected to increase by 1,273 by 2031, 
equivalent to 42.8%. The population aged 64-83 is expected to grow by 33.9% during the same period and population 
aged 50 to 63 to grow by 13.3%. This trend is reflected similarly in London with 37.7% and 33% of increase respectively 
for people aged 64-83 and over.   

Although across the borough the median age of someone in Hammersmith and Fulham is 34.1 years. The life 
expectancy for someone born in Hammersmith and Fulham has risen by 3 years over the past decade, from a life 
expectancy of 79 years to a life expectancy of 82 years.  

P
age 124



 8 

Hammersmith and Fulham's age structure shows the working-age population to be 137,402 which is 75.0% of the 
population. People under the age of 16 represent 14.6% of the population, and over 65s represent 10.4% of the 
population. The percentage of the population that is of working-age has decreased over the last 10 years.  

  
Gender  
The Census 2021 has reported a higher percentage of female (53.1%) in the borough than males (46.9%). This figure 
has slightly changed throughout the years in terms of percentage of female against males since Census 2011 where 
females were (51.3%) and males (48.7%). Overall, the percentage of females in the borough has been higher than 
males.   
The gender ratio (the number of males for each female in a population) was 88 males to every 100 females in 2021. In 
England as a whole, the gender ratio was 96 males to every 100 females in 2021. The ratio of 2.1 to 1 is therefore 
very similar across the country where there is a greater number of males to females.         
   
Figure 3: Age and Sex structure in Hammersmith and Fulham   

                                                                                                                                                           
Source: Office for National Statistics, Population age and sex structure, 2020    

P
age 125



 9 

Sexual Orientation (and transgender)   
The nature of issues facing LGB people can be similar to transgendered or transitioning people as well, hence the 
council often use the term LGBT (lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender). Data published by the Office for National 
Statistics (ONS) revealed that in 2019 4.5% of London’s population were LGBT.    
The 2021 Census included the question on sexual orientation which was voluntary and only asked of people aged 16 
years and over. Based on the percentage of people who provided an answer,  in London, 2.2% described their sexual 
orientation as gay or lesbian, 1.5% described their sexual orientation as bisexual, and 0.5% wrote in a different 
orientation. Hammersmith and Fulham has a majority of heterosexual population (84.97%), gay or lesbian account for 
3.12%, bisexual (1.76%) and other orientation (0.43%).  
  
Figure 4: Sexual orientation, 2021, local authorities in England  

  
Source: ONS, 2023 [ Sexual orientation, England and Wales - Office for National Statistics (ons.gov.uk)]  

 

Ethnicity and Religion  
Hammersmith, and Fulham remains ethnically diverse and saw a 6.6% increase in people who are from an ethnic 
group other than White British (61.7%). Despite this ethnic diversity, 7 in 10 people still identify with a UK national 
identity. The main ethnic minorities identified are Black  African (7.2%), Mixed (6.7%), Black Caribbean (3.6%), and 
Arab (3%).    

P
age 126

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/culturalidentity/sexuality/bulletins/sexualorientationenglandandwales/census2021


 10 

The most populous religious group within Hammersmith and Fulham is Christian (45.7%), an 8.4% decrease from 
2011. The next most common religious group is Muslim (11.6%,) with a population of 21,290, up from 10% in 2011. 
These trends are similar to London and England as a whole.   
 
Table 2: breakdown of religion within the borough  
 

Religion  Number of people  Percentage  

Christian   83,673   45.7%  

Buddhist  1,723  0.9%  

Hindu  2,209  1.2%  

Jewish  1,228  0.7%  

Muslim   21,290  11.6%  

Sikh  450  0.2%  

Other  72,584  39.6%  

 
(Source: Census 2021)  

 

8 in 10 residents aged three years and over, had English as a main language while the other most common main 
languages are French, Spanish, and Italian. H&F is therefore more diverse than 10 years ago, with 46% of the 
population born outside of the UK (London 41%), an increase from 43% in 2011 with most residents coming from Italy, 
France, the US, and Spain.   
 

Deprivation  
Households in England were classified in terms of dimensions of depravation, based on selected household 
characteristics. Households were considered to be deprived if they met one of the following four dimensions of 
deprivation:  

• employment: where any member of a household, who is not a full-time student, is either unemployed or 
economically inactive due to long-term sickness or disability.  
• education: no person in the household has at least five or more GCSE passes or equivalent 
qualifications, and no person aged 16 to 18 years is a full-time student  
• health and disability: any person in the household has general health that is “bad” or “very bad” or is 
identified as disabled  

P
age 127



 11 

• housing: the household’s accommodation is either overcrowded or is in a shared dwelling, or has no 
central heating  

Figure 5: Households deprived in at least one dimension, 2011 and 2021, England, Wales and regions of England  

  

(Source: Office for National Statistics, 2023) 

  
The 2021 Census reported a general improvement on health, as per Hammersmith and Fulham 53.8% of the residents 
stated that health has been improved since 2011.   
Overall, London’s pattern of household deprivation is very close to the rest of England, with just over half of all 
households deprived on at least one dimension. The proportion of households not deprived in any dimensions 
increased between 2011 and 2021, with this increase clearly greater for London than for other regions. London remains 
the region with the highest proportion of households deprived in all four dimensions. Even though that proportion is 
small (0.4 per cent), it still represents more than 13,000 households in London showing all aspects of deprivation. 
London boroughs have both the highest proportion of households deprived on at least one dimension (Barking & 
Dagenham, Newham and Brent) and among the very lowest (Richmond upon Thames) of any local authorities in 
England. At ward level, concentrations of deprived households are even more obvious, with more than one in ten 
households showing at least three of the four dimensions of deprivation in seven wards from Westminster, Kensington 
& Chelsea, Camden and Enfield.   

P
age 128



 12 

Hammersmith and Fulham reported 51.3% of household not deprived in any dimension, 31% of household deprivation 
in one dimension and  4.5% of household deprived in three or four dimensions. (GLA Census 2021 Reports, available 
at: Census 2021 Reports (london.gov.uk)).  
    
Figure 6: Households deprivation by borough, 2021   

   
(Source: GLA Report Census 2021) 

  
At ward level, average dimensions of deprivation in Hammersmith and Fulham were highest (between 0.9-0.97) in the 
northern part of the borough (College Park & Old Oak, White City and Shepherd’s Bush Green) and lowest (0.48-0.5) 
in the south (Parsons Green 7 Sandford and Fulham Town).  
  
Four wards in London had 1.4 per cent of households derived on all four dimensions, two in Westminster (Church 
Street and Westbourne) and two in Camden (St Pancras & Somers Town and Kilburn), though seven other boroughs 
include wards with at least one in a hundred households deprived in all four dimensions. Those are Haringey, 

P
age 129

https://apps.london.gov.uk/census-2021-reports/#/household-deprivation


 13 

Hammersmith & Fulham, Kensington & Chelsea, Hackney, Barnet, Enfield and Brent [Census 2021 Reports 
(london.gov.uk)].  
  
Map 1: Map of average deprivation, London wards, 2021  

  

  
 (Source: 2021 Census, ONS, GLA survey)  

  
According to the 2019 Indices of Deprivation (IoD), Hammersmith and Fulham was ranked 112 out of 317 local 
authority area in the country (91 in 2015). Of the 113 Lower Super Output Areas (LSOAs) one (0.9%) is in the most 
deprived 10% nationally (Clem Attlee estate). Most of the areas in the north of the borough are in LSOAs 10-20% 
worst nationally.   
   
Figure 7: Index of Deprivation in Hammersmith and Fulham    

P
age 130

https://apps.london.gov.uk/census-2021-reports/#/household-deprivation
https://apps.london.gov.uk/census-2021-reports/#/household-deprivation


 14 

   

        
(Source: Deprivation in Hammersmith and Fulham | LBHF, 2019)      

    
                                                      
Hammersmith and Fulham not only has high levels of deprivation, it is polarised socially and economically. In the 
context of London this is demonstrated by the fact that the borough has some wards that have the highest and lowest 
rankings for the levels of income. Palace Riverside appears in the rankings as having the one of the highest income 

P
age 131

https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy/about-hammersmith-fulham-council/deprivation-hammersmith-and-fulham


 15 

ranks as well as highest Index of multiple deprivation ranks. On the contrary Wormholt and White City has statistically 
the one of the lowest income ranks and lowest index of multiple deprivation ranks. The above image shows this 
effectively, with the brighter orange colours signifying parts of the borough which have high deprivation levels and 
conversely the brighter green areas showing low levels of deprivation.    
Deprivation and low household incomes also impact on health inequalities and result in high levels of child poverty. 
About 20% of people are in poverty in Hammersmith and Fulham compared to 32% of children in poverty. Childhood 
poverty in Hammersmith and Fulham does not follow the general north-south divide but is more scattered 
geographically across the borough.   
  
Disability   
Overall, the portion of disabled people across England and Wales has fallen from 19.3% in 2011 to 17.7% in 
2021.  Figures from 2021 Census show  22,972 people in Hammersmith and Fulham have a physical or mental 
impairment, which account to 15.5% of the area’s population.  Of these people, 12,865 (8.1%) said their disability 
stopped them from carrying out regular activities 'a little', while 10,107 (7.4%) said it did so 'a lot'.  
 
 Figure 8: Disability (age-standardised), 2021 in Hammersmith and Fulham    

  
(Source: ONS, 2023)  

P
age 132



 16 

New research N/A 

 
 
 

Section 04 Undertake and analyse consultation 

Consultation A public consultation took place in January 2024 and carried out for eight weeks in accordance with the consultation 
requirements of regulation 12 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as 
amended).   

Analysis Methodology of the Analysis &Protected characteristics and the Public Sector Equality Duties PSED) 
 
This EQIA analyses the likely impacts of the Supplementary Planning Document on statutorily identified protected 
characteristics (age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage/civil partnership, pregnancy/maternity, race, 
religion/belief, sex, and sexual orientation), human rights and children’s rights. It also assesses the SPD principles 
against the Public Sector Equality Duties in s149 of the Equality Act 2010 which states that in the exercise of its 
functions the council must have due regard to the need to:   
 

▪ eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct that is prohibited under the 
Act; 

▪ advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and those who do not; 
and 

▪ foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those who do not. 
 
The relevance of the policies to the protected characteristics is categorised as:  

• High (H)  

• Medium (M)  

• Low (L)   

• Not Applicable (NA) 
 
and the magnitude of the impact on the protected characteristics are categorised as: 

• Positive (+), 

• Negative (-)  

• Neutral (blank) 

P
age 133



 17 

The potential impacts of the key principles contained in this SPD have been assessed against the protected 
characteristics as follows and sets out commentary relating to the way in which the SPD is likely to impact upon those 
protected characteristics: 
 

1. Age 
2. Disability 
3. Gender reassignment 
4. Marriage/ Civil Partnership 

5. Pregnancy/ Maternity 

6. Race 

7. Religion/Belief 
8. Sex 

9. Sexual Orientation 

10. Human/ Children’s Rights Act 

 
  

Section 05 Analysis of impact and outcomes 
 

Analysis Principles of 
development 

Age Disa
bility 

Gender 
Reassig
nment 

Marriage/
Civil 
Partners
hip 
 

Pregna
ncy/Mat
ernity 

Race Religio
n/Belief 

Sex Sexual 
Orientat
ion 

Human/Chi
ldren’s 
rights 

Commentary 

H1 – 
Sustainable 
Placemaking 

H+ H+ N/A N/A M+ N/A N/A N/A N/A H+ This principle helps assist the 
delivery of net zero carbon to new 
development schemes within 
Hammersmith Town Centre. The 
principle would encourage 
developers to adopt the highest 
possible climate change standards 
to support the achievement of net-
zero carbon emissions and be 
designed to be well-adapted for a 
changing climate, as well as 
providing a net increase in 
biodiversity. 
The principle aims to renew the 
public realm and streets improving 
air quality and provide more 
comfortable, 

P
age 134



 18 

greener routes to promote walking 
and cycling, reducing potential 
impacts upon microclimate whilst 
also encouraging improved access 
to natural daylight/sunlight. This 
would overall add value to 
communities and would create a 
more comfortable pedestrian 
environment for Hammersmith. 
 
The principle will not have any 
adverse impact on the protected 
characteristics, but will benefit the 
entire community in terms of health 
and wellbeing. This will include 
people with impairments and 
people of different ages 
particularly, children, elders, and 
women with little children by 
improving air quality, biodiversity, 
encouraging sustainable transport  
and reducing adverse climate 
change impacts on the wider 
community.  
  
 

H2 – Tall 
Buildings 

H+ H+ N/A N/A H+ N/A N/A N/A N/A M+ This principle supplements policies 
in the local plan on tall buildings 
location and design. This is of high 
relevance to, and will have a high 
impact upon, people who are less 
mobile, including the elderly, 
disabled people and pregnant 
mothers and people with very 
young children.  
 

P
age 135



 19 

H3 – 
Landmarks 
and 
Gateways 

N/A N/A N/A 
 

N/A 
 

N/A 
 

N/A 
 

N/A 
 

N/A 
 

N/A 
 

N/A 
 

This principle aims to improve the 
legibility of Hammersmith utilising 
new developments and 
improved view corridors to 
encourage wayfinding to 
new and enhanced public 
spaces, cultural/civic/leisure 
facilities and public transport 
interchanges. 
 
This principle is unlikely to have 
impacts on the protected 
characteristics. 
 

H4 – View 
Management 
 

N/A N/A N/A 
 

N/A 
 

N/A 
 

N/A 
 

N/A 
 

N/A 
 

N/A 
 

N/A 
 

This principle will expect 
developers to consider a series of 
key 
short, medium and long-range 
views when submitting 
development proposals.  
 
This principle will not have any 
impact on the protected 
characteristics.  
 

H5 – High-
quality 
Architecture 

N/A N/A N/A 
 

N/A 
 

N/A 
 

N/A 
 

N/A 
 

N/A 
 

N/A 
 

M+ 
 

This principle seeks to create well 
defined, legible and attractive 
streetscapes. To achieve this 
objective this principle would 
require new development to build 
successful buildings with high-
quality, sustainable architecture. 
 
This principle will not impact on 
the protected characteristics but 
will overall provide a sense of 
identity for the wider community in 
Hammersmith. 
 
A more attractive public realm will 
also help make communities 
healthier and more attractive 
places to live, work, play and do 
business. 

P
age 136



 20 

  
 

H6 – Mix of 
Uses 

H+ L+ N/A N/A L+ N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A This principle seeks to maximise 
opportunities for businesses and 
communities to grow and thrive. It 
would also encourage the creation 
of new workspaces to support 
SMEs and independents to access 
affordable floorspace and 
frontages across the town centre. 
The principle also seek to increase 
the amount of housing and 
affordable housing to create a more 
diverse and vibrant town centre. 
 
This principle is likely to have 
beneficial impacts on those with 
protected characteristics. Positive 
impacts will be especially on 
people of working age. 
 

H7 – Active 
and 
Accessible 
Hammersmith 

M+ H+ N/A N/A M+ N/A N/A N/A N/A M+ This principle would drive new 
developments towards the creation 
of accessible, safe and active and 
liveable places for Hammersmith 
and its community.  
 
This principle will positively impact 
on all the protected characteristics, 
particularly on young people and 
people with impairments as the 
principle encourages development 
proposals to implement principles 
of inclusive and accessible design 
removing barriers to access from 
all residents, visitors and users of 
the town centre. 
 

 

Human Rights and Children’s Rights 
 
The Principles in the SPD will not affect Human Rights as defined by the Human Rights Act 1998.  
The Principles in the SPD are not likely to affect Children’s Rights, as defined by the UNCRC 1992.  

P
age 137



 21 

 
 

  

P
age 138



 22 

 
 

Section 06 Reducing any adverse impacts 

Outcome of Analysis The equalities impact analysis of the proposed SPD has found that in general, there is unlikely to be any potential 
unlawful discrimination against protected groups associated with the implementation of these policies. However, 
the council welcomes comments from the public and other stakeholders on the findings of this equalities impact 
analysis.   
 
The analysis has shown that not all protected characteristics will be impacted upon in a similar manner by the 
implementation of the SPD. The analysis has revealed that, generally, the SPD will have a POSITIVE or 
NEUTRAL impact upon all protected groups and characteristics and will increase employment opportunities, 
health and wellbeing for all people in these groups. The protected characteristics of Age and Disability will be 
positively impacted upon most by the implementation of the SPD.  The implementation of the SPD through 
consideration and determination of planning applications is unlikely to adversely impact upon Human and 
Children’s rights.  
 
The council will take the following actions to promote its equalities duties: 
 

• it will monitor the implementation of the SPD on an ongoing basis. It will require that affordable and flexible 
workspace delivered is monitored and reported to avoid any issues that may adversely impact on the 
protected characteristics. The relevant SPD principles may then be amended accordingly, through a statutory 
review process, to help resolve these issues. 

• it will undertake public consultation on the SPD and associated documents, including the EQIA. The 
consultation will provide people with an opportunity to comment on the SPD evidence. 

• it will monitor the development of equalities legislation and associated case law to help ensure that the SPD 
remains legally compliant. 

 
It is not considered the SPD will adversely affect human rights as defined by the Human Rights Act 1998.  
 
It is considered that the SPD will have a POSITIVE and NEUTRAL impact on children’s rights under the United 
Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC), including the following:  
 

• The right to life, survival and development;  

• Health and welfare rights, including rights for disabled children, the right to health and health care, and social   
security; and  

• The right to education, leisure, culture and the arts 

P
age 139



 23 

 

 
 

Section 07 Action Plan 

Action Plan   

Issue identified Action (s) to be 
taken 

When Lead officer Expected 
outcome 

Date added to 
business/servic
e plan 

Ensure that the 
SPD remains 
legally compliant 
with respect to 
equalities 
matters 

Monitoring 
emerging 
equalities related 
case law and any 
future legislative 
amendments. 

Ongoing To be confirmed The SPD will 
continue to 
remain legally 
compliant with 
respect to 
equalities 
matters. 

N/A 

Ensuring that the 
plan making 
process 
promotes the 
Council’s 
commitment to 
the involvement 
of people 
(including those 
with protected 
characteristics) in 
decision making. 

Ensuring that 
adequate 
consultation is 
carried 
throughout the 
plan making 
process as well 
as through the 
implementation 
of the plan 
through the 
development 
management and 
regeneration 
procedures and 
practices.  

Ongoing To be confirmed The Council will 
not only enable 
legal compliance, 
however, it will 
enable social 
inclusion.  

N/A 

 

 
 
 

P
age 140



 24 

Section 08 Agreement, publication and monitoring 

Chief Officer sign-off Name: David Gawthorpe 
Position: Team Leader, Policy and Spatial Planning 
Email: localplan@lbhf.gov.uk 

Key Decision Report Date of report to Cabinet/Cabinet Member to adopt the Hammersmith SPD: TBD 
 

 

 

 

 

Section 09 References 

  

 Department for Communities and Local Government (2017), The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
(England) (Amendment) Regulations 2017, available at < The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2017 (legislation.gov.uk)>  
 
Disabled people’s commission Hammersmith and Fulham (2018) Nothing About Disabled People Without Disabled 
People Report, available at https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy/resident-led-commissions/disabled-
people-s-commission  
 
Doug Pyper, House of Commons (2010), The Public Sector Equality Duty and Equality Impact Assessments, available 
at < http://www.parliament.uk/commons-library>  
 
Greater London Authority (2018), Hammersmith and Fulham Report, London Area Profiles, London Database, 
available at < London Borough Overview (windows.net)>  
 
GLA (2019), London Wards Summary Measures Document, available at < Indices of Deprivation - London Datastore> 
 
Hammersmith & Fulham Council (2016), Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021, available at < Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy | LBHF>  
 
Hammersmith and Fulham Council (2012), 2011 Census Statistics: Hammersmith and Fulham Briefing, <Key statistics 
| LBHF> 
 
Hammersmith and Fulham Council (2021), Equalities Plan 2021-25, available at < H&F equality objectives | London 
Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham (lbhf.gov.uk)> 

 

P
age 141

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/1244/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/1244/contents/made
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy/resident-led-commissions/disabled-people-s-commission
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy/resident-led-commissions/disabled-people-s-commission
http://www.parliament.uk/commons-library
https://iao.blob.core.windows.net/publications/reports/f11c199d237c4cb79bca5427bfe8511d/E09000013.html
https://data.london.gov.uk/dataset/indices-of-deprivation
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy/about-hammersmith-fulham-council/strategies-and-plans/health-and-wellbeing-strategy
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy/about-hammersmith-fulham-council/strategies-and-plans/health-and-wellbeing-strategy
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy/about-hammersmith-fulham-council/census-information/key-statistics
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy/about-hammersmith-fulham-council/census-information/key-statistics
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy/about-hammersmith-fulham-council/hf-equality-objectives
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy/about-hammersmith-fulham-council/hf-equality-objectives


 25 

Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) 2019, available at < Indices of Deprivation 2015 and 2019 (communities.gov.uk)>  
 
Milan Ognjenovic, Business Intelligence Team (PSR), Hammersmith and Fulham Council (2018), Borough Profile 
2018, available at <https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy/about-hammersmith-fulham-council/ward-
profiles>   
 
Office for National Statistics (2011), Census 2011, available at < 2011 Census - Office for National Statistics 
(ons.gov.uk)>  
 
Office for National Statistics (2021), Population estimates 2020, available at  Population estimates - Office for National 
Statistics (ons.gov.uk)>  
 
Office for National Statistics (2021), Sexual Orientation UK, available at <Sexual orientation, UK - Office for National 
Statistics (ons.gov.uk)> 
 
UK Parliament (2010), Equality Act 2010,  available at < untitled (legislation.gov.uk> 
 
GLA Data (2019)  available at <Indices of Deprivation - London Datastore> 
 
GLA Data (2020) available at <Trend-based population projections - London Datastore> 
 
ONS Data (2020) available at <Population estimates for the UK, England and Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland - 
Office for National Statistics (ons.gov.uk)> 
 
ONS – Census 2021 <Hammersmith and Fulham population change, Census 2021 – ONS> 

  
Hammersmith and Fulham census population profile - 1981 to 2021 (bothness.github.io)  
  
 
  

 

P
age 142

http://dclgapps.communities.gov.uk/imd/iod_index.html
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy/about-hammersmith-fulham-council/ward-profiles
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy/about-hammersmith-fulham-council/ward-profiles
https://www.ons.gov.uk/census/2011census
https://www.ons.gov.uk/census/2011census
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/culturalidentity/sexuality/datasets/sexualidentityuk
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/culturalidentity/sexuality/datasets/sexualidentityuk
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/pdfs/ukpga_20100015_en.pdf
https://data.london.gov.uk/dataset/indices-of-deprivation
https://data.london.gov.uk/dataset/trend-based-population-projections
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/bulletins/annualmidyearpopulationestimates/mid2020
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/bulletins/annualmidyearpopulationestimates/mid2020
https://www.ons.gov.uk/visualisations/censuspopulationchange/E09000013/
https://bothness.github.io/censusprofiles/E09000013/?year=2021


1 
 

Appendix 3 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 
 

Schedule of Representations & Officer Responses to the Hammersmith Town Centre Supplementary 
Planning Document Consultation including Technical Changes 

 
 
The proposed changes are expressed as strikethrough for deletions and underlining for additions to the text. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

P
age 143



2 
 

 

 

Contents 

1. General Comments ........................................................................................................................................................................................... 3 

2. Introduction, Setting the Scene and Purpose of the SPD ................................................................................................................................ 31 

3. Vision ............................................................................................................................................................................................................... 35 

4. Spatial Framework  ......................................................................................................................................................................................... 38 

5. Developer Guidance ........................................................................................................................................................................................ 61 

6. Delivery & Implementation and concluding comments .................................................................................................................................... 80 

    7. Technical Changes………………...………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..83 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 144



3 
 

 

Rep  
No. 

Consultee  
No. 

Name/Org Section Representation 
 

Response/Change 

1 1 

Louise 
Rowntree  

1. General So exciting you’re planning to, in partnership with TfL and the GLA, replace the flyover 
with a flyunder to restore the heart of Hammersmith. Reading stories by older locals 
describing how Hammersmith was a ‘village’ from the river to king street before the 
flyover was built, how wonderful you’re going to remove the arrow in the heart of 
Hammersmith and let it breathe again. 
 
If, in upcoming communications, you could give more information on how concrete 
this plan is (you say it’s your ‘ambition’) and timings that would be great. 
 
On a related (air pollution) note, greenery; 
 
-trees: please plant (even!) more, and ideally evergreen trees: deciduous trees look 
dead and bleak winter, which is the ‘very’ time we need more green! Magnolias, 
Rowan and mirtle trees, for example, stay green all year.  
-Also any unused public wall space, it’s ‘so’ cheap to drill wire onto the wall, dig a 
small hole in the ground and plant a climbing creeper (eg star jasmine: evergreen!). 
Wire costs about £2, a small star jasmine £8, and it will cover even the highest of 
walls and create vertical green space all year round. A ‘much’ cheaper way to get rid 
of graffiti off decorate an ugly public wall than repainting etc. 

Comments noted. 
 
Support for the flyunder is 
welcomed. However, the current 
cost of the project is significant 
and requires further discussion 
with key stakeholders, including 
central government, to help 
resolve. The project therefore 
remains as a ‘long-term 
ambition’ with no specific 
timetable for delivery.  
 
It is noted that reference is 
made throughout the draft SPD 
to ‘urban greening’ and ‘green 
infrastructure’ however it is 
appropriate to elaborate on this 
to clarify that this includes 
increased tree cover and 
provision of living walls, that 
include deciduous species to 
maintain greenness over the 
winter. 
 
Proposed Change: 
 
Page 49 Climate Change and 
Sustainability 7th paragraph: 
 
“… urban greening, including 
living walls and deciduous tree 
cover …”  

2 2 

Eugenie 
White  

1. General It makes sense to aglomerate high rise around transport interchanges.BUT what 
about using the Section 106 to put the flyover underground! It would improve every 
aspect of Hammersmith including adding to space that can be used. And get 
Hammersmith Bridge reopened! 

Comments noted, no change 
proposed. 

 
Support for the flyunder is 
welcomed. However, the current 
cost of the project is significant 
and could not be funded from 
S106 receipts alone. Further 
discussions are required with 
key stakeholders, including 
central government, to help 

P
age 145



4 
 

resolve the funding of the 
project. 
  

3 3 

Anthony 
Williams  

1. General I have read the document and my overall impression is that it is sound and the 
recommendations if implemented would be of great benefit and value to the Town 
Centre. 
I was particularly pleased to find that the fly-under is included in the plan. The current 
elevated road is ugly and divides this south part of the town centre. Its removal would 
be transformative. I appreciate that this has to be a long term project. As well as its 
benefit to the area it would also remove the likelihood or even risk of further safety 
work being required on the existing elevated road. 
Lastly, I think that the removal of the BP service area would be detrimental to the 
area. It provides facilities that are not available elsewhere which are important to and 
necessary for motorists. All vehicles visiting the site are monitored and timed so the 
site cannot be used as a car park. 

Comments noted.  No change 
proposed. 
 
Support for the flyunder is 
welcomed. As is the 
acknowledgement that this is 
necessarily a long-term project. 
 
The Council is not promoting the 
removal of the BP service area. 
However, if the landowner 
decides to bring the BP site 
forward for redevelopment it is 
appropriate for the SPD to 
indicate a layout and design 
principles to guide any future 
proposal and ensure this 
complements and provides 
integration with neighbouring 
sites.  

4 4 

Natural 
England  

1. General In principle SPDs should not be subject to the Strategic Environmental Assessment 
Directive or the Habitats Directive because they do not normally introduce new 
policies or proposals or modify planning documents which have already been subject 
to a Sustainability Appraisal or Habitats Regulations Assessment. However a SPD 
may occasionally be found likely to give rise to significant effects which have not been 
formally assessed in the context of a higher level planning document. This may 
happen, for example, where the relevant high level planning document contains saved 
policies within a saved local plan which predates the need to carry out a SA or HRA  
and therefore no higher tier assessment has taken place. If there is any doubt on the 
need to carry out a SA or HRA a screening assessment should be carried out. 

Comments noted. No change 
required.  
 
H&F’s Local Plan was adopted 
in 2018 and was subject to 
comprehensive Sustainability 
Appraisal and Habitats 
Regulations Assessment. The 
Council is content that the SPD 
provides guidance that would 
not give rise to effects greater 
than those expected through the 
application of LP policies. As 
such, the Council does not 
consider further SA or HRA is 
required. 

5 5 

P Houlihan 1. General To our all-powerful Council - Please please please re-open Hammersmith Bridge 
before you dream up any other plans? 
Or perhaps use some of the billions saved on HS 2 ? Or how about recycling the new 
aircraft carriers with no aircraft on them as a temporary bridge ? Best wishes In 
eternal hope - P. Houlihan Ps you never ever mention our lovely Bridge in your 
newsletter. Why? 

Comments noted, no change 
required. 
 
Hammersmith Bridge is 
unfortunately outside the remit 
of this SPD. To keep up to date 
with all the latest information on 
the bridge visit: 

P
age 146



5 
 

 
Hammersmith Bridge | London 
Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham (lbhf.gov.uk) 

6 6 
Jebens 
Design 

1. General I fully support the Hammersmith Local Plan, particularly the fly-under which would re-
connect Hammersmith to the river. 

Support noted and welcomed. 

7 7 

Nick Brooks 1. General Can I please plead that before £811m is spent on this project Hammersmith Bridge is 
repaired and opened for all traffic. 

Comments noted, no change 
required. 
 
We appreciate you taking the 
time to read and make 
comments on the SPD.  
 
Hammersmith Bridge is 
unfortunately outside the remit 
of this SPD. To keep up to date 
with all the latest information on 
the bridge visit: 
 
Hammersmith Bridge | London 
Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham (lbhf.gov.uk) 

8 9 

Michael 
Cook 

1. General Please curtail the highest buildings. In this area, a maximum of 20 storeys should be a 
rule of thumb. 
Please put forward a road spur from the 'fly under' beneath the river to the Barnes 
side. Expensive and difficult, yes, but no more expensive than the misguided plans to 
restore our wonderful Hammersmith bridge to take heavy vehicular traffic. The bridge 
could become the long-lost garden bridge of London, while still taking pedestrian and 
bicycle traffic. 

Comments noted. 
 
We appreciate you taking the 
time to read and make 
comments on the SPD.  
 
The SPD provides indicative 
guidance in relation to tall 
buildings. This suggests 
locations which may be suitable 
for large/tall buildings, indicative 
development parameters and 
key views for consideration. 
Planning applications for tall 
buildings will be assessed 
against the London Plan and 
Local Plan policies, with 
particular focus on townscape, 
heritage, and other design 
considerations. 

 
The comments on the flyunder 
are noted. No options have been 
ruled out, including a spur road 
to the Barnes side, However, the 

P
age 147

https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/transport-and-roads/hammersmith-bridge
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/transport-and-roads/hammersmith-bridge
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/transport-and-roads/hammersmith-bridge
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/transport-and-roads/hammersmith-bridge
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/transport-and-roads/hammersmith-bridge
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/transport-and-roads/hammersmith-bridge


6 
 

flyunder is a long-term ambition 
and will be subject to further 
discussion with all stakeholders, 
including affected communities.  

9 10 

Anthony 
Collyer 

1. General I wanted to book a place for the consultation meeting on 29Feb2024 … but it is sold 
out I am unable to download a copy of the .pdf file as it is too large … how can I 
obtain a hard copy? What are the plans to improve the interchange between the 
Piccadilly/District and the Hammersmith and City/Circle line stations … I.e… without 
having to cross multiple busy lanes of motor and cycle traffic? 

Comments noted.  
 
Hard copies of the document 
were made available at the 3 
borough reference libraries. 
 
Proposed change: 
 
Additional sentence to the future 
vision on page 28 to the end of 
the 3rd para: 
 
“Explore options to deliver better 
connections between the two 
stations either at grade or below 
ground.” 
 

10 11 

Diane Fisher  1. General Keep all cars out and make more streets pedestrian and cycling.  
 
Keep the cars off the streets and have more paved roads.  

Comments noted.  
 
We appreciate you taking the 
time to read and make 
comments on the SPD.  
 
The council actively promotes 
sustainable transport. The public 
realm enhancements proposed 
through the SPD seek to aid the 
transition away from cars, giving 
more space over to pedestrians 
and cyclists. Where feasible, 
options to pedestrianise areas 
will be sought as well as the 
creation of new pedestrian 
routes. 

11 12 

Britel Fund 
Trustees Ltd 

1. General We are instructed by our client, Britel fund Trustees Limited, to submit representations 
to the consultation draft Hammersmith Town Centre Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD). It is understood that the draft SPD is intended to supplement 
existing policies set out within the Hammersmith and Fulham Local Plan (2018) and 
seeks to elaborate on the Hammersmith Town Centre Masterplan (2019) to provide 
planning guidance for developers and residents for the Town Centre.  Britel fund 
Trustees Limited are the owners of 26-28 Hammersmith Grove, London, W6 7HA (the 
‘Site’). The Site is located within the ‘Northern Quarter’ character area of the draft 
SPD where the aim is to promote mixed use schemes to enable employment/housing 

Comments noted and support 
welcomed. 
 
We appreciate this background 
information on the site and 
buildings in question. We have 
addressed your detailed 
response your specific 

P
age 148



7 
 

growth. Our client supports promoting the Site for housing growth.  The Site provides 
existing office premises (comprising east and west wing buildings connected by a ‘link’  
building) together with associated car parking and servicing arrangements. The east 
wing building comprises older, mainly vacant office stock. The west wing building, 
fronting Hammersmith Grove, is currently occupied by a range of tenants.  The 2019 
Masterplan identified the Site as part of a development opportunity site (Site F) as 
suitable for new residential development as part of a mixed use scheme of 
development incorporating retained office space. Overall Vision. Our client is 
supportive of the overall vision set out in the draft SPD for the regeneration of 
Hammersmith town centre. In particular, our client supports the diversification of uses 
within the town centre including encouragement given to new residential development 
and creating a step change in terms of the quality of the physical and built 
environment. The draft SPD is broadly consistent with the 2019 Masterplan, albeit we 
note that specific proposals for some sites (mainly those not allocated in the Local 
Plan for a particular planning purpose) are omitted but may be subject of future 
separate planning briefs. We are supportive of this approach. 

comments further down this 
schedule. 

12 12 

Britel Fund 
Trustees Ltd 

1. General In summary, our client is broadly supportive of the vision set out in the draft SPD for 
Hammersmith town centre, subject to the detailed comments set out above. We trust 
the above comments will be taken into account by the Council in formulating the final 
version of the SPD. 

Comments noted. Support 
welcomed. 
 
We have addressed your 
detailed response and your 
specific comments further down 
this schedule. 

13 14 

Jesenka 
Oezdalga 

1. General There is one point I’ve been wanting to raise, and draft SPD comes in a perfect time. 
My daughter started secondary school in Hammersmith last September and is 
commuting through Hammersmith Station. We are all well aware of the numerous 
primary and secondary schools in vicinity of Hammersmith Town Center and number 
of children and teenagers that are passing through town centre on daily basis. I would 
like to share her experience and my take on it as a parent and as a town planner. 
 
In 80s/90s/early 2000s most of us grew up “hanging out with their friends” for half-an-
hour or so after school in local parks, small cafes or just on the benches on the street. 
With dominancy of social media and online life-styles, as a family we strongly 
encourage social interaction in real life and therefore we would like our children to be 
able to have freedom and safe space after school to catch up with their friends. You 
might have picked up separately that a whole new campaign is building up nationally 
towards use and impact of phones and social media on young and therefore, this 
“time to spend with their friends” outside of any supervised environment like home 
with parents or in school is very important. 
 
On the way from school to Hammersmith station there is no space for teenagers to 
stop, sit, have a chat, have a sandwich together, see friends from other schools 
around. They come to the Broadway, buy themselves small snack in tesco and try to 
sit in one of the restaurants “where nobody would chase them away”. They are too 
young to sit in Starbucks or Joe and Juice (not to mention how expensive it is and 
most children can’t afford it). Even if they were to buy that expensive drink most 
restaurants generally just chase them away, as kids and teenagers are perceived as 

Comments noted. 
 
We welcome your detailed 
example of how the centre is 
navigated by younger people 
and acknowledge that there is 
more to be done to address the 
issues raised. 
 
The SPD should be read 
alongside our Local Plan and 
the London plan in terms of 
policy provision for play space. 
Whilst no new play space is 
identified through the SPD, the 
SPD does promote 
improvements to the public 
realm within the town centre and 
is seeking to make better 
connections back to the river 
and Furnivall gardens.  

P
age 149



8 
 

loud, rude, scary. 
 
I did word search through draft SPD and word “play” is mentioned only three times 
and in reference to Civic campus or in generic public realm context. Where is that 
space? And what would that space entail? Can anything more be done at this stage, 
starting with policy and hopefully taking it to realisation. 
 
If you go to Hammersmith station at 8am on a working day you would be surprised 
with the amount of secondary school children going in all directions, yet, they are 
nowhere to be seen in public after school. Thinking of Lyric square, it only has 
separate Pret-a-Manger seating area or it’s covered in market stalls. That is just one 
space that could be made more welcoming for children/teenagers to stop by and 
spend time together. 
 
This topic is coming up in town planning and media and I reference few quotes and 
links below. Whether within this SPD or if council is considering this topic separately 
or through other departments, I would be happy to participate and share my 
experiences as a parent and town planner. 
 
To quote: 
 
Writing to the Levelling Up department, the RIBA said there were ‘currently no 
references to young people’ in the newly revised National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF). RTPI | Children and town planning: Creating places to grow. Consider 
younger couples and children in planning policy, government urged 
(architectsjournal.co.uk) 

14 15 

Jeremie 
d’Esparbes 

1. General I don’t believe your proposed development of Hammersmith town center preserves 
the neighborhood. LBHF planning committee’s disrespect of our residents community 
is going from strength to strength. The idea of creating a high rise “gateway to London 
from the East” is simply preposterous. The high rises your consultation hints to will 
have severe disruptive and harmful impact on the skyline, and more generally on our 
residents community. We live in the Barons Court area and have already been 
severely and negatively impacted by the recent development led by Dominus. We 
would want the development of new high rises to stop. This should remain a 
residential single houses area. 

Comments noted.  
 
We appreciate you taking the 
time to read and make 
comments on the SPD.  
 
The SPD provides indicative 
guidance in relation to tall 
buildings. This suggests 
locations which may be suitable 
for large/tall buildings, indicative 
development parameters and 
key views for consideration. 
Planning applications for tall 
buildings will be assessed 
against the London Plan and 
Local Plan policies, with 
particular focus on townscape, 
heritage, and other design 
considerations. 

 

P
age 150



9 
 

15 16 

Alice 
d’Esparbes 

1. General Thank you for sharing the 2035 view of Hammersmith town centre and for involveling 
residents at this stage. 
I live on St Dunstans road, near Margravine Cemetery and I don’t believe the plans for 
the Eastern quarter preserve the residential nature of this neighbourhood, which is a 
conservation area. We already have in front of our windows the huge hotel 
development on Talgart road. The hotel is enormous and such an eye sore from 
Margravine gardens. 
The proposals will have disruptive and harmful impact on the skyline. Hammersmith is 
becoming the new croydon with huge developments and losing its sense of residential 
community. 
I do like the idea to create more links between the various areas and to make more 
green spaces and pedestrian areas given that the borough is split in two by the M4 
but this could be done with flatter brick buildings which would be far better integrated. 
Making a highway surrounded by high rises will not connect the areas together and 
will negatively impact brook green, barons court and brackenbury village. 
I am in favor of creating a tunnel for the flyover, but again no high rises please! 
I do hope you will listen to residents. 

Comments noted.  
 
We appreciate you taking the 
time to read and make 
comments on the SPD. We 
welcome your support on the 
flyunder and the need to create 
better linkages through the 
centre. 
 
The SPD provides indicative 
guidance in relation to tall 
buildings. This suggests 
locations which may be suitable 
for large/tall buildings, indicative 
development parameters and 
key views for consideration. 
Planning applications for tall 
buildings will be assessed 
against the London Plan and 
Local Plan policies, with 
particular focus on townscape, 
heritage, and other design 
considerations. 

 

16 18 

Kevin 
Caulfield  

1. General I like the fact that our town planners are seeking to “keep developers in line” by 
establishing parameters they must following when putting forward their development 
plans. That said, I believe LBHF needs to go even further in setting out clear 
guidelines in terms of: 
- height of buildings 
- density of buildings (housing/office developments at White City adjacent to 
Westfield, Paddington Basin, and the Brentford stadium area) are much too dense, 
with poor/no sight lines making for oppressive living and working conditions 
- greening the environment - clear guidelines must be set out so that developers are 
not able to manipulate where and how much green space/park area is safeguarded 
- quality of materials and design 

Comments noted.  
 
We appreciate you taking the 
time to read and make 
comments on the SPD and the 
support for more planning 
guidance. 
 
The SPD cannot bring forward 
new policy and therefore any 
guidance on density and height 
is indicative. The council’s Local 
Plan and the London Plan 
contain more detailed policies 
on building heights, density of 
buildings and greening the 
environment.  

17 19 

Port of 
London 
Authority 
(PLA) 

1. General As the PLA’s key interest is to improve and enable the use of the tidal Thames safely, 
we recognise that improving links to the River Thames is highlighted in this SPD, 
specifically as a key concept of the spatial framework and within the objectives for 
delivery. The close proximity of Hammersmith town centre to the river provides a clear 
benefit within the Borough, and all effort should be made to maximise opportunities to 

Comments noted. No change 
required.  
 
Because the river does not form 
part of the SPD boundary it is 

P
age 151



10 
 

improve the riverside alongside growth that can serve the local community, business 
and visitors to the area. 
  
In addition to improved access to the Thames, we would welcome further 
consideration of the river as a resource for recreation and sport, tourism and leisure, 
as referred within the Local Plan. Further cross-reference should also be provided to 
Policy RTC1 of the Local Plan in terms of promoting use of the River Thames for 
transport uses, including passengers and freight (incorporating construction phase). 

not considered appropriate to 
add the Policy reference to the 
document. However, it is an 
ambition to better connect the 
river with the town centre 
through public realm and 
transport initiatives.  
 
 

18 21 

Patrizia and 
Nuveen 

1. General In principle, our clients are supportive of the associated improvements to 
infrastructure referred to in the draft SPD, however, concerned that the obligations 
placed on new development should not be at the expense of scheme viability. 

Comments noted.  
 
Planning Obligations will only be 
placed on new developments 
where relevant and appropriate 
and subject to the viability of the 
scheme.  
 

19 21 

Patrizia and 
Nuveen 

1. General  Flexibility 
Both Patrizia and Nuveen are of the view that the draft SPD should be applied with 
great flexibility generally. Page 26 indicates that the guidance is not intended to be 
formal but this should also be made explicitly clear within the document’s introduction 
so that there is no ambiguity or misinterpretation that future development proposals 
must conform with the entirety of the draft SPD’s content literally. 
Page 11 of the draft SPD expects landowners to work together to bring forward key 
opportunity sites. Nevertheless, it is supported that this does not preclude a phased 
approach where development proposals illustrate how they would not fetter the ability 
of adjacent sites to come  
forward for an optimum form of development. Different land ownerships and different 
lease profiles may well dictate that adjoining blocks such as the Nuveen and Patrizia 
interests may have to come forward for redevelopment at different times.  

Comments noted. No change 
required. 
 
The SPD is a guidance 
document only and should be 
read alongside our Local Plan 
and the London plan in terms of 
policy provision. This is made 
clear in the SPD.  

20 25 

Worshipful 
Company of 
Girdlers 

1. General We write on behalf of the Worshipful Company of Girdlers’ to comment on the draft 
Hammersmith Town Centre SPD. The Girdlers’ own the freehold interest in a 
significant stretch of King Street on its southern side from the grade II listed Hop Poles 
public house, to Angel Walk and including 12 Blacks Road. The Girdlers’ therefore 
has a strategic interest as the freehold owner of a number of key opportunity sites 
within the Town Centre. They have explored the development potential of a number of 
their assets and have also worked with the long- leaseholders of other sites to enable 
their development proposals. The Girdlers’ agrees with the Council that there are 
sound planning reasons for the draft SPD to be ambitious about King Street and its 
exciting regenerative potential. In principle, our client is supportive of the associated 
improvements to infrastructure referred to, however, concerned that development is 
referred to as a major source of funding. The obligations placed on new development 
should not be at the expense of scheme viability. 

Comments noted.  
 
Planning Obligations will only be 
placed on new developments 
where relevant and appropriate 
and subject to the viability and 
deliverability of the scheme. 

21 25 

Worshipful 
Company of 
Girdlers 

1. General The Girdler’s are of the view that the draft SPD should be applied with great flexibility 
generally. Page 26 indicates that the guidance is not intended to be formal but this 
should also be made explicitly clear within the document’s introduction so that there is 
no ambiguity or misinterpretation that future development proposals must conform 

Comments noted. No change 
required. 
 

P
age 152



11 
 

with the entirety of the draft SPD’s content literally. Page 11 of the draft SPD expects 
landowners to work together to bring forward key opportunity sites. Nevertheless, the 
document states that this does not preclude a phased approach where development 
proposals illustrate how they would not fetter the ability of adjacent sites to come 
forward for an optimum form of development. In relation to development over the M&S 
site which is likely to come forward first, the Girdlers’ is satisfied that neighbouring 
sites can be optimised alongside their current proposal. 

The SPD is a guidance 
document only and should be 
read alongside our Local Plan 
and the London plan in terms of 
policy provision. This is made 
clear in the SPD. 

22 26 

Romulus 1. General We have reviewed the draft SPD with our planning advisors, Gerald Eve and Montagu 
Evans. Therefore, this response sets out both our feedback on what we are seeing in 
Hammersmith as well as responding to the draft SPD consultation. We think there is 
an  
urgent need to take a step back and have a conversation about the future of the town 
centre as we think that previous trends have been accelerated and a new approach is 
required. 
Before turning to our observations, I want to reemphasize that Romulus are 
committed to Hammersmith town centre and we are bullish about the long-term 
prospects for the town centre. Hammersmith is almost unique as a truly diversified 
town centre that  
combines residential neighbourhoods, cultural landmarks and commerce. 
Hammersmith town centre is a key contributor to the economy of west London, and it 
represents one of west London’s most important commercial centres and, for many of 
the borough’s residents, it is the primary destination.  
We welcome the Council’s initiatives to guide development in Hammersmith town 
centre, in light of the challenges to address the climate emergency, delivering fit-for 
purpose and sustainable buildings, providing genuinely affordable workspace and 
recognising flexibility in commercial developments (which has been brought about by 
the introduction of Class E use).  
We agree that the town centre requires a significant step change to improve the 
quality of the physical and built environment in Hammersmith, which can all be done 
through the redevelopment and refurbishment of existing buildings throughout the 
area, upgrading the transport network and transforming the public realm. 
On this basis, we believe this SPD is well-placed to provide the correct guidance on 
realising these opportunities by identifying pathways for both redevelopment and 
conversion. The latter would also accord with the direction of travel for policy around 
the retrofitting of existing buildings, before considering demolition and redevelopment 
as a first option.  
We support the Council’s ambitions and key outcomes including the delivery of 2,800 
new homes (and affordable homes), and the creation of 10,000 new jobs and the 
proposal to replace the existing Hammersmith flyover which currently acts as both an 
eyesore and a significant physical barrier amongst other key outcomes. However, 
there is concern that these key outcomes provided under ‘vision’ (page 15) have been 
extracted directly from the Key Masterplan Drivers set out in the Hammersmith Town 
Centre Masterplan (“the Masterplan) published in 2019. We note the five years that 
have elapsed since its publication which has coincided with a significant change in 
economic and social conditions. This changing picture has only served to highlight 
how Hammersmith town centre is currently struggling and that unfortunately the 2019 
work is no longer up to date. 

Comments noted. No change 
required. 
 
The SPD is a guidance 
document only and should be 
read alongside our Local Plan 
and the London plan in terms of 
policy provision. This is made 
clear in the SPD. 
 
Policy in the Local Plan and 
London Plan in particular on 
employment uses (Policies E1 
and E2) are subject to viability 
considerations and therefore 
responsive to current trends. 
Intensification and alternative 
uses are encouraged where 
these are viable options for the 
centre and conform with policy. 
 
The objectives for the centre 
stem from the Local Plan in 
terms of the provision of jobs 
and home and not necessarily 
the Masterplan although there is 
overlap. The SPD supplements 
the Local Plan and cannot run 
contrary. 
 
The public consultation was 
carried out for 8 weeks and 
residents and stakeholders were 
invited to contribute during this 
period.  This exceeds the 
duration of 4 weeks required for 
an SPD under the Town and 
Country Planning regulations. 
A series of workshops were also 
held to allow participants a 

P
age 153



12 
 

We suggest a logical starting point would be to understand the progress made to date 
regarding these drivers/outcomes since the Masterplan was published in 2019. 
Therefore, a collaborative and creative approach between developers, businesses 
and the Council is urgently required to address these immediate headwinds. We are 
concerned that the current draft SPD doesn’t address this in its current form and is still 
too based on a conventional office driven model for development. There are four key 
points that we would like to highlight as part of our response to LBH&F and draft SPD.  
I. We believe that short and medium-term planning needs to urgently address the 
oversupply of office space in Hammersmith Town Centre, which is compounded by 
weak demand from occupiers. The evidence shows that this is not a short term ‘blip’ 
but is more of a structural change. 
II. We welcome the focus on the town centre, which has suffered with a lack of proper 
investment over the last few years. However, we feel a large number of these projects 
such as the fly-under are not actually deliverable in the short term. 
III. Given the current office position within the Town Centre, we welcome the 
underlying support for the diversification of uses within the Town Centre. However, 
The SPD’s guidance on diversifying existing office buildings to include a wider range 
of alternative uses also requires a more granular approach that accounts for the 
different types of building within the Town Centre.  
IV. We would like to highlight that we don’t think that the consultation process has 
sufficiently engaged with local businesses in the borough with regard to these critical 
long-term initiatives. 

chance to understand the SPD 
and ask questions. 
 
 
 
 

23 26 

Romulus 1. General I. OVERSUPPLY OF OFFICE SPACE NEEDS TO BE URGENTLY ADDRESSED 
Romulus are the largest provider of workspace in Hammersmith town centre and we 
actively managed all our spaces directly. This includes large corporates, mid-sized 
SMEs and small start-ups. I would contend that no-one knows this office market as 
well as our teams and in particular, we can see the scale of change since 2019 which 
to a large extent we feel is irreversible.  
Hammersmith was previously a centre for high quality HQ office buildings. Many of 
the businesses have or are moving out of the Town Centre and there is no evidence 
that they are being replaced by new businesses where Hammersmith will be their HQ. 
Competition has emerged in new locations such as White City, Olympia and 
Battersea. The departure of office occupiers has undoubtedly been accelerated by the 
Pandemic. While transition back towards more normalised in-office working patterns 
albeit not at the previous intensity of a full five-day workweek; a flexible approach to 
working has become the norm.We have highlighted to the Council previously (in 
relation to proposals for Affordable Workspace) that there is an oversupply of 
workspace in the town centre and that rents have been falling. This trend has 
unfortunately continued over the last couple of years. There is currently circa 1.6 
million sq ft of vacant office space in the town centre alone.  
Attached is a CoStar report provided by Frost Meadowcroft that highlights these 
vacancies in full detail. There are 40 buildings with significant vacancy in core 
Hammersmith that total almost 1.2 million sqft. Unfortunately, these numbers 
significantly underestimate the headwinds we face as they don’t include 255 
Hammersmith Road (which L’Oreal have recently vacated) or Griffin House (which 
Liberty Global Media have confirmed they are vacating) which add another c.200,000 
sqft to this total. Additionally, demand (or take-up) for space is also at record low 

Comments noted. No change 
required. 
 
The SPD is a guidance 
document only and should be 
read alongside our Local Plan 
and the London plan in terms of 
policy provision. This is made 
clear in the SPD. 
 
Policy in the Local Plan and 
London Plan in particular on 
employment uses (Policies E1 
and E2) are subject to viability 
considerations and therefore 
responsive to current trends. 
Intensification and alternative 
uses are supported where these 
are viable options for the centre 
and conform with policy. 

 

P
age 154



13 
 

levels in the borough. Historically, this has averaged between 400,000 and 600,000 
sqft per year but last year was under189,000 sqft (based on CoStar data). Given the 
oversupply and low demand, there is a structural pattern of office space vacancy in 
the town centre that will likely last for decades, resulting in fewer jobs, lost economic 
opportunities, dead frontages and a fall in activity in the town centre. These empty 
buildings do not provide an attractive image for the town centre. We acknowledge that 
some of these buildings can be successfully retrofitted but others  
have simply reached the end of their economic lives. Romulus has expertise in 
changing and retrofitting buildings but many owners do not, or are unwilling to take the 
longer term view required to invest and deliver this change. In our view, maintaining 
the current supply of office space is not sustainable. While ensuring adequate future 
provision is important, the promotion of new purpose-built office developments 
throughout the SPD might accelerate the decline in demand for existing more 
outdated stock and accelerate the rising vacancy rates. This assumes that  
the promotion of such floorspace is viable which in our opinion is very challenging at 
present. Given the age of the office stock in Hammersmith town centre, many of the 
offices which the Council would have previously assumed would remain in office use 
will no longer remain so. Therefore, greater flexibility is required for potential 
alternative uses of buildings that do not meet Grade A standards or would struggle to 
meet latest Energy Performance Certificate (EPC) regulations. We note the 
importance of differentiating the conversion of smaller buildings which possess a 
markedly different characteristics to purpose-built office blocks featuring larger 
floorplates which due to their depth are  
more difficult to convert. 
 

24 26 

Romulus 1. General II. THE NEED TO ENCOURAGE TANGIBLE INVESTMENT IN THE TOWN CENTRE 
Recent investment in Hammersmith & Fulham has heavily in White City with the 
developments around the Television Centre and Imperial Campus as well as the 
expansion of offices in Westfield, London. While these are of course positive, they 
have coincided with a lack of investment in the town centre. We are supportive of the 
initiatives referred to in the SPD to improve the town centre, however, are concerned 
that many of these are long-term aspirational goals rather than immediate areas 
where investment can be made or encouraged. The fly-under is a goal we support but 
is not realistically deliverable for the foreseeable future. We would like to encourage 
the council to focus on supporting tangible and short-term investment in the town 
centre to improve the sense of place, public realm, activity and the built environment.  
To achieve this, we wish to see the SPD take on a more strategic approach which 
promotes a diverse range of land uses.  
Hammersmith Town Centre is highly accessible and well connected by various modes 
of public transport and serves as an important gateway to Central London (and 
Heathrow Airport), but also other parts of the Borough to Shepherds Bush and White 
City in the north and Fulham to the south. We feel the SPD currently undersells 
Hammersmith’s Strategic Potential as both an office hub and a key visitor destination.  
Instead, the SPD should look to build upon Hammersmiths many cultural and 
entertainment uses that already exist centred on the ongoing success of the Lyric and 
the Hammersmith Apollo.  
We agree with Key Intervention 1 (page 41) that the Eastern Quarter can 

Comments noted. No change 
required. 
 
We agree. The council is 
actively trying to attract 
investment into the centre and 
planning plays an important role 
in this, which is why the SPD 
has been prepared and why the 
ambitious long-term and short-
term projects and initiatives 
have been identified. The SPD 
will play an important role 
alongside other policies and 
initiatives to help the town centre 
evolve and attract investment. 
On this basis, we consider the 
SPD strikes the right balance on 
investment.  
 
 

P
age 155



14 
 

accommodate new high quality commercial and mixed-use development including 
offices, residential visitor accommodation, leisure and community and residential (if 
appropriate) through  
refurbishment and redevelopment. We recognise the diverse range of residents and 
visitors needs that regenerating this area will cater for. 
It is clear that Improvements to the functionality and attractiveness of Hammersmith 
as an established visitor destination will be underpinned by the provision of modern 
visitor accommodation which also typically includes high quality restaurant and bar 
spaces serving as attractions in their own right not just for residents. We would urge 
the Council to take grater steps in realising the wider economic benefits of 
Hammersmith as a visitor destination through the SPD.  

25 26 

Romulus 1. General III. THE NEED TO DIVERSIFY USES WITHIN THE TOWN CENTRE 
The role diversifying uses plays in securing Hammersmith as a strategic office 
location is critical and in our opinion is overlooked within the draft SPD. We encourage 
the SPD to recognise the evolving demand for office uses to be complemented by a 
wider range of facilities and amenities including restaurants, leisure, gyms and hotels. 
The SPD should go further in promoting alternative uses by recognising that  
Government interventions and legislation are evolving to enable increased flexibility. 
Notably, alterations to the Use Classes Order in 2020 have brought about more 
flexibility for business, commercial and service uses, especially in smaller premises, 
and the recent amendments to the General Permitted Development Order (“GPDO”) 
which presents new opportunities for the use of Class MA ‘PD rights’ to convert from  
commercial use (Class E) to residential (Class C3) without the need for planning 
permission. The draft SPD does not include any reference to permitted development 
rights and specifically changes to class MA of the GDPO, and it is appreciated that the 
rules could change numerous times over the next decade. However, PD rights provide 
more responsibility to building owners and developers by taking a market approach to  
individual buildings in considering whether residential use is more optimal for the 
building. We consider that some recognition of these changes could be added to the 
SPD, as it allows a more fluid approach to planning within Hammersmith (and wider 
LBHF) which could stifle development opportunities. Critical to sustaining both offices 
and mixed-use developments is the provision of visitor accommodation, which serves 
an integral role to both office space and associated amenities, as well as 
Hammersmith as a cultural destination and evening  
economy. Our experience is that hotel demand is very specific to location and 
building.The SPD lacks clarity regarding the precise nature of visitor accommodation 
being proposed, particularly whether it comprises a traditional hotel or apart-hotel 
model as well as the quality/ price point of this accommodation. With this in mind, 
generalised references to ‘hotel uses’ throughout the SPD fail to differentiate the types 
of visitor accommodation and account for the different needs they serve. To avoid 
stifling the delivery of other associated development which falls more widely within 
‘Visitor accommodation’, we recommend revising references from ‘Hotel uses’ to 
‘visitor accommodation’ to allow greater flexibility and reflect a broader range of 
accommodation like apart-hotels and serviced accommodation which offer benefits  
beyond those associated with traditional hotels. We note this amendment would also 
align with wording set out under Policy E10 (Visitor Infrastructure) of the London Plan 
(2021) which advocates a more inclusive approach towards visitor accommodation.  

Comments noted. 
 
Agree to changing the wording 
from hotel uses in the SPD to 
visitor accommodation.  
 
Proposed change: 
 
Pages 16 and 56 multiple 
references – change “hotel” to 
“visitor accommodation” 

P
age 156



15 
 

26 26 

Romulus 1. General IV. LIMITED CONSULTATION PROCESS WITH LOCAL BUSINESSES 
We welcome the Council’s preparation of the Hammersmith Town Centre SPD. We 
recognise the significance of the SPD as a material consideration in planning 
decisions and guiding future development. To maximise the effectiveness of the SPD 
in being responsive to the evolving dynamics of the post-pandemic world, it needs to 
provide an accurate snapshot in time, centring around a vision that aligns with the 
current challenges and opportunities facing Hammersmith Town Centre. It also needs 
to engage thoroughly with major long-term landowners such as Romulus. However, 
we would also like to highlight that we are disappointed with how this consultation has 
been carried out with local businesses, and would note that poor consultation is an 
ongoing issue with LBH&F we have frequently raised. This frustration has been 
shared by other local businesses who we work with. Romulus were invited to a 
presentation less than 24 hours before the meeting. There  
were no planning officers or senior members of the Council’s team present at the 
meeting. There was then only 1 week to respond to the consultation. We are a long 
term investor in the borough and want to work with the Council to support local 
economic development and growth.In summary, we believe that a proactive and 
collaborative approach needs to be urgently adopted by the Council, developers, 
landlords and local businesses to address the headwinds faced in Hammersmith town 
centre today. We would like to be involved in this process which needs to consider: 
- Higher prioritization for alternative uses where appropriate. 
- Improvements in terms of placemaking and public realm. 
- Closer engagement with local landowners/developers and businesses  
themselves. 

Comments noted. No change 
required.  
 
The public consultation was 
carried out for 8 weeks and 
residents and stakeholders were 
invited to contribute during this 
period.  This exceeds the 
duration of 4 weeks required for 
an SPD under the Town and 
Country Planning regulations. 
 
A series of workshops were also 
held to allow participants a 
chance to understand the SPD 
and ask questions.  This 
included a session with key 
businesses from the 
Hammersmith BID attended by 
officers virtually. 
 
Ahead of the consultation, 
officers also held a discussion 
with your planning agents to 
discuss the SPD in detail for 
several of their clients. 
 
We have contact details for you 
on our database and 
consultation material was sent 
out at the beginning of the 
consultation. If you did not 
receive correspondence from 
us, then we will need to make 
sure we have up to date details 
for you.   
 

27 27 

TFL Places 
for London  

1. General Places for London ('Places') is pleased to provide its views on the Council's draft 
Hammersmith Town Centre SPD. Please note that the views expressed in this letter 
are those of Places in its capacity as a significant landowner and developer only, and 
do not form part of the Transport for London (Tfl) corporate/ statutory response. Our 
colleagues in TfL Spatial Planning have provided a separate response to this 
consultation in respect of TfL-wide operational and land use planning/ transport policy 
matters as part of their statutory duties. 
 
Places for London 
 

Support welcomed. No 
change required. 
 
We appreciate the update on 
funding for TfL assets in 
Hammersmith Town Centre. We 
will continue to work with 
yourselves and other owners 
and stakeholders on the long-
term aspirations within the SPD. 

P
age 157



16 
 

Places is TfL's new and financially independent property company, formerly known as 
TTL Properties. We provide space for over 1,500 businesses in TfL stations and 
railway arches, as well as on London's high streets. We are working to develop TfL's 
surplus and under-used land to deliver new homes and jobs in highly sustainable 
locations, and to create excellent places to 
live, work and play which are sensitive to local needs and communities, and which are 
accessible to all. 
 
Draft Hammersmith Town Centre SPD 
 
We support the general vision for Hammersmith, the restoration of its town centre 
heart, and, particularly the ambition to deliver a significant number of new homes and 
jobs. 
 
Our principal interest lies in the Hammersmith Broadway Key Site on page 32. This is 
partly located above the underground station and the freehold is owned by London 
Underground Limited (LUL). I enclose a map showing TfL and related interests at and 
around the site. Your aspirations are for comprehensive redevelopment, including a 
new, enhanced public transport interchange, public realm improvements, additional 
retail and office space, and the introduction of housing development. We support this 
in principle. However, our colleagues in Tfl Spatial Planning have advised that there is 
no funding within the Tfl Business Plan to upgrade Hammersmith Broadway station, 
nor is this something that Tfl is currently investigating. Places would be happy to 
engage with the Council to find out more and better understand your aspirations, and 
how they might be delivered. We would suggest that this should also involve other 
owners, including long leaseholders on the site and Tfl / LUL. 

28 28 

Ingka 
Centres 

1. General 2.3 Section 7 of the NPPF sets out planning considerations for the vitality of town 
centres. In order  for town centres to achieve long term vitality and viability, planning 
policies should allow them  to grow and diversify in a way that can respond to rapid 
changes in the industries. 
2.4 The SPD supports the continued growth of Hammersmith Town Centre and 
recognises Livat Centre as a significant shopping destination where new and varied 
retail uses are encouraged. 
2.5 A diverse mix of uses is encouraged throughout the Regeneration Area and at 
Livat which in turn supports the vitality and viability of Hammersmith. 
2.6 Town centre environments are dynamic, and Ingka are constantly keeping under 
review investment opportunities at Livat with the aim of improving the vitality and 
viability of the area. 
2.7 Ingka supports the proposals to improve and enliven Lyric Square through the 
introduction of different uses and events which is recognised as having the potential to 
boost the attractiveness of the area and the strength of its evening economy. 
2.8 Overall, Ingka support the encouragement of diversification to increase the 
attractiveness and offer of Hammersmith. The SPD allows for Livat to respond to 
changes and demands in town centres. 
2.9 The key role of Livat within King Street is recognised within the SPD. Livat is in 
effect a functional and physical extension of King Street and is a significant shopping 
destination in the area.  

Support welcomed and 
comments noted. 
 
The SPD is supportive of visitor 
accommodation in the town 
centre and the appropriateness 
of sites will be considered 
against Local Plan policies. 
 
We note that the internal mall at 
Livat provides linkages through 
and we acknowledge that this 
requires management and 
control for security and safety 
reasons, especially overnight. 
 
Proposed Change: 
 
Page 29, intervention 6 add: 
 

P
age 158



17 
 

2.10 Ingka support the maintenance of King Street as the key retail spine within 
Hammersmith along with Livat and while other retail uses may be supported within the 
Town Centre area, they should complement the retail offer along King Street rather 
than compete with it. 
2.11 Pedestrianisation improvements and highway downgrading of King Street is 
supported to create a more attractive pedestrian environment, albeit this needs to be 
managed and not inhibit/undermine existing businesses who need access via King 
Street (See Section 3). 
2.12 The SPD recognises that engagement with key stakeholders such as Ingka and 
the tenants of Livat will be necessary before the works to King Street progress and 
any changes to operation are proposed.  
2.13 Ingka support the SPD’s recognition of the importance of tourism, the visitor 
economy, and visitor accommodation being accelerated in Hammersmith given the 
benefits of a diverse range of visitors to the area. The SPD should encourage the 
potential to increase the capacity of this where appropriate. 
2.14 Ingka supports the SPDs work to improve the connectivity and accessibility and 
the proposals to improve high quality pedestrian and cycle routes across the town 
centre. Specifically, Ingka support improved connectivity and accessibility from 
Hammersmith tube station, Lyric Square and Livat Hammersmith to create a smoother 
journey. Although improvements must not impede or be at the expense of essential 
operations. 
2.15 It is recognised that Livat plays a key role in providing connectivity and 
permeability via publicly accessible links through large sites and between quarters. 
However, it should be noted that the internal mall at Livat which provides this 
permeability requires management and control for security and safety reasons, 
especially overnight. 
3.9 The SPD should recognise and offer support, to Hammersmith Town Centre being 
an appropriate location for hotel accommodation for both tourists and businesses.  
4.2 The SPD refers to NPPF version 2021. The NPPF was however updated in 
December 2023, and clarification is therefore required. 
4.3 The Map setting out the Spatial Framework is not readable due to the multiple 
layers provided and issues caused by separate areas of the Map not joining together 
correctly.  

“Creating a network of links 
between public spaces and 
places of interest, to include a 
new enlivened pedestrian route 
between Lyric Square and the 
Apollo including the Livat 
Centre.” 
 
Agree, we will update the 
reference to the NPPF to the 
2023 version. 
 
Proposed change: 
 
Page 11, first para amend as 
follows: 
 
“At the national policy level, the 
National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) 2021 2023 
acts as the over-arching policy 
context for this SPD” 
 
Agree, we will make 
improvements to the readability 
of the Spatial Framework Map.  
 
 

29 29 

Hammersmit
h BID 

1. General The introduction of the SPD is a welcome formalisation of the work done some time 
ago by Grimshaw Architects, supported by the Hammersmith Residents Working 
Group, on the Hammersmith Masterplan, and subsequent work by Allies and Morrison 
on the King Street area. The SPD is aspirational; it cannot change or add to policies 
set down in the current Local Plan.  However it will be a material consideration when 
applications are considered, so will have influence on outcomes, without specific 
controls. It has two main components: 
1. To inform and support the development control process 
2. To set out public works proposals that are within the remit of LBHF itself, GLA TfL, 
etc. 
The development control aspects of the SPD address aspects of future development 
that enhance the Town Centre experience of workers, residents and visitors, and 
include qualities such as connectivity, biodiversity, air quality, carbon neutrality, etc. 
The emphasis is on guidance; there are few prescriptive measures to be found in the 

Comments noted. No change 
required.  
 
We appreciate the BID taking 
the time to read and comment 
on this SPD and the explanation 
and clarity in your response.  
 
The SPD provides indicative 
guidance in relation to tall 
buildings. This suggests 
locations which may be suitable 
for large/tall buildings, indicative 
development parameters and 

P
age 159



18 
 

document. For example, the guidance on building heights is vague, giving ranges of 
10 storeys as possible on sites.  There are curiosities, such as the difference in 
heights suggested north and south of the Talgarth Road. Successful delivery of the 
LBHF vision via development is considered best dependent on cooperation by 
landowners/developers to enable comprehensive development of sites in multiple 
ownership. While clearly wise, and potentially beneficial to all, this hope may be 
difficult to implement. LBHF will need to engage better with large local businesses, if 
the hope is for them to support with capital projects. The public works aspects of the 
SPD will be of major interest to existing local businesses as well 
as potential incomers. Local businesses disagree with the claim that they were 
engaged in the development of the SPD. Major businesses believe that the quality of 
the Town Centre offer in Hammersmith falls behind that of competing centres. Thus, a 
profound interest in the quality and timing of the proposed public works programme. 

key views for consideration. 
Planning applications for tall 
buildings will be assessed 
against the London Plan and 
Local Plan policies, with 
particular focus on townscape, 
heritage, and other design 
considerations. 
 
The public consultation was 
carried out for 8 weeks and 
residents and stakeholders were 
invited to contribute during this 
period.  This exceeds the 
duration of 4 weeks required for 
an SPD under the Town and 
Country Planning regulations. 
 
A series of workshops were also 
held to allow participants a 
chance to understand the SPD 
and ask questions. 
 

30 30 

Marks and 
Spencer and 
Reef Group 

1. General Our clients support the preparation of this SPD which provides a strategic overview of 
the Council’s proposals for the regeneration of Hammersmith Town Centre and their 
delivery objectives. At Page 4 of the SPD the Council have identified threats and 
weaknesses to the Town Centre which include the decline in traditional high street 
retail stores. Our client’s proposals for the  Site are specifically designed to combat 
this issue by creating a new and improved high quality and adaptable retail store for 
M+S, enabling them to commit to their long-term presence within the Town Centre in a 
brand defining new store. Any scheme that helps facilitate the retention of this 
nationally important retailer in the Town Centre should be welcomed in principle and 
will be a key benefit of the proposals.                                                                                     
In summary, where identified above our clients are requesting changes are made to 
the SPD wording and content to ensure that it adequately addresses considerations 
relating to their proposed development of the Site and reflects wider considerations 
including Development Plan policies related to student housing. They would be happy 
to discuss their comments further with the team preparing the SPD to ensure they can 
be suitably addressed in the next version of the document.  

Comments noted. No change 
required.  
 
The SPD is unable to include 
specific considerations for 
unallocated sites in the borough. 
Site allocations would need to 
be made through the Local Plan 
process.  

31 32 

Inclusive 
Design 
Review 
Panel  

1. General IDRP welcome the draft Hammersmith SPD as an opportunity to embed current 
council policies on accessible and inclusive design in Hammersmith town centre. The 
IDRP was established to ensure accessible and inclusive design is embedded in 
planning policy and development proposals for approval. IDRP members have lived 
experience of barriers faced by disabled residents in Hammersmith when using 
buildings, transport and the street environment.  
 
Hammersmith & Fulham Council’s vision is to be the most accessible and inclusive 

We welcome and your 
comments and really appreciate 
the clarity and explanation you 
have given on barriers facing 
disabled people in 
Hammersmith Town Centre 
which are understood and 
acknowledged.  

P
age 160



19 
 

borough in the country. 
 
Hammersmith town centre is a key contributor to the economy of west London, 
representing one of west London’s most important commercial centres as well as the 
primary retail destination for many of the borough’s residents. It is also an important 
centre for arts, entertainment and public administration. The purpose of the SPD is to 
deliver a step change in achieving an accessible and inclusive physical and built 
environment in Hammersmith, including transforming the public realm and transport 
network as well as redevelopment and refurbishment of buildings throughout the area. 
 
The next Local Plan will be the opportunity to embed being ruthlessly inclusive as well 
as being the most accessible and inclusive council in the country. In summary, it will 
mean the council will not approve planning applications unless the applicant and their 
inclusive access consultant are ruthlessly inclusive in providing accessible and 
inclusive designs with compliant drawings.  Being ruthlessly inclusive will also mean 
everyone has a responsibility to think, write and act inclusively without exception. 
 
IDRP recommend: 
 
• a vision of an accessible and inclusive Hammersmith is embedded throughout the 
document. This includes not just accessible and inclusive design but also accessible 
and inclusive management. The outcome will be accessible and inclusive design as 
well as inclusive management in the DNA of everyone with responsibility for designing 
and managing facilities in Hammersmith town centre. 
 
• Upgrading Hammersmith Broadway transport hub and facilities to be accessible and 
inclusive as well as welcoming place similar to the Livat Centre. 
• Updating Weaknesses to include barriers faced by disabled people and 
Opportunities to create equitable access for everyone including disabled people. 
• Including information on the barriers faced by disabled people in Hammersmith town 
centre together with possible mitigations. 
• Replacing “liveable” with statements such as ‘positive experience for all, including 
disabled people’ because “liveable” means different things to different people.  
• language to be comprehensive as well as accessible and inclusive e.g. p 58 para E 
Active and Accessible Places: where we need inclusive external as well as inclusive 
internal environments. 
• PowerPoint presentations to IDRP need to be in an accessible and inclusive format 
for panel members. 
• Spatial planning policy team bring future draft SPDs to IDRP at an earlier stage to 
ensure documents are co-produced with disabled residents. 
 
Barriers faced by disabled residents using facilities in Hammersmith town centre 
include:  
Hammersmith Broadway transport hub: 
• passengers from White City face bottlenecks created getting beyond Hammersmith 
towards the 2 hospitals at Charing Cross and Chelsea & Westminster which 
frequently means changing buses from the lower part of the bus station then travelling 

 
Agree to add Accessible and 
Inclusive design to the vision as 
follows: 
 
Proposed change: 
 
New entries bullet list on page 
15 – Vision. See rep 56 for 
details and as follows: 
 

• Accessible and 
Inclusive town centre 
that provides a positive 
experience for all. 

 
Agree to add to the weaknesses 
the barriers facing disabled 
people and the opportunities – 
See rep 51 for details 
 
Acknowledge the use of liveable 
in the objectives section on page 
17 is objective but we are 
content with its use in this 
context. Clarification on it being 
a positive experience for all is 
followed up in this paragraph 
already.  
 
Agree to make sure PowerPoint 
presentations are in an 
accessible and inclusive format.   

P
age 161



20 
 

upstairs by lift or escalator to catch the next bus to travel southwards. The same 
works in reverse south to north. Journeys from White City to Chelsea and 
Westminster hospitals can exceed an hour and a half.  
• Access to the upper floor of the bus station often suffers from old broken lifts and the 
escalators near Tesco are frequently under repair in one direction or another. These 
lifts/ escalators have been like this for over 5 years.  
• Poor wayfinding from District and Piccadilly lines and limited access to bus station 
for onward travel means it does not feel accessible and inclusive or welcoming. This is 
an important issue for Hammersmith and Fulham Council welcoming visitors to their 
flagship accessible and inclusive Civic Campus. 
• Loud music and announcements off putting to autistic and neurodiverse people 
• Walking across Lyric square is scary in winter particularly if there is any ice on the 
slope. This is an example of aesthetics trumping accessible and inclusive design. 
 
Impatient passengers pushing past  
Recently a disabled resident was trying to negotiate this at the bus station when an 
impatient person barged past, kicking the walking stick and knocking the disabled 
person off balance. The disabled person did not fall because another passenger 
grabbed the arm. 
 
Buses not pulling up properly along kerbs at bus stops. 
People have to either step over a massive gap to reach the pavement / bus stop or 
have to step down a large height onto the road before stepping back up onto the 
pavement. This happens on 90% of journeys.  
 
We recommend that bus drivers take pride in pulling up properly along kerbs at bus 
stops whatever the traffic conditions.  It is too easy to think it is good enough when it 
has a massive impact on people particularly disabled or visually impaired people 
getting on or off the bus. 
 
The multi- storey car park at Livat Centre has free parking for blue badge holders. 
 
The car park does not have an easy process for free parking for blue badge holders. 
 
The current process for free parking requires disabled people to walk further and/or 
get in and out of their car more than necessary by requiring them to speak to a 
security person at the exit barrier.  It is difficult to find and reach to press the small 
button on the intercom to call for attention at the exit barrier.  There is no information 
available about the process near blue badge parking bays and by the payment 
machines. Simple improvements like posters and information on the website could 
make a huge difference. 
 
Dedicated cycle lane on King Street. 
This cycle lane created barriers for disabled and visually impaired residents without 
any mitigations. Some cyclists do not always use the cycle lane provided for their 
benefit.  

P
age 162



21 
 

32 33 

TfL Spatial 
Planning  

1. General Thank you for consulting Transport for London (TfL) on the January 2024 draft of the 
above-named SPD. The following response has been prepared by officers in TfL 
Spatial Planning reflecting TfL’s statutory role as the strategic transport authority. It is 
separate from any response submitted by Places for London in their capacity as a 
landowner and potential developer. The designation of Hammersmith as a major town 
centre in the London Plan is noted; alongside the high level of access to public 
transport. Therefore, in strategic transport terms the area is suitable for the promotion 
of growth of jobs and homes in line with the Good Growth objectives as set out in 
London Plan, specifically GG2 Making the best use of land; subject to the necessary 
detailed transport modelling and transport interventions needed to support the delivery 
homes and jobs. With the exception of the detailed matters discussed below (namely 
removal of the A4 flyover, reconfiguration of the gyratory, and making the A4 less of a 
barrier; as a cycle route with lower speeds and more surface level crossings), the 
general transport aspirations of the draft SPD are supported and align with strategic 
transport policies. The high-level vision to deliver new public realm, more space for 
pedestrians and enhanced active travel facilities for example, accord with the London 
Plan and Mayor’s Transport Strategy. To further support delivery of these objectives, 
TfL recommends reference to Healthy Streets and Vision Zero within the SPD. 
 
As part of the proposed regeneration and public realm enhancements TfL 
recommends that the SPD makes reference to the inclusion of public cycle parking 
including spaces for e-cargo bikes. Alongside this, the delivery or enhancement of 
inclusive wayfinding to serve the Town Centre should be referenced. There is a 
noticeable lack of diversity, equity and inclusion aspiration within the plan an element 
which is mainstay within such a document. The acknowledgement that those with 
protected characteristics have a range of needs, which should be designed into any 
space as a priority, and experience spaces differently has not been noted and should 
be incorporated into any future iteration. Design guidance such as GLA’s Safety in 
Public Spaces: Women, Girls and Diverse People should be adopted and promoted 
as best practise. In addition, a key element within the delivery of a vibrant town centre 
environment and successful night-time economy, as set out in the draft SPD, is the 
inclusion of women and girls in the design process and ensuring they feel safe when 
moving around at all times of day and night, in line with the Mayor’s strategy to 
eliminate Violence Against Women and Girls (VAWG). To this end, TfL recommends 
that reference is made to the Mayor’s VAWG strategy within  
the SPD and that it highlights the need for inclusion of women and girls at consultation 
and design stages, and use of tools such as night-time active travel zone 
assessments to identify where interventions are needed. 

Support welcomed. 
Comments noted. 
 
 
Agree to add reference to 
inclusive wayfinding as follows: 
 
Proposed change: 
 
Page 49, third para add: 
 
“Renewing the public realm and 
streets to improve air quality and 
provide more comfortable, 
greener routes to promote 
walking and cycling will be a 
priority and inclusive 
wayfinding”. 
 
 
Agree to add reference to the 
GLA’s Safety in public spaces: 
Women, Girls and Diverse 
people Design guidance and 
reference to the Mayor’s 
Strategy to eliminate Violence 
Against Women and Girls as 
follows: 
 
Page 60, 5th para add: 
 
“Development proposals should 
seek to contribute towards 
improved wayfinding and 
legibility across the public realm 
of Hammersmith town centre, 
considering the range of needs 
which should be designed into 
spaces – see also GLA’s Safety 
in Public Spaces: Women, Girls 
and Diverse People and the 
Mayor’s strategy to eliminate 
Violence Against Women and 
Girls (VAWG).  
 

33 34 
Royal 
London 

1. General Our Client welcomes the objectives of the SPD to focus on transforming the public 
realm and transport network as well as the redevelopment and refurbishment of 

Support welcomed. No 
change required.  

P
age 163



22 
 

Asset 
Management 

buildings throughout the area.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

34 35 

FORE 
Jersey VIII 
Limited  

1. General On behalf of our client, ‘FORE Jersey VIII Limited’ we write in response to the draft 
‘Hammersmith  Town Centre SPD (Consultation Version), 2024’ which, having had 
the opportunity to review, would  like to provide comments and observations. We set 
these out on their behalf, below. 
 
255 Hammersmith Road is approximately 0.22 ha in size and is located at the junction 
of Hammersmith  and Butterwick, in Hammersmith Town Centre. The Site is bound to 
the north by Hammersmith Road  (A315); to the east by an office building (plus an 
undercroft service yard and raised public realm); to  the south by a further office 
building; and to the west by Butterwick Road (part of the Hammersmith  Gyratory). 
The existing building comprises 10 storeys; ground and eight upper storeys, plus a 
plant enclosure.  The building up until September 2023 was occupied by L’Oreal 
Services as their UK headquarters.  L’Oreal’s relocation to the White City towards the 
end of last year (2023) facilitated the early  acquisition of the Site by my client in 2017, 
providing the opportunity for them to consider  opportunities for the redevelopment of 
the Site.  
 
In November 2023, a planning application was submitted to LBHF for the 
comprehensive retrofit,  refurbishment and extension of the existing building to 
provide a two-storey rooftop extension and  retrofit of the new façade. The application 
- which retains the original and principal land use as office floorspace (including  
intensification and upgrading the quality of floorspace), plus the provision of a ground 
floor activating  ‘Urban Village Hall’ - is currently pending determination (application 
reference 2023/03134/FUL). 
 
Comments and Observations 
Having had the opportunity to review the draft SPD, my client would like to offer their 
support of the  preparation of the document which seeks to provide a strategic 
overview of the Council’s proposals  for the regeneration of Hammersmith Town 
Centre and their delivery objectives; noting the Council’s  recognition of the 
opportunities and growing interest by developers towards the heart of  Hammersmith 
and how this can be both accommodated and supported. In terms of the document 
itself, page 7 of the SPD identifies a number of opportunities within the Town Centre, 
including “mixed use development opportunities to deliver new homes and jobs, 
including affordable homes”. Pages 15 to 17 go further to substantiate this by 
indicating that the key outcomes are to provide 2,800 new homes; deliver 10,000 new 
jobs (including new affordable and flexible workspace); replace the Hammersmith 
flyover; provide a green and healthy town centre; and contribute towards the delivery 

Comments noted. Support 
welcomed.  
 
No change required.  

P
age 164



23 
 

of net zero carbon buildings. Page 8 identifies 255 Hammersmith Road (alongside 
buildings to the west, south and south east) as a “other key opportunity” which is then 
subsequently identified on page 26 as falling within the ‘Eastern Quarter’.  
 
Pages 39 to 42 consider the future vision of this quarter to be one which will be 
“transformed to realise opportunities to provide large floorplates and flexible 
developments to strengthen its focus as a major employment and visitor hub” and “will 
provide high quality office accommodation and new homes  which will improve the 
local townscape, create a strong synergy with the town centre and strengthen  
identity”. 

35 36 

The 
Hammersmit
h Society 

1. General Summary: This long awaited SDP for Hammersmith Town Centre is a welcome first 
draft which requires revision and refinement to achieve the objective to realise, and 
not repeat, the aspirations and vision of the Local Plan.  
 
The SDP presentation should captivate and inform both commercial and public 
interests: present a logical narrative, illustrated by legible, annotated purposeful 
diagrams, avoid repetition, avoid aspirational statements. Champion clarity and 
brevity.  
 
  
 
1 Background  
 
1.1 Intent: The SPD should provide guidance to support the policies of the LBHF 
Local Plan. To fulfil this intent, the SPD should show how the policies of the Local 
Plan could be implemented, effectively setting out a planning brief for the town centre.  
 
Existing Local Plan policies and aspirations for the town centre include:  
 
HRA1: setting out the initial brief for what has become the Civic Campus  
 
HRA2: endorsing the flyunder and associated development and replanning the traffic 
interchange at the Broadway.  
 
Identification of a wide range of opportunities including:  
 
  Optimising heritage assets  
 
  Improving pedestrian and cycle infrastructure  
 
  Improving links to the river  
 
  Raising the quality and range of shops, services and leisure facilities  
 
  Facilitating new jobs  
 
  General upgrading of the urban environment with new public spaces and public 

Comments noted. No change 
required. 
 
We appreciate you taking the 
time to read and make 
comments on the SPD. 
 
The SPD is a planning guidance 
document only and should be 
read alongside our Local Plan 
and the London plan in terms of 
policy provision. Many of the 
aspirations contained within the 
SPD are long term and subject 
to further work with key 
stakeholders and it is therefore 
not possible to provide a 
definitive practical and 
procedural guide for the centre.  
 
The SPD does contain useful 
guidance to help commerce and 
development understand the 
opportunities within the centre.    

P
age 165



24 
 

realm   renewal  
 
  Improving and optimising St Paul’s Green  
 
  
 
The draft SPD restates these and many other Local Plan aspirations for the future of 
the town centre, and fails to describe the next steps to provide the practical and 
procedural guidance to map out a way forward - and motivate and inspire commerce 
and development to advance the directives of the local Plan. 

36 36 

The 
Hammersmit
h Society 

1. General  Cover picture (repeated on p14): this is the most informative image of the document, 
describing the potential future town centre, but needs commentary and notation to 
explain the proposals shown.  

Comments noted. The Cover 
page is illustrative only and is 
intended to provide an 
illustrative example as to how 
the guidance of the SPD when 
taken as a whole could be 
delivered.   
 
No change required. 

37 37 

Matt Hedges  1. General I consider there to be some fundamental issues with the proposed Supplementary 
Planning Document: 
The document contains a number of headline projects that are being used to make 
the proposals more attractive, however: 
Flyunder (HRA2 Strategic Site A (p.30-31): this is a project that I have detailed 
knowledge of having been involved in the design from 2006. This project has faltered 
for a number of reasons, but primarily the cost of undertaking the work vs. the 
potential gain from the resulting developments. This has led to a shortfall in funding 
the project. 
Since the proposals were put forward there have been profound changes including: 
· The Climate Emergency: this has led to a drive towards reducing rather than 
enabling traffic. Furthermore the project would contain a huge amount of embodied 
energy and carbon footprint due to the amount of concrete required. How would this 
be justified within the sustainable policies? 
· The type of traffic has also changed: one justification for sinking the road was to 
manage and reduce pollution at ground level, however with the move to 
predominantly electric vehicles, this benefit has significantly reduced. 
· Covid has reduced the amount of money TFL has available to fund such a large 
project.It is therefore unlikely the Flyunder project will proceed in the short to medium 
term. Whilst it is critical to plan for the moment when the current flyover repairs reach 
the end of their design life, which was estimated as about 50 years, it is also 
necessary to plan the centre of Hammersmith with the genuine probability the 
Flyunder scheme will not be realised. 
Hammersmith Highline (King Street Key Intervention 2 (p.35)): this is another project 
that I was involved in the inception of. This was the subject of a public competition, 
however it was never the subject of a detailed scoping exercise to ascertain its 
feasibility. 
Furthermore, although there was some initial interest expressed by the previous 

Comments noted. 
 
We appreciate you taking the 
time to read and make 
comments on the SPD. 
 
The detail and explanation you 
have provided on the flyunder is 
clear and understood. The 
current cost of the project is 
significant and requires further 
discussion with key 
stakeholders, including central 
government, to help resolve. 
The project therefore remains as 
a ‘long-term ambition’ with no 
specific timetable for delivery. 
 
The SPD provides indicative 
guidance in relation to tall 
buildings. This suggests 
locations which may be suitable 
for large/tall buildings, indicative 
development parameters and 
key views for consideration. 
Planning applications for tall 
buildings will be assessed 
against the London Plan and 

P
age 166



25 
 

owners of King’s Mall immediately prior to the sale, there has not been any interest 
expressed by either the current owners of the King’s Mall (Ikea) or TFL, who own the 
viaduct. I can only express doubt over the likelihood this is a serious proposal. 
The ‘Urban Boulevard’ (Hammersmith Broadway Key Intervention 1 (p.29): this 
proposal with the image of a shared space similar to Exhibition Road has to be hugely 
dependant on the construction of the Flyunder to drastically reduce the volume of 
traffic passing through this space. 
The pedestrianisation of King Street (King Street Key Intervention 4 (p.35)): is again 
hugely dependent on the drastic reduction in the volume of traffic to enable it. LBHF 
need to be able to demonstrate where the local traffic will be routed to avoid King 
Street. No proposals have been submitted to justify this. It was noted in the meeting 
the transport schemes above were dependant on LBHF/TFL undertaking traffic 
modelling studies. The big question is: what happens if the traffic modelling states that 
either the proposals are not feasible, or are entirely dependant on the construction of 
the Flyunder (which in itself is not feasible in the short to medium term)? 
It was noted in the meeting LBHF are seeking funding for the more comprehensive 
project including the Flyunder. However it was accepted that this was less likely to 
secure funding in the short to medium term if at all. It was noted seeking this funding 
was being undertaken over that of getting funding for a scaled back scheme that 
attempted to achieve most of the improvements to the public realm minus the 
Flyunder. Not seeking funding for the scaled back project (which by its nature is more 
likely to receive funding) was justified by saying getting this funding would 
prohibit/undermine the likelihood of getting funding for the Flyunder scheme, and 
LBHF are aiming high. There appears to be a serious risk that developers will benefit 
from the green light to build the tall buildings etc., whilst the result of the traffic studies 
and the lack of funding for the Flyunder will mean the accompanying improvements to 
the public realm will not happen to balance them. 
Tall Buildings: 
The location of any tall buildings in the heart of Hammersmith is going to have a huge 
impact on the local character, as tall buildings appearance on the skyline is visible 
from a great distance. The tall buildings in the White City Regeneration Area can be 
seen from Barnes on the south side of the river! The size and location of the tall 
buildings needs to decided with particular sensitivity. The location of several of the 
tallest buildings in the gradient map have already been decided. However we need to 
ensure that not only are the heights of new tall buildings located carefully, but their 
necessity is justified. The workplace has changed considerable since Covid and we 
need to balance the need to promote Hammersmith as a business centre, with current 
working practices. There also needs to be a greater emphasis on balancing the loss of 
amenity suffered from the imposition of tall buildings, with public/community gain from 
improved public amenities and housing; and by this I mean truly affordable 
housing.We also need to ensure that provision is included to try wherever possible 
(and it should be possible), to ensure their location is not on the perimeter of the 
Regeneration Area where they will give rise to leakage, where like 227 Wood Lane, 
the adjacent 30 storey building at Imperial College has been used to justify the tall 
building outside of the Regeneration Area. There is a necessity for there to be a buffer 
zone to the perimeter of the area accommodating tall buildings to prevent this. This 
control needs to be set out clearly objectively in policy. 

Local Plan policies, with 
particular focus on townscape, 
heritage, and other design 
considerations. 
 

P
age 167



26 
 

38 38 

Dave Hinton 
(former SBD 
officer) 

1. General Sadly, looked for references to the Secured by Design standards (SPD) including the 
Crime Prevention through Environmental Design (CPTED), not there. To design public 
realm without thought to physical security, fear of crime and counter terrorism is 
frankly criminal.  
 
Remembering that Secured by Design and public space security and management 
are legal responsibilities it is very telling that the council, seem to have forgotten them 
as key themes. I would suggest that the fear of crime and crime are perhaps the 
biggest influencers with regard to the use of public spaces. Particularly night time 
economy. Full SPD compliance is and should be highlighted to developers and 
architects as a borough planning condition.  

Comments noted.  
 
We appreciate you taking the 
time to read and comment on 
the SPD, bringing your 
knowledge of Secured by 
Design.  
 
Agree, reference to Secure by 
design will be added.  
 
Proposed Change: 
 
Page 60, 5th para add:  
 
“Consideration should also be 
given to secured by design 
standards – see Secured by 
design SBD and Crime 
Prevention through 
Environmental Design (CPTED)” 
 
The SPD is a planning guidance 
document only and should be 
read alongside our Local Plan 
and the London plan in terms of 
policy provision, together with 
other SPDs. 
 
Planning conditions for secure 
by design would be a necessary 
part of any relevant application 
in the town centre.  
 

39 38 

Dave Hinton 
(former SBD 
officer) 

1. General Hammersmith Borough is known as the gateway to London and is approximately 6 
square miles in size: Movement around and through the borough has always been 
limited due to the physical impact of the river, canal, various rail lines and the A4/A40 
major roads.   
 
Unfortunately, as result of this certain ‘choke’ points have arisen, ironically efforts by 
the council have removed many of the local resident ‘cut throughs’ to avoid the major 
through traffic hubs, causing more pollution as additional vehicles remain static within 
the resulting traffic at these hubs. It is quite possible in a vehicle to take more than an 
hour or two to move north to south in the borough.   
 
It should be noted that planning must reflect both local movement around the borough 
and none local movement through it. Access and movement obviously being critical to 

Comments noted. 
 
Further references to 
accessibility are to be inserted 
into the SPD. See reps 31, 32, 
51, 52 for details.   

P
age 168



27 
 

both visitors, residents, and business. Increasingly movement through/into the 
borough has been limited by council traffic management and the closure of 
Hammersmith Bridge.   
 
It also needs to be remembered that many of the people working within the borough, 
have no choice but to commute. This is of particular concern for the emergency 
services and late-night service personnel who work unusual hours and cannot rely on 
public transport.   
 
The town centres also must be accessible for those who are less able bodied than the 
few ‘cycle riders . There are a large band of people who reside in the space between 
fit and fully abled bodied and classified disabled, who cannot walk from their homes to 
the town centre and the associated facilities.  
 
The borough is a 24/7 space, this is particularly critical regarding the town centre 
spaces, where often the 24hr nature of these spaces is forgotten or ignored within 
new development presentations. With a concentration upon day time and early 
evening night time economies. Also important is the transitional streets around town 
centres that link the centre with the more residential areas.  
 
Many studies have shown that crime is affected in the town centres by the frequency 
and the amount of movement through them. This movement of both pedestrians and 
vehicles increases the amount of casual surveillance by capable guardians, i.e. more 
eyes, and ears. This is of particular importance with regard to the current sad state of 
the boroughs public space CCTV systems. Limiting the amount of movement will 
increase fear of crime dramatically for the users.   
 
Finally in Hammersmith there are two main east west routes: the A4, and the King 
Street and Glenthorne Road to Hammersmith Road links. Accessing each other at the 
Hammersmith Gyratory. With a minor east west link along Brook Green and through 
Trustly Arches and various side streets. Otherwise, you have to go to Shepherds 
Bush and make use of the Goldhawk Road.  It should be noted that the A4 is of very 
limited use when it comes to navigating locally within the borough as it is a dual 
carriageway through route, with many of the side roads off it blocked and only three 
north south vehicle crossing points, within the borough . The west bound A4 
carriageway offers no access to the northern side streets.  
 
Finally, King Street has already been adversely affected by the new cycle route, I 
wonder what figures we have to show the movement along it in cycles compared to 
vehicles. Bristol has removed a similar route as it simply did not get used enough and 
contributed to congestion, whilst adversely affecting business.  
 
It also needs to be remembered that because of the boroughs current accessibility 
many major businesses are located here.  

40 39 
Historic 
England 

1. General Thank you for the opportunity to comment on the above consultation. As the 
Government’s adviser on the historic environment, Historic England is keen to ensure 
that the conservation and enhancement of the historic environment is taken fully into 

Support welcomed.  

P
age 169



28 
 

account at all stages and levels of the Local Plan process. 
 
We note and welcome the contents of the draft SPD in principle, which aims to deliver 
a clear vision for the regeneration of Hammersmith Town Centre including the 
enhancement of its historic environment. We particularly welcome plans to replace the 
Hammersmith Flyover with a tunnel (the flyunder) which should significantly enhance 
the setting of nearby listed buildings, in particular St Paul’s Church and the Apollo 
(both Grade II*), as well as the character of the various conservation areas both sides 
of the roadway. 

41 12 

Britel Fund 
Trustees Ltd 

1. General - Housing The draft SPD seeks to maximise the delivery of ‘genuinely affordable homes’ with a 
mix of tenures and unit  sizes to meet the needs of residents. The draft SPD would 
benefit from cross referencing with relevant policies  in the Local Plan. The section on 
Planning Obligations (S106 and CIL) recognises that planning applications  will be 
considered on a case by case basis and developers will be expected to submit a 
detailed viability  assessment to justify the level of affordable housing that can be 
achieved. We agree with this approach,  recognising the circumstances pertaining to 
individual sites. Consistent with the indicative housing targets set by Local Plan, the 
SPD makes provision for 2,800 new homes  however, the precise location for and 
composition of potential schemes is silent. We note that the majority of  new homes 
are targeted for delivery during the period 2026 – 2035 i.e. the second half of the plan 
period.  Many of the sites identified by the SPD within the town centre are undergoing 
development for new homes.  Consequently, there is a need to look to other sites that 
may be capable of delivering additional homes to meet  the requirements set out in 
the Local Plan. In this respect, our clients’ site could assist in meeting some of this  
need in the future through redevelopment of vacant office space.  

Comments noted. No change 
required.  
 
The SPD is a planning guidance 
document only and should be 
read alongside our Local Plan 
and the London plan in terms of 
policy provision for affordable 
housing. The SPD cannot 
identify sites for housing outside 
of the Local Plan and 
applications for housing 
provision in the centre will be 
assessed through the 
application process.  

42 24 

Environment 
Agency  

1. General - 
Environmental 
comments  

In addition to the specific comments outlined above, please also consider the 
following general comments regarding constraints within our remit.  
 
Flood Risk  
It would be beneficial if the SPD had more emphasis on the risk of flooding in the 
Hammersmith Town Centre area. It would be beneficial to refer prospective 
developers to local plan policy CC3 (Minimising Flood Risk and Reducing Water Use) 
of the Hammersmith and Fulham Local Plan 2018. We recommend the SPD to 
include reference to flood resistance and resilience measures within the developer 
guidance paragraphs of the SPD. Physical barriers, raised electrical fittings, and 
special construction materials are just some of the ways which can help reduce flood 
damage.  
We also recommend that the SPD explicitly refers to the relevant policies within the 
LBHF local plan, strategic flood risk assessment, and the climate change SPD, so that  
users of the Hammersmith Town Centre SPD understand where further policy and 
guidance on Flood Risk for can be found.  
 
Thames Estuary 2100 Plan 
Although there is no riverside frontage within the area of the SPD, the area does 
benefit from the presence of the tidal flood defences. Consideration should be given to 
the  
delivery of the Thames Estuary 2100 (TE2100) Plan, which requires flood defences to 

Comment noted. No change 
required. 
 
We welcome your comment, 
however, it is relevant to note 
that the SPD is a guidance 
document only and should be 
read alongside the Local Plan, 
whereby this requirement is 
already embedded in Local Plan 
Policy CC4 and in the Climate 
Change SPD - Flooding and 
Sustainable Drainage section. 
 
With regard to Biodiversity Net 
Gain we note your comments. 
The SPD cannot introduce 
requirements beyond the 
government 10% requirement. 
This would need to be done via 
a review of the local plan. See 
proposed changes at rep 111. 

P
age 170



29 
 

be raised in order to maintain the current level of protection from the Thames.  
Following the publication of the TE2100 10-year review, it is now recommended that 
the tidal flood defences will need initial raisings by 2050. 
 
Tidal Breach 
It is disappointing that the SPD fails to acknowledge that a large proportion of 
Hammersmith Town Centre is within the latest modelled breach extent. While we 
appreciate that the SPD is not setting out any new residential allocations, it is worth 
reiterating that any development proposed within the breach extent must avoid 
sleeping accommodation below the breach level. 
 
Biodiversity and Environment 
It is positive to see that biodiversity and the environment is given a good platform in 
this SPD.  
 
Biodiversity Net Gain 
Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) came into force for major planning applications on 12 
February 2024, it would be beneficial to see reference to BNG targets for 
developments  
that come forward in the Hammersmith Town Centre, and where possible, encourage 
a target that goes beyond 10%. For sites with no/low baseline biodiversity value, we 
recommend that they are referred to the Urban Greening Factor (UGF) (Policy G5, 
Urban Greening of the London Plan 2021) Use of UGF can help to deliver other 
targets within the SPD, such as green and blue infrastructure, greening 
Hammersmith, improving the public realm, as well as helping to deliver biodiversity 
uplift.  
 
Green and Blue Infrastructure  
It is positive to see that the SPD has highlighted green infrastructure prominently 
throughout the document. While we appreciate that the river Thames is not within the  
SPD area, more emphasis could be made on blue infrastructure, and how an 
interconnected network of green and blue infrastructure can have multifunctional 
benefits for town centers, such as Hammersmith.  
 
Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems  
We strongly recommend that the SPD refers to Policy CC4 (Minimising Surface Water 
Run-Off with Sustainable Drainage Systems) of the LBHF Local Plan, and KP19 of the  
Climate Change SPD, to further promote the use of SuDS in the Hammersmith Town  
Centre Area. The SPD misses an opportunity to further promote the use of SuDS 
features. Good SuDS can have multifunctional benefits including reducing the risk of  
surface water flooding, promoting biodiversity, and providing space for the public 
realm. We strongly encourage the promotion of SuDS as part of any public realm, and 
any new development within Hammersmith Town Centre.  
 
Water Resources  
We strongly recommend that the SPD includes reference to improved water 
efficiency, which will align this document with the recently adopted Climate Change 

 
Blue and Green Infrastructure, 
BNG and Urban greening factor 
requirements are referenced in 
our recently adopted SPD on 
Climate Change which is 
signposted on page 11. See 
also the proposed changes at 
rep 111. 
 
 

P
age 171



30 
 

SPD 2023.  
This is because increased water efficiency for all new developments potentially 
enables more growth with the same water resources. Developers can highlight 
positive corporate social responsibility messages and the use of technology to help 
sell their homes. For the homeowner lower water usage also reduces water and 
energy bills. 
We endorse the use of water efficiency measures especially in new developments. 
Use of technology that ensures efficient use of natural resources could support the 
environmental benefits of future proposals and could help attract investment to the 
area.  
Therefore, water efficient technology, fixtures and fittings should be considered as 
part of new developments and encouraged within the SPD. 
Residential developments 
All new residential developments are required to achieve a water consumption limit of 
a maximum of 125 litres per person per day as set out within the Building Regulations 
&c.  
(Amendment) Regulations 2015.However, we recommend that in areas of serious 
water stress (as identified in our report Water stressed areas - final classification) a 
higher standard of a maximum of 110 litres per person per day is applied. This 
standard or higher may already be a requirement of the local planning authority. 
Commercial/Industrial developments 
We recommend that all new non-residential development of 1000sqm gross floor area 
or more should meet the BREEAM ‘excellent’ standards for water consumption. 
Groundwater  
Please note that much of the area of the Hammersmith Town Centre SPD is situated 
above a superficial aquifer, secondary A. We recommend that this is highlighted within  
the SPD and that any development that takes place does so in accordance with 
reference to our Groundwater Protection guidance:  
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/groundwater-protection 

43 29 

Hammersmit
h BID 

1. General -  
Recommendations  

Speedy implementation of improvements to the public realm at both large and small 
scale, within a five year programme. 
Formal engagement with businesses in the design and programming of public works. 
Coordinate into the LBHF public works programme proposals for public realm 
improvements in the Eastern and Broadway Quarters prepared by BID and major 
local businesses. 
Prioritisation of the transformation of the gyratory to reunite the Broadway with the rest 
of the Town Centre. 
A greater recognition that the market dictates what developments are brought forward, 
affecting LBHF’s Local Plan aspirations. An emphasis on ‘Long Life, Loose Fit’ 
buildings to facilitate change of use would be wise. 
Engagement with BID on the Town Centre Management Plan. 
Development of protocols for seed and co-funding of smaller scale public realm 
improvements. 
Incorporation of the Allies and Morrison plans for the Town Centre into the SPD so 
that it is a material consideration 

Comments noted. No change 
required. 
 
We acknowledge your 
comments and suggestions 
regarding the public works 
programme, the town centre 
management plan and public 
realm improvements which will 
require further discussions 
outside of this public 
consultation. 
 
Both the earlier Grimshaw 
masterplan proposals and the 
updated Allies and Morrison 
concepts have been used to 
inform the approach of the SPD, 

P
age 172



31 
 

including detail of key sites and 
developer guidance sections of 
the document.  
 

44 38 

Dave Hinton 
(former SBD 
officer) 

1. General - 
Entertainment 

Entertainment: Olympia, the Lyric and LAMDA; I was disappointed in the LAMDA 
developments lack of facility for public transport (Coaches)  or even any sort of 
parking in its new build. Olympia will become an exhibition, business, and event hub, 
however for it to work, the shows all require servicing by vehicular traffic. Just for set 
up and take down for these events, vehicles need access. The current tube station is 
not sufficient for such events or this purpose. 

Comments noted. No change 
required.  

45 12 

Britel Fund 
Trustees Ltd 

1. General Affordable 
Workspace 

We note that maximizing the delivery of new affordable workspace is a key objective 
of the SPD. This is particularly important where existing office premises no longer 
meet modern business needs, including those premises that may be in the wrong 
location and where alternative uses better support the vision for the town  centre.  The 
draft SPD recognises that Hammersmith has a range of opportunities to meet the 
challenges of the postpandemic world. This is particularly important, in relation to 
uncertainty for office space demand.  
Where demand does exist, the SPD recognises that this is generally expressed in 
terms of modern accommodation that is suitable to meeting current and future 
business needs. In contrast, older office stock is unlikely to see take up without 
significant investment and such investment may be unviable given reduced demand 
and against a backdrop of increased construction/refurbishment costs.  
Our client considers that there is a lack of recognition within the SPD relating to 
redundant / vacant and older office / business premises within Hammersmith. 
Although it is noted that the SPD does encourage the efficient use of unused and 
underused areas within the town centre.  Clearly, it is important that an appropriate 
balance is struck between competing uses and the general support given in the SPD 
to diversification of uses. An assessment of individual site characteristics will assist in 
the identification of future opportunities to better utilise existing sites and premises in 
accordance with the overall vision of the SPD. 

Comments noted. No change 
required. 
 
Site identification and policy 
provision for alternative uses on 
sites will be carried out in a 
future of the Local Plan.  

46 29 

Hammersmit
h BID 

2. Introduction The document begins with an introduction describing Hammersmith, its connectivity 
and general character. The Town Centre is a London Plan Opportunity Area, along 
with White City, Earls Court and South Fulham also in the borough. Current, recent 
and proposed major developments are identified. 
Purpose of the SPD 
The SPD sets out a ‘shared vision’ for the regeneration of the Town Centre. This 
involves both the development control and public works aspects of planning. The SPD 
clarifies current National & Local Plan policies; it cannot change or add policy 
objectives. It aims to assist in the delivery of the following Key Strategies: 
Climate Change SPD 
Targeting Net Zero, etc. 
Industrial Strategy 
Enterprise, Innovation & Skills 
Masterplanning/Design Coding and Planning Briefs 
Emphasis on site-wide comprehensive development implemented by landowner 
cooperation. Planning Briefs and Design Codes may be used to steer development. 
The design Review Panel will have an important role. 

Comments noted. No change 
required.  

P
age 173



32 
 

47 36 

The 
Hammersmit
h Society 

2. Introduction Where we are now (p8&9): presents random highlighting of development sites without 
reference or explanation to their significance to the planning policies  

Comments noted. No change 
required. 
 
This section is for context only 
and provides an overview of 
sites that are in the planning 
process or that have received 
planning permission, alongside 
other key opportunity sites.  This 
is to illustrate the scale of 
change already taking place in 
Hammersmith town centre.  

48 36 

The 
Hammersmit
h Society 

2. Introduction Resident led masterplan (p12): neither endorsed by the residents’ group nor reviewed 
through public consultation, the Grimshaw report was a useful stepping stone but far 
from a conclusive document. 

Comments noted. No change 
required. 
 
The resident led masterplan 
does not hold any planning 
weight and therefore was not the 
subject of a public consultation.  
Key elements of the masterplan 
have informed the approach and 
guidance provided within the 
SPD. 
 

49 36 

The 
Hammersmit
h Society 

2. Introduction Purpose of the SPD (p11):  a lengthy account which could be consolidated into five or 
six single- line statements to bring clarity and engagement to the reader. 

Comments noted. No change 
required. 
 
The detail provided in this 
section is considered to be 
appropriate to explain the 
document and the policy 
framework for the SPD. 
  

50 38 

Dave Hinton 
(former SBD 
officer) 

2. Introduction The SPD introduction: states that we have poor quality public realm and poor pedestrian 
environment? But we have many wide pavements and the public park spaces are 
excellent (Ravenscourt, Brook Green, Furnival Gardens) and there is nothing wrong 
with the Lyric Square or St Pauls Green. What do you define as being a quality public 
space?  

Comments noted. No change 
required. 
 
We agree that many parts of the 
town centre do have good public 
realm, but it is important to note 
the poor quality that does exist 
in the town centre.  
 

51 32 

Inclusive 
Design 
Review 
Panel  

2.  Setting the Scene  Setting the Scene on pages 6 and 7 is a helpful introduction. Recommendations in 
italics  
 
Weaknesses: recommend  
 

Comments noted.  
 
Agree to change bullet points as 
follows: 
 

P
age 174



33 
 

Barriers in public realm faced by pedestrians, dominated by vehicular traffic… 
 
Barriers faced by disabled people in the pedestrian environment. 
 
Opportunities: recommend 
 
Inclusive mixed used development … 
  
Inclusive public realm and open space 
Stitch the town centre back together, improving inclusive connections to the river and 
improve air quality/urban greening. 

Proposed change: 
 
Page 7, weaknesses box. 
Amend 3rd bullet: 
 

• and barriers faced by 
disabled people in the 
pedestrian 
environment.  

 
Page 7 opportunities box. 
Amend  1st, 3rd and last bullets: 
 

• Inclusive mixed use 
development 
opportunities to deliver 
new homes and jobs 
including affordable 
homes. 

 

• Improve the quality, 
accessibility and 
inclusivity of the public 
realm and open space. 

 

• Stitch the town centre 
back together, 
improving inclusive 
connections to the river 
and improve air 
quality/urban greening. 

 

52 32 

Inclusive 
Design 
Review 
Panel  

2. Purpose of the SPD P10 para 2: insert an accessible and inclusive before ‘cultural hub’ to celebrate the 
council’s vision for an accessible and inclusive Civic Campus. 
 
P10 para 5: insert inclusive before ‘arts, culture and leisure’… 
 
P10 para 7: Key objectives to include creating accessible and inclusive new public 
spaces and more inclusive legible routes; as well as redevelopment and 
refurbishment of inclusive buildings. 
 
p11: Policy context to include LBHF policy on accessible and inclusive design as well 
as compliance with M4(2) accessible and adaptable housing and M4(3) wheelchair 
housing. 
 
P 11: Masterplanning/Design Coding and Planning Briefs 
 

Comments noted. 
 
Proposed change: 
 
Page 10. Amend as follows:  
 
Para 2: 
 
“Once completed, the Civic 
Campus will provide an 
accessible and inclusive cultural 
hub and important gateway 
development at the western 
edge of the town centre. 
 

P
age 175



34 
 

Para 2: Use of site wide masterplanning supported by appropriate 
design codes to facilitate the optimisation and comprehensive inclusive development, 
will be encouraged as part of the Development Management process. 
 
P 11 last para: Our Design Review Panel and Inclusive Design Review Panel may 
review development proposals to ensure that they comply with council policy on 
providing accessible and inclusive design as well as other council policies such as 
climate change. 

Para 4:  
 
The SPD builds upon 
Hammersmith’s existing 
strengths as a major office and 
retail centre, but also seeks to 
diversify the town centre offer, 
strengthening its role as a centre 
for inclusive arts, culture and 
leisure, alongside 
encouraging…. 
 
Para 5:  
 
Key objectives of the SPD focus 
on transforming the public realm 
and transport network, creating 
accessible and inclusive new 
public spaces and more legible 
routes; as well as inclusive 
redevelopment and 
refurbishment of buildings 
throughout the area”. 
 
Compliance with M4(2) and (3) 
is already included in the Local 
Plan which this document refers 
to.  
 
Proposed change: 
 
Page 11. Amend para as 
follows: 
 
“Use of site wide masterplanning  
supported by appropriate design 
coding to facilitate the 
optimisation and  
comprehensive inclusive 
development, will be 
encouraged as part of the 
Development Management 
process.” 
 
The role of a design review 
panel is advisory and not to 
replace the role of planning 

P
age 176



35 
 

officers in determining 
compliance with policy. The 
proposed wording could be 
misleading. 

53 30 

Marks and 
Spencer and 
Reef Group 

2.Masterplanning/Des
ign Coding  
and Planning Briefs  

Page 6 of the SPD mentions the Council will expect landowners for sites under 
multiple ownerships to work together to bring more comprehensive development 
forward. If they do not and take a phased approach to development then it says 
proposals should illustrate how they would not fetter the ability of adjacent sites to 
come forward for an optimum form of development. This text appears to acknowledge 
that there are times when circumstances mean that sites under individual leaseholds 
which are part of a wider freehold will have to  
come forward in isolation. This is the case for 27-39 King St. Both the Girdlers and our 
clients are satisfied the neighbouring sites within the freehold can be optimised in 
future alongside our emerging proposals. 

Comments noted. No change 
required. 

54 24 

Environment 
Agency  

3. Vision  We support the inclusion of a ‘sustainable green and liveable Hammersmith’ as a key  
objective for delivery (page 17). We recommend that there is emphasis that all  
developments should significantly enhance the blue and green infrastructure network  
and restore, enhance, and increase wildlife and biodiversity. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
We also recommend that reducing flood risk is incorporated into this objective, as 
redesigning the public realm, particularly using green infrastructure can have 
multifunctional benefits including reduced flood risk. 

Comments Noted.  
 
This is included and detailed in 
our Climate Change SPD, and 
links to Urban Greening Factor 
and Biodiversity net gain. The 
Climate Change SPD is 
referenced on page 11 as part of 
the relevant policy context and 
must be considered as a 
material consideration in 
planning decisions.  
 
Proposed change: 
 
Page 17 para 1. Amend as 
follows: 
 
“Flood risk reduction, green 
infrastructure, landscaping and 
sustainable construction 
throughout the lifetime of 
development will make  
Hammersmith a more liveable 
place.” 

55 29 

Hammersmit
h BID 

3. Vision The SPD builds on the Hammersmith Regeneration Masterplan by Grimshaw 
Architects, ‘shaped’ through local consultation via a Residents Working Group.  
 
The SPD emphasises the prioritisation of the public realm. The Residents Group were 
more focussed on building heights.  
 
Key Outcomes 
2,800 new homes 

Comment noted. No change 
required. 
 
The SPD provides indicative 
guidance in relation to tall 
buildings. This suggests 
locations which may be suitable 
for large/tall buildings, indicative 

P
age 177



36 
 

10,000 new jobs 
Replace the Flyover 
Green & Healthy Town Centre 
Delivery of net zero carbon buildings 
Enhanced Arts & Culture & Evening Economy Offer 
 
Objectives for Delivery 
Restoring the Heart of Hammersmith 
An enhanced sense of space via more diverse mix of uses, new public spaces, etc. 
Envisages combining the Civic Campus redevelopment with reshaping of the 
Broadway and Queen Caroline Street, to enable King Street to be a ‘strong’ spine 
connecting the existing 
centre and the Civic Campus. Improving connections to the river. This is the key major 
transformation of central Hammersmith, reuniting the centre. To be vigorously 
encouraged. 
 
 
Anchoring Creative and Entrepreneurial Hubs 
Exploiting connectivity to encourage new creative and entrepreneurial uses, by 
creating space in new and repurposed buildings. Affordability the key. 
 
In the view of the BID and many of it’s members, the quality of Hammersmith’s public 
realm 
and leisure offer are fundamental to this objective. 
 
Strengthening our Cultural Core/Evening Economy 
See item above. 
 
 
Delivering Genuinely Affordable Homes for Local People 
Increasing housing in the Town Centre is seen as a way to enhance the Town 
Centre’s 
vibrancy. A focus on genuinely affordable homes. 
 
This will influence developers’ approach to proposed uses, mix and, importantly, the 
viability yof proposals, potentially leading to pressure for increased density and 
building height 

development parameters and 
key views for consideration. 
Planning applications for tall 
buildings will be assessed 
against the London Plan and 
Local Plan policies, with 
particular focus on townscape, 
heritage, and other design 
considerations. 
 
We will seek to increase the 
amount of housing in the town 
centre to create a more diverse 
and vibrant town centre. In each 
case, proposals will be required 
to be well designed across a mix 
of tenures and uses and comply 
with London and Local Plan 
Policy on building height, 
density, mix and affordability.  

56 32 

Inclusive 
Design 
Review 
Panel  

3. Vision and 
Objectives for 
Delivery 

Moving forward, we will build upon these strengths to reaffirm the role of the town as 
an accessible and inclusive well connected heart of West London life.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Comment noted. No change 
required. 
 
The key objective for delivery in 
this part of the vision is to 
increase vibrancy and create a 
stronger sense of place. 
Accessibility and inclusivity are 
of course important aspects and 

P
age 178



37 
 

 
 
 
Our vision is an accessible and inclusive Hammersmith to restore the heart of the 
town centre, where new commercial, residential and leisure developments create a 
wide variety of opportunities for employment as well as living in inclusive and 
affordable homes. We will also redesign the highway network to enhance accessible 
and inclusive movement and connections with existing open/ green spaces and key 
cultural destinations. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
> Replace the Hammersmith flyover with a tunnel, ‘a flyunder’ remove 
an eyesore and physical barrier, significantly enhancing the townscape, lessening the 
impact of through traffic, release valuable land for accessible and inclusive 
development. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
> Green and healthy town centre including delivery of a new accessible and inclusive 
public space and landscaping/urban greening to enhance amenity, air quality and 
biodiversity, creating accessible and inclusive green corridors/active travel. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

are a thread which runs 
throughout the document.  
 
 
Proposed change: 
 
Page 15, 2nd para. Amend as 
follows: 
Proposed change:  
 
Page 15, para 2:  
 
“Our vision is to restore the 
heart of the town centre, where 
new developments create a 
wide variety of opportunities for 
employment as well as living in 
inclusive and affordable homes. 
We will also redesign 
redesigning the highway 
network to enhance accessible 
and inclusive movement and 
connections with existing open/ 
green spaces and key cultural 
destinations.” 
 
The SPD is a guidance 
document and should be read 
alongside our Local Plan which  
contains policies on accessibility 
and inclusivity in new 
development.  
 
 
Proposed change: 
 
New outcome incorporated 
 
Create an accessible and 
inclusive town centre which 
provides a positive experience 
for all   
 
Proposed change: 
 
Hammersmith – The Heart of 
West London, para 3  

P
age 179



38 
 

 
> Enhance our existing Arts and Culture offer through accessible and inclusive 
festivals/pop-up events and improving the evening economy. 
 
 
New developments will strengthen the identity of an accessible and inclusive town 
centre; focussing on creating a healthy, green and inclusive pedestrian environment. 
High quality accessible and inclusive buildings will complement and reveal the 
heritage of Hammersmith, whilst also adapting to climate change and creating a more 
inclusive Hammersmith that everyone including disabled people can enjoy. 

 
Page 15, para 4. Amend as 
follows: 
 
“New developments will 
strengthen the identity of the an 
accessible and inclusive town 
centre; focussing on creating a 
healthy, green pedestrian 
friendly environment…” 
 
 

57 36 

The 
Hammersmit
h Society 

3. Vision and 
Objectives  

Vision (p15): ‘…to restore the heart of the town centre…’ is the Local Plan aspiration 
to which the SPD should provide shape, direction and reality.  
 
 
 
Objectives for delivery (p16&17): concise headings are lost in too much repetitive text 
which loses the reader: the overall message could be condensed into 2 or 3 
paragraphs.  

Comments noted. No change 
required. 
 
Further shape and direction is 
provided in the Spatial 
Framework, through the visions 
for the character areas and key 
sites.  
 
The text expands upon the 
overall vision which has been 
separated into objectives for 
clarity.  
 

58 12 

Britel Fund 
Trustees Ltd 

4. Spatial Framework 
- Key Concepts  

In relation to key concepts (page 20-21), it is unclear if the images are intended to be 
indicative to each concept. For example, the concept relating to employment and new 
homes, shows a range of areas with red and blue colour wash. However, this seems 
to exclude other areas that are in existing employment use and/or other opportunities 
to deliver alternative uses such as new housing which would support the diversity of 
the town centre without undermining the need to retain affordable workspace. It is not 
clear if this is intentional? As the draft SPD is not site specific, we assume this was 
not the intention.  Indeed, setting aside strategic site allocations identified by the Local 
Plan, the draft SPD (page 26) confirms in relation to the identification of the various 
character areas that ‘the guidance is not intended to be a formal site allocation, 
instead providing a high-level discussion of key design principles, which could be 
developed in  
future’.  It would be helpful if each of the map extracts included within the SPD could 
include details of the town centre regeneration area boundary. 

Comments noted. No change 
required. 
 
The images relate to the key 
areas which could deliver retail, 
employment and housing 
outcomes. These are not 
intended to form any site 
allocation.  
 
Comments noted.  
 
The SPD does not contain site 
allocations other than those 
contained in the Local Plan. The 
intention behind the concept 
mapping is to highlight 
objectives for the centre rather 
than show definitive boundaries 
for certain land uses.  
 

P
age 180



39 
 

It is not considered necessary to 
include the town centre 
regeneration area boundary 
within the map extracts. Please 
note the SPD is a guidance 
document and these are not 
formal site allocations.  

59 24 

Environment 
Agency  

4. Spatial Framework 
- Key Concepts  

We support the four key concepts highlighted on pages 20 and 21. In particular, we 
support improving connections to the river but suggest that the document is stronger 
in its encouragement for using green and blue infrastructure and active travel to do 
this.  

Comments noted.  
 
Proposed change: 
Suggested change, improving 
connections to the river, p20:  
 
Page 20 2nd concept box. 
Amend as follows: 
 
“Restitch the town centre back 
together and promote access  
to the river. Encouraging the use 
of green and blue infrastructure 
and active travel. Create safe, 
green and animated routes.” 
 

60 30 

Marks and 
Spencer and 
Reef Group 

4. Spatial Framework 
- Key Concepts  

P11 and 12 of the SPD contain key concepts for the masterplan including: 
• Promoting employment and new homes. 
• Providing a network of public spaces. 
• Enhancing the civic, cultural and evening economy. 
• Supporting the role of King St as the main retail centre. 
• Improving public realm and high-quality new buildings/shopfronts. 
• Improving connectivity and accessibility. 
Our clients welcome these objectives. Their proposals for the Site will help deliver all 
of these aims. 

Comment noted, support 
welcomed. 

61 36 

The 
Hammersmit
h Society 

4. Spatial Framework 
- Key Concepts  

Key Concepts (p20-23): concise headings and one-line descriptions are confused by 
ineffective diagrams, some of which could be omitted. A single, larger and more 
informative image with clear factual annotation which refers to the headings might 
prove more successful.  

Comments noted. No change 
required. 
 
Each diagram indicates each 
concept on a map, which relates 
to the spatial framework on 
pages 24 and 25.  
 

62 36 

The 
Hammersmit
h Society 

4. Spatial Framework 
- What we can 
achieve  

Spatial framework (p24-25): more empty diagrams with sweeping arrows fail to 
communicate: the headings announce intent but need a line or two explaining how 
this intent could be realised.  

Comments noted. No change 
required.  
 
The intent for each area is 
explained on pages 20 to 23.  
 

P
age 181



40 
 

63 36 

The 
Hammersmit
h Society 

4. Spatial Framework 
- Realising 
Opportunities  

Realising opportunities (p26): ‘…This guidance…provides a high-level discussion of 
key design principles…’. This is the place to list the principles, even if they appear 
elsewhere in the report.  
 
 
 
 
Reference to Planning Briefs: for many years the Hammersmith Society has reminded 
LBHF of the vital role of a planning brief for major development sites, especially in 
moderating site sale values. The borough has fallen behind the priority that other 
London boroughs give to the planning brief.  

Comments noted. No change 
required. 
 
The design principles are 
specific to each character area 
and developer guidance criteria, 
so there is no need to list out the 
principles in this section.  
 
 
The important role of the 
planning brief has been 
highlighted in this SPD. Site 
allocations in the Local Plan 
provide of detail on our strategic 
sites in the borough.  Site 
allocations in the Local Plan 
provide a huge amount of detail 
on our strategic sites in the 
borough.   
 

64 30 

Marks and 
Spencer and 
Reef Group 

4. Hammersmith 
Broadway Character 
Area  

Page 15 of the SPD contains an image which shows an indicative new public 
route/link from north to south linking Lyric Square with St Paul’s Church labelled 
“cultural route”. This cultural route is currently proposed to be provided within our 
client’s development proposals for the  
Site, however it is shown further east beyond their Site on this particular drawing. We 
suggest that the graphic showing the link is moved further to the west to demonstrate 
that this can be facilitated and is proposed on our clients’ Site as intended and as 
established with Officers at pre-application stage. This will bring the image in line with 
the associated imagery elsewhere in the document.  

Comments noted. 
 
Proposed change: 
 
Page 28: 
 
The diagram will be updated to 
reflect this route as a secondary 
pedestrian route.  

65 25 

Worshipful 
Company of 
Girdlers 

4. Hammersmith 
Broadway Character 
Area  

The ambition within the draft SPD to improve the public realm within this character 
area is  supported. However, the public realm works and the network of north-south 
links across King  Street between public spaces and places of interest shown on page 
29 needs to be deliverable  having regard to land ownerships and viability. Where 
public realm enhancement does  necessitate land take, then this should be both 
minimized to what is absolutely necessary and  compensated for through the height of 
development permissible.  

Comment noted. No change 
required. 
 
The Council will work closely 
with developers and landowners 
and will take into account land 
ownerships, viability and density 
as part of planning discussions 
as sites are brought forward. 
  

66 25 

Worshipful 
Company of 
Girdlers 

4. Hammersmith 
Broadway Character 
Area  

The realization of the regeneration of Hammersmith Broadway character area will 
require the  close collaboration of all stakeholders from both the public and private 
sector, which the Girdlers’  would be delighted to continue to be part of.  We trust that 
the content of this letter will be taken into consideration in the final drafting of the SPD 
and please do not hesitate to contact us if you have any queries 

Comments noted. No change 
required. 

P
age 182



41 
 

67 29 

Hammersmit
h BID 

4. Hammersmith 
Broadway Character 
Area  

HAMMERSMITH BROADWAY 
Lacks townscape cohesion, but also includes quality buildings. The gyratory a strong 
barrier. 
Future Vision 
This brings forward the prnciples established by the Grimshaw masterplan: 
Enlarged St Paul’s Square 
New public transport interchange on Broadway site 
New Cultural Route: Lyric to Apollo 
Integrate Lyric with Town Centre 
New development and public space on land released by gyratory changes 
Network of links between public spaces and places of interest.  
 
Key Sites 
HRA2 Strategic Site - Flyover, Gyratory and adjoining land 
A. Intention to replace Flyover with tunnel and surface road with Boulevard 
B. Reconfiguration of the gyratory system 
Public Works Proposals 
 
These are the most important public works elements of the SPD. See comments on 
this aspect of the SPD above. Prioritise the Gyratory. 
 
Hammersmith Broadway 
Total redevelopment of the Broadway Island 
Desirable but improbable in the short/medium term. Building heights 10-20 storeys 
suggested. 
 
Livat Centre 
Redevelopment might facilitate wider renewal of the Town Centre, including 
diversification of uses, improved public realm, etc. 
Guidance very loose. Any initiative will provoke much interest. 

Comment noted. No change 
required.  
 
Please note, the opportunities 
highlighted in the SPD are not 
exhaustive and are not formal 
site allocations.  

68 34 

Royal 
London 
Asset 
Management 

4. Hammersmith 
Broadway Character 
Area  

The Site sits within the Hammersmith Broadway area of the SPD (pages 27-32) and 
within the HRA2 Strategic Site (Flyover, Hammersmith Gyratory ad adjoining land).  
We welcome that part of the SPD’s aim is to diversify the town centre offer increasing 
the amount of housing to create a more diverse and vibrant town centre, and 
strengthen Hammersmith’s role as a centre for arts, culture and leisure.  
We also support the SPD encouraging potential highways and public realm 
improvements to improve the ground floor environment around 2 Queen Caroline 
Street including the potential to enlarge St Paul’s Open Space and improving the 
environment on Black’s Road. The ground floor and pedestrian environment around 2 
Queen Caroline Street needs to be improved and any such application will seek to 
enhance the environment in this location.  

Support welcomed. No 
change required.  

69 38 

Dave Hinton 
(former SBD 
officer) 

4. Hammersmith 
Broadway Character 
Area  

Hammersmith Broadway Page 27-31  
 
Obviously critical to this space is the tunnelling for the A4 and the removal of the 
flyover, creating the fly-under. This will not remove the need for Gyratory and vehicle 
access. One of the primary reasons for Hammersmiths desirability to commercial 
office, retail and entertainment development spaces is its accessibility from outside 

Comment noted. No change 
required. 
 
The Gyratory would still exist but 
is proposed to be reconfigured 
to public realm improvements. 

P
age 183



42 
 

London and to both Heathrow and Central London. Also coach and private vehicle 
access to the Apollo is critical for its success.  
 
It is a critical north south route for West London. If you remove these features then the 
new developments proposed will not be sustainable.   
 
I would strongly recommend that the examination of further traffic calming is left until 
after the fly-under has be completed. I also hope that at this stage Hammersmith 
Bridge will also become vehicle viable. Creative use of new pedestrian bridges from 
the Hammersmith Broadway development might also be considered. Integrating a link 
into St Pauls Park and to the raised deck area by the Novotel.  
 
 
 
 
The currently open space bus facility in the north eastern quarter of the Broadway 
could be far better integrated into the Broadway centre. I assume consideration will 
also be given to building above this level. Perhaps provision of entertainment and 
retail above the bus parking, including a cinema might be appropriate. Creation of an 
elevated open public space?  
 
 
 
A broader redesign and integration project of the Broadway shopping centre, tube 
station and bus stations, needs to be implemented, the existing elements are dated 
and feel cramped. They do not work as well together as they should. They also fail 
when their use is reviewed as public spaces through a 24/7 rotation. Particularly 
access to and from/between the transport hubs, especially for the disabled 

Both the flyunder and the 
gyratory would be subject to 
additional transport modelling 
work to understand the impacts 
of these infrastructure projects.  
 
 
The site aspirations for 
Hammersmith Broadway include 
the creation of a new, enhanced 
public transport interchange. 
The Council will engage with 
landowners and the public as 
part of site-specific discussions 
for any masterplan, brief or 
planning application.   
 
 
 

70 21 

Patrizia and 
Nuveen 

4. Hammersmith 
Broadway Character 
Area  

The Hammersmith Broadway Character Area 
The Patrizia and Nuveen ownerships lie within the Hammersmith Broadway character 
area identified by the draft SPD. It is noted however that no specific reference is made 
on page 33 to either 49-63 King Street or 65-79 King Street as key sites, despite both 
offering significant future development potential. These properties should either be 
included within the “M&S/Boots/One King Street” group as presenting similar 
opportunities, or they could alternatively be referenced separately. 
 
 
There is no explicit reference within the description of the Hammersmith Broadway 
character area to suitable uses for the upper floors of any redevelopment. For 49-63 
King Street and 65-79 King Street these include residential for which there is an acute 
need in all of its forms, including private rented accommodation. 
 
The reference within page 33 that “large/tall buildings varying between 5-11 storeys 
could be achievable” on King Street is supported. Indeed, it is considered that there 
could be scope for a greater maximum height than 11 storeys at 49-63 King Street 
and 65-79 King Street and a wider distribution of height towards the upper end of the 
range referred to by the “illustrative gradient map” on page 50. This is for reasons 

Comments noted. No change 
required.  
 
The key site will be updated to 
include a reference to the group 
of site addresses. 
 
Proposed change: 
 
Page 33: 
 
The key site will be updated to 
include a reference to the group 
of site addresses. 1-79 King 
St/12 Blacks Rd 
 
Part of the future vision for the 
character area includes the 
delivery of homes. Discussions 

P
age 184



43 
 

including the concealment and urban design context that the approved Landmark 
House scheme immediately to the south will provide and because of the oblique sight 
lines east- west along King Street. The recent feasibility study commissioned by 
Patrizia and Nuveen demonstrated that any impacts of greater height on the High 
Street and adjacent properties can be mitigated. 
 
 
The ambition within the draft SPD to improve the public realm within this character 
area including along Angel Walk is also supported. However, the width of it shown 
within the illustrative diagram on page 28 is unnecessary and would be a major 
constraint on viability.  
 
Furthermore, the aspiration on page 29 to create a network of north-south links across 
King Street between public spaces and places of interest, whilst also supportable in 
principle, needs to be deliverable having regard to land ownerships and viability, and 
any direct link/s should take the appropriate, direct, pedestrian desire line to St. Paul’s 
Green which will be to east of 49-63 King Street. Where public realm enhancement 
does necessitate land take, then this should be both minimized to what is absolutely 
necessary and compensated for through the height of development permissible.  
 
Delivery and Implementation 
The realization of the regeneration of Hammersmith Broadway character area will 
require the close collaboration of all stakeholders from both the public and private 
sector, which both Patrizia and Nuveen would be delighted to continue to be part of.  

in the development of planning 
briefs, masterplans and 
applications will address uses 
on specific sites and levels.  
 
The map is indicative only and 
provides a high-level concept of 
key design principles to be 
developed in the future.  
 
The Council will work closely 
with developers and landowners 
and will take into account land 
ownerships, viability and density 
as part of planning discussions.   
 
 
 

71 24 

Environment 
Agency  

4. Hammersmith 
Broadway Character 
Area  

Much of the Hammersmith Broadway area of the SPD is situated within flood zone 3, 
and within our latest modelled tidal breach extent. It is disappointing the SPD fails to 
acknowledge this and we strongly suggest that it is addressed. With particular 
reference to the proposed HRA2 Strategic Site. 
 
 
 
 
Whilst we appreciate that HRA2 Strategic Site ‘the Flyunder’ is at an early stage (page 
30). It would be beneficial for the SPD to consider that the proposed Flyunder is 
situated within flood zone 3 and could be severely impacted by flood water should the 
Thames tidal walls be breached or overtopped. Therefore, the ‘Enabling Delivery’ 
paragraph on page 31 must highlight that the risk of tidal flooding and any proposals 
must consider this at an early phase in the design process. This approach is in line 
with Policies RTC1, CC2 and CC3 of the Local Plan. 

Comments noted. No change 
required.  
 
Flood risk is acknowledged, and 
any work undertaken in this area 
would be subject to the 
requirements of the Local Plan 
relevant to mitigating flood risk.  
 
Flood risk is acknowledged, and 
any work undertaken in this area 
would be subject to the 
requirements of the Local Plan 
relevant to mitigating flood risk.  
 

72 36 

The 
Hammersmit
h Society 

4. Hammersmith 
Broadway Character 
Area  

Future Vision 1 and HRA2 (p28): in para 1 the diagram illustrates the attractive 
Grimshaw proposal for the St Paul’s Green public space, but this is shown as 
secondary to the overlay of more planning arrows. St Paul’s Green, together with the 
Civic Campus and the peninsularisation of the Broadway gyrator, are important ideas 
which need clear pictorial illustration with concise annotation.  
 
Flyunder and the gyratory – Future Vision 1(p29), HRA2 (p30&31): these are major 
parts of the LBHF plan, and need to be better described in greater detail, referring to 

Comments noted. No change 
required. 
 
The legend on pages 28-29 
relevant to the diagram provides 
an explanation for each 
intervention.  
 

P
age 185



44 
 

the extensive material already available, to include:  
 
(i) annotated plan(s) showing the scale and scope of the flyunder, including the 
development opportunities of the land released where the 6-lane A4 is currently sited  
 
(ii) the strategy proposed to prevent the commitment to the long-term uncertainties of 
the flyunder from blighting development proposals in the vicinity  
 
(iii) a clear, legible annotated illustration of the closing of Queen Caroline Street to join 
the Broadway to King Street; this would bring significant development benefits and 
has prospect of realisation in the short term.  

The comments are 
acknowledged but the strategic 
sites and visions are indicative 
only and will be developed 
further as part of further site 
discussions, planning briefs 
and/or masterplans.  
 

73 29 

Hammersmit
h BID 

4. Strategic Sites – 
Flyover, 
Hammersmith 
Gyratory and 
adjoining land 

Delivering a Flyunder 
This is combined with proposals to transform the Town Centre road network.  
 
The Grimshaw masterplan indicates how this might work. Importantly transformation 
of the surface road network, in this case dualling the gyratory and pedestrianising 
Queen Caroline Street between King Street and the Apollo can be carried out 
completely independently of the potential Flyunder. The gyratory initiative realises 
most, if not quite all, of the benefits of the Flyunder, including: 
Reuniting Broadway with the rest of the Town Centre 
Increased potential development land 
Increased Green space. 
By contrast the Flyunder is an attractive proposition at first sight, but moves through 
traffic from above to below ground without any effect on surface traffic volumes, costs 
an enormous sum - how many council houses do you get for £800,000,000+? – will be 
very disruptive to construct, and will require long approach ramps, just like the 
Flyover.  
 
LBHF is urged to prioritise the changes to the surface level road network, including 
other projects such as the pedestrianisation of King Street, which are relatively easy 
wins compared with the Flyunder, and deliver many of the major public realm 
improvements that Hammersmith businesses seek. 
 
 
HRA2 Strategic Site – Flyover, Gyratory and adjoining land 
A. Intention to replace Flyover with tunnel and surface road with Boulevard 
B. Reconfiguration of the gyratory system 
Public Works Proposals 
These are the most important public works elements of the SPD. See comments on 
this aspect of the SPD above. Prioritise the Gyratory. 

Comments noted. No change 
required. 
 
The flyunder is a long-term 
project and requires further 
detailed modelling and feasibility 
work before being undertaken, 
and other projects may come 
forward before any work to the 
flyunder commences.  
 
Public Realm Delivery 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

74 30 

Marks and 
Spencer and 
Reef Group 

4. Strategic Sites - 
Flyover, 
Hammersmith 
Gyratory and 
adjoining land 

Our clients welcome the overarching objectives of the SPD which include improving 
connectivity and accessibility and upgrading Hammersmith Broadway as a transport 
interchange. Of major significance is the proposal to re-imagine the gyratory and to 
transform the area through a flyunder which is detailed at page 16. This would 
improve accessibility and environmental quality, enhance connectivity, remove 
severance, improve the pedestrian and cyclist experience and would support delivery 
of new public realm. It would have a direct impact on the Site in existing and proposed 

Support welcomed. No 
change required. 
 
 
The flyover is subject to funding 
being secured and discussions 
with the GLA and TFL.  

P
age 186



45 
 

condition as the store is serviced and accessed from Black’s Road, which is shown as 
altered in the indicative imagery in the document and potentially removed. Our clients 
support this proposal in principle, provided their existing and future access needs are 
accommodated in any design. However, for all retailers to be success on King Street 
they need to be able to trade and operate as efficiently as possible with adequate 
servicing being critical to this. Clearly further discussions will be required at the 
appropriate time and our clients expect to be consulted on this thoroughly as the 
proposals are developed. It has the potential to align neatly with our clients’ own 
proposals for the public realm including the proposed new route and public space and 
this would be of great benefit to the Borough. 
 
 
It is noted that the Council intends to pay for the flyunder scheme largely via 
developer contributions. Noting the financial constraints already placed on 
development in the area through Section 106 contributions, Community Infrastructure 
Levy payments, and high development costs, this has the potential to affect the 
viability of developments coming forward. This would inevitably result in schemes 
needing to be larger in floorspace quantum and therefore massing terms than would 
otherwise be required. We therefore encourage the Council to explore alternative 
forms of funding, to avoid placing a further heavy financial burden on developments 
and to avoid the resultant pressures related to site optimisation. 
 
 
 The SPD also incorporates a number of strategies to make improvements to the A4, 
including working alongside TfL to deliver a formalised cycle route along the A4 which 
would better connect Hammersmith Town Centre to Earls Court and central London. 
Our clients welcome these proposals. 

 
Section 106 agreements are 
specific to individual 
developments and cannot be 
used for large infrastructure 
projects such as the flyunder. 

75 33 

TfL Spatial 
Planning  

4. Strategic Sites - 
Flyover, 
Hammersmith 
Gyratory and 
adjoining land 

HRA2 part A (Flyover) of the draft SPD confirms the council’s firm ambition to replace 
the flyover section of the A4 with a tunnel (or flyunder) with a new eastwest road to 
provide access for local traffic, alongside provision for a cycle route  
along the A4 and more surface level crossings. TfL notes that the ambition here  
to reduce traffic dominance, improve air quality and noise impacts and free up  
land for development has merit. However, it must be stressed that the scale of  
funding required (the draft SPD includes an estimate of £811m) means that  
there is currently no realistic prospect of delivery, noting that the financial  
situation is even more acute than in 2019 when we last commented on this  
proposal. Therefore, the Council, in consultation with TfL, should work to deliver  
more pragmatic schemes around Hammersmith Town Centre in line with  
Healthy Streets and Good Growth objectives. We also note that in 2016 major  
refurbishment/strengthening works of the Hammersmith Flyover were  
completed. Considering those works and the current condition of the flyover, it  
is unlikely that any investment or major works would be required over the next  
25 years. 
 
 
In terms of a cycle route on the A4 and delivery of surface level crossings, 
notwithstanding the above comments on the flyover, TfL officers are working  

Comments noted. No change 
required. 
 
Subject to further discussion 
with TFL, in addition to GLA and 
other funding sources.  

P
age 187



46 
 

with LBHF officers to investigate the feasibility of these interventions. In addition  
to the need for full and robust assessment before any commitments can be  
made, it is also worth noting that the timing and funding are significant  
unknowns. Regarding the cycle route, this not currently on TfL’s programme of  
works and our current focus is on the development and delivery of the large  
existing cycle programme already in place, including the progress with Holland  
Park Roundabout/Shepherds Bush/Wood Lane.  

76 33 

TfL Spatial 
Planning  

4. Strategic Sites - 
Flyover, 
Hammersmith 
Gyratory and 
adjoining land 

HRA2 part B (Gyratory) identifies the council’s ambition to reconfigure the gyratory to 
two-way working. As we have stated previously, TfL will continue to work with Council 
officers on this as part of the town centre regeneration and delivery of Healthy Streets 
in the borough. It should be noted that we do not currently have funding, or a 
programme of works associated with this. We note the Council’s ambition of making 
King Street for buses and cycles only with wider footways. However, any such 
interventions will need comprehensive assessment of the impacts in a wider area to 
understand the displacement of traffic from King Street as well as consideration of a 
funding package. 

Comments noted. No change 
required. 

77 20 

Richard 
Jackson 

4. Strategic Sites - 
Flyover, 
Hammersmith 
Gyratory and 
adjoining land 

The SPD is a timely and well-considered draft document, considering the 
developments around Hammersmith Broadway. There are two areas I wish to 
comment on, the Gyratory and the Flyover/Flyunder. 
 
The Gyratory. 
 
I think it is an excellent idea to make the Gyratory two-way up Butterwick, and 
pedestrianise the section between the Broadway Centre and St. Paul's Green. 
 
The proposed road to the south of St. Paul's Green, although in disconnected 
sections, is already in place. This runs east-west from the junction with Fulham Palace 
Road, past the Apollo and Queen Charlotte Street to Hammersmith Bridge Road. This 
proposal could be implemented within 2/3 years, and the areas around and below the 
Flyover greened up. 
 
However, linking this road to Hammersmith Bridge Approach would make it it a busy 
road, rather than the intended 'green boulevard' on a cultural route to the river. I would 
prefer St. Paul's Green not be be enlarged, and the reinstated road to the south of St. 
Paul's Green be for local, rather than through traffic. 
 
In my view, it is a serious failing of the draft proposal to stop access to Hammersmith 
for east-bound traffic coming off the A4. This traffic (much of it local) is feeding into 
King Street, Shepherd's Bush Road and Hammersmith Road. Traffic is like water, it 
will find other routes mostly through residential areas. 
 
The Flyover/Flyunder 
 
The SPD draft document rightly describes this as a long-term project and suggests 
seeking funding from the government and/or GLA. The Flyunder is an elegant 
proposal to stitch the centre of Hammersmith back together, but it is an aesthetic 
project with large development potential rather than a project to improve 

Comment noted. No change 
required. 
 
The gyratory is a long term 
project which will be subject to 
traffic modelling and feasibility 
work to ensure the a practical 
and viable solution is 
implemented.  
 
The Flyunder is a long-term 
ambition which is subject to 
further discussion with 
stakeholders, feasibility work 
and discussions on financing.  
  

P
age 188



47 
 

infrastructure. It is reasonable to assume therefore that this will will not be high on the 
list of priorities of either the government or the GLA. 
 
A further problem is that the tunnel needs to be built before the flyover can be 
demolished and the land released for housing. Work could start on the tunnel at an 
estimated cost of £800 million, but many urban tunnel projects end up costing 3x their 
estimates. As the scheme is to be largely paid for by residential development, subject 
to market pressures, how would the extra cost be funded other than by much higher 
and denser development than shown in the enticing visuals?  
 

78 17 

Neil 
Hardiman 

4. Strategic Sites - 
Flyover, 
Hammersmith 
Gyratory and 
adjoining land 

Comments relate principally to the initiative for the replacement of the Hammersmith 
Flyover. 
It is laudable the Council is trying to right the infrastructure wrongs from the 1960’s, 
however, my overall concern is that raising the public’s hopes and expectations on the 
back of what must be, and will likely remain, an extremely marginal aspiration is a 
dangerous policy as non-delivery may generate considerable disappointment, public 
cynicism and negative backlash. 
Taking the document at face value, it suggests that probably a billion pounds 
expenditure will be required in order to achieve the removal of the existing flyover and 
the construction of the ‘flyunder’ tunnel together with any interim rearrangements of 
the existing gyratory system. Within the anticipated positive benefits potentially flowing 
from this enormous investment there is no mention of achieving any modal shift away 
from the use of private motor vehicles and/or a shift towards the use of alternative 
modes of transport. The improvements in pedestrian and cycling linkages will no 
doubt encourage more such movements but the vast majority of these will surely be 
new movements rather than diversions from motor vehicle use. For example, given 
the current road layouts no one would drive from say the riverside to the town centre, 
though better linkages may well encourage more pedestrian/cycling movements 
between the two. 
This omission is inexcusable. 
Conversely, there is no suggestion (thank goodness!) that the flyunder will actually 
provide additional highway capacity over and above the existing, nor ease traffic 
circulation around this key interchange. 
Following on from (2) unless there is some other means, not referred to, by which the 
current/anticipated traffic volume is to be reduced and/or diverted and/or deterred 
from the wider town centre area, or presently permitted north/south and east/west 
vehicle movement desire lines are to be restricted/prevented it is fanciful to assume 
that meaningful amounts of existing highway land will actually be entirely released for 
non-highway uses. In this context, what, if any, traffic modelling has been done to 
date that provides assurance on the highway capacity of the preferred two-way 
gyratory layout, and within this, what assumption has been made in respect of the 
future use of Hammersmith Bridge? 
Simply displacing large volumes of existing traffic, if this is what is envisaged or is the 
ultimate unwritten consequence, into largely residential areas adjacent to the town 
centre or into adjoining boroughs isn’t a proper basis on which to found this policy, 
and would be likely to result in sustainable objections which could well scupper the 
proposals. This deficiency is not only an issue for the town centre but also a serious 

Comments noted. No change 
required. 
 
We appreciate you taking the 
time to read and make 
comments on the SPD.  
 
We welcome your support on 
the flyunder and the need to 
create better linkages through 
the centre. 
 
 
The Flyunder is a long-term 
ambition which is subject to 
further discussion with 
stakeholders, feasibility work 
and discussions on financing. 
 
The £811m cost refers to the 
flyover. The gyratory is a long 
term project and will be subject 
to further modelling and 
feasibility work.  

P
age 189



48 
 

concern for the adjoining boroughs if the tunnel portals extend beyond the borough 
boundary. 
In similar vein, save for a reference to some form of air filtering within the flyunder 
tunnel itself, there is scant suggestion that this enormous expenditure will achieve a 
meaningful improvement in the environmental conditions in the town centre, and 
clearly no reason for there to be any improvements beyond the tunnel portals 
themselves. 
Accepting that the stylized wish-list nature of the plans included in the SPD are simply 
that, even they do not highlight the creation of large entirely new development sites. 
Rather, most are existing sites/buildings which can be redeveloped in any event 
largely within the constraints of the existing highway. In which case even assuming 
that Sect 106 obligations relating to the highway network can be imposed these will 
surely not be sufficient to fund a billion pounds, even if the planners sell their souls to 
developers and permit multiple versions of The Shard to be built! 
As an aside, the SPD anticipates extensive highway changes irrespective of the 
’flyunder’ being delivered, therefore, if a significant proportion of the new 
developments can be delivered without the ‘flyunder’, isn’t it more likely that any Sect 
106 payments from these schemes will go towards funding the other interim highway 
changes rather than being ringfenced against a proposal which may never happen? 
On a technical point is it certain that all/any land released by closure of any highways 
will not simply revert to the existing frontage owners rather than becoming available 
for disposal by the Council? 
If the reality is that these proposals are unlikely to:- 
achieve significant modal shift away from private motor car use towards more 
environmentally friendly modes of travel, or 
provide additional highway capacity, or 
ease traffic circulation, or 
provide significant environmental improvements 
the question arises as to what credible, let alone persuasive, case might be made for 
any significant scale of public sector subsidy/funding? What is there to make a 
financially hard-pressed Council or the GLA or central government place this initiative 
high up in their spending priorities? The SPD offers no hints in this regard. 
 
 
As an aside there is no reference to the future of Hammersmith Bridge, the repair cost 
of which is a comparative drop in the ocean, but is nevertheless challenging the 
finances of the Council et al. 
 
 
Turning to the scale of the proposed expenditure on the highway network, it will be 
interesting to understand the following:- 
What is the cost associated with the preferred interim two way gyratory initiative? 
What does the £811m cost include/exclude? 
What outturn date has been assumed, namely is £811m a current uninflated cost, if so 
what outturn cost has the Council been advised to assume/expect? If not, what 
delivery date and inflation assumption has been adopted within the £811m? 
As with all public sector infrastructure projects what allowance has been made to 

P
age 190



49 
 

counter ‘optimism bias’ in drawing up the £811m and the project delivery programme 
associated with it? 
What objective assessment of the potential sources of funding of the £811m have 
taken place and what proportion of the cost is likely to fall on the ratepayers of the 
Borough? 
If one accepts the proposition that the ‘flyunder’ will unlock significant new 
development sites which would otherwise never become available, the unlocking will 
presumably require the ‘flyunder’ first to be funded and built before the developments 
can be undertaken. Given the extended and routinely uncertain gestation periods of 
large developments e.g. Westfield, Olympia, Earls Court etc it is inconceivable that 
the prospective developers of any released former highway land will pay the entire 
site consideration and their portion of the overall Section 106 contribution without the 
assurance that the ‘flyunder’ has been all but delivered and the new sites actually 
created. Any other scheduling of receipts, if achievable at all, would result in a 
significant discount and/or imposition of significant penalties on late/non-delivery of 
the ‘flyunder’. In these circumstances, the reality will surely be that in order to deliver 
the project the deliverer of the ‘flyunder’ will have to shoulder significant 
upfront/bridging finance costs and risk, indeed financial risk potentially of a scale to 
jeopardize the Council’s overall financial well-being. Has this cost/risk been properly, 
(if at all?) factored into the cost, and what cashflows have been drawn up which 
provide the Council with adequate reassurance? 
In conclusion, whilst the Council’s SPD seeks to be imaginative and is no doubt well-
meant I cannot avoid the suspicion that in respect of the flyunder it is floating 
something that is wildly unrealistic in the hope that by presenting in parallel other less 
radical, though possibly equally disruptive proposals these may appear more 
attractive and hence more deserving of public subsidy/funding and hence more readily 
deliverable. 

79 13 

Una-Jane 
Winfield  

4. Strategic Sites - 
Flyover, 
Hammersmith 
Gyratory and 
adjoining land 

The redevelopment of the area around the Town Hall is nearing completion, so I 
suppose it was not surprising that the idea of the Tunnel has been dug out again. It 
failed last time for 3 reasons: 
(1) cost — £800M is very optimistic 
(2) the railway lines coming into Hammersmith Tube Station are very deep and dictate 
the depth of the Tunnel 
(3) access roads to get into and out of the Tunnel, especially for Bridge View, 
Rivercourt Road and Weltje Road. Where are they going to go? 
 
These problems are still insurmountable with present levels of traffic. 
The traffic might reduce in future, but Heathrow Airport wants to expand, so who 
knows? 

Comments noted. No change 
required. 
 
We appreciate you taking the 
time to read and make 
comments on the SPD.  
 
The Flyunder is a long-term 
ambition which is subject to 
further discussion with 
stakeholders and traffic 
modelling to determine suitable 
routes.  
 

80 25 

Worshipful 
Company of 
Girdlers 

4. Strategic Sites - 
Flyover, 
Hammersmith 
Gyratory and 
adjoining land 

The Council’s aspiration for a fly-under is clearly a very long term ambition, around 
which there  is significant uncertainty and this has been the case for a long time 
already. In this context, the  Council should further explore in much greater detail its 
deliverability and the probability of  funding from sources such as TfL, the GLA and 
from government grants, before seeking  obligations from development. It should only 
be at the point in time that there is much greater  certainty over the project that 

Comments noted. No change 
required. 
 
Both the flyunder and the 
gyratory are long-term ambitions 
which will be subject to further 

P
age 191



50 
 

development should be asked to contribute at all. Furthermore,  under regulation, 
S106 contributions should only be sought where they are necessary to make a  
particular development acceptable, directly relate to that development and where they 
are fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to that development. King Street is 
remote from the route of the fly-under and contributions from development on it, 
should be limited by these tests. 
 
Similarly, the aim to reconfigure the existing gyratory system to create greater public 
realm including around Blacks Road is a supportable ambition however, should firstly 
be the subject of detailed modelling and feasibility work and a clear pathway identified 
through which development is not the majority source of funding as suggested on 
page 65. Otherwise there is a risk that development will be stifled particularly given 
other aims of the draft SPD including to seek funding for the fly-under, 50% affordable 
housing on site and a proportion of affordable workspace both of which should be 
referenced as subject to viability, together with the operation of the nonnegotiable CIL 
which is already at a high level for this area. Extreme care should be taken that these 
requirements, either individually or collectively, do not overburden and that nothing 
happens as a consequence. 

discussion with stakeholders, 
modelling and discussions on 
financing. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

81 29 

Hammersmit
h BID 

4. Strategic Sites - 
Flyover, 
Hammersmith 
Gyratory and 
adjoining land 

While there are proposals for relatively small, very welcome, public realm 
improvements, the replacement of the flyover with a tunnel and transformation of the 
gyratory as originally proposed in the Grimshaws Masterplan predominate. The 
gyratory proposal can dramatically transform the centre of Hammersmith for the 
better. There is considerable concern that the two proposals are coupled. Our concern 
is that the gyratory transformation enables almost all the benefits claimed for the 
combined projects at a fraction of the cost, and with a credible chance of realisation 
within, say, five years. The transformation of the gyratory, the creation of St Paul’s 
Square and the Queen Caroline  Street cultural route must be a priority 

Comments noted. No change 
required. 
 
Both the flyunder and the 
gyratory are long-term ambitions 
which will be subject to further 
discussion with stakeholders, 
modelling and discussions on 
financing, prior to being 
undertaken.  

82 20 

Richard 
Jackson 

4. Strategic Sites - 
Flyover, 
Hammersmith 
Gyratory and 
adjoining land 

The SPD is a timely and well-considered draft document, considering the 
developments around Hammersmith Broadway. There are two areas I wish to 
comment on, the Gyratory and the Flyover/Flyunder. 
 
The Gyratory. 
 
I think it is an excellent idea to make the Gyratory two-way up Butterwick, and 
pedestrianise the section between the Broadway Centre and St. Paul's Green. 
 
The proposed road to the south of St. Paul's Green, although in disconnected 
sections, is already in place. This runs east-west from the junction with Fulham Palace 
Road, past the Apollo and Queen Charlotte Street to Hammersmith Bridge Road. This 
proposal could be implemented within 2/3 years, and the areas around and below the 
Flyover greened up. 
 
However, linking this road to Hammersmith Bridge Approach would make it it a busy 
road, rather than the intended 'green boulevard' on a cultural route to the river. I would 
prefer St. Paul's Green not be be enlarged, and the reinstated road to the south of St. 
Paul's Green be for local, rather than through traffic. 

Comments noted. No change 
required. 
 
We appreciate you taking the 
time to read and make 
comments on the SPD. We 
welcome your support and clear 
explanation on the issues 
associated with these projects. 
 
The gyratory is a long term 
project which will be subject to 
traffic modelling and feasibility 
work to ensure the a practical 
and viable solution is 
implemented.  
 
The Flyunder is a long-term 
ambition which is subject to 

P
age 192



51 
 

 
In my view, it is a serious failing of the draft proposal to stop access to Hammersmith 
for east-bound traffic coming off the A4. This traffic (much of it local) is feeding into 
King Street, Shepherd's Bush Road and Hammersmith Road. Traffic is like water, it 
will find other routes mostly through residential areas. 
 
The Flyover/Flyunder 
 
The SPD draft document rightly describes this as a long-term project and suggests 
seeking funding from the government and/or GLA. The Flyunder is an elegant 
proposal to stitch the centre of Hammersmith back together, but it is an aesthetic 
project with large development potential rather than a project to improve 
infrastructure. It is reasonable to assume therefore that this will will not be high on the 
list of priorities of either the government or the GLA. 
 
A further problem is that the tunnel needs to be built before the flyover can be 
demolished and the land released for housing. Work could start on the tunnel at an 
estimated cost of £800 million, but many urban tunnel projects end up costing 3x their 
estimates. As the scheme is to be largely paid for by residential development, subject 
to market pressures, how would the extra cost be funded other than by much higher 
and denser development than shown in the enticing visuals?  

further discussion with 
stakeholders, feasibility work 
and discussions on financing.  
 

83 38 

Dave Hinton 
(former SBD 
officer) 

4. Strategic Sites - 
Flyover, 
Hammersmith 
Gyratory and 
adjoining land 

Congestion issues: have often been enhanced by the councils own previous traffic 
enhancements and obviously the continued closure of Hammersmith Bridge does not 
help. I do fully support the A4 tunnel project which would also create new and 
enhanced public space. But the devil is in the detail as people still have to get on and 
off the A4 from the Gyratory. Pedestrianisation is not the answer to all issues, in fact 
even the answer necessarily to any. It creates more congestion and often directs 
traffic away from the town centre where there are few if any ground level residences. 
Into areas which are essentially totally occupied by street level housing or residential 
developments. Now making an area that is not occupied (the town centre) ‘clear,’ but 
increasing the 24/7 presence in the side streets where the residents sleep.   

Comments noted. No change 
required. 
 
The Flyunder is a long-term 
ambition which is subject to 
further discussion with 
stakeholders and traffic 
modelling to determine suitable 
routes. 

84 39 

Historic 
England 

4. Strategic Sites - 
Flyover, 
Hammersmith 
Gyratory and 
adjoining land 

The Hammersmith Town Centre SPD currently makes no reference to archaeology 
and discusses heritage assets only as historic buildings. The proposed development 
area is covered by two Archaeological Priority Areas:  
 
• King Street, the site of an Iron Age prehistoric earthwork, a short section of which 
was excavated at 120-124 King Street. This earthwork may have protected a single 
farmstead, but may have been a more substantial settlement. It may also have been a 
long linear territorial boundary 
 
• Hammersmith Creek, Queen Caroline Street and Broadway, the site of the possible 
original Saxon settlement of Hammersmith around Creek mouth. It also covered the 
medieval and post-medieval settlement of Hammersmith along the riverfront, and 
Roman coins and pottery from the foreshore at Queen Caroline Street and Broadway. 
There is also a 17th century convent and 17th century Portuguese embassy on 
Hammersmith Road 
 

Comments noted. No change 
required. 
 
The SPD is a supplementary 
document which should be read 
alongside the Local Plan which 
identifies and includes policy on 
these Archaeological Priority 
Areas. Any proposal which 
would affect these areas would 
need to demonstrate compliance 
with the relevant Local Plan 
Policy and engage with relevant 
consultees.  
 

P
age 193



52 
 

Given these areas of known archaeological potential, and the proposed large scale 
below-ground works to construct in particular the ‘flyunder’, any plans should consider 
the archaeological implications of the work as part of their pre-application stage. The 
Greater London Archaeological Advisory Service should be consulted on any 
development and would be pleased to engage with applicants and contractors in the 
development of plans which treat any archaeological remains sensitively and enable 
the realisation of public benefit from any impact through engagement and outreach. 
This is in keeping with the recommendations of the NPPF Chapter 16.  

85 18 

Kevin 
Caulfield  

4. Strategic Sites - 
Flyover, 
Hammersmith 
Gyratory and 
adjoining land 

De-couple the Hammersmith Broadway gyratory from the the FlyUnder and get on 
with making improvements to Hammersmith Broadway now. There is scope to create 
more green open space adjacent to Apollo - St Paul’s Church and to link the centre of 
Hammersmith to the Thames. We want to see plans that can be realised in the next 3 
to 5 years. In my view, the FlyUnder will not be a priority for TFL nor any government 
in power. LBHF needs to recognise this and get on with what can be achieved to 
improve our town centre now 

Comments noted. No change 
required. 
 
We appreciate you taking the 
time to read and make 
comments on the SPD.  
 
Your comments on the two 
projects are valid and 
understood. The flyunder and 
gyratory whilst related are two 
separate projects, both of which 
will be subject to further 
consultation and feasibility work.  
 

86 21 

Patrizia and 
Nuveen 

4. Strategic Sites - 
Flyover, 
Hammersmith 
Gyratory and 
adjoining land 

Infrastructure 
The Council’s aspiration for a fly-under is clearly a very long term ambition, around 
which there is significant uncertainty and this has been the case for a long time 
already. In this context, the Council should further explore in much greater detail its 
deliverability and the probability of  
funding from sources such as TfL, the GLA and from government grants, before 
seeking obligations from development. It should only be at the point in time that there 
is much greater certainty over the project that development should be asked to 
contribute at all. Furthermore,  
under regulation, S106 contributions should only be sought where they are necessary 
to make a particular development acceptable, directly relate to that development and 
where they are fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to that development. 
King Street is remote from the route of the fly-under and contributions from 
development on it, should be limited by these tests. 
Similarly, the aim to reconfigure the existing gyratory system to create greater public 
realm including around Blacks Road is a supportable ambition however, should firstly 
be the subject of detailed modelling and feasibility work and a clear pathway identified 
through which development is not the majority source of funding as suggested on 
page 65. Otherwise there is a risk that development will be stifled particularly given 
other aims of the draft SPD including to seek funding for the fly-under, 50% affordable 
housing on site and a proportion of affordable workspace both of which should be 
referred to as subject to viability, together with the operation of the nonnegotiable CIL 
which is already at a high level for this area. Extreme care should be taken that these 

Comments noted. No change 
required.  
 
Both the flyunder and the 
gyratory are long-term ambitions 
which will be subject to further 
discussion with stakeholders, 
modelling and discussions on 
financing. 

P
age 194



53 
 

requirements, either individually or collectively, do not overburden and that nothing 
happens as a consequence. 

87 36 

The 
Hammersmit
h Society 

4.Key Site – 
Hammersmith 
Broadway 

Key sites Hammersmith Broadway (p32): identify the purpose of redeveloping - again 
- this substantial and complex site, including reference to H1 Sustainable 
Placemaking, and to the disruption to people and commerce from tearing out the heart 
of the town centre - which the SPD seeks to restore. Explain the strategy for a third 
civic square, and the measures to ensure that its prime location would not undermine 
the success of Lyric Square and the future Unity Square.   
 
A joint statement of LBHF/TfL policy for the Broadway site - and the Broadway - is 
vital to the future plan of the town centre. 

Comments noted. No change 
required.  
 
The SPD sets out a broad vision 
and proposals will be further 
developed through planning 
briefs, masterplans and through 
planning applications.  
 
 

88 28 

Ingka 
Centres 

4. Key Site - Livat 
Centre  

3.8 The wording of the text regarding “the future development of this site” could be 
misinterpreted  as an objective of re-development of Livat. Ingka have no specific 
plans for the redevelopment of the Site. It is expected, as part of the dynamics of any 
town centre environment that there will be future re-purposing and re-occupation of 
the units within the centre, and Town Centres must be able to adapt to the specific 
demands that may arise. 

Comments noted. 
 
Proposed change: 
 
Page 32 – Key site Livat centre 
box. Amend as follows: 
 
Proposed change:  
 
Page 32, Livat Centre 
 
Future development of this site 
Future use and diversification of 
this site’… 

89 25 

Worshipful 
Company of 
Girdlers 

4. King Street 
Character Area 

The reference within page 33 that “large/tall buildings varying between 5-11 storeys 
could be achievable” on King Street is supported. Indeed, it is considered that there 
could be scope for a greater maximum height than 11 storeys and a wider distribution 
of height towards the upper end of the range than indicated by the “illustrative gradient 
map” on page 50. This is for reasons including the concealment and urban design 
context that the approved Landmark House scheme to the south of King Street will 
provide and because of the oblique sight lines east- west along the road. The Girdlers’ 
consider that any impacts of greater height on the High Street and adjacent properties 
can be mitigated. 

Comments noted. No change 
required. 
 
The map is indicative only and 
provides a high- level concept of 
key design principles to be 
developed in the future.  

 

90 25 

Worshipful 
Company of 
Girdlers 

4. King Street 
Character Area 

The Girdlers’ freehold ownership lies within the Hammersmith Broadway character 
area identified by the draft SPD. It is noted that no reference is made on page 33 to 
49-63 King Street (occupied by TK Maxx and Poundland), or 65-79 King Street 
(occupied by Barclays, Bake Haus, Starbucks, and Superdrug) or 21-25 King Street 
(Lloyds Bank), or to the office building at 12 Blacks Road as key sites, all of which 
offer future development potential. These properties should be included within the 
“M&S/Boots/One King Street” group as presenting similar opportunity, or could be 
referenced separately 

Comments noted. No change 
required. 
 
The opportunities highlighted in 
the SPD are not exhaustive and 
are not formal site allocations. 
The absence of a reference to 
such sites on King Street would 
certainly not preclude them 
coming forward for planning 
consideration. 
 

P
age 195



54 
 

The opportunities highlighted in 
the SPD are not exhaustive and 
are not formal site allocations. 
However, we agree to make the 
references as requested. 
 
Proposed change: 
 
Page 33: 
 
The key site will be updated to 
include a reference to the group 
of site addresses. 1-79 King 
St/12 Blacks Rd 
 
 

91 25 

Worshipful 
Company of 
Girdlers 

4. King Street 
Character Area 

There is no explicit reference with the description of the Hammersmith Broadway 
character area on page 33 to the uses on the upper floors of any redevelopment that 
could support retail. These should include residential for which there is an acute need 
in all of its forms, and other uses such  as visitor and student accommodation for 
which there is already an emerging proposal at the  M&S site. 

Comments noted. No change 
required. 
 
As these are not site allocations 
it is important that the SPD is 
not prescriptive about future 
uses. Part of the future vision for 
the character area is for homes 
to be delivered as part of any 
redevelopment. Discussions in 
the development of planning 
briefs, masterplans and 
applications will address uses 
on specific sites and levels.  
 

92 29 

Hammersmit
h BID 

4. King Street 
Character Area 

KING STREET 
Mix of small scale high street buildings. Low quality public realm 
Future vision 
Continue as main retail spine 
Future developments to include community buses and upper floor retail 
Civic Campus, an enhanced destination, encouraging diversification 
Enhanced public Realm - Aim to transform King Street into a ‘boulevard’ 
New and enhanced routes north and south to the river 
Civic Campus 
Under construction. 2025 completion? 
King Street 
Public Works proposals 
Pavement widening, restrict traffic to cycles and buses. Not full pedestrianisation 
Improved road crossings 
A4 Cycle Route 

Comment noted. No change 
required. 
 

P
age 196



55 
 

93 38 

Dave Hinton 
(former SBD 
officer) 

4. King Street 
Character Area 

King Street Page 33-37  
 
I would challenge the thought that King Street provides links to Brackenbury Village to 
the north? I would suggest Beadon Road is perhaps more important as is 
Ravenscourt tube and Studland Street.  
 
Similarly, Kings Street view as an accessible link to the riverside I would also query. 
Hopefully the new bridge across the A4 will still appear at the end of Nigel Playfair 
Avenue. The current subway links (Nigel Playfair Avenue and Macbeth Street) are not 
really integrated into Furnival Gardens Park.   
 
The Livat Centre or Kings Mall and the associated housing of Ashcroft Square needs 
to be dramatically refurbished or frankly redeveloped. I would argue that it is long past 
its current life span. Again, when redeveloped consideration should be given to the 
possibility of enclosing the tube to the north creating another open public space 
between Ashcroft Square and the new developments of Beaulieu & Montpellier 
Houses.  
 
Care must be taken when developing the south side of King Street to not further 
isolate the existing housing provision behind these buildings, between them and the 
A4. CIL money needs to be spent enhancing the existing hard landscaping and street 
environments of this residential area. Also extending the current town centre CCTV 
into this space. The heights of these building should be limited as King Street runs 
east west and high buildings would reduce the natural light at street level.  
 
It is important that King Street needs to remain open to private vehicles, to provide 
access across Hammersmith and into the residential area between the A4 and King 
Street; to residents, service vehicles, emergency services and visitors.  
 
I make mention later in the report regarding the development of more office space and 
to the fact that existing office space has been converted to residential use. I note that 
such mixed provision is mentioned here. Whilst supporting this mix, I hope appropriate 
roof top external communal spaces (safe spaces) will be created for these residents 
and their families. Due consideration must be given as to whether the residential 
accommodation created is appropriate for certain clients. Single parent families, 
families with young children, need external residential only space. Nor is it appropriate 
to designate an existing residential estates external space as now public residential 
space for the new development or a nearby park. Sometimes certain developments 
are not appropriate for family residential provision, but perhaps student provision or 
low-cost single occupant professional flats.  
 
Already approved is the Landmark House development, which will hopefully deliver on 
the expectations.  

Comments noted. No change 
required. 
 
The SPD sets out a broad vision 
and proposals will be further 
developed through planning 
briefs, masterplans and through 
planning applications. 
 
 
 
 
 
  

94 24 
Environment 
Agency  

4. King Street 
Character Area 

Much of the King Street area is within Flood Zone 3 and the latest tidal breach extent. 
It is disappointing the SPD fails to acknowledge this. We strongly recommend that the 
SPD includes reference to flood risk within the ‘enabling delivery’ paragraph on page 

Comments noted. No change 
required. 
 

P
age 197



56 
 

37. We emphasise that any proposed residential sleeping accommodation outlined in 
HRA1 Strategic Site - Civic Campus must be situated above the tidal breach level.  

It should be noted that the SPD 
sits alongside the Local Plan 
and any work undertaken in this 
area would be subject to the 
requirements of the Local Plan 
relevant to mitigating flood risk.  
 

95 36 

The 
Hammersmit
h Society 

4. King Street 
Character Area 

Railway arches (p35): these railway arches, far from unique to the borough, bring a 
limited attraction of historic familiarity (and porous fabric) but are located in an urban 
backwater bringing only a potential diversion from the emerging benefits of King 
Street.  

Comments noted. No change 
required. 
 
 
Activating the railway arches will 
promote use by SMEs and 
creative industries. This is 
something H&F actively 
supports, and more information 
can be found in our Railway 
Arches SPD.  

96 36 

The 
Hammersmit
h Society 

4. King Street 
Character Area 

Civic Campus (p37): this is a consented scheme currently under construction: the 
‘indicative development parameters’ are perhaps irrelevant.  
 
 
 
 
 
King Street (p37): further annotated illustration is required of the ‘visionary 
transformation of the public realm.’ Transport modelling is critical to included the long 
spoken about ‘consultation and co-production of a scheme to transform King Street.’  

Comments noted.  
 
Acknowledge comment but 
retain text on Civic Campus.  
 
Proposed change:  
 
Page 37:  
Agree - A supporting image will 
be included. 

97 24 

Environment 
Agency  

4. Eastern Quarter 
Character Area   

We highlight that there are areas within the Eastern Quarter within Flood Zone 3 and 
the latest modelled tidal breach extent. It is disappointing that the SPD fails to 
acknowledge this. 

Comments noted. No change 
required. 
 
It should be noted that the SPD 
sits alongside the Local Plan 
and any work undertaken in this 
area would be subject to the 
requirements of the Local Plan 
relevant to mitigating flood risk.  
 

98 29 

Hammersmit
h BID 

4. Eastern Quarter 
Character Area   

EASTERN QUARTER 
Major employment area, large buildings, Talgarth Road splits off Ark and associated 
sites. 
Future Vision 
Large floor plates, etc encouraged to strengthen employment offer 
Development to include housing 
Improved connectivity 
Public Works proposals 
Flyunder, Gyratory, Boulevard to replace Talgarth Road 

Comments noted. No change 
required. 
 

P
age 198



57 
 

99 38 

Dave Hinton 
(former SBD 
officer) 

4. Eastern Quarter 
Character Area   

Eastern Quarter Page 39-41  
 
Until the A4/ flyover is replaced with a tunnel this is not and never will be an integrated 
space. It is in essence three islands, the Gyratory and then the developments south of 
the A4, including the Talgarth Road filling station site and the Novotel and associated 
developments of Shortlands. It also has LAMDA on its edge.   
 
I would suggest the inclusion of the new developments/refurbishments towards the 
northern end of Fulham Palace Road is problematic as they are not really integrated 
into the town centre.  
 
Perhaps with the Talgarth Road filling station development and when the A4 is 
tunnelled, strong consideration through CIL and as part of the developmental process 
could be given to covering/roofing the tube lines. creating a new open public 
space/park between; St Augustine’s, Guiness Trust buildings and the new refurbished 
Elsinore/Horatio House development and the rear of the Ark. Thereby creating a much 
more accessible public link and bring much needed exterior green space to that area?  
 
I have concerns for the new developments already proposed south of the A4 
particularly their links to the existing town centre and commuter hubs. The existing 
town centre CCTV system needs to be expanded to provide good coverage of the 
southern pavements leading to the new campus based around the old magistrate’s 
court site . The CCTV coverage needs to be extended/integrated to cover the publicly 
accessible external spaces in this area.  
 
Again, this quarter is problematic as it could be argued that it actually extends to 
include new developments/ refurbishments along Hammersmith Road from Brook 
Green to the edge of the borough at Olympia; including Griffin House 161 
Hammersmith Road, Collect court and St Pauls Hotel which have already been 
refurbished.   

Comments noted. No change 
required. 
 
The SPD sets out a broad vision 
and proposals will be further 
developed through planning 
briefs, masterplans and through 
planning applications. 

100 29 

Hammersmit
h BID 

4. Key Sites - 3 
Shortlands/Novotel/M
etro Building, 161 
Talgarth Road/Petrol 
Filling Station 

Key Sites 
Shortlands, Novotel, Metro Building 
If rededevolped, could include mixed use, connectivity, affordable workspace, 
housing. 10- 
12 storeys 
161 Talgarth Road/Petrol Filling Site 
As Shortlands. 10-22 storeys 
Seems inconsistent to suggest 22 storeys here and only 12 on the Novotel site. 

Comments noted. No change 
required. 
 
The SPD sets out a broad vision 
and proposals will be further 
developed through planning 
briefs, masterplans and through 
planning applications. 
 

101 12 

Britel Fund 
Trustees Ltd 

4. Northern Quarter 
Character Area  

The Northern Quarter is characterised as primarily commercial in nature, but with a 
mix of civic, commercial and residential uses. Indeed, we note the reference to the 
central area as consistent ‘large scale post-war  commercial buildings and recent 
developments have introduced taller buildings. We concur with this  observation and 
this is particularly evident to the immediate south or of client’s site.  
In terms of the future vision, the draft SPD notes that recent developments have 
brought forward high density  schemes with a mix of commercial and residential uses. 

Support noted.  No change 
required. 
 

P
age 199



58 
 

Our client supports the need for future development  of this area to complement the 
positive design features of these developments. 

102 29 

Hammersmit
h BID 

4. Northern Quarter 
Character Area  

NORTHERN QUARTER 
Primarily commercial, cut in two by rail tracks. Large buildings around Beadon Road. 
Shepherds Bush Road, lower historic buildings. 
 
Future Vision 
Looking for developments that complement positive features of recent developments, 
improving connectivity. Active ground floor frontages. 
 
Public Works proposals 
Traffic Management in Beadon Road, Glenthorne Road and King Street. 
Hammersmith High Line 

Comment noted. No change 
required. 

103 38 

Dave Hinton 
(former SBD 
officer) 

4. Northern Quarter 
Character Area  

Northern Quarter Page 43-46  
 
As noted perhaps the most developed area of the town centre, with all the new 
development at the southern end of Hammersmith Grove, Shepherds Bush Road and 
along Glenthorne Road. It should be noted that generally everything north of 
Glenthorne Road is street level residential. With the exception of Hammersmith Road 
and Ravenscourt Roads. It is an important transition space from the high-density busy 
nighttime and daytime commuter, retail economies of King Street, the Broadway and 
Lyric Square.   
 
Again, more traffic management will not enhance this area. The councils use of the 
term traffic management all too often means vehicle exclusion. These roads are the 
remaining east-west links across Hammersmith, they are also the service routes for 
most of the developments, for vehicles that cannot use alternate side streets. Access 
to the Kings Mall must be maintained for deliveries.  
 
Perhaps most importantly is the sustainability of access routes for emergency 
services both on call and whilst patrolling. If you make non-emergency access for 
patrol vehicles problematic then they simply avoid the area, removing an important 
group of capable guardians  

Comment noted. No change 
required. 

104 23 

National Grid 4. Strategic Sites - 
general  

Proposed development sites crossed or in close proximity to NGET assets: 
Following a review of the above Development Plan Document, we have identified that 
one or  more proposed development sites are crossed or in close proximity to NGET 
assets. Details of  the sites affecting NGET assets are provided below. 275Kv 
Underground Cable route: BEDDINGTON - WILLESDEN 1. A plan showing details of 
the site locations and details of NGET assets is attached to this letter. Please note 
that this plan is illustrative only. Without appropriate acknowledgement of the NGET 
assets present within the site, these policies should not be considered effective as 
they cannot be delivered as proposed; unencumbered by the constraints posed by the 
presence of NGET infrastructure. We propose modifications to the above site 
allocations and/or policies to include wording to the following effect: Relevant 
proposals be developed with the following site-specific criteria: a strategy for 
responding to the NGET Underground Cable present within the site which 
demonstrates how the NGET Design Guide and Principles have been applied at the 

Comment noted. No change 
required. 
 
Thank you for the details 
provided. We welcome your 
comments, however we think 
that this level of details would be 
best placed in a Development 
Plan Document rather than in 
this SPD.  NGET assets will be 
captured within a review of the 
Local Plan. During this review 
process there will be the 
opportunity for you to make 

P
age 200



59 
 

master planning stage and how the impact of the assets has been reduced through 
good  design.” Please see attached information outlining further guidance on 
development close to NGET assets. NGET also provides information in relation to its 
assets at the website below: https://www.nationalgrid.com/electricity-
transmission/network-andinfrastructure/network-route-map.Utilities Design Guidance 
The increasing pressure for development is leading to more development sites being 
brought forward through the planning process on land that is crossed by NGET  
infrastructure.                                                                                                                                                                                                          
NGET advocates the high standards of design and sustainable development forms  
promoted through national planning policy and understands that contemporary 
planning and urban design agenda require a creative approach to new development 
around high  voltage overhead lines and other NGET assets. 
 
Further Advice 
 
NGET is happy to provide advice and guidance to the Council concerning their 
networks. If we can be of any assistance to you in providing informal comments in 
confidence during your policy development, please do not hesitate to contact us.  
 
To help ensure the continued safe operation of existing sites and equipment and to 
facilitate future infrastructure investment, NGET wishes to be involved in the 
preparation, alteration and review of plans and strategies which may affect their 
assets. Please remember to consult NGET on any Development Plan Document 
(DPD) or site-specific proposals that could affect NGET’s assets. We would be 
grateful if you could check that our details as shown below are included on your 
consultation database 

representations and engage with 
us. 
 
 
 

105 28 

Ingka 
Centres 

4. Strategic Sites - 
general  

3.4 As noted in Section 2 the proposed improvements to the public realm of King 
Street are supported, however it needs to be recognised in the SPD (and future 
phases) that existing necessary and essential servicing operations will need to be 
able to continue to use King Street. 
 
3.5 Operators on King Street such as Metro Bank require servicing access directly to 
the front of their business for cash collections and drop offs for example and have no 
access to the internal servicing areas. Other retailers inside of Livat such as Lidl and 
Sainsbury require daily loading and delivery and any interventions on the highway 
network should not cause issues to their servicing operations. 
 
4.4 Hammersmith Broadway Key Intervention 25 of the SPD refers to the 
“Comprehensive redevelopment of Hammersmith Broadway”. It is confusing whether 
this refers to the comprehensive redevelopment of the entire Hammersmith Broadway 
Area as set out in the SPD or rather the comprehensive redevelopment of the 
Hammersmith Broadway public transport interchange only; Quod understand it is the 
latter. 
 
4.5 Livat is incorrectly labelled as the “Kings Mall” on the map of Hammersmith 
Broadway6. This should be amended to “Livat” and the location made clear to the 
reader where the Key Site of Livat is located. 

Comment noted.  
 
The SPD outlines what possible 
key interventions will be 
considered for any potential 
redevelopment of Hammersmith 
Broadway. This is not a site 
allocation and therefore the key 
interventions are not policy.  
 
 
The SPD references Livat as 
Key Site and does not mention 
Kings Mall. However, the map 
annotation on page 27 will be 
amended to remove Kings Mall. 
 
Proposed Change: 
 

P
age 201



60 
 

 
4.6 It is unclear whether the proposed Key Intervention to downgrade the highway 
environment and improve the pedestrian area on King Street is proposed for King 
Street’s entire length continuing in front of Livat or is only within the area shown within 
the King Street quarter. A map to support the Key Intervention proposal should be 
produced to clarify the area that this affects. 

Page 27, Plan of Hammersmith 
Broadway map. Remove Kings 
Mall annotation. 
 
A map showing key 
interventions for Hammersmith 
Broadway can be found at page 
28 of the document. However, it 
is noted that this map covers 
Hammersmith Broadway area 
only. 
 
Proposed change: 
 
Page 27: 
 
The image for the vision of this 
area will be adjusted to cover 
the entire Livat centre frontage. 
 
 

106 33 

TfL Spatial 
Planning  

4. Strategic Sites - 
general  

As stated above, TfL is generally supportive of the key sites contained within the draft 
SPD. It is expected that all sites would come forward in accordance with the relevant 
London Plan transport policies and where appropriate, developers will engage with 
TfL at an early stage through the formal preapplication process. With regards to 
enhancing ‘public transport interchanges’, there is no funding within the TfL Business 
Plan to upgrade Hammersmith Broadway station, nor is this something that TfL are 
currently investigating. As such, while the aspiration to provide good quality 
interchanges is supported in principle, further engagement/work will be needed to 
better understand what the aspirations for upgrading the station are to determine if 
they are feasible. If any improvements are to be taken forward, they would need to be 
third-party funded. Given the operational importance of the Hammersmith Broadway 
to TfL, any plans which would impact this location, including physical changes to the 
station, should be discussed with TfL at the earliest possible stage. 

Comment welcomed. No 
change required. 
 
The redevelopment of 
Hammersmith Broadway will be 
subject to further discussion with 
TfL. 

107 38 

Dave Hinton 
(former SBD 
officer) 

4. Strategic Sites - 
general  

Developments: all these new high-rise developments require servicing via service 
vehicles, the shops require deliveries. So, the volume the flyover occupies would 
release valuable land, but not for development, only open space? I always worry in 
Hammersmith as there is little if any land left to develop, unless we start using the 
public open spaces. Recent town centre developments have simply increased 
densities through height. Creating street level spaces that exist at the bottom of 
canyons, this has impacts upon windage and light levels.   
 
Increased housing in the town centre without its own private outdoor space is unfair, 
to both the new and existing residents’. Public parks should not be the sole outdoor 
amenity space available to these residents. Single parents and families with young 
children cannot always be expected to go to the park.  

Comment noted. No change 
required. 
 
The removal/replacement of the 
flyover with a tunnel is a long-
term ambition which is subject to 
further discussion with 
stakeholders. The site that 
would be released by the flyover 
is identified as strategic site in 
the Council’s Local Plan (2018) 
specifically in Policy HRA2  
 

P
age 202



61 
 

It is relevant to note that the 
SPD is a guidance document 
only and should be read 
alongside the Local Plan. Whilst 
it will be a material consideration 
in determining planning 
applications, it does not attempt 
to set or go beyond existing 
policy.   
 
Policies in the Local Plan and 
London Plan identify appropriate 
locations for high-rise 
development and Hammersmith 
Regeneration Area is one of 
those areas. Any impacts will be 
carefully assessed against Local 
Plan policies to avoid any 
adverse impacts on the area.  
 
In terms of private amenity 
space provision in residential 
development, proposals are 
always subject to requirements 
set out in the London Plan and 
the Local Plan whereby a 
minimum of private outdoor 
space is generally met in 
residential developments.  
 

108 8 

Carole 
Cooney-
Quinn 

4. Strategic Sites - 
general  

A few years ago I sent this idea to The Mayor of London explaining my vision for what 
is being called the High line to replace the flyover. 
 
I am so glad it has been drawn up for Hammersmith and Fulham and that someone 
has finally taken my idea on board and are looking at ways to make one of my dreams 
a reality.  I want it to run further along by the river also.  Maybe one day Hounslow 
council will also realise it would be amazing to do the same and join up the river, 
Chiswick House grounds to the rest of Chiswick.  I will keep my dream alive and keep 
writing to those concerned. 
 
It will take years, much hard work and a lot of money.  However the end result will 
make the lives of all in West London and across London so much better in so many 
ways. 

Support noted. No change 
required. 
 
We appreciate you taking the 
time to read and make 
comments on the SPD.  
 

109 29 

Hammersmit
h BID 

5. Developer 
Guidance 

DEVELOPER GUIDANCE 
This section is not reviewed in detail, as developers will naturally refer directly to this 
and policy documents. 
 

Comments noted. No change 
required 

P
age 203



62 
 

Relevant Policies identified: 
 
A. Climate and Sustainability 
Policy H1. Sustainable Placemaking 
Towards Net Zero, modern methods of construction, public benefits - greening, etc. 
 
B Supporting Appropriate Density 
Policy H2. Tall Buildings 
Tall Buildings may be acceptable, considering context, and provision of public 
amenity. A  general view that 10+ storeys may be acceptable on Broadway and 
Eastern Quarter. A ‘Gradient Map’ is attached indicating the desirability of talk 
buildings over the Town Centre. 
The map reflects the recommendations made in the consideration of the four quarters 
above. 
No surprises. 
Another map proposes locations for landmark/gateway (= tall) buildings. This includes 
the Civic Campus, the Landmark site, St Paul’s, Broadway, Apollo, Shortlands, Ark, 
Magistrates 
Court. 
Again, no surprises. 
 
C Architectural Excellence 
Policy H4 View Management 
Policy H5 High Quality Architecture 
Again, no surprises. 

110 38 

Dave Hinton 
(former SBD 
officer) 

5. Developer 
Guidance 

Developer Guidance  
 
No mention of Secured by Design as a planning condition 

Comment noted. No change 
required. 
 
The SPD is a guidance 
document only and should be 
read alongside the Local Plan 
and the London plan in terms of 
policy provision, together with 
other SPDs.  
 
The requirement is already 
embedded in the Local Plan and 
the Planning Guidance SPD. We 
do not think that further 
reference in this SPD is 
necessary. Planning conditions 
for secure by design would be a 
necessary part of any relevant 
application in the town centre. 
 

 

P
age 204



63 
 

111 24 

Environment 
Agency  

5. Developer 
Guidance  
H1 - Sustainable 
Placemaking 

We strongly recommend that the SPD replaces the wording from ‘as well as providing 
a net increase in biodiversity’. To ‘as well as meeting mandatory biodiversity net gain 
of at least 10% and utilise the urban greening factor for to maximise increases in 
biodiversity’. 

Comment noted.  
 
Proposed change: 
Page 48 Amend Key principle 
H1 as follows: 
 
“New developments will need to 
adopt the highest possible 
climate standards to support the 
achievement of net-zero  
carbon emissions and be  
designed to be well-adapted for 
a changing climate,  
as well as providing a net  
increase in biodiversity meeting 
mandatory biodiversity net gain 
of at least 10% and utilise the 
urban greening factor for to 
maximise increases in 
biodiversity.” 
 

112 12 

Britel Fund 
Trustees Ltd 

5. Developer 
Guidance  
H1 - Sustainable 
Placemaking 

In terms of the Developer Guidance, the guiding principles should reasonably cross 
reference relevant policies  of the Local Plan.  For example, whilst H1 – ‘Sustainable 
Place Making’ is an admirable objective, the guidance is very general in nature. 
Future developments would be subject to the detailed requirements set out in the 
policies to the Local Plan and the London Plan.   
 
In relation to locations for tall building, the draft SPD broadly follows the approach 
developed by the 2019  Masterplan.  In relation to our client’s site, we note that the 
colour wash on the ‘Illustrative gradient-map of location suitability  for tall buildings’ 
(Figure 5, page 50) supports taller buildings (10+ storeys) to the south with the 
remainder of the site identified as “large buildings may be appropriate subject to 
consideration of local context (7-10 storeys”.  

Comments noted. No change 
required. 
 
The SPD is a guidance 
document only and should be 
read alongside the Local Plan. 
This is made very clear in the 
document.  
 
This SPD expands upon the 
masterplan findings to  
provide planning guidance for 
developers and residents for 
Hammersmith town centre.  
 
The gradient map is just 
indicative and the suitability of 
tall buildings will need to be 
assessed against the relevant 
Local Plan and London Plan to 
determine the suitability of any 
proposed scheme including 
consideration of key townscape, 
and heritage issues. 

113 34 
Royal 
London 

5. Developer 
Guidance  

RLAM support the principle of sustainable placemaking within Policy H1 including 
seeking the delivery of net zero carbon on new development sites within the Town 

Support welcomed. No 
change required.  

P
age 205



64 
 

Asset 
Management 

H1 - Sustainable 
Placemaking 

Centre, as well as the principle of maximising biodiversity, urban greening and 
promoting sustainable transport.  

114 35 

FORE 
Jersey VIII 
Limited  

5. Developer 
Guidance  
H1 - Sustainable 
Placemaking 

My client is generally supportive of the emerging proposals and the objectives for the 
Town Centre and provides the following comments and observations in response to 
the current draft policies. Policy H1 ‘Sustainable Placemaking’: At the heart of FORE’s 
principles and development model is sustainability. The current application for works 
to 255 Hammersmith Road embodies the objectives of sustainability by seeking to 
utilise and retrofit the existing building.  In addition to this, the proposals will introduce 
and increase the urban greening on the site.  In doing so, the ‘highest possible climate 
standards’ are being adopted 

Support welcomed. No 
change required. 

115 24 

Environment 
Agency  

5. Developer 
Guidance - Climate 
Change and 
Sustainability 

It is positive to see that flood risk is included within this section of the SPD, however, 
we recommend that it includes a specific paragraph which encourages developers to 
consider the risks of flooding at an early stage of the design process, with particular 
emphasis on sites that are within the tidal breach extent. 
We support the approach within ‘A: Climate Change and Sustainability’ as stated “as 
part of this approach, provision of new/enhanced enabling links into the existing 
London ecological network of parks, waterways the river and introduction of SUDs 
measures will be encouraged”, however, we encourage that the wording is stronger, 
and suggest that “as part of this approach, provision of new/enhanced enabling links 
into the existing London ecological network of parks, waterways the river and 
introduction of SUDs measures must be considered”. This will bring greater benefits to 
the Hammersmith Town Centre and have multifunctional benefits including reduced 
flood risk and enhancing biodiversity. 

Comment noted. No change 
required. 
 
We welcome your comment, 
however, it is relevant to note 
that the SPD is a guidance 
document only and should be 
read alongside the Local Plan, 
whereby this requirement is 
already embedded in Local Plan 
Policy CC4 and in the Climate 
Change SPD - Flooding and 
Sustainable Drainage section. 
 

116 31 

Hammersmit
h Grove 
Residents 
Association  

5. Developer 
Guidance - Climate 
Change and 
Sustainability 

Commentary on page 38 Climate Change 
 
Suggestions to weave into the report.  It is too generalised at the moment. 
 
Firstly, we are already feeling the impact of climate change and need to urgently 
respond to it. Cross reference document to SDP on Climate. Flooding an issue in this 
Borough, plus hot summers.  Adaptation measures therefore have to be widely 
incorporated. 
 
Are there any plans (ask Tim Pryce) to include either parts of Kings St or the 
Broadway as a Local Heat Network.  Civic Campus is one with a Ground Source Heat 
Pump already built.  Needs to be mentioned.  Possibly another at the Broadway?   
 
Make it clear that the Climate and Ecological Emergency Commission (CEEC) and 
other Commissions on AQ etc referenced, all served their fix terms and are no longer 
active.   Current wording suggests they are ongoing!  They informed the Strategy and 
Action Plan adopted by the Council in {date} to deliver the 2030 net zero target.  This 
is the key document the Council is working to deliver and the most important to 
mention.  Don’t necessarily need to mention the others?. 
 
Need to talk more about ADAPTATION as well as climate change. 
 
Role of ecology is important.  Survey to plant more trees and planting in general. 

Comments noted. 
 

It is relevant to note that the 
SPD is a guidance document 
only. This is made clear in the 
document. 

 
The council have recently 
adopted a dedicated Climate 
Change SPD and this document 
should be read alongside it for 
more detail measures on 
adaptation.  
 
Proposed change: 
 
Page 49, amend as follows: 
 
Resident-led commissions on air 
quality and biodiversity have 
been established, alongside  
a Climate and Ecological  
Emergency Commission to  

P
age 206



65 
 

Green and blue roofs please. 
Introduction of solar panels and use of Air Source Heat Pumps. 
introduce Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS) to reduce the impact of 
surface water flooding on our streets and homes.   To be normally considered in 
planning applications.  
In redesign of streets and public realm will be “greening the grey”.  Use of permeable 
paving, water butts on buildings, planning for water storage tanks to alleviate flood risk 
in the area etc.  Note street scape will change significantly to accommodate these 
measures. 
 
Look at mitigating the impact of Heat Islands particularly around the Broadway. 
Identification of “shaded/cooler” areas in summer for office workers and residents to 
shelter from extreme heat eg on Lyric Square and along Kings Street.  Or wind tunnel 
at top of HG! 
 
EV chargers need to be rolled out. 
More bicycle safe storage units for commuters and office workers.. 

assist with recommendations to 
achieve significant  
improvements. The Council  
has adopted a Climate and  
Ecological Strategy (2021) and 
Climate Change SPD (2023) the 
themes of which underpin this 
SPD. 
 
The Climate Change SPD 
covers climate change and 
adaptation topic in more detail.  
 
Overheating is a challenge for 
the borough and London wide. It 
is something that we are 
committed to understanding and 
where we aim to reduce the 
impact.  All major planning 
applications in the borough and 
across London are required to 
mitigate overheating in line with 
the London Plan cooling 
hierarchy and reduce the urban 
heat island effect. This is also 
something that is reflected in our 
Local Plan and Climate Change 
SPD. 
 
Electric vehicle charging is 
something that we actively 
support. Where car parking is 
provided as part of new 
development, we expect EV 
charging points to be provided. 
Across Hammersmith and 
Fulham, there are almost 3000 
EV charging points. You can 
suggest a location for a 
lamppost charging point and 
look at the work that H&F are 
carrying out in support of EV 
charging by accessing the 
following link:  
 
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/transport
-and-roads/electric-vehicles 

P
age 207



66 
 

 

117 38 

Dave Hinton 
(former SBD 
officer) 

5. Developer 
Guidance - Climate 
Change and 
Sustainability 

Greenhouse gases, most of those are generated by the A4 not King Street. The 
decline in the High Street has more to do with the after effects of covid, the arrival of 
Westfield and the lack of investment in the Kings Mall.   

Comment noted. No change 
required. 

118 38 

Dave Hinton 
(former SBD 
officer) 

5. Developer 
Guidance - Climate 
Change and 
Sustainability 

Page 49 A Climate Change and sustainability.  
 
Please do not, assume the removal of all vehicles (cars) is the best way to achieve 
this aim. I would fully support the removal of the flyover and the introduction of a new 
tunnel to replace it. But access will be needed by new developments to support 
vehicles which will not all be electric, similarly residents will also require access to 
private transport alternatives, suitable for all ages and weather conditions. If there is 
no car parking provision available now in new residential developments , how in 5 – 
10 years’ time, will you facilitate the electric vehicles which may be the majority unit at 
that time.  
 
Obviously, use of solar power etc should be a matter of course as well as sustainable 
low carbon developments and long-term development management.   

Comment noted. No change 
required. 
 
The SPD supplements policies 
in the Local Plan. Transport and 
accessibility are addressed in 
Policies T1-T7 of the Local Plan.  
Given the high level of public 
transport accessibility the 
council’s approach to new 
residential developments is car 
parking free measures unless 
evidence is provided to show 
that there is a significant lack of 
public transport available. 
 
Detailed guidance on renewable 
energy, low carbon development 
are themes explored in the 
Council’s Climate Change SPD.  
   

119 29 

Hammersmit
h BID 

5. Developer 
Guidance - Climate 
Change and 
Sustainability 

A Sustainable, Green and Liveable Hammersmith 
Prioritisation of Carbon Reduction in Construction projects, improvement of cycle 
routes, new and improved public spaces. The requirements for construction projects 
are in line with developing national and GLA policy. They stop short of specifically 
requiring the prioritisation of reuse over demolition. As this would be a policy change it 
cannot be introduced via the SPD. Note that this is encouraged by GLA policy and is 
being introduced by Westminster 

Comment noted. No change 
required. 
 

P
age 208



67 
 

120 38 

Dave Hinton 
(former SBD 
officer) 

5. Developer 
Guidance - 
Supporting 
Appropriate Density 

Page 50-51 B. Supporting Appropriate Density.  
 
I have made mention of this elsewhere: whilst this section concentrates on density of 
mass and height and obvious impacts upon existing buildings and fields of view. I 
would also raise density of type of use: i.e. how much residential, hotel, retail, night 
time economy etc is sustainable. The developments use throughout the day and at 
weekends. I.e. avoid concentrations of night time and week end only use dead 
spaces.  

Comment noted. No change 
required.  
 
The Council’s Local Plan 
policies relating to town centres 
development encourage uses 
that can contribute to the night 
time economy. The vision for 
Hammersmith town centre is to 
increase the diversity in the 
range of uses being provided 
(activities such as restaurants, 
bars and pubs, cinemas and 
theatres) to add vitality to the 
centre. This variety will 
automatically contribute to 
enhancing night life economy for 
local community and visitors. 
 

121 27 

TFL Places 
for London  

5. Developer 
Guidance H2 - Tall 
Buildings 

We note your suggested indicative development parameters that building heights of 
between 10- 20 storeys might be achievable. We consider that this could inhibit the 
development of this site, given the Council's aspirations, including enhanced public 
transport interchange which would need to be delivered via the development. 
Therefore, we suggest that the upper height limit is deleted and that reference is 
made to height being determined via a design-led approach and as part of a 
development which delivers significant public benefits. 
 
We hope that these representations are helpful and, as we say above, we would be 
happy to meet officers, with other owners, to discuss your aspirations and delivery of 
Hammersmith Broadway. 

Comment noted. No change 
required. 
 
The SPD intends to provide 
indicative guidance  only and 
should be read alongside the 
Local Plan. The SPD suggests 
indicative development 
parameters for tall buildings that 
may be considered appropriate 
for the regeneration area. 
However, detailed consideration 
of these matters will be required 
through the development 
management process. 
 
As per Local Plan Policy DC3, 
the general character of any 
particular area will always be an 
important consideration in 
assessing the acceptability of 
tall buildings and a full design 
appraisal of the impact of a tall 
building will always be required. 
 

122 31 
Hammersmit
h Grove 

5. Developer 
Guidance       H2- Tall 
buildigs (p.50 

The London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham published a new supplementary 
planning document to help guide the development of Hammersmith Town Centre.  
 

Comment noted.  
 

P
age 209



68 
 

Residents 
Association  

As part of the consultation process the planning department met committee members 
of the Hammersmith Grove Residents Association to discuss issues in relation to 
Hammersmith Broadway and the Northern Quarter of the Town Centre plan   being 
areas within or adjacent to Hammersmith Grove.  
 
 HGRA were concerned as to how proposals in the Plan might impact on the 
Hammersmith Grove Conservation Area and have proposed amendments to the 
description of the area to include reference to the Conservation Area (see attached). 
'Primarily commercial in nature but including mix of civic, commercial and residential 
uses. In the northern part the railway tracks separate the area into two, creating a 
significant barrier to movement, between Hammersmith Grove and Shepherds Bush 
Road. The central area around Beadon Road/and the southern end of Hammersmith 
Grove, consists of large scale post-war commercial buildings contrasting with the 
Victorian tree lined terraces to the north forming the Hammersmith Conservation 
Area.' Future vision amendments: 'Consideration of traffic management within Beadon 
Road, Glenthorne Rd and King Street  together with their effect on adjoining 
neighbourhoods will enable active travel. ' 
 
Various sites and buildings were discussed and comments relating to those sites are 
made as follows:  
 
  26-28 Hammersmith Grove at rear of Hammersmith Grove residential properties   
 
 The site presently comprising a ramp and carpark and office block consisting of six 
storeys. (See attached).  
Two planning applications for a hotel comprising of six storeys were submitted by 
Developers and both refused by LBHF on a number of grounds to include, 
significantly, grounds that the development was considered unacceptable in terms of 
impact on residential amenity and unacceptable in terms of neighbouring properties 
privacy.  
 In the circumstances HGRA made clear their view that any Development should be 
no higher than the existing office building or the Hotel Development being 6 storeys.  
 It was therefore felt that in respect of the land immediately behind Hammersmith 
Grove, residential buildings, and access way, it was inappropriate for this to be shown 
coloured dark blue (Appropriate Density page 50) indicating this was land suitable for 
tall buildings (i.e. 7-10 storeys).  
 
After some discussion it was agreed that turquoise colouring would be more 
appropriate for this particular area but leaving the dark blue colouring for the 
remainder of the 26-28 site.  
 
  
Hammersmith and City Over-Rail Development  
  
HGRA received confirmation the Over-Rail development for the metropolitan and city 
line proposed in the Grimshaw report was not viable and these proposals have now 
been dropped.   

We appreciate you taking the 
time to read and make 
comments on the SPD.  
 
The tall buildings gradient map 
will be updated to exclude the 
north-western extent of 26-28 
Hammersmith Grove as not 
being suitable for tall buildings; 
to reflect the interface with the 
scale of adjacent terraces and 
the need for a transition in 
height along this boundary.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 210



69 
 

 
  
Glen House Grove House and Wimpey building    
 
The dark blue colouring in relation to tall buildings should also be removed from the 
forecourt to Grove and Glen house as being inappropriate for this site.  
 
HGRA also believe the Glen House Grove House and the Wimpey buildings should 
be designated as local Buildings of Merit.  
 
The three buildings form a uniform style and homogenous cluster of buildings built in 
the post war 20th century providing a natural transition from the very modern buildings 
of the 21st century in the centre of Hammersmith in the south to the more historic 19th 
century residential buildings to the north.  
 
  
The Triangle   
 
As was made clear from our discussion the frustrations of the Residents are matched 
by those of the Council.   
HGRA with others have always felt that 14 storey permission was too high a building 
for this site in that there should have been a lowering of height transition between the 
centre of Hammersmith and the residential areas to the north.   
HGRA also feels that Hammersmith has been able to maintain its unique commercial 
character by incorporating existing historic buildings or facades into development 
schemes.  
HGRA also challenges any attempts to remove green landscaping and replacing them 
with hard landscaping.   
Accordingly, HGRA will with the council follow any developments or amendments to 
the existing scheme on this site closely and make the appropriate representations 
where appropriate.  
 
  
Hammersmith High Line  
 
The proposed Planning Document refers to the proposed ‘Hammersmith High -line’ 
using an elevated gantry between Sovereign Court and the railway behind the Livat 
building. This was a proposal made several years ago and two committee members 
had understood that with the building of Sovereign Court access was compromised.   
HGRA would ask for confirmation that the proposals are still viable and if necessary, 
commissioning a report: if not it should be dropped as was the City line Over-rail 
development. It was pointed out the picture used to illustrate the High line was the one 
originally used for the over-rail development. It is felt that the Development plan 
should only set out proposals which have a viable realistic chance of proceeding.  
 
  
 

P
age 211



70 
 

Marks and Spencer and Lyric Square  
 
The Planning Document refers to Lyric Square being the heart of Hammersmith. This 
cannot be overstated not only providing a market and various cultural and sporting 
events over the summer but also throughout the year outdoor seating to the various 
cafes and restaurants. The square is relatively small and overshadowed by taller 
building on many sides. HGRA will press to ensure that light and particularly sunlight 
is not curtailed by any developments to the south or west of the square.     
 
 A committee member has taken pictures to record the current existing sunlight 
throughout the year.  
 
 There is therefore particular concern as to a proposal by Marks and Spencer to build 
a high-rise tower(s) for student accommodation at the rear of their property. The 
HGRA view is that this should only be consented to if it is shown that the tower will not 
affect the light /sunlight to Lyric Square at any time during the year.  
 
If the planning proposal proceeds, HGRA will press for the council to have a fully 
independent report in relation to light/sunlight.  
 
 
One further point is that the map showing the location of proposed Landmark 
buildings shows a Landmark/Gateway building at the southwestern corner of Lyric 
Square. Is this misplaced?  
 
  
Editing of extract relating to Northern Quarter   
 
 We have as requested included some editing by way of amendments and addition to 
the wording in relation to the norther quarter for your consideration.   
 
 Developers Guidance /Climate Change and Sustainability   
 
 The points made are all very important but seem to flow into each other. Could 
consideration be given to set out the various issues as bullet points or boxes in order 
to make each issue important in its own right?  
 
  
 
  

123 30 

Marks and 
Spencer and 
Reef Group 

5. Developer 
Guidance       H2- Tall 
buildigs (p.50) and 
Key Site M&S  

The SPD includes suggested appropriate heights and massing for new development 
within the Town Centre, including on our Site. Policy H2 at page 26 sets out indicative 
heights and massing for the Town Centre and identifies where tall buildings may be 
appropriate. Our clients welcome the acknowledgement in the policy wording that tall 
buildings of 10+ storeys (+30m) may be achievable within the Hammersmith 
Broadway and Eastern Fringe Areas. Their Site is located within the identified 
Hammersmith Broadway sub area. At Policy H2 on page 26 there is also an 

Commented noted. No change 
required. 
 
The SPD is a guidance 
document only and should be 
read alongside the Local Plan. 
The SPD suggests indicative 

P
age 212



71 
 

illustrative gradient-map of suitable locations for tall buildings which identifies that the 
King Street frontage of our clients’ Site could contain a building up to 6 storeys and 
that the remainder of their Site is suitable for a tall building of 10+ storeys. There is 
also mention of the M+S Site under a heading labelled “Key Site” on page 17 where 
an appropriate height is mentioned as 11 storeys (subject to consideration of 
townscape context and historic assets). For consistency and to ensure this description 
of appropriate heights accords with the diagram on page 26, we suggest the text 
under the Key Site subheading on page 17 is altered to say “10+ storeys”.  

development parameters for tall 
buildings that may be 
considered appropriate for the 
regeneration area.  
 
Based upon option testing, we 
think that the indicative height 
range 5-11 storeys is an 
appropriate range for this site. 
As per Local Plan Policy DC3, 
the general character of any 
particular area will always be an 
important consideration in 
assessing the acceptability of 
tall buildings and a full design 
appraisal of the impact of a tall 
building will always be required 
as part of the development 
management process. 
 
 

124 34 

Royal 
London 
Asset 
Management 

5. Developer 
Guidance H2 - Tall 
Buildings 

We support the principles of Policy H2, which identifies suitable locations for tall 
buildings of 10+ storeys including locating 2 Queen Caroline Street within such an 
area. This is in line with the adopted Local Plan (2018) which supports the principle of 
tall buildings in the town centre.  
We do not consider it necessary that each tall building should provide new public 
spaces as currently outlined in Policy H2, but instead new tall buildings should deliver 
improvements to the environment at ground floor level and help facilitate public realm 
improvements around the Site to enhance the pedestrian environment. We agree that 
tall buildings should provide active uses and highest architectural quality as identified 
in Policy H2 and this is the intention with the emerging 2 Queen Caroline Street 
proposals.  
The RLAM team has undertaken significant analysis required under the policy tests of 
Policy D9 of the London Plan and Policy DC3 of the Local Plan. This includes a 
review of the surrounding context that includes a number of existing and emerging tall 
buildings (including Landmark House to the west of the Site), detailed view 
assessment assessing the impact of the proposals on heritage assets and from a 
townscape perspective, daylight and sunlight impacts etc.  
There is clear opportunity to improve the architectural quality of the Site through the 
emerging proposals and to optimise the development potential of the Site with the 
inclusion of a tall building that would sit comfortably within townscape views and 
safeguarding heritage assets.  

Comment noted and support 
welcomed. No change 
required. 

125 35 

FORE 
Jersey VIII 
Limited  

5. Developer 
Guidance H2 - Tall 
Buildings 

Policy H2 ‘Tall Buildings’: The identification of 255 Hammersmith Road within the 
illustrative gradient map of suitable locations for “taller buildings (10+ storeys)”, is 
supported. We note that the Shortlands / Novotel / Metro Building have been identified 
as a ‘key site’ which considers (indicative) heights of 10-23 “may be achievable”. 255 
Hammersmith completes the ‘urban block’ of buildings along Hammersmith Road and 

Comment noted. No change 
required.  
 
 

P
age 213



72 
 

Butterwick Road (part of the Hammersmith Gyratory). My client is encouraged by the 
identification of a range of building heights in this location 

126 36 

The 
Hammersmit
h Society 

5. Developer 
Guidance H2 - Tall 
Buildings 

Tall buildings (p50): the illustrative gradient map includes the site at 26-28 
Hammersmith Grove, alongside the rear of the existing residential terrace, where it 
suggests ‘tall buildings may be acceptable’. This planning guidance is contrary to the 
discussions about this site which have been taking place between residents, LBHF 
and developers for some years, and this SDP diagram would sabotage the emerging 
consensus.  

Comment noted. No change 
required.  
 
The SPD provides an indicative 
guide to tall buildings only.   
 
Proposals are always assessed 
against relevant policies in the 
Local Plan and supported only if 
policies’ requirements are met. 
 
Proposed change: 
 
Page 50: 
 
The tall buildings gradient map 
will be updated to exclude the 
north-western extent of 26-28 
Hammersmith Grove as not 
being suitable for tall buildings; 
to reflect the interface with the 
scale of adjacent terraces and 
the need for a transition in 
height along this boundary. 
  

127 39 

Historic 
England 

5. Developer 
Guidance H2 - Tall 
Buildings 

The document contains guidance for developers regarding proposals for tall buildings 
in Hammersmith Town Centre (Developer Guidance Section B, p49), and indicative 
building parameters for specific sites. Historic England recognises that well-designed 
tall building in the right location can make a positive contribution to urban life. 
However, such development should be based on a thorough assessment and 
understanding of the heritage significance of the area and seek to have a positive 
relationship with the surrounding townscape context in terms of scale, massing and 
streetscape. For the avoidance of doubt, the advice in the draft SPD regarding tall 
building development for specific sites should be cross-referenced with existing 
policies set out in the Local Plan, and should not constitute new allocations. We 
recommend that your Council refers to Historic England’s Tall Buildings Advice Note 
(2022) when considering tall building development at both strategic and application 
stages. This document can be accessed via: https://historicengland.org.uk/images-
books/publications/tall-buildings-advice-note-4/. 

Comment noted. No change 
required. 
 
Existing policies in the Local 
Plan and in the London, Plan 
have been referenced in the 
supporting text of H2 key 
principle.  
 
The SPD seeks to supplement 
Policies in the Local Plan and 
London Plan providing additional 
guidance to development 
considerable acceptable in the 
identified areas. Development 
proposals for tall buildings will 
be assessed against Local Plan 
and London Plan criteria.   
 

P
age 214



73 
 

128 12 

Britel Fund 
Trustees Ltd 

5. Developer 
Guidance H2 - Tall 
Buildings 

The text included within H2 recognises that ‘within the northern fringe areas, new 
buildings should generally be designed to respect the existing townscape context and 
key heritage assets. The scale of any large/tall building should be carefully considered 
within this fine-grain context.” Reference to ‘large’ buildings should be replaced with 
‘tall’ buildings to ensure consistency otherwise reference to ‘large buildings’ be better 
defined. Our client supports the flexible approach to tall buildings site out in the SPD, 
with the acceptability of individual proposals needing to be assessed on their merits in 
the local contexts consistent with Local Plan policy.  

Comment noted and 
welcomed.  
 
Proposed change: 
 
Page 50 
 
The tall buildings gradient map 
will be updated to exclude the 
north-western extent of 26-28 
Hammersmith Grove as not 
being suitable for tall buildings; 
to reflect the interface with the 
scale of adjacent terraces and 
the need for a transition in 
height along this boundary. 
 

129 34 

Royal 
London 
Asset 
Management 

5. Developer 
Guidance            H3 – 
Landmarks and 
Gateways  

The Queen Caroline Street site is within a prominent location from the gyratory and 
provides an opportunity to deliver a high quality landmark building on a currently 
underdeveloped brownfield site, especially as you look south from the  
gyratory. We consider that the site has the potential to be identified as a 
landmark/gateway location within this policy.  

Comment noted. No change 
required. 

130 35 

FORE 
Jersey VIII 
Limited  

5. Developer 
Guidance H3 – 
Landmarks and 
Gateways  

Policy H3 ‘Landmarks and Gateways’: Identifying both ‘landmark’ buildings and 
‘gateway’  buildings, the document considers the ‘transport hub’ in the centre of 
Hammersmith Gyratory  to have the potential to become a landmark building. Whilst 
this is recognised, we are  surprised that 255 Hammersmith Road – and its position 
on the corner of Hammersmith Road  / Butterwick Road (part of the Hammersmith 
Gyratory) – has not been identified as at least a  gateway building, particularly given 
its prominence on the corner and in the context of the  live application which seeks to 
improve and enhance the existing façade to make it of a higher  quality and 
celebrated. We would encourage this to be reviewed 

Comment noted. No change 
required.  
 
 

131 35 
FORE 
Jersey VIII 
Limited  

5. Developer 
Guidance H4 - View 
Management 

Policy H5 ‘High-Quality Architecture’: Our client welcomes the continued requirements 
for  development to be of high architectural quality. 

Comment noted. No change 
required. 

132 38 

Dave Hinton 
(former SBD 
officer) 

5. Developer 
Guidance H4 - View 
Management 

H4 View management: I fully support new development, but I am aware of unintended 
impacts of new developments upon sight lines and existing development, emergency 
services radio transmission and the BID town centre radio network. It should be a 
planning condition that any such transmission impacts noted upon the completion of a 
development will need to be rectified at the developer’s expense. I.e. the creation of 
new transmission dead/black spots must be mitigated and designated by a planning 
condition.  
 
View management is also critical to tree planting, signage, and canopy/table umbrella 
use. With regards to the borough use of CCTV. Planting trees without having 
additional funding to mitigate the impact by placing additional town centre CCTV 
cameras will be an issue. Remembering that currently we try to co-locate new 
cameras upon street lighting columns. Similar issues need to be addressed in the 

Comments noted. 
 
This level of detail is something 
we cannot introduce to an SPD 
without policy provision in the 
Local Plan. View management 
polices do not cover 
transmission impacts as 
currently drafted.  
 
Community Infrastructure Levy 
and S106 obligations can be 
used to fund CCTV systems, but 

P
age 215



74 
 

creation of new public spaces/pedestrianised areas. CCTV provision and the 
integration links to new development CCTV systems, particularly with large scale 
public attendance, was a stream under the CIL process and this needs to be ensured 
in the planning process.   

again this level of detail cannot 
be introduced to this SPD and 
for such mitigation measures we 
would look to secure these 
through the planning application 
process and capture, where 
appropriate, in future iterations 
of the Local Plan. 
 

133 36 

The 
Hammersmit
h Society 

 5. Developer 
Guidance - 
Architectural 
Excellence 

Architectural excellence (p53): illustrations which are restricted to major development 
projects overlook the particular importance of architectural excellence in smaller 
projects, which make up the greater part of the streetscape in the borough and the 
town centre.  

Comment noted. No change 
required. 
 
It is important to note that the 
illustrations at page 53 are only 
intended to be as example of 
high-quality architecture and 
successful landmark buildings.  
 

134 38 

Dave Hinton 
(former SBD 
officer) 

 5. Developer 
Guidance -
Architectural 
Excellence 

Page 52-53 C Architectural Excellence:   
 
Sadly, lacking from the new residential development on the A4 by the Civic Campus 
and as mentioned in some of the other recent developments. I fully support the 
insistence on good architecture including Secured by Design as a basic requirement 
for not only the inner space but also the external spaces.  Blast mitigation (i.e. 
laminated glass as standard in all town centre development and refits) is increasingly 
important for where building heights increase, creating enclosed street scape’s and 
new town centre focal points. Glazing is often used on ground level facades to create 
the feeling of inclusion into the buildings. Care needs to be taken to ensure that 
existing focal points do not become dwarfed, by new development mass.   
 
The design of the street scape including furniture and planting, needs to be 
sustainable at minimum cost. It also has to adhere to both security and counter 
terrorist needs. Vehicles have been used as weapons and I.E.D devices hidden 
amongst cluttered street furniture. CCTV needs to be able to see to manage an area. 
Therefore any planting must take into account site lines or pay to mitigate impacts  
 
The removal of the Hammersmith Flyover would perhaps be the most critical element 
of enhancing the existing environment and focal points of the Apollo, St Pauls and 
Bradmore House.  
 
Remember that the buildings whilst award winning also need to have long term 
sustainability of use. Often a bespoke award-winning building (e.g. the Ark) may be 
problematic to reuse once the original tenant has moved on. So, architecture that has 
sustainability and flexibility of use is also critical. Also, the architecture in a town 
centre must have a 24/7 spatial relationship. Despite the project drawings, the spaces 
must be appropriately lit and have use outside summer daylight hours. How will the 
external space feel at 4am on a wet winters’ day?  

Comment noted.  
 
We agree that design measures 
such as those you describe are 
important considerations for 
development proposals coming 
through the planning process. 
Our detailed policies in the Local 
Plan, London Plan and Planning 
Guidance SPD seek to address 
these impacts and the need for 
mitigation measures in certain 
schemes. The Hammersmith 
SPD must be read alongside 
these documents as these will 
be used to determine planning 
applications.  

P
age 216



75 
 

135 12 
Britel Fund 
Trustees Ltd 

 5. Developer 
Guidance -H5 - High 
Quality Architecture 

Our client supports H5 which recognises that new development can assist in 
transforming and replacing less successful buildings with high quality, sustainable 
developments. 

Support noted. No suggested 
changes 

136 29 

Hammersmit
h BID 

 5. Developer 
Guidance -
Diversifying and 
Promoting New Uses  

 Diversifying and promoting New Uses 
Policy H6 Mix of Uses 
Office/Workspace Uses 
LBHF aim is for 10,000 new jobs by 2035. In view of current vacancy rates this 
intention of the Industrial Policy may require review. In any case the market will dictate 
the demand for office space. 
It would be wise to encourage developments that are inherently convertible - ‘Long 
Life, Loose Fit’. Aspects such as escape provision, floor plate widths, 
daylight/sunlight. 
 
Supporting the Evening Economy 
Restaurant and Cafe Uses 
Cultural/Arts/Leisure and Community Uses 
Residential Uses 
Defend Council Homes 
Hotel Uses 
Social and Community Infrastructure 
Betting Shops, Pawnbrokers, Payday Loan Shops, and Hot Food Takeaway Use 
Generally, no surprises in this section. 
 
Active and Accessible Places 
Legible streetscapes, low level activity, wayfinding, accessibility, etc. all encouraged. 
Public Works Proposals 
An enhanced programme of markets and public events working with local 
communities and Hammersmith BID 
Consultation on functional requirements for public space. 

Comment noted. No changes 
required.  
 
The Local Plan policies for the 
economy and jobs are written 
flexibility to respond to changing 
demand and supply and viability 
evidence is sought to establish 
the need for continued uses. 
See Local Plan policies E1 and 
E2.  
 
The detail design measures 
mentioned such as escape 
provision etc would be assessed 
by way of Building regulations 
and other relevant policy 
provision. This SPD is not a 
stand-alone document that can 
include that level of detail or 
replicate existing requirements 
and policies. 

137 38 

Dave Hinton 
(former SBD 
officer) 

 5. Developer 
Guidance -
Diversifying and 
Promoting New Uses  

H6 Mix of uses: I have concerns about the type of housing being provided within town 
centre spaces and the densities involved. There will be limited public space and I 
have concerns about the amount or private communal space provided for residents, 
as already mentioned.   
 
Retail uses: Multiple small retails outlets are fine , but they need to be supported by 
footfall and Hammersmith is not really a tourist destination.  
 
Office and workspaces: In the new world of working from home, currently embraced 
by the LBHF council. I wonder on the need or viability of new major office 
redevelopment. Especially as we already have offices converted to residences at the 
Gyratory end of King Street. But offices again will be fed by commuters. Our existing 
public transport is already reaching capacity levels during ‘rush hours’ I wonder how 
the increased demand will be facilitated.  
 
Supporting the evening economy: Much of the evening economy is supported by 
vehicular traffic. As many of the locations, Lamda, Apollo, the lyric and Olympia 
require non local patronage to survive. Particularly vehicle (coach, car) traffic for 

Comment noted. No change 
required.  

 
Our vision is to restore the heart 
of the town centre promoting 
jobs and a wider mix of uses, 
including arts and culture offer, 
new homes, and new affordable 
workspace for SME start-ups 
enabling businesses, our 
communities and visitors to 
thrive. The regeneration of 
Hammersmith Town Centre with 
a wider range of uses aims to 
promote tourism and support 
businesses.  
 

P
age 217



76 
 

Olympia and the Apollo. Also, much of the night time economy is serviced by taxis, 
again requiring access.  
 
Having worked on the Shepherds Bush Green area for just over 30 years, I noted the 
dramatic decline of the night time economy, clubs, and pubs, through council/ non 
local resident harassment, and a total lack of TFL support (through a lack of additional 
and appropriate buses). A vibrant nighttime economy which had at its peak a capacity 
exceeding over 10,000 is now reduced to the O2 and a couple of pubs. So, my 
concern is what type of additional night time economy are you expecting within this 
new residential hybrid town centre and how will it be sustained. Many of the previous 
Gyratory based nighttime locations failed to thrive and could not have been more 
accessible using public transport.  
 
Restaurant and café uses: As above for night time economy without office user 
support or the event spaces there is limited footfall to support extensive restaurant 
development.  
 
Residential uses : I have already commented on the concerns of increased residential 
density within the town centre spaces without access to external residential only 
spaces. Nighttime economy centres and residents do not mix.  
 
Defend Council Homes: Yes, however I would argue that Ashcroft Square is now end 
of life and the development needs to be reviewed on how to redevelop, upgrade the 
location and the housing stock. With particular attention to the access control of the 
residential deck and its long overdue and dramatic enhancement as an external 
residential only communal space.   
 
Hotels: I am not sure if the provision of new hotels is needed, over and above all the 
new hotels currently in the pipeline. We have various Hotel facilities already proposed 
in and around Olympia. New hotels or expansion to existing hotels on Shepherds 
Bush Green. I suspect that there will be additional such facilities within the new Wood 
Lane Hyper developments at the end of South Africa Road.  
 
Social and Community infrastructure: CIL monies will be used for infrastructure and 
not holding down council tax? Where will these schools be located? The existing 
provision is at capacity and again schools need external spaces and access.  
 
Betting Shops, Pawnbrokers, Payday Loan Shops and Hot Food Takeaway use: and I 
would include Charity shops. There are very limited numbers of take aways within the 
town centre space already, as the area does not encourage vehicle access or 
stopping. As for the rest they appear on the high street as normal retail dies.  

The SPD builds upon policies in 
the Local Plan. Hammersmith 
town centre is identified as 
strategic office location which 
target is to deliver 10,000 jobs 
by 2035. The recently adopted 
Affordable Workspace SPD 
would play this role in supporting 
and adapting office demand to 
current and future trends whilst 
providing opportunities for small 
local business and start-ups and 
securing and promoting 
employment.  
 
Visitor accommodation will be 
considered subject to relevant 
Local Plan Policies and 
reference to it in the SPD is only 
as a potential land use. 
 
Betting shops, pawnbrokers, 
payday loan shops and 
takeaway uses will be 
considered against Local Plan 
policies.  
 
Community Infrastructure Levy 
is required in the borough on 
development in accordance with 
the councils CIL charging 
schedule. This can be used for 
community infrastructure 
projects. The types of 
infrastructure funded by the CIL 
and S106 obligations are 
detailed in the council’s 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan 
(IDP). 

138 30 

Marks and 
Spencer and 
Reef Group 

5. Developer 
Guidance       H6- Mix 
of Uses 

At page 28, Policy H6 states that throughout the Regeneration Area, increased 
diversity in the range of uses being provided is encouraged to maximise opportunities 
for businesses and communities to thrive and grow. This is welcomed. The supporting 
text lists a wide range of new uses which are supported within the Town Centre. 
These include new residential homes including affordable homes and new and 
improved retail. However, student accommodation is not mentioned. London Plan’s 

Comment noted. No change 
required.  
 
We disagree with this proposed 
change. There is no need to be 

P
age 218



77 
 

Policy H15 outlines the overarching requirements for purpose-built student 
accommodation (PBSA) throughout London. A strategic requirement for 3,500 PBSA 
bedrooms is established as an annual requirement over the plan period, informed by 
the work of the Mayor’s Academic Forum. It is also noted that the housing needs of 
students in London is an element of the overall housing need for London whether in 
purpose-built student accommodation or shared conventional housing. Para. 4.1.9 
identifies that student accommodation helps to meet normal residential housing 
delivery targets at a ratio of 1.8 to  1.  London Plan Policy H15 and LBHF Local Plan 
Policy H09 both identify that student use can be suitable in areas of high public 
transport accessibility as part of mixed-use regeneration and redevelopment 
schemes, provided that they meet a range of criteria as outlined in the policies. This 
includes provision of affordable student housing and securing a nominations 
agreement with a higher educational provider for the majority of the bedrooms. We 
note student uses also help to deliver key benefits for Town Centres including 
improved footfall for local businesses such as shops, pubs and restaurants and can 
help to enhance the nighttime economy. According to Imperial College London, an 
average student in London is likely to spend £19,580 for the year 2023 to 2024 and 
much of this is spent on food, drink and entertainment in their local area. There are 
also potential synergies between students and established institutions within the Town 
Centre including the Lyric Theatre, for example. Our clients’ development proposals 
for the Site are a student housing development above new retail. As discussed with 
LBHF Officers they have secured Heads of Terms for a nominations agreement with 
Imperial College London and are proposing to provide the policy compliant level of 
affordable housing. Throughout our pre-application discussions with the Council, our 
clients have been advised that a student development on their Site is supported. We 
therefore request that the wording in the SPD at page 28 is updated to acknowledge 
that  
student use is also an acceptable use in the Town Centre. 

exhaustive in our list of land 
uses. 
 
The SPD builds upon policies in 
the Local Plan, and it is a 
guidance document only. This is 
made clear in the document.  
Local Plan Policy H09 focuses 
on PBSA. The policy identifies 
and directs this type of 
development to White City and 
Earls Court and West 
Kensington Opportunity Areas 
which are considered the most 
effective for addressing student 
accommodation shortage. This 
use is supported outside these 
areas subject to adverse local 
impacts. 
 
 

139 34 

Royal 
London 
Asset 
Management 

5. Developer 
Guidance       H6- Mix 
of Uses 

We support the principle of a range and mix of uses being encouraged within the town 
centre, although have the following comments in relation the provision of office space.  
We understand Hammersmith is seen as an important office location and that the 
Council wishes this to be strengthened. However, the analysis CBRE Leasing has 
undertaken shows that at the end of 2023 there is just under 1 million sq ft of available 
office space for 10,000 sq ft and above. There is also a further approximately 620,000 
sq ft office space consented in the pipeline that is not yet been delivered (e.g. 
Landmark House  
In comparison the take-up of commercial space for 10,000 sq ft or more is just 
485,944 sq ft over the last 5 years (under 100,000 sq ft per annum). Therefore, there 
is a significant amount of available and unlet office space within Hammersmith which 
is sufficient to meet the demand for the next 10 years of the average take-up (over 16 
years worth  of stock is available if you include the pipeline).  
In support of this, RLAM also own 200 Hammersmith Road which is a largely vacant 
office building that underwent significant refurbishment in 2019. This building currently 
has one office tenant occupying a small part of the office floorspace and with a 
Starbucks Cafe also occupying part of the ground floor. This building has not let 
successfully since the refurbishment in 2019 and the building will be fully vacant in 
September 2024, aside from the Starbucks café, when the remaining office tenant 

Comment noted. No change 
required.  
 
The SPD is a guidance 
document only and should be 
read alongside our Local Plan 
and the London Plan in terms of 
policy provision. This is made 
clear in the SPD. 
 
Local Plan Policies E1 and E2 
relating to employment uses are 
subject to viability 
considerations and therefore 
responsive to current trends. 
Intensification and alternative 
uses are supported where these 
are viable options for the centre 
and conform with policy. 

P
age 219



78 
 

vacates the premises.  
There is a significant amount of office space which is struggling to let (including 2 
Queen Caroline Street and 200 Hammersmith Road) and we question the emphasis 
and need for office space within the town centre in this current climate where 
availability is clearly very high and demand very low in comparison.  
We support a range of flexible uses being encouraged in the town centre including 
cultural, arts, leisure and community use. The community use at ground floor will help 
meet this aspiration especially as 2 Queen Caroline Street is on a route identified to 
enhance civic, cultural and evening economy.  
There is no reference to PBSA in the SPD. We believe the inclusion of PBSA helps 
the SPD achieve the aim of  diversification of uses within the town centre. This is a 
use that should be supported within the town centre on a caseby-case basis if 
developments meets London Plan Policy H15 and Local Plan Policy HO9. PBSA will 
count towards housing targets in the Borough (at a rate of 2.5 students beds to 1 unit), 
will deliver affordable student accommodation, ease the pressure on private rented 
stock/HMOs where students currently stay, and will help support the evening  
economy and vitality and viability of the town centre through increased expenditure in 
the town centre. This should be recognised as a type of residential accommodation 
that can come forward on a case-by-case basis subject to meeting London Plan 
Policy H15 and Local Plan Policy HO9. It is worthwhile noting that residential use is 
already situated on the island site with Guinness Partnership owning apartments 
above the neighbouring Irish Cultural Centre.  

 
We do not think that there is 
need to be exhaustive in our list 
of land uses. 
 
The SPD builds upon policies in 
the Local Plan. In Policy H09 
focuses on PBSA. The policy 
identifies and directs this type of 
development to White City and 
Earls Court and West 
Kensington Opportunity Areas 
which are considered the most 
effective for addressing student 
accommodation shortage. This 
use is supported outside these 
areas subject to adverse local 
impacts.    
 

140 35 

FORE 
Jersey VIII 
Limited  

5. Developer 
Guidance       H6- Mix 
of Uses 

Policy H6 ‘Mix of Uses’: Notwithstanding the current application which is currently 
pending  determination for the refurbishment and increase in office floorspace, my 
client is encouraged  by – and supportive of – references to a mix of uses being 
considered acceptable in the Town  Centre, particularly those references elsewhere in 
the document which refer to the  “intensification of residential uses on appropriate 
sites within the Town Centre. 

Comment noted. No changes 
suggested 

141 12 

Britel Fund 
Trustees Ltd 

5. Developer 
Guidance       H6- Mix 
of Uses 

Similarly, H6 is strongly supported which promotes increased diversity in the range of 
uses within the town centre regeneration area, including an increase in the amount of 
housing. The SPD should specifically recognise, as part of H6 that certain commercial 
premises within the town centre may no longer meet the current/future needs of 
business. As such, sites such as those owned by our client present potential 
opportunities for redevelopment with benefits in terms diversification of the uses within 
the town centre, including new homes, and improvements to townscape character. 
This is important if the Council’s target of 2,800 new homes, is to be met within the 
town centre.  

Comment noted. No changes 
suggested 

142 38 

Dave Hinton 
(former SBD 
officer) 

 5. Developer 
Guidance -Active and 
Accessible Spaces 

Page 59 E Active and Accessible Places  
 
Activity at Ground Floor: With regard to the comment of developments creating 
access to the ground floors to enable general access. Remember there does need to 
be the ability to secure against access when required and to prevent unrestricted 
access on into a building/ development for those who should not be there.  
 
Again, with residential developments accessible communal spaces for residents, not 
the public.   
 

Comment noted.  
 
The SPD is a guidance 
document only and should be 
read alongside our Local Plan.  
 
In response to the comment on 
‘Activity at ground floor’ page 58:  
 

P
age 220



79 
 

Maximising activity within the public realm: Fully support a coordinated approach to 
the public realm. I have some confusion about the reference Civic Campus, which is 
the closest of the proposed linked spaces 600 metres away, as it is almost outside the 
town centre space. I would respectfully say that there are currently three town centre 
focal points: King Street & Kings Mall (Sorry, Livat Centre), which requires 
dramatically more than a name change, then the Gyratory and Novotel blocks 
(including the Apollo), The Riverside studios and general new riverside developments. 
The Civic campus (or town hall) has never been a focus.  
 
Submitted for your consideration.  

Key principle H7 seeks to 
ensure that new developments 
create accessible and inclusive 
environments to remove any 
barriers to access from all 
residents, visitors and  
users of the town centre.  
There will be circumstances 
where general access will be 
restricted such as in residential 
buildings where access will be 
for residents only. However, the 
aim is to make places publicly 
accessible to activate the public 
realm and increase pedestrian 
links between key cultural, art 
and entertainment venues.  
 
 
 

143 34 

Royal 
London 
Asset 
Management 

 5. Developer 
Guidance  
H7  Active and 
Accessible 
Hammersmith  

We support the principles of this policy to encourage active uses on ground floor to 
achieve a positive relationship at to the public realm as well as providing inclusive 
access.  

Support welcomed. No 
change required. 

144 35 

FORE 
Jersey VIII 
Limited  

 5. Developer 
Guidance  
H7  Active and 
Accessible 
Hammersmith  

Policy H7 ‘Active and Accessible Hammersmith’: Requiring developments to provide 
well defined, legible streetscapes as well as inclusive and accessible design is 
supported by my client. These principles form a key part of their proposals at 255 
Hammersmith Road which will readily improve accessibility to the building. 

Support welcomed. No change 
required. 

145 38 

Dave Hinton 
(former SBD 
officer) 

 5. Developer 
Guidance  
H7  Active and 
Accessible 
Hammersmith  

Cycling: The SPD talks about more legible routes but routes for whom? Accessibility 
needs to include vehicular traffic. Let us suggest all vehicles are now electric, so why 
is access now blocked?   
 
There are a lot of outstanding issues about some of the new cycle routes already 
introduced with no wholistic view of the infrastructure. The practice of having the cycle 
route in the opposite direction to vehicle road traffic causes accidents. Particularly 
when electrical ‘powered’ bikes and scooters use the same pedal bicycle lanes. They 
can travel at high speeds or at least the same speed as the traffic 15 – 25 mph, with 
those tweaked by owners exceeding this.  
 
Cycle routes should terminate at a clearly defined destination  that facilitates secure 
cycle parking, regardless of the end of the routes destination purpose, or a hub to 
other transport links. Routes should integrate into adjacent borough ongoing cycle 
routes. Cycle routes should be fit for purpose, placing street furniture within them is 
problematic, critical is how other users pass across them or how they pass through 
other users’ spaces. Especially pedestrians, concentrate on the interaction of disabled 

Comment noted. No change 
required.  
 
The SPD is a guidance 
document only and should be 
read alongside our Local Plan. 
This is made clear in the 
document. 
 
The SPD does not specifically 
reference electric vehicles and 
does not preclude the transit of 
these vehicles through 
Hammersmith town centre. 
However, public realm, 
dominated by vehicular traffic 
will cause congestion and create 

P
age 221



80 
 

and less able bodied individuals or the blind.  
 
It should be made very clear that the planners or architects’ images of cyclists as 
being gentle ambling entities is not the reality. Commuting cyclists are moving at high 
speed. Averaging 20mph, with the advent of the electrical bicycles and scooters they 
can be exceeding 30 mph. These modes of travel are becoming increasingly popular 
with the criminal fraternity, who use them to cruise areas looking for opportunities or to 
enable the snatching of valuables from pedestrians. Most of our subways were 
designed for foot traffic not groups of teenagers on electric bikes. Spend some money 
on modernising this infrastructure to make these now shared spaces safe for all users.  
 
Secure cycle parking includes appropriate cycle hoops that deter access to locks, are 
illuminated, have good CCTV fixed camera coverage, are managed (do not become a 
bits of bike storage area). Do not block pavements, do not encourage cyclists to walk 
into traffic when unlocking their bikes. These points were all agreed with both TFL and 
the mayor’s office, but did not stop them or the council sticking bike racks with none of 
these elements everywhere, creating long term crime hot spots.  
 
The council also needs to consider how the disabled public space user (particularly 
the blind and less agile users) navigates when confronted by pedal cycles that can 
move through the large open spaces/squares from any direction. Remember despite 
appearances to the contrary it is still illegal to ride on pavements.  

barriers for pedestrians and 
impaired people.  The section 
focuses mainly on the 
permeability and legibility of 
routes in order to improve the 
public realm making it more 
accessible, attractive, enjoyable 
and inclusive.  Renewing the 
public realm and streets to 
improve air quality and provide 
more comfortable, greener 
routes to promote walking and 
cycling will be a priority. This will 
help overcome future challenges 
across Hammersmith Town 
Centre relating to Climate 
Change and will ensure that our 
communities and visitors will be 
able to fully enjoy and use the 
town centre. 
 
Prioritising sustainable modes of 
transport is one of key 
objectives of our Local Plan 
(2018) which is strengthen in the 
Climate Change SPD (2023). 
   
Local Plan Policy T3 
encourages cycling and walking 
by ensuring that bicycle lanes 
are safe for all. The policy also 
promotes active travel by 
requiring secure and safe cycle 
parking in all developments 
which should follow designing 
out crime principles/approach. 
 

146 29 

Hammersmit
h BID 

6. Delivery and 
Implementation 

DELIVERY & IMPLEMENTATION 
Cooperation the Key. 
Key Players: 
Delivery Partners 
Led by the Council, a wide range of stakeholders. 
But mostly developers will be prime movers. 
Landowners 
Expectation that landowners will have proactive role. 
Delivery Bodies 
Public bodies - central government, GLA etc. 

Comments noted. 
 
The SPD mentions at page 63 
that the council will need support 
from a from a range  
of other stakeholders, delivery  
bodies and agencies (both  
public and private) who will  
also have a role in funding, 

P
age 222



81 
 

Stakeholders 
Includes Hammersmith BID, businesses, local residents. 
To be engaged to ‘support, enable, co-produce’ vision. 
Formalised Engagement must be implemented. 
Funding 
Combined private/public funding will be needed. 
Matches Hammersmith BID approach. 
Can be implemented best if: 
1. Formal Engagement introduced, businesses involved in design and programming 
decisions. 
2. Seed funding identified to demonstrate engagement and commitment. 
Planning Obligations - S106 & CIL 
List of obligations that may generate funding follows; includes: 
Requirement that 50% affordable residential is provided on-site. 
Co-Production and Engagement 
“With Residents not to them”. So expectation of co-production and early engagement 
by developers with local groups and other stakeholders. 
Structured approach required to ensure balance. The loudest voice isn’t necessarily 
the most 
representative. Business voices also need to be heard. 
Next Steps- 0-5 Years (Short Term) 
1. Publish draft SPD and engage 
2. Engage with TFL and GLA to put together Flyunder business case 
3. Proactively seek external funding for Flyunder 
4. Engage with TFL on highway network improvements including Gyratory and King 
Street 
5. Engage with TFL on Broadway site redevelopment 
6. Work with all to bring forward successful planning applications 
7. An effective Town Centre Management Plan 
8. Detailed delivery and infrastructure plan 
9. Shopfront and signage design guidance 
PRIORITISE THE GYRATORY 
ENGAGE WITH BID ON TOWN CENTRE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

enabling and delivery. This 
includes the engagement with 
Hammersmith BID.  
 
Agree, minor wording can 
improve clarification 
Change to Next Steps 0-5 years  
 
Proposed change: 
 
Delivery and Implementation 
page 63. 
 

• Develop an effective 
town centre 
management plan, 
including engagement 
with the Hammersmith 
BID 

• Develop a detailed 
delivery and 
infrastructure plan for 
the town centre, 
identifying key projects, 
funding and phasing 

147 33 

TfL Spatial 
Planning  

6. Delivery and 
Implementation 

Delivery and implementation 
We welcome that TfL is listed one of the many bodies integral to successful delivery of 
the SPD and we are happy to work with you. However, the Council should note that 
TfL does not have any funding allocated to the interventions in the SPD in our current 
Business Plan. Planning obligations S106 and CIL TfL recommends that the list of 
potential planning obligations for development  sites is expanded to include active 
travel/Healthy Streets measures, public transport capacity and accessibility as set out 
in London Plan policy T9(C)  Funding transport infrastructure through planning. 
Planning obligations are key  to support the delivery of future transport and active 
travel improvements. We will be happy to work with you to progress this draft SPD 
and engage in detailed discussions where needed and appropriate. Please feel free to 
reach out if you have any questions or clarifications. 

Comment welcomed. 
Agree. 
 
Proposed change: 
 
Planning obligations are likely to 
include the items set out below 
but this is not an exhaustive list 
and other matters may also 
need to be covered on 
consideration of each planning 
application: 

• Direct delivery by the 
developer- add/amend 

P
age 223



82 
 

• Public realm 
improvements 

• Heritage 

• Education contributions 
(for any residential 
development) 

• S278 for offsite 
works/contributions 

• TfL Active 
travel/healthy Streets 
measures 

 
 

148 28 

Ingka 
Centres 

6. Planning 
Obligations - p.57, 63 
and 64  

3.6 The SPD makes reference to planning obligations (S106) and CIL being used to 
fund projects and interventions set out within the SPD. It needs to be made explicit 
within the SPD that any planning obligations will need to meet the tests as set out in 
regulation 122 of The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010. This requires 
that planning obligations are used to mitigate the impact of development in order to 
make it acceptable in planning terms. Planning obligations must be: 
▪ necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
▪ directly related to the development; and 
▪ fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 
 
3.7 Therefore, any obligations must be directly relevant to the proposed development 
and will only be able to contribute to projects and interventions as set out in the SPD if 
they meet this criteria. 

Comment noted. 
 
The SPD is a guidance 
document only and should be 
read alongside our Local Plan 
and the London Plan in terms of 
planning obligations S106.  
  
Policy INFRA1 in the Local Plan 
addresses planning 
contributions and specifies at 
paragraphs 15.9 and 15.10 that 
the council will negotiate for 
planning obligations that are 
considered to meet the 
necessary tests in Reg 122 CIL 
Regulations:  
• necessary to make the 
development acceptable in 
planning terms;  
• directly related to the 
development; and  
• fairly and reasonably related in 
scale and kind to the 
development.  
 
 

149 29 

Hammersmit
h BID 

6. Conclusions TRANSFORMING OUR TOWN CENTRE 
Conclusion to the SPD Document 
Key Aims 
Community Capacity Building 
Engagement with stakeholders 
Future-Proofing the Economy 
Capture Opportunities from business moving from central London 

Comments noted. No change 
required. 
 
 
 
 

P
age 224



83 
 

Support high-growth sectors 
Support cheap space for startups 
Recovery via new employment and skills 
Programming events etc to drive footfall 
Prove links between Lyric Theatre, Civic Campus and Apollo 
These aims all reinforce BID and its members’ emphasis that public realm 
improvement is key to the attractiveness of Hammersmith to existing businesses 
considering their future and potential incoming businesses. 
Delivering new/enhanced public realm and green spaces. 
Meantime and Interim Projects: 
A. Civic Campus - completion 2025? 
B. Lyric Square: Potential review and enhancement - 1-3 years 
C. King Street: improved cycle access, pedestrian use of public realm, pocket parks 
D. Hammersmith Gyratory: improved cycle connectivity implemented, working with 
TFL on permanent concept 
E. A4/Flyover: short term improvements - speed reduction, at grade crossings, new 
cycle routes, greening and improvements to areas below flyover 
All good. Reinforces need for engagement with businesses 

 
 
 
 
 
Schedule of Minor Technical Changes  
 

No. Section  CHANGE (MINOR WORDING CHANGES UNLESS INDICATED) 
 

1 Page 24-25 – Spatial 
Framework 

Spatial framework diagram updated to reflect opportunity for additional improvements to pedestrian connections between King Street, Civic 
Campus and Ravenscourt Park Station. 

2 Page 34 – King Street Vision Diagram updated to reflect opportunity for additional improvements to pedestrian connections between King Street, Civic Campus and 
Ravenscourt Park Station. 

3 Page 67  Minor changes to wording of public realm ambitions for King Street and update to diagram to reflect opportunity for additional improvements to 
pedestrian connections between King Street, Civic Campus and Ravenscourt Park Station. 

 

P
age 225



 

 

 
NOTICE OF CONSIDERATION OF A KEY DECISION  
In accordance with paragraph 9 of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings 
and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012, the Authority hereby gives notice of 
Key Decisions which the Cabinet, Cabinet Members or Chief Officers intend to consider. The list 
may change from the date of publication as further items may be entered. 
 

NOTICE OF THE INTENTION TO CONDUCT BUSINESS IN 
PRIVATE  
The Authority also hereby gives notice in accordance with paragraph 5 of the above 
Regulations that it may meet in private to consider Key Decisions going to a Cabinet meeting 
which may contain confidential or exempt information.   
 
Reports relating to Cabinet key decisions which may be considered in private are indicated in 
the list of Cabinet Key Decisions below, with the reasons for the decision being made in 
private.  Any person is able to make representations to the Cabinet if he/she believes the 
Cabinet decision should instead be made in the public at the Cabinet meeting. If you want to 
make such representations, please e-mail Katia Neale on katia.neale@lbhf.gov.uk.  You will 
then be sent a response in reply to your representations. Both your representations and the 
Executive’s response will be published on the Council’s website at least 5 working days before 
the Cabinet meeting. 

 
KEY DECISIONS PROPOSED TO BE MADE BY THE AUTHORITY FROM JULY 
2024 UNTIL APRIL 2025 
 

The following is a list of Key Decisions which the Authority proposes to take from July 
2024. The list may change over the next few weeks.  
 
KEY DECISIONS are those which are likely to result in one or more of the following: 
 

 Any expenditure or savings which are significant (ie. in excess of £300,000) in 
relation to the Council’s budget for the service function to which the decision 
relates; 

 

 Anything affecting communities living or working in an area comprising two or 
more wards in the borough; 

 

 Anything affecting the budget and policy framework set by the Council. 
 
The Key Decisions List will be updated and published on the Council’s website at least 
on a monthly basis.  
 

NB: Key Decisions will generally be taken by the Executive at the Cabinet, by a Cabinet 
Member or by a Chief Officer.  

If you have any queries on this Key Decisions List, please contact 
Katia Neale on 07776 672 956 or by e-mail to katia.neale@lbhf.gov.uk 

Page 226

Agenda Item 7

mailto:katia.neale@lbhf.gov.uk


 

 

 
 

 
Access to Key Decision reports and other relevant documents 

 
Key Decision reports and documents relevant to matters to be considered at the Authority by 
Cabinet only, will be available on the Council’s website (www.lbhf.org.uk) a minimum of 5 
working days before the Cabinet meeting. Further information, and other relevant documents 
as they become available, can be obtained from the contact officer shown in column 4 of the 
list below.  

 
Decisions 

 
All Key Decisions will be subject to a 3-day call-in before they can be implemented, unless 
called in by Councillors. 
 

 
Making your Views Heard 

 
You can comment on any of the items in this list by contacting the officer shown in column 4. 
You can also submit a deputation to the Cabinet related to Cabinet Key Decisions only. Full 
details of how to do this (and the date by which a deputation must be submitted) will be shown 
in the Cabinet agenda. 
 

 
 
LONDON BOROUGH OF HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM CABINET  
 

Leader Councillor Stephen Cowan 

Deputy Leader Councillor Ben Coleman 

Cabinet Member for Children and Education Councillor Alexandra Sanderson 

Cabinet Member for Civic Renewal Councillor Bora Kwon  

Cabinet Member for Climate Change and 
Ecology 

Councillor Wesley Harcourt 

Cabinet Member for Economy Councillor Andrew Jones 

Cabinet Member for Finance and Reform Councillor Rowan Ree 

Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Homelessness 

Councillor Frances Umeh 

Cabinet Member for Public Realm Councillor Sharon Holder 

Cabinet Member for Social Inclusion and 
Community Safety 

Councillor Rebecca Harvey 

 
  
 
 
Key Decisions List No. 138 (published 4 July 2024) 

Page 227

http://www.lbhf.org.uk/


 

 

KEY DECISIONS LIST – FROM JULY 2024 
The list also includes decisions proposed to be made by future Cabinet meetings 

 
Where column 3 shows a report as EXEMPT, the report for 

this proposed decision will be considered at the private Cabinet meeting. Anybody may make 
representations to the Cabinet to the effect that the report should be considered at the open 

Cabinet meeting (see above).  
 

* All these decisions may be called in by Councillors; If a decision is called in, it will not be capable of 
implementation until a final decision is made.  

 

Decision to 
be made by 
 

Earliest date 
the decision 
will be made  
and Reason 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the 
decision being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for further 
information or 
relevant documents 
 

Documents 
publication 
 

CABINET MEMBER AND OFFICER DECISIONS 

Finance 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Children and 
Education 
 

July 2024 
 

Short Term Lease for the School 
House at Hurlingham Academy 
 
The report requests approval for 
consent for Hurlingham Academy 
to enter into a short term lease of 
the School House (caretakers 
lodge). 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Children and Education 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome 
above £300K 
- Revenue 
up to £500k 
and Capital 
up to 1.5m 
 

Ward(s): 
Palace & Hurlingham 
 

Contact officer: Daryle 
Mathurin 
Tel: 07816 661199 
Daryle.Mathurin@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Children and 
Education 
 

July 2024 
 

Breakfast Support Provider to 
Address Food Poverty in 
Schools 
 
Deliver of expert advice and 
support to establish hunger 
focused breakfast provision in 
schools as well as food deliveries. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Children and Education 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 
and £5m and 
Capital 
between 
£1.5m and 
£5m 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Marcus Robinson 
 
Marcus.RobinsonCHS@lbhf.
gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 228



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the decision 
being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for 
further information 
or relevant 
documents 
 

Documents 
to be 
submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other 
relevant 
documents 
may be 
submitted) 
 

3-day call-in. 
 

Strategic 
Director of the 
Economy 
Department 
 

July 2024 
 

Refurbished Town Hall - Level 
06 Fit-Out 
 
The Council is seeking to tender 
for works to fit-out the new bar and 
restaurant area on Level 06 of the 
refurbished Town Hall. Works are 
likely to include, floor and wall 
finishes, lighting, kitchen and bar 
counter. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for the 
Economy 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome 
above £300K 
- Revenue 
up to £500k 
and Capital 
up to 1.5m 
 

Ward(s): 
Hammersmith 
Broadway 
 

Contact officer: 
Philippa Cartwright 
 
Philippa.Cartwright@lbhf.go
v.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Children and 
Education 
 

July 2024 
 

GLA funding for Primary School 
Universal Free School Meals 
 
The Mayor for London announced 
£130 million of one-off funding to 
ensure all school children at 
publicly funded primary schools in 
London can receive free school 
meals for the academic year 
beginning in September 2023. 
 
The funding allocation for 
Hammersmith & Fulham is funding 
for schools to implement the meal 
provision for children in Key Stage 
2 who are not otherwise eligible for 
free school meals. 

 

Cabinet Member for 
Children and Education 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 
and £5m and 
Capital 
between 
£1.5m and 
£5m 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Marcus Robinson 
 
Marcus.RobinsonCHS@lbhf.
gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
Member for the 
Economy 
 

July 2024 
 

Article 4 Direction 
 
Direction to remove permitted 
development rights for commercial 
premises to change use to 
residential in identified commercial 

Cabinet Member for 
the Economy 
 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Page 229



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the decision 
being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for 
further information 
or relevant 
documents 
 

Documents 
to be 
submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other 
relevant 
documents 
may be 
submitted) 
 

 areas within the borough. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Contact officer: David 
Gawthorpe 
 
David.Gawthorpe@lbhf.gov.
uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Finance and 
Reform 
 

July 2024 
 

Smart Building and 
Environmental Technologies 
2023 
 
The council has ambitions to 
invest in technology to support 
climate and environmental targets 
within offices. Facilities are 
needed to monitor and manage 
energy and power usage and 
operate technically efficient 
buildings whilst providing powerful 
utilization data. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Reform 
 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome 
above £300K 
- Revenue 
up to £500k 
and Capital 
up to 1.5m 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Ramanand Ladva 
Tel: 07493864847 
Ramanand.Ladva@lbhf.gov.
uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Executive 
Director of 
Finance and 
Corporate 
Services 
 

July 2024 
 

Council Tax Single Person 
Discount Review 
 
In line with recommendations from 
DLUHC, the Council conducts a 
yearly review of the Single 
Persons Discount (SPD) which 
has been granted to residents 
previously under Section.11 
Council Tax (Discount and 
Disregard) LGFA 1993. This 
review is to establish whether the 
resident is still eligible for the 
discount, which is a 25% reduction 
on the council tax charge. 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Reform 
 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome 
above £300K 
- Revenue 
up to £500k 
and Capital 
up to 1.5m 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Jamie 
Mullins 
Tel: 020 8753 1650 
Jamie.Mullins@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 230



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the decision 
being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for 
further information 
or relevant 
documents 
 

Documents 
to be 
submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other 
relevant 
documents 
may be 
submitted) 
 

 
 
 
 

the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Cabinet 
Member for the 
Economy 
 

July 2024 
 

Instruction to H&F 
Developments Ltd to grant a 
lease on civic campus Block B 
Restaurant 
 
The Council's nominee company, 
H&F Housing Developments Ltd 
acts on the instruction of the 
Council in all matters related to the 
commercial leases on the civic 
campus 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for the 
Economy 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 
and £5m and 
Capital 
between 
£1.5m and 
£5m 
 

Ward(s): 
Hammersmith 
Broadway 
 

Contact officer: 
Philippa Cartwright 
 
Philippa.Cartwright@lbhf.go
v.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Strategic 
Director of the 
Economy 
Department 
 

July 2024 
 

Instruction to H&F 
Developments Ltd to grant 
cinema lease to successful 
operator 
 
The Council's nominee company, 
H&F Housing Developments Ltd, 
acts upon the instruction of the 
council in matters relating to 
commercial leases at the Civic 
Campus. 
 
PART OPEN 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 

Cabinet Member for the 
Economy 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome over 
£5m & 
policies or 
new income, 
reserves 
use, 
overspend 
over £300K 
 

Ward(s): 
Hammersmith 
Broadway 
 

Contact officer: 
Philippa Cartwright 
 
Philippa.Cartwright@lbhf.go
v.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 231



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the decision 
being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for 
further information 
or relevant 
documents 
 

Documents 
to be 
submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other 
relevant 
documents 
may be 
submitted) 
 

Strategic 
Director of the 
Economy 
Department 
 

July 2024 
 

Instruction to H&F 
Developments Ltd to grant a 
lease on civic campus Block C 
cafe 
 
The Council's nominee company, 
H&F Housing Developments Ltd 
acts on the instruction of the 
Council in all matters related to the 
commercial leases on the civic 
campus 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for the 
Economy 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome 
above £300K 
- Revenue 
up to £500k 
and Capital 
up to 1.5m 
 

Ward(s): 
Hammersmith 
Broadway 
 

Contact officer: 
Philippa Cartwright 
 
Philippa.Cartwright@lbhf.go
v.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Strategic 
Director of the 
Economy 
Department 
 

July 2024 
 

Instruction to H&F 
Developments Ltd to grant lease 
on civic campus Block C retail 
unit 
 
The Council's nominee company, 
H&F Housing Developments Ltd 
acts on the instruction of the 
Council in all matters related to the 
commercial leases on the civic 
campus. 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for the 
Economy 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome 
above £300K 
- Revenue 
up to £500k 
and Capital 
up to 1.5m 
 

Ward(s): 
Hammersmith 
Broadway 
 

Contact officer: 
Philippa Cartwright 
 
Philippa.Cartwright@lbhf.gov.
uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Strategic 
Director of the 
Economy 
Department 
 

July 2024 
 

Instruction to H&F 
Developments Ltd to grant lease 
on civic campus convenience 
store to successful operator 
 
The Council's nominee company, 
H&F Housing Developments Ltd 
acts on the instruction of the 
Council in all matters related to the 
commercial leases on the civic 
campus. 

Cabinet Member for the 
Economy 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome over 
£5m & 
policies or 
new income, 
reserves 
use, 

Ward(s): 
Hammersmith 
Broadway 
 

Contact officer: 
Philippa Cartwright 
Philippa.Cartwright@lbhf.go
v.uk 

Page 232



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the decision 
being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for 
further information 
or relevant 
documents 
 

Documents 
to be 
submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other 
relevant 
documents 
may be 
submitted) 
 

overspend 
over £300K 
 

 
 
PART OPEN 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Strategic 
Director of the 
Economy 
Department 
 

July 2024 
 

Instruction to H&F 
Developments Ltd to grant lease 
on civic campus Block B 1st 
floor office 
 
The Council's nominee company, 
H&F Housing Developments Ltd 
acts on the instruction of the 
Council in all matters related to the 
commercial leases on the civic 
campus. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for the 
Economy 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome over 
£5m & 
policies or 
new income, 
reserves 
use, 
overspend 
over £300K 
 

Ward(s): 
Hammersmith 
Broadway 
 

Contact officer: 
Philippa Cartwright 
 
Philippa.Cartwright@lbhf.go
v.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Strategic 
Director of the 
Economy 
Department 
 

July 2024 
 

Instruction to H&F 
Developments Ltd to grant lease 
on civic campus Block B 2nd 
floor office 
 
The Council's nominee company, 
H&F Housing Developments Ltd 
acts on the instruction of the 
Council in all matters related to the 
commercial leases on the civic 
campus. 
 
 

Cabinet Member for the 
Economy 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome over 
£5m & 
policies or 
new income, 
reserves 
use, 
overspend 
over £300K 

Ward(s): 
Hammersmith 
Broadway 
 

Contact officer: 
Philippa Cartwright 
 
Philippa.Cartwright@lbhf.go
v.uk 

 

Page 233



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the decision 
being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for 
further information 
or relevant 
documents 
 

Documents 
to be 
submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other 
relevant 
documents 
may be 
submitted) 
 

  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Strategic 
Director of the 
Economy 
Department 
 

July 2024 
 

Instruction to H&F 
Developments Ltd to grant lease 
on civic campus Block B 3rd 
floor office 
 
The Council's nominee company, 
H&F Housing Developments Ltd 
acts on the instruction of the 
Council in all matters related to the 
commercial leases on the civic 
campus. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for the 
Economy 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome over 
£5m & 
policies or 
new income, 
reserves 
use, 
overspend 
over £300K 
 

Ward(s): 
Hammersmith 
Broadway 
 

Contact officer: 
Philippa Cartwright 
 
Philippa.Cartwright@lbhf.go
v.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Strategic 
Director of the 
Economy 
Department 
 

July 2024 
 

Instruction to H&F 
Developments Ltd to grant lease 
on civic campus Block B 4th 
floor office 
 
The Council's nominee company, 
H&F Housing Developments Ltd 
acts on the instruction of the 
Council in all matters related to the 
commercial leases on the civic 
campus. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for the 
Economy 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 
 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome over 
£5m & 
policies or 
new income, 
reserves 
use, 
overspend 
over £300K 
 

Ward(s): 
Hammersmith 
Broadway 
 

Contact officer: 
Philippa Cartwright 
 
Philippa.Cartwright@lbhf.go
v.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 234



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the decision 
being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for 
further information 
or relevant 
documents 
 

Documents 
to be 
submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other 
relevant 
documents 
may be 
submitted) 
 

Strategic 
Director of the 
Economy 
Department 
 

July 2024 
 

Instruction to H&F 
Developments Ltd to grant lease 
on civic campus Block B 5th 
floor office 
 
The Council's nominee company, 
H&F Housing Developments Ltd 
acts on the instruction of the 
Council in all matters related to the 
commercial leases on the civic 
campus. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for the 
Economy 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome over 
£5m & 
policies or 
new income, 
reserves 
use, 
overspend 
over £300K 
 

Ward(s): 
Hammersmith 
Broadway 
 

Contact officer: 
Philippa Cartwright 
 
Philippa.Cartwright@lbhf.go
v.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Strategic 
Director of the 
Economy 
Department 
 

July 2024 
 

Instruction to H&F 
Developments Ltd to grant lease 
on civic campus Block B 6th 
floor office 
 
The Council's nominee company, 
H&F Housing Developments Ltd 
acts on the instruction of the 
Council in all matters related to the 
commercial leases on the civic 
campus. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for the 
Economy 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome over 
£5m & 
policies or 
new income, 
reserves 
use, 
overspend 
over £300K 
 

Ward(s): 
Hammersmith 
Broadway 
 

Contact officer: 
Philippa Cartwright 
 
Philippa.Cartwright@lbhf.go
v.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
Member for the 
Economy 
 

July 2024 
 

Instruction to H&F 
Developments Ltd to grant a 
lease on civic campus Block B 
7th floor office 
 
The Council's nominee company, 
H&F Housing Developments Ltd 
acts on the instruction of the 
Council in all matters related to the 
commercial leases on the civic 
campus. 

Cabinet Member for the 
Economy 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 
and £5m and 
Capital 

Ward(s): 
Hammersmith 
Broadway 
 

Contact officer: 
Philippa Cartwright 
Philippa.Cartwright@lbhf.go
v.uk 

Page 235



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the decision 
being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for 
further information 
or relevant 
documents 
 

Documents 
to be 
submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other 
relevant 
documents 
may be 
submitted) 
 

between 
£1.5m and 
£5m 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Cabinet 
Member for the 
Economy 
 

July 2024 
 

Instruction to H&F 
Developments Ltd to grant lease 
on civic campus Block B 
ground floor office / reception 
 
The Council's nominee company, 
H&F Housing Developments Ltd 
acts on the instruction of the 
Council in all matters related to the 
commercial leases on the civic 
campus. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
the Economy 
 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome 
above £300K 
- Revenue 
up to £500k 
and Capital 
up to 1.5m 
 

Ward(s): 
Hammersmith 
Broadway 
 

Contact officer: 
Philippa Cartwright 
 
Philippa.Cartwright@lbhf.go
v.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
Member for the 
Economy 
 

July 2024 
 

Instruction to H&F 
Developments Ltd to grant a 
lease on civic campus 
Affordable Start-up Unit 2 
 
The Council's nominee company, 
H&F Housing Developments Ltd 
acts on the instruction of the 
Council in all matters related to the 
commercial leases on the civic 
campus. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
the Economy 
 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 
and £5m and 
Capital 
between 
£1.5m and 
£5m 
 

Ward(s): 
Hammersmith 
Broadway 
 

Contact officer: 
Philippa Cartwright 
 
Philippa.Cartwright@lbhf.go
v.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 236



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the decision 
being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for 
further information 
or relevant 
documents 
 

Documents 
to be 
submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other 
relevant 
documents 
may be 
submitted) 
 

Cabinet 
Member for the 
Economy 
 

July 2024 
 

Instruction to H&F 
Developments Ltd to grant a 
lease on civic campus 
Affordable Start-up Unit 1 
 
The Council's nominee company, 
H&F Housing Developments Ltd 
acts on the instruction of the 
Council in all matters related to the 
commercial leases on the civic 
campus. 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
the Economy 
 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 
and £5m and 
Capital 
between 
£1.5m and 
£5m 
 

Ward(s): 
Hammersmith 
Broadway 
 

Contact officer: 
Philippa Cartwright 
 
Philippa.Cartwright@lbhf.go
v.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Public Realm 
 

July 2024 
 

Wood Lane / Depot Road 
Junction Improvement Scheme - 
S106 Highway Works 
 
This is a juction improvement 
scheme which involves a complete 
redesign of the junction, including 
new traffic signals, new access 
road into the Imperial College 
Campus Site, carriageway and 
footway repaving, greening and 
incorporating the new C34 bi-
directional cycle lane through the 
junction. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Public Realm 
 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome 
above £300K 
- Revenue 
up to £500k 
and Capital 
up to 1.5m 
 

Ward(s): 
College Park and Old 
Oak 
 

Contact officer: 
Michael Masella 
 
michael.masell@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Strategic 
Director of the 
Economy 
Department 
 

July 2024 
 

Acquisition of freehold 
properties 
 
Acquisition of freehold properties 
under the Refugee Housing 
Programme / Local Authority 
Housing Fund Round 2. 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
the Economy 
 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome over 
£5m & 
policies or 
new income, 
reserves 
use, 

Ward(s): 
 
 

Contact officer: Joe 
Coyne 
 
joe.coyne@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 237



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the decision 
being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for 
further information 
or relevant 
documents 
 

Documents 
to be 
submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other 
relevant 
documents 
may be 
submitted) 
 

overspend 
over £300K 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Cabinet 
Member for the 
Economy 
 

July 2024 
 

Civic Campus Cinema Decision 
 
Cabinet Member for the Economy 
to make a decision on entering 
into an agreement for the cinema 
lease at the Civic Campus. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
the Economy 
 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 
and £5m and 
Capital 
between 
£1.5m and 
£5m 
 

Ward(s): 
Hammersmith 
Broadway 
 

Contact officer: 
Philippa Cartwright 
 
Philippa.Cartwright@lbhf.go
v.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Social 
Inclusion and 
Community 
Safety 
 

July 2024 
 

LET FPN fine increase 
 
Amendments to fixed penalty 
notice charges to be issued by 
Law Enforcement Team. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Social Inclusion and 
Community Safety 
 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Mohammed Basith 
 
Mohammed.Basith@lbhf.go
v.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 238



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the decision 
being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for 
further information 
or relevant 
documents 
 

Documents 
to be 
submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other 
relevant 
documents 
may be 
submitted) 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Public Realm 
 

July 2024 
 

Approval for a 10 year lease on 
27 Bulwer street W12 8AR 
 
We are seeking approval for a 10 
year lease in the north of the 
borough to house our parking on 
street enforcement team. the 
search for a suitable property has 
been on going for the last 18 
months. This property is highly 
suitable for our operation and will 
be funded from the existing 
parking budgets. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Public Realm 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 
and £5m and 
Capital 
between 
£1.5m and 
£5m 
 

Ward(s): 
Shepherds Bush 
Green 
 

Contact officer: Gary 
Hannaway 
Tel: 020 8753 
gary.hannaway@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Public Realm 
 

July 2024 
 

Registration and Mortuary (Fees 
and Charges) 
 
To agree the introduction of new 
service charge categories and 
approve the proposed uplifted fees 
and charges from 1 April 2024. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Public Realm 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 
and £5m and 
Capital 
between 
£1.5m and 
£5m 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Kayode Adewumi 
 
Kayode.Adewumi@lbhf.gov.
uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Strategic 
Director of the 
Economy 
Department 
 

July 2024 
 

Decision to acquire a property 
under the Refugee Housing 
Programme 
 
Decision to acquire leasehold 
properties in the borough. 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for the 
Economy 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome 
above £300K 
- Revenue 
up to £500k 
and Capital 
up to 1.5m 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Joe 
Coyne 
 
joe.coyne@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 239



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the decision 
being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for 
further information 
or relevant 
documents 
 

Documents 
to be 
submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other 
relevant 
documents 
may be 
submitted) 
 

   
 
 
 
 

Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Strategic 
Director of the 
Economy 
Department 
 

July 2024 
 

Delivering affordable homes - 
acquisition of freehold 
properties 
 
Acquisition of freehold properties 
in the borough. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for the 
Economy 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome 
above £300K 
- Revenue 
up to £500k 
and Capital 
up to 1.5m 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Joe 
Coyne 
 
joe.coyne@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Deputy Leader 
 

July 2024 
 

LD Supported Accommodation 
at Emlyn Gardens 
 
To provide supported 
accommodation for up to 8 
residents to live independently. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Deputy Leader 

 
A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 
and £5m and 
Capital 
between 
£1.5m and 
£5m 
 

Ward(s): 
White City 
 

Contact officer: Adie 
Smith 
Tel: 07554 222 716 
adie.smith@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 240



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the decision 
being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for 
further information 
or relevant 
documents 
 

Documents 
to be 
submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other 
relevant 
documents 
may be 
submitted) 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Public Realm 
 

July 2024 
 

Suspensions Fees & Charges 
Uplift 
 
Uplift of Suspensions Fees & 
Charges to reflect current 
requirements. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Public Realm 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Oscar 
Turnerberg 
Tel: 074 9854 2978 

oscar.turnerberg@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Public Realm 
 

July 2024 
 

Traffic Orders Fees & Charges 
Uplift 
 
Uplift of Traffic Orders Fees & 
Charges to reflect current 
requirements. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Public Realm 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Oscar 
Turnerberg 
Tel: 074 9854 2978 

oscar.turnerberg@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Strategic 
Director of the 
Economy 
Department 
 

July 2024 
 

Hartopp & Lannoy 
Appropriation 
 
A report seeking approval to 
appropriate the land known as 
Hartopp & Lannoy Land for 
planning purposes to facilitate the 
redevelopment of the land and 
engage powers under Section 203 
of the Housing and Planning Act 
2016. 

Cabinet Member for the 
Economy 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome 
above £300K 
- Revenue 
up to £500k 
and Capital 
up to 1.5m 

Ward(s): 
Munster 
 

Contact officer: Labab 
Lubab 
Tel: 020 8753 4203 
Labab.Lubab@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 241



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the decision 
being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for 
further information 
or relevant 
documents 
 

Documents 
to be 
submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other 
relevant 
documents 
may be 
submitted) 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Strategic 
Director of the 
Economy 
Department 
 

Before 31 Jul 
2024 
 

Decision to acquire properties 
to support refugee resettlement 
- D 
 
This decision is one of several key 
decisions to enable the council to 
purchase properties to support 
refugee resettlement in line with 
the aims of the Refugee Housing 
Programme. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for the 
Economy 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 
and £5m and 
Capital 
between 
£1.5m and 
£5m 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Joe 
Coyne 
 
joe.coyne@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Strategic 
Director of the 
Economy 
Department 
 

Before 31 Jul 
2024 
 

Decision to acquire properties 
to support refugee resettlement 
- E 
 
This decision is one of several key 
decisions to enable the council to 
purchase properties to support 
refugee resettlement in line with 
the aims of the Refugee Housing 
Programme. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for the 
Economy 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 
and £5m and 
Capital 
between 
£1.5m and 
£5m 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Joe 
Coyne 
 
joe.coyne@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 242



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the decision 
being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for 
further information 
or relevant 
documents 
 

Documents 
to be 
submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other 
relevant 
documents 
may be 
submitted) 
 

Strategic 
Director of the 
Economy 
Department 
 

Before 31 Jul 
2024 
 

Decision to acquire properties 
to support refugee resettlement 
- F 
 
This decision is one of several key 
decisions to enable the council to 
purchase properties to support 
refugee resettlement in line with 
the aims of the Refugee Housing 
Programme. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for the 
Economy 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 
and £5m and 
Capital 
between 
£1.5m and 
£5m 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Joe 
Coyne 
 
joe.coyne@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Children and 
Education 
 

July 2024 
 

Children's Centre Consultation 
 
Consultation required before 
proposed changes are 
implemented. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Children and Education 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Alistair Ayres 
 
alistair.ayres@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Public Realm 
 

July 2024 
 

Development of Neighbourhood 
Improvements and Place 
Shaping Projects 
 
Capital Investment in the 
development of Neighbourhood 
Improvements and Place Shaping 
Projects that tackle a variety of 
issues such as safety, traffic, noise 
and air pollution, business growth, 
climate adaptation, rewilding, flood 

Cabinet Member for 
Public Realm 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 
and £5m and 
Capital 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Russell Trewartha 
Tel: 07551680551 
Russell.Trewartha@lbhf.gov
.uk 

Page 243



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the decision 
being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for 
further information 
or relevant 
documents 
 

Documents 
to be 
submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other 
relevant 
documents 
may be 
submitted) 
 

between 
£1.5m and 
£5m 
 

mitigation, lowering carbon, and 
well-being. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Executive 
Director of 
Finance and 
Corporate 
Services 
 

July 2024 
 

Local Electric Vehicle 
Infrastructure (LEVI) Grant 
Acceptance 
 
Acceptance of the indicative LEVI 
grant allocation of £7.4m on behalf 
of the sub-regional partnership. 
Creation of associated income and 
expenditure accounts and 
administering of funds on behalf of 
the partnership as the lead 
authority. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Public Realm 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Budg/pol 
framework 
 

Ward(s): 
 
 

Contact officer: 
Masum Choudhury 
 
Masum.Choudhury@lbhf.go
v.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Director 
Children's 
Services 
 

July 2024 
 

Approve spend for windows 
related works at Langford 
Primary 
 
Approve spend for H&S related 
windows works at Langford 
Primary School 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Children and Education 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome 
above £300K 
- Revenue 
up to £500k 
and Capital 
up to 1.5m 
 

Ward(s): 
Sands End 
 

Contact officer: 
Anthony Mugan 
 
Anthony.Mugan@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 244



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the decision 
being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for 
further information 
or relevant 
documents 
 

Documents 
to be 
submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other 
relevant 
documents 
may be 
submitted) 
 

Deputy Leader 
 

July 2024 
 

Extension to Olive House Extra 
Care Contract 
 
The decision is to extend the Olive 
House Extra Care Contract for one 
year, with the option to extend for 
another year. 
 
The service is based on a core 
and flexi model which fits around 
resident’s needs. This extension 
will provide a consistent and 
sustainable Extra Care Service for 
resident of the borough, which 
promotes independent living, 
enabling them to remain in their 
own home for as long as possible 
and reduces the need for more 
expensive residential care. 
 
 
 

Deputy Leader 

 
A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 
and £5m and 
Capital 
between 
£1.5m and 
£5m 
 

Ward(s): 
Sands End 
 

Contact officer: Jessie 
Ellis 
 
Jessie.Ellis@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Public Realm 
 

July 2024 
 

Parking Strategy - resident 
parking permit charges 
 
A review of resident parking permit 
charges 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Public Realm 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 
and £5m and 
Capital 
between 
£1.5m and 
£5m 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Mark 
Fanneran 
 
mark.fanneran@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Children and 
Education 
 

30 Aug 2024 
 

Children's Centre Consultation 
 
Request for approval of formal 
consultation regarding proposed 
changes to children's centres. 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Children and Education 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Eddina Aceng 
Tel: 07717346540 

Page 245



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the decision 
being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for 
further information 
or relevant 
documents 
 

Documents 
to be 
submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other 
relevant 
documents 
may be 
submitted) 
 

and £5m and 
Capital 
between 
£1.5m and 
£5m 
 
 

 
 

Eddina.Aceng@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Public Realm 
 

July 2024 
 

Linford Christie Stadium 
Athletics Track Refurbishment 
 
Refurbishment of athletics track 
and installation of new LED 
floodlights. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Public Realm 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome 
above £300K 
- Revenue 
up to £500k 
and Capital 
up to 1.5m 
 

Ward(s): 
College Park and Old 
Oak 
 

Contact officer: Simon 
Ingyon 
 
Simon.Ingyon@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Public Realm 
 

2 Sep 2024 
 

Pavement Licence 
 
New legislation has been 
introduced to allow for the longer 
term provision of pavement 
licences. Report to be submitted 
containing recommendations on 
how to implement this licence. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Public Realm 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Alexander Ryan 
Tel: 020 8753 2179 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 246



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the decision 
being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for 
further information 
or relevant 
documents 
 

Documents 
to be 
submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other 
relevant 
documents 
may be 
submitted) 
 

Executive 
Director of 
Place 
 

Before 31 
Aug 2024 
 

Appointment of Employer’s 
Agent for Construction Works 
 
Appointment of Employer's Agent 
for existing construction contract 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for the 
Economy 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome 
above £300K 
- Revenue 
up to £500k 
and Capital 
up to 1.5m 
 

Ward(s): 
Hammersmith 
Broadway 
 

Contact officer: Daniel 
Murray 
 
daniel.murray@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Corporate 

Strategic 
Director of the 
Economy 
Department 
 

July 2024 
 

Contract for the supply and 
installation of air to water 
source heat pump system 
 
We are proposing to let and award 
a contract for the supply and 
installation of air to water source 
heat pump system (s) at 105 
Greyhound Road, W6 8NL and the 
Public Mortuary at 200 Townmead 
Road, SW6 2RE. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for the 
Economy 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
Sands End 
 

Contact officer: 
Sebastian Mazurczak 
Tel: 020 8753 1707 
Sebastian.Mazurczak@lbhf.
gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Housing and 
Homelessness 
 

July 2024 
 

Contract Award Report - 
Consultancy Services 
Framework 
 
Contract award report in relation to 
the appointment of specialist 

Cabinet Member for 
Housing and 
Homelessness 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome over 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Page 247



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the decision 
being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for 
further information 
or relevant 
documents 
 

Documents 
to be 
submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other 
relevant 
documents 
may be 
submitted) 
 

£5m & 
policies or 
new income, 
reserves 
use, 
overspend 
over £300K 
 

external consultants to deliver 
professional services for the 
Economy Department covering: 
Multi-disciplinary services (such as 
Quantity Surveyors, Contract 
Administrators, Project Managers, 
Principal Designers including CDM 
Consultants/Advisors, Building 
Surveyors and Employers Agents 
including a combination of such 
services); Engineering Services 
(such as Mechanical & Electrical 
and Civil and Structural); 
Architectural Services; Clerk of 
Works Services; and Fire 
Consultancy Services. 
 
The Consultancy Services 
Framework Agreement comprises 
eight (8) lots and will run for a 
period of four (4) years. 
 

Contact officer: 
Dominic D Souza 
 

Dominic.DSouza@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Leader of the 
Council 
 

July 2024 
 

Open Market Acquisition 
 
The authority to acquire residential 
properties to accelerate the 
delivery of genuinely affordable 
housing in the borough, to meet 
the urgent need for affordable 
housing. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for the 
Economy 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome over 
£5m & 
policies or 
new income, 
reserves 
use, 
overspend 
over £300K 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Mo 
Goudah 
 
mo.goudah@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Housing and 
Homelessness 
 

July 2024 
 

Variations to Housing Repairs 
Contract 
 
Contract variation to existing 
housing repairs contract 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Housing and 
Homelessness 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 

Reason: 
 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Emma 
Lucas 

Page 248



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the decision 
being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for 
further information 
or relevant 
documents 
 

Documents 
to be 
submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other 
relevant 
documents 
may be 
submitted) 
 

 
 

Tel: 07827883247 
Emma.Lucas@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Executive 
Director of 
Finance and 
Corporate 
Services 
 

July 2024 
 

Land and property-based ICT 
system contract extension 
 
Approval of a 12 month contract 
extension with existing provider 
IDOX to enable the data migration 
and new system configuration to 
take place 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Reform 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome 
above £300K 
- Revenue 
up to £500k 
and Capital 
up to 1.5m 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Davina Barton 
 
Davina.Barton@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Public Realm 
 

July 2024 
 

Parking Bailiff Enforcement 
Procurement Strategy 
 
This decision will be to sign off on 
the procurement strategy relating 
to the bailiff enforcement contract 
for outstanding Penalty Charge 
Notice (PCN) debt. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Public Realm 
 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 
and £5m and 
Capital 
between 
£1.5m and 
£5m 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Gary 
Hannaway, Bram 
Kainth 
Tel: 020 8753, Tel: 
07917790900 
gary.hannaway@lbhf.gov.uk
, bram.kainth@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 249



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the decision 
being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for 
further information 
or relevant 
documents 
 

Documents 
to be 
submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other 
relevant 
documents 
may be 
submitted) 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Children and 
Education 
 

July 2024 
 

Procurement Strategy for 
Community Schools 
Programme Refurbishment 
Works 
 
To refurbish Lena Gardens and 
Mund St. sites to serve as decant 
locations for schools in the 
Community Schools Programme 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Children and 
Education 
 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 
and £5m and 
Capital 
between 
£1.5m and 
£5m 
 

Ward(s): 
Avonmore; Addison; 
Brook Green; 
Ravenscourt 
 

Contact officer: 
Anthony Mugan 
 
Anthony.Mugan@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Strategic 
Director of the 
Economy 
Department 
 

July 2024 
 

Community Schools 
Programme – Variation to the 
appointment of Design Team 
(BPTW) 
 
Variation to existing contract for 
Design Team services 
(encompassing architectural 
design services) for the 
Community Schools Programme. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for the 
Economy 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
Avonmore; 
Ravenscourt 
 

Contact officer: 
Patrick Vincent 
 
Patrick.Vincent@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Deputy Leader 
 

July 2024 
 

Direct Award of Contract for 
Minterne Gardens Extra Care 
Service 
 
The decision is to agree that the 
Contract with Housing 21 will start 
from February 2023 until 31st 
March 2027.  
 
The decision is to agree that the 
total value of the four-year 

Deputy Leader 
 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 
and £5m and 
Capital 

Ward(s): 
White City; Wormholt 
 

Contact officer: Johan 
van Wijgerden 
Tel: 07493864829 
Johan.vanwijgerden@lbhf.g
ov.uk 

Page 250



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the decision 
being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for 
further information 
or relevant 
documents 
 

Documents 
to be 
submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other 
relevant 
documents 
may be 
submitted) 
 

between 
£1.5m and 
£5m 
 

Housing 21 Minterne Gardens 
contract is expected to be 
£3,919,566.  
 
The service is based on a core 
and flexi model which fits around 
resident’s needs. This contract will 
provide a consistent and 
sustainable Extra Care Service for 
resident of the borough, which 
promotes independent living, 
enabling them to remain in their 
own home for as long as possible 
and reduces the need for more 
expensive residential care. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Strategic 
Director of the 
Economy 
Department 
 

July 2024 
 

Decarbonisation of non-
domestic properties (phase 2) - 
WOS - contract award 
 
Decision relates to the award of a 
Works / Optimisation Service 
(WOS) contract for retrofitting and 
decarbonising H&F assets (incl. 
replacement of gas boilers with 
ASHPs).  
 
This decision follows the 
procurement strategy taken to 
Cabinet on 18th July 2022 and the 
Cabinet report (requesting 
approval for authority to award the 
contract to be delegated to 
relevant the SLT Director, in 
consultation with the Cabinet 
Member) on 6th March 2023. 
 
The WOS contract will be used for 
the installation of Energy 
Conservation Measures (ECMs) at 
H&F non-domestic properties. The 
delivery of decarbonisation and 
retrofit projects will support the 
Council to achieve its net-zero 
carbon target and reduce carbon 
emissions in H&F. 

 
 

Cabinet Member for the 
Economy 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome over 
£5m & 
policies or 
new income, 
reserves 
use, 
overspend 
over £300K 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Jonathan Skaife 
 

Jonathan.Skaife@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 251



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the decision 
being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for 
further information 
or relevant 
documents 
 

Documents 
to be 
submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other 
relevant 
documents 
may be 
submitted) 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Housing and 
Homelessness 
 

July 2024 
 

Procurement Strategy/Contract 
Award approval to Cablesheer 
to support with housing voids 
and repairs 
 
We are looking for both 
procurement strategy and contract 
award approval to direct award a 3 
year contract to Cablesheer. The 
contract will instruct work orders to 
Cablesheer to support our term-
service patch contractors with 
housing voids and repairs. 
 
This direct award will be through a 
compliant Construction Framework 
(The national framework 
partnership). The contract value 
will be for a maximum value of 
£4,500,000 over a 36 month 
duration. The contract will 
apportion the spend equally at 
£1,500,000 per annum.  

Cabinet Member for 
Housing and 
Homelessness 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 
and £5m and 
Capital 
between 
£1.5m and 
£5m 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Nick 
Marco-Wadey 
Tel: 07988490264 
Nick.Marco-
Wadey@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Housing and 
Homelessness 
 

July 2024 
 

Approval to extend our roofing 
contract by 12 months. 
 
We seek approval to extend our 
existing contract with our roofing 
subcontractor. This contract 
currently supports our DLO by 
carrying out roofing repairs and 
maintenance works, on behalf of 
H&F Maintenance, our Direct 
Labour Organisation (‘the DLO’. 
The DLO has responsibility for 
carrying out repairs to communal 
areas for most of our council 
housing stock. Due to the 
specialist nature of roofing works 
the DLO requires a subcontractor 
to carry out roofing repairs and 
maintenance works on its behalf.  
 
We initially procured this provider 
under a JCT measured term 
contract from the 16th of May 
2022 until the 15th of May 2024. 
The original contract award 
allowed for a 12 month extension 
of the contract until the 15th of 

Cabinet Member for 
Housing and 
Homelessness 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 
and £5m and 
Capital 
between 
£1.5m and 
£5m 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Nick 
Marco-Wadey 
Tel: 07988490264 
Nick.Marco-
Wadey@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 252



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the decision 
being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for 
further information 
or relevant 
documents 
 

Documents 
to be 
submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other 
relevant 
documents 
may be 
submitted) 
 

May 2025. 
 
We are seeking approval to action 
this extension of the contract until 
the 15th of May 2025. 

Strategic 
Director for the 
Environment 
 

July 2024 
 

Alternative Ecological Mitigation 
at Wormwood Scrubs 
Contractors Procurement 
 
This report is seeking permission 
for the council to approach the 
market and procure contractors for 
the implementation of the 
Alternative Ecological Mitigation 
(AEM) Masterplan capital works 
and 10 Year Management and 
Maintenance Plan (MMP) for 
Wormwood Scrubs. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Public Realm 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 
and £5m and 
Capital 
between 
£1.5m and 
£5m 
 

Ward(s): 
College Park and Old 
Oak 
 

Contact officer: Vicki 
Abel 
 
Victoria.Abel@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Deputy Leader 
 

July 2024 
 

Day Opportunities Direct Award 
Contract 
 
The purpose of this report is to 
approve a Direct Award to both 
Nubian Life and the Alzheimer's 
Society to the total value of 
£564,887. 
For both services, the contract 
ends on the 31st March 2023 and 
to ensure service continuity as well 
as planning a co-production 
project and tender in order that on 
the 1 June 2024 a revised service 
will be put in place. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Deputy Leader 

 
A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 
 
 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 
and £5m and 
Capital 
between 
£1.5m and 
£5m 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Laura 
Palfreeman 
Tel: 0208 753 1953 
Laura.Palfreeman@lbhf.gov.
uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 253



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the decision 
being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for 
further information 
or relevant 
documents 
 

Documents 
to be 
submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other 
relevant 
documents 
may be 
submitted) 
 

Director 
Children's 
Services 
 

July 2024 
 

Procurement Strategy for 
Temporary Classroom Unit at 
Woodlane High School 
 
Provision of 20 additional 
temporary spaces at Woodlane 
High Schools 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Children and Education 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome 
above £300K 
- Revenue 
up to £500k 
and Capital 
up to 1.5m 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Anthony Mugan 
 
Anthony.Mugan@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Housing and 
Homelessness 
 

July 2024 
 

Direct Award via the Southeast 
Consortium Framework for a 
Windows 
installation/replacement 
contractor 
 
We are seeking approval to 
compliantly direct award a 3 year, 
£3,000,000 windows installation 
and replacement contract via the 
Southeast Consortium Framework. 
 
This contract will provide the 
council with the additional capacity 
required to support our increasing 
work order demand within the 
repairs service. 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Housing and 
Homelessness 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 
and £5m and 
Capital 
between 
£1.5m and 
£5m 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Richard Buckley 
 
richard.buckley@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Strategic 
Director of the 
Economy 
Department 
 

July 2024 
 

Procurement of a Marquee for 
the refurbished Hammersmith 
Town Hall 
 
The Council is seeking to procure 
a marquee for the outdoor area of 
the rooftop bar and restaurant on 
Level 06 of the refurbished Town 
Hall 
 
 

Cabinet Member for the 
Economy 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome 
above £300K 
- Revenue 
up to £500k 
and Capital 
up to 1.5m 

Ward(s): 
Hammersmith 
Broadway 
 

Contact officer: 
Philippa Cartwright 
Philippa.Cartwright@lbhf.go
v.uk 

Page 254



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the decision 
being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for 
further information 
or relevant 
documents 
 

Documents 
to be 
submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other 
relevant 
documents 
may be 
submitted) 
 

  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Cabinet 
Member for the 
Economy 
 

July 2024 
 

Procurement and Installation of 
Audio Visual Equipment, Desk 
Booking and Smart Technology 
within the refurbished Town Hall 
 
The Council is seeking to tender 
for works to procure and install the 
following: 
- Audio Visual equipment 
- Desk Booking technology 
- Smart technology. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for the 
Economy 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 
and £5m and 
Capital 
between 
£1.5m and 
£5m 
 

Ward(s): 
Hammersmith 
Broadway 
 

Contact officer: 
Philippa Cartwright 
Philippa.Cartwright@lbhf.go
v.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Strategic 
Director of the 
Economy 
Department 
 

July 2024 
 

Procure joinery works in 
relation to large Furniture and 
Fixtures at the refurbished 
Town Hall 
 
The Council is seeking to tender a 
joinery package for the provision 
of two large reception desks and a 
bar counter at the refurbished 
Town Hall 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for the 
Economy 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome 
above £300K 
- Revenue 
up to £500k 
and Capital 
up to 1.5m 
 

Ward(s): 
Hammersmith 
Broadway 
 

Contact officer: 
Philippa Cartwright 
 
Philippa.Cartwright@lbhf.go
v.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 255



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the decision 
being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for 
further information 
or relevant 
documents 
 

Documents 
to be 
submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other 
relevant 
documents 
may be 
submitted) 
 

Cabinet 
Member for the 
Economy 
 

July 2024 
 

Fulham Library & Macbeth 
Centre Roof Replacement 
 
Roof Replacement works 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
the Economy 
 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome 
above £300K 
- Revenue 
up to £500k 
and Capital 
up to 1.5m 
 

Ward(s): 
Fulham Reach 
 

Contact officer: 
Sebastian Mazurczak 
Tel: 020 8753 1707 
Sebastian.Mazurczak@lbhf.
gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Children and 
Education 
 

July 2024 
 

GLA funding for Primary School 
Universal Free School Meals 
 
The Mayor for London announced 
£130 million of one-off funding to 
ensure all school children at 
publicly funded primary schools in 
London can receive free school 
meals for the academic year 
beginning in September 2023. 
 
The funding allocation for 
Hammersmith & Fulham is funding 
for schools to implement the meal 
provision for children in Key Stage 
2 who are not otherwise eligible for 
free school meals..  

 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Housing and 
Homelessness 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 
and £5m and 
Capital 
between 
£1.5m and 
£5m 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Marcus Robinson 
 
Marcus.RobinsonCHS@lbhf.
gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Strategic 
Director of the 
Economy 
Department 
 

Before 24 Jul 
2024 
 

Procurement of a works 
contract for Commercial office 
block lobby fit-out (Civic 
Campus) 
 
The existing build contract is for 
shell and core only. Work is 
required to fit-out the lobby area. 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for the 
Economy 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome 
above £300K 
- Revenue 
up to £500k 
and Capital 
up to 1.5m 

Ward(s): 
Hammersmith 
Broadway 
 

Contact officer: 
Philippa Cartwright 
Philippa.Cartwright@lbhf.go
v.uk 

Page 256



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the decision 
being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for 
further information 
or relevant 
documents 
 

Documents 
to be 
submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other 
relevant 
documents 
may be 
submitted) 
 

  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Strategic 
Director of the 
Economy 
Department 
 

July 2024 
 

Procurement of furniture for 
Ground to floor 5 of the Civic 
Campus 
 
As part of the transition of the 
workforce to the Civic Campus, 
furniture is required in order to 
allow the workforce to continue to 
deliver the services it currently 
does.  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for the 
Economy 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome 
above £300K 
- Revenue 
up to £500k 
and Capital 
up to 1.5m 
 

Ward(s): 
Hammersmith 
Broadway 
 

Contact officer: 
Philippa Cartwright 
 
Philippa.Cartwright@lbhf.go
v.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Strategic 
Director of the 
Economy 
Department 
 

July 2024 
 

Approval to award contract for 
6th Floor Terrace Landscaping 
Works (Civic Campus) 
 
The refurbishment of the Civic 
Campus building is currently 
underway. A contract is required to 
procure for the work on the roof 
garden, which will be on the 6th 
floor terrace. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for the 
Economy 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome 
above £300K 
- Revenue 
up to £500k 
and Capital 
up to 1.5m 
 

Ward(s): 
Hammersmith 
Broadway 
 

Contact officer: 
Philippa Cartwright 
 
Philippa.Cartwright@lbhf.go
v.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 257



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the decision 
being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for 
further information 
or relevant 
documents 
 

Documents 
to be 
submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other 
relevant 
documents 
may be 
submitted) 
 

Strategic 
Director of the 
Economy 
Department 
 

July 2024 
 

Contract award for provision of 
disrepair and void works 
 
Contract award for the provision of 
disrepair works. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Housing and 
Homelessness 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome 
above £300K 
- Revenue 
up to £500k 
and Capital 
up to 1.5m 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Emma 
Lucas 
Tel: 07827883247 
Emma.Lucas@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Strategic 
Director of the 
Economy 
Department 
 

July 2024 
 

Procurement Strategy for 
Garage Refurbishment 
 

Approval for the strategy to 
procure a contractor to deliver 
the Phase 3 programme of 
refurbishment works to garages 
on housing land. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Housing and 
Homelessness 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome 
above £300K 
- Revenue 
up to £500k 
and Capital 
up to 1.5m 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Emma 
Lucas 
Tel: 07827883247 
Emma.Lucas@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Children and 
Education 
 

July 2024 
 

Procurement Strategy for 
Voucher Payment Solution 
 
Procurement Strategy for the 
provision of closed loop 
supermarket vouchers 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Children and Education 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 
and £5m and 
Capital 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Marcus Robinson 
 
Marcus.RobinsonCHS@lbhf.
gov.uk 

Page 258



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the decision 
being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for 
further information 
or relevant 
documents 
 

Documents 
to be 
submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other 
relevant 
documents 
may be 
submitted) 
 

between 
£1.5m and 
£5m 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 

Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Finance and 
Reform 
 

July 2024 
 

CONTRACT EXTENSION FOR 
VARIABLE DATA PRINTING 
SERVICES 
 
The Council’s four-year contract 
for variable data print services 
ended on 30 November 2021. This 
contract included printing and 
mailing communications for 
several Council services, including 
revenues and benefits, housing 
and electoral services. These 
services continue to go through a 
programme of transformation, with 
a focus on improved digital 
delivery. A new two-year contract 
(with the option to extend for a 
further two years) was 
recommended to ensure short-
term stability of service as this 
transformation is embedded and 
services focus on Covid recovery.  
 
The contract was awarded to the 
current supplier, (Financial Data 
Management Ltd) who had 
performed well throughout the 
contract and continues to actively 
support the council in the delivery 
of a wide range of business-critical 
services. As such, and to ensure 
ongoing service delivery, an 
extension of a further 2 years as 
per the terms of the contract 
awarded in Nov 2021, is 
considered to be the most efficient 
and economically advantageous 
solution. The extension of the 
contract will be on the same terms 
and conditions as the current 
contract, where costs are incurred 
based on actual service volumes. 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Reform 
 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 
and £5m and 
Capital 
between 
£1.5m and 
£5m 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Jamie 
Mullins 
Tel: 020 8753 1650 
Jamie.Mullins@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 259



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the decision 
being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for 
further information 
or relevant 
documents 
 

Documents 
to be 
submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other 
relevant 
documents 
may be 
submitted) 
 

This provides for the opportunity to 
reduce printing and mailing costs 
as the Council expands its’ 
programme of digitalisation across 
these service areas. 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Housing and 
Homelessness 
 

July 2024 
 

Procurement Strategy for 
Housing Lift Modernisation of 
Barton and Jepson House 
 
To maintain the lift service, it has 
been recommended that works to 
modernise the lift should be 
carried out. This will both improve 
the reliability of the lifts and reduce 
future running costs. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Housing and 
Homelessness 
 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 
and £5m and 
Capital 
between 
£1.5m and 
£5m 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Akeem Durojaye 
 

akeem.durojaye@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Public Realm 
 

July 2024 
 

Smart Transport - Traffic Data 
Procurement 
 
To procure Smart Transport to 
handle the Parking departments 
on-street data collection needs. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Public Realm 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 
 
 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 
and £5m and 
Capital 
between 
£1.5m and 
£5m 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Oscar 
Turnerberg 
Tel: 074 9854 2978 

oscar.turnerberg@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 260



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the decision 
being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for 
further information 
or relevant 
documents 
 

Documents 
to be 
submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other 
relevant 
documents 
may be 
submitted) 
 

Cabinet 
Member for the 
Economy 
 

July 2024 
 

Strategy Report for 
Procurement of Energy - 
Flexible April 2025-2030 
 
This strategy report requests 
approval for a new Energy 
Procurement for Housing 
Communal Landlord Supply & 
Corporate Properties for the period 
2025-2030, as our current 
contracts are due to end 31st 
March 2025. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for the 
Economy 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Sebastian Mazurczak, 
Kal Saini 
Tel: 020 8753 1707, Tel: 
0208 753 7937 
Sebastian.Mazurczak@lbhf.
gov.uk, 
Kal.Saini@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Housing and 
Homelessness 
 

July 2024 
 

Short-Term Contract Variation 
to Council Repairs Contract 
(LOT 3) 
 

This report is seeking approval 
to temporarily vary the Mears 
Central Repairs contract. This 
variation will involve allowing 
for additional temporary 
supervisory and administrative 
support as well as an 
enhancement on the current 
contract rates.  
 
The variation will involve cost 
changes totalling up to 
£680,000. This will be a 
temporary variation for a 17-
week period.  
 

Cabinet Member for 
Housing and 
Homelessness 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 
and £5m and 
Capital 
between 
£1.5m and 
£5m 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Nick 
Marco-Wadey 
Tel: 07988490264 
Nick.Marco-
Wadey@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Housing and 
Homelessness 
 

July 2024 
 

Contract Award Report: 
Procurement Strategy – 
Electrical Lateral Mains Upgrade 
Works (22 Blocks) 
 
A decision is required for the 
award of a contract to the 
identified winning bidder in relation 
to the Electrical Lateral Mains 
Upgrade Works (22 Blocks). The 

Cabinet Member for 
Housing and 
Homelessness 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Nick 
Marco-Wadey 
Tel: 07988490264 

Page 261



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the decision 
being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for 
further information 
or relevant 
documents 
 

Documents 
to be 
submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other 
relevant 
documents 
may be 
submitted) 
 

and £5m and 
Capital 
between 
£1.5m and 
£5m 
 

estimated budget for this contract 
is £3,000,000. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Nick.Marco-
Wadey@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Strategic 
Director for the 
Environment 
 

July 2024 
 

Approval of Capital Spend for 
vehicles for waste, recycling, 
and street cleansing contract 
 
Approval for vehicle purchase to 
deliver waste services 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Public Realm 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 
and £5m and 
Capital 
between 
£1.5m and 
£5m 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Pat 
Cosgrave 
Tel: 020 8753 2810 
Pat.Cosgrave@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Strategic 
Director, Chief 
Operating 
Officer, 
Corporate 
Services 
 

July 2024 
 

Extension of call off contract for 
the Portal, E forms & CRM 
system 
 
To approve the award to Granicus-
Firmstep Limited of a two-year 
permitted extension to the existing 
call off contract. The total value of 
the contract to date is £850k. The 
estimated minimum value of this 2-
year extension is £340k. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Reform 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome 
above £300K 
- Revenue 
up to £500k 
and Capital 
up to 1.5m 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Ashley Bryant, Darren 
Persaud 
 
ashley.bryant@lbhf.gov.uk, 
Darren.Persaud 
@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 262



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the decision 
being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for 
further information 
or relevant 
documents 
 

Documents 
to be 
submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other 
relevant 
documents 
may be 
submitted) 
 

Cabinet 
Member for the 
Economy 
 

July 2024 
 

Procurement and award of 
consultancy contract 
 
Procurement and award of a 
contract under a call-off procedure 
from “Yorkshire Purchasing 
Organisation 001141 Managing 
Consultancy and Professional 
Services Framework” to Reed 
Specialist Recruitment trading as 
Consultancy+ for the provision of 
professional consultancy services 
in relation to leisure and 
recreational infrastructure. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for the 
Economy 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 
and £5m and 
Capital 
between 
£1.5m and 
£5m 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Mo 
Goudah, Matthew 
Rumble 
 
mo.goudah@lbhf.gov.uk, 
matt.rumble@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Strategic 
Director of the 
Economy 
Department 
 

July 2024 
 

APPOINTMENT OF SUPPLIER 
FOR FLEET TO THE IN-HOUSE 
REPAIRS SERVICE 
 
Procurement strategy and contract 
award report for a compliant direct 
award of a 3 year contract for fleet 
provision to the in-house repairs 
team. The value of the contract is 
estimated to be up to £450,000. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
the Economy 
 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome 
above £300K 
- Revenue 
up to £500k 
and Capital 
up to 1.5m 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Nick 
Marco-Wadey 
Tel: 07988490264 
Nick.Marco-
Wadey@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Strategic 
Director of the 
Economy 
Department 
 

July 2024 
 

Major Refurbishment of Derwent 
Court W6 
 
Award of contract to carry out 
major refurbishment works to 1-10 
Derwent Court W6. Works include 
new roof covering, new windows 
and doors, external wall insulation, 
and general fabric repairs and 
redecoration. 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Housing and 
Homelessness 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome 
above £300K 
- Revenue 
up to £500k 
and Capital 

Ward(s): 
Ravenscourt 
 

Contact officer: Vince 
Conway 
Tel: 020 8753 1915 
Vince.Conway@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 263



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the decision 
being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for 
further information 
or relevant 
documents 
 

Documents 
to be 
submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other 
relevant 
documents 
may be 
submitted) 
 

up to 1.5m 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Public Realm 
 

July 2024 
 

Pan London Contract on the 
Future of Micro-mobility 
 
Authority to negotiate terms, agree 
charges and enter into contracts 
related to e-bike hire and e-
scooter hire contracts . 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Public Realm 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 
and £5m and 
Capital 
between 
£1.5m and 
£5m 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Masum Choudhury 
 
Masum.Choudhury@lbhf.go
v.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Public Realm 
 

July 2024 
 

Leisure Contract Variation 
 
Leisure Contract Variation 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Public Realm 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 
and £5m and 
Capital 
between 
£1.5m and 
£5m 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Simon 
Ingyon 
 
Simon.Ingyon@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 264



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the decision 
being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for 
further information 
or relevant 
documents 
 

Documents 
to be 
submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other 
relevant 
documents 
may be 
submitted) 
 

Cabinet 
Member for the 
Economy 
 

July 2024 
 

Procurement Strategy and 
Contract Award report for the 
Direct Award of contracts (via 
the consultancy services 
framework)to provide 
consultancy support for various 
schemes within the Housing 
Capital Programme 
 

This report request to procure 
two lots as follows: 
 

1) The provision of multi-
disciplinary services at 
Swan 
Court/Ravensworth 
Court and Arthur 
Henderson 
House/William Banfield 
House.  The value is 
estimated at £262,320.   

2) The provision of 
multidisciplinay services 
at West Kensington and 
Lytton estates.  The 
value is estimated at 
£417,860.  
 

Cabinet Member for 
the Economy 
 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome 
above £300K 
- Revenue 
up to £500k 
and Capital 
up to 1.5m 
 

Ward(s): 
Avonmore; Fulham 
Town; Walham 
Green; West 
Kensington 
 

Contact officer: Nick 
Marco-Wadey 
Tel: 07988490264 
Nick.Marco-
Wadey@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Finance and 
Reform 
 

July 2024 
 

Digital Advertising Hoardings 
Overview 
 
An update on the status of the 
advertising portfolio 
 
PART OPEN 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Reform 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 
and £5m and 
Capital 
between 
£1.5m and 
£5m 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Joanna Mccormick 
Tel: 0741207694 
Joanna.Mccormick@lbhf.go
v.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 265



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the decision 
being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for 
further information 
or relevant 
documents 
 

Documents 
to be 
submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other 
relevant 
documents 
may be 
submitted) 
 

Executive 
Director of 
Finance and 
Corporate 
Services 
 

July 2024 
 

Award of contract for the major 
refurbishment of various void 
properties 
 
This report seeks approval to 
award a contract for the major 
refurbishment of void properties, 
including structural works, at 
various addresses across the 
Borough. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for the 
Economy 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 
and £5m and 
Capital 
between 
£1.5m and 
£5m 
 

Ward(s): 
Coningham; Grove; 
Hammersmith 
Broadway; Fulham 
Town; Palace & 
Hurlingham 
 

Contact officer: Vince 
Conway 
Tel: 020 8753 1915 
Vince.Conway@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Strategic 
Director of the 
Economy 
Department 
 

July 2024 
 

Contract Award for the design, 
supply, installation and 
commission of fire safety 
infrastructure 
 
Compliant direct award of a 
contract for the design, supply, 
installation and commission of fire 
safety infrastructure. The value is 
estimated at £1,280,024.00 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Reform 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome 
above £300K 
- Revenue 
up to £500k 
and Capital 
up to 1.5m 
 

Ward(s): 
 
 

Contact officer: Nick 
Marco-Wadey 
Tel: 07988490264 
Nick.Marco-
Wadey@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Public Realm 
 

July 2024 
 

Procurement of Toxicology 
Provision for West London 
Coroner’s Court 
 
This report seeks approval to 
procure a 3-year contract, with the 
option to extend for up to 2 further 
years for toxicology services. The 
toxicology contract is to be 
awarded by the London Borough 
of Hammersmith and Fulham on 

Cabinet Member for 
Public Realm 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome - 
Revenue 
between 
£500,000 
and £5m and 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Kayode Adewumi 
 
Kayode.Adewumi@lbhf.gov.
uk 

Page 266



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the decision 
being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for 
further information 
or relevant 
documents 
 

Documents 
to be 
submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other 
relevant 
documents 
may be 
submitted) 
 

Capital 
between 
£1.5m and 
£5m 
 

behalf of the West London 
Coroner's Service. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Children and 
Education 
 

September 
2024 
 

Mosaic Contract Extension 
 
The Mosaic contract expires 
31/01/2025, officers would like to 
request a 2 year extension on the 
contract to complete procurement 
exercise to award new contract. 
The contract is for CHS and ASC. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Children and Education 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
 
 

Ward(s): 
 
 

Contact officer: 
Eddina Aceng 
Tel: 07717346540 
Eddina.Aceng@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Executive 
Director of 
Finance and 
Corporate 
Services 
 

8 Aug 2024 
 

Fire Risk Assessment Services 
 
Approval to award a 24month 
contract for Fire Risk Assessment 
Services via our Consultants 
Framework, Lot 8.  
 
Approval to terminate the contract 
for Fire Risk Assessment Services 
with our existing consultant. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Housing and 
Homelessness 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome 
above £300K 
- Revenue 
up to £500k 
and Capital 
up to 1.5m 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Nick 
Marco-Wadey 
Tel: 07988490264 
Nick.Marco-
Wadey@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 267



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the decision 
being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for 
further information 
or relevant 
documents 
 

Documents 
to be 
submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other 
relevant 
documents 
may be 
submitted) 
 

CABINET - 15 July 2024 

Cabinet 
 

15 Jul 2024 
 

Grant Strategy for the launch of 
the Third Sector Investment 
Fund (3SIF) 
 
Analyses options for the future of 
funding to the local Voluntary and 
Community Sector (VCS) via the 
Third Sector Investment fund 
(3SIF). 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Social Inclusion and 
Community Safety 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome over 
£5m & 
policies or 
new income, 
reserves 
use, 
overspend 
over £300K 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Katharina Herrmann, 
Rebecca Richardson 
Tel: 07827879659 
Katharina.Herrmann@lbhf.g
ov.uk, 
rebecca.richardson@lbhf.go
v.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
 

15 Jul 2024 
 

Queensmill School transitional 
funding 
 
Special School Funding decision 
for provision in H&F. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Children and Education 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Daryle 
Mathurin 
Tel: 07816 661199 

Daryle.Mathurin@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
 

15 Jul 2024 
 

Hammersmith Town Centre 
Supplementary Planning 
Document 
 
A suplemmentary Planning 
document to guide development in 
Hammersmith Town Centre 
 
 

Cabinet Member for the 
Economy 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: David 
Gawthorpe 

Page 268



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the decision 
being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for 
further information 
or relevant 
documents 
 

Documents 
to be 
submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other 
relevant 
documents 
may be 
submitted) 
 

 
 
 
 

 
David.Gawthorpe@lbhf.gov.
uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

CABINET - 2 September 

Cabinet 
 

2 Sep 2024 
 

Continued support to residents 
through the Cost-of-Living 
Crisis 
 
This briefing looks at the 
successes of the Council’s Cost of 
Living (COL) programme in 
2023/24 and how we made the 
best use of resources to respond 
to the needs of residents with 
compassion and efficiency.  
 
It also looks ahead at how we will 
continue to provide help to those 
that need it in 2024/25, including 
through the use of the latest round 
of Household Support Fund (HSF), 
which has been extended by a 
further six months until 30 
September 2024.  

Cabinet Member for 
Social Inclusion and 
Community Safety 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Matthew Sales 
 
matthew.sales@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
 

2 Sep 2024 
 

H&F Private Rented Sector 
Policy 
 
This report proposes the adoption 
of a new private rented sector 
policy for H&F, to support renters 
and landlords across out borough. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Housing and 
Homelessness 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Ed 
Shaylor 
 
Ed.Shaylor@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 269



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the decision 
being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for 
further information 
or relevant 
documents 
 

Documents 
to be 
submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other 
relevant 
documents 
may be 
submitted) 
 

the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Cabinet 
 

2 Sep 2024 
 

H&F Air Quality Action Plan 
2024-2029 
 
Statutory Air Quality Action Plan 
for 5 year period, required as 
whole of H&F is within an Air 
Quality Management Area. Action 
Plan has been approved by GLA 
and DEFRA and now needs to be 
formally adopted. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Climate Change and 
Ecology 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Hinesh Mehta 
 
Hinesh.Mehta@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
 

2 Sep 2024 
 

Net Zero 2030 Parking Strategy 
 
This report sets out how the 
council’s parking strategy can best 
be used to tackle the dangerous 
levels of air pollution in 
Hammersmith & Fulham and 
support meeting the Council’s Net 
Zero 2030 targets 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Public Realm 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Mark 
Fanneran 
 
mark.fanneran@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
 

2 Sep 2024 
 

Travel Care Taxi Procurement 
Strategy 
 
This report seeks approval of the 
procurement strategy for Travel 
Care and Support Taxi Services 

Cabinet Member for 
Children and Education 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome over 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Page 270



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the decision 
being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for 
further information 
or relevant 
documents 
 

Documents 
to be 
submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other 
relevant 
documents 
may be 
submitted) 
 

£5m & 
policies or 
new income, 
reserves 
use, 
overspend 
over £300K 
 

from September 2025. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Contact officer: Joe 
Gunning 
Tel: 07769672031 
Joe.Gunning@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Cabinet 
 

2 Sep 2024 
 

Digital Inclusion Strategy 
 
This report presents a new Digital 
Inclusion Strategy for the borough, 
which has been co-produced with 
council directorates and residents. 
Residents and voluntary and 
community sector (VCS) partners 
have been actively engaged and 
shaped the strategy through the 
Digital Accessibility Group. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Reform 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Budg/pol 
framework 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Tina 
Akpogheneta 
Tel: 020 8753 5748 
Tina.Akpogheneta@lbhf.gov
.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
 

2 Sep 2024 
 

Semi-independent living 
accommodation (SIL) for 
children looked after, care 
leavers and young people 
experiencing homelessness - 
procurement strategy 
 
Recommission of SIL support 
contract. Leases for Council 
owned buildings will be included 
and the remaining accommodation 
will be provider by the supplier. 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Children and Education 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome over 
£5m & 
policies or 
new income, 
reserves 
use, 
overspend 
over £300K 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Sophie Veitch 
Tel: 07876855124 
sophie.veitch@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 271



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the decision 
being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for 
further information 
or relevant 
documents 
 

Documents 
to be 
submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other 
relevant 
documents 
may be 
submitted) 
 

 the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Cabinet 
 

2 Sep 2024 
 

Temporary agency resources 
contract extension 
 
To approve the extension of 
contract. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Reform 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome over 
£5m & 
policies or 
new income, 
reserves 
use, 
overspend 
over £300K 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Lucy 
Robinson 
 
Lucy.Robinson@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
 

2 Sep 2024 
 

Provisional Revenue Outturn 
Report 2023/24 
 
Revenue outturn position for the 
Council's General Fund for 
2023/24. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Reform 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Andre 
Mark 
Tel: 020 8753 7227 
andre.mark@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
 

2 Sep 2024 
 

Capital Programme Monitor & 
Budget Variations, 2023/24 
(Outturn) 
 
The report details of the capital 
programme outturn for the 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Reform 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome over 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Page 272



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the decision 
being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for 
further information 
or relevant 
documents 
 

Documents 
to be 
submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other 
relevant 
documents 
may be 
submitted) 
 

£5m & 
policies or 
new income, 
reserves 
use, 
overspend 
over £300K 
 

financial year 2023/24 (including 
the financing of this spend) and 
approves 2023/24 slippages into 
the future years. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Contact officer: Andre 
Mark 
Tel: 020 8753 7227 
andre.mark@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Cabinet 
 

2 Sep 2024 
 

Treasury Management Outturn 
Report 
 
This report sets out the Council’s 
Treasury Management 
performance for 2023/24 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Reform 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Sukvinder Kalsi 
 
Sukvinder.Kalsi@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
 

2 Sep 2024 
 

Revenue Budget Review 
2024/25 - Month 2 (May 2024) 
 
To note the Council's financial 
forecast position. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Reform 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Sukvinder Kalsi 
 
Sukvinder.Kalsi@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 273



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the decision 
being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for 
further information 
or relevant 
documents 
 

Documents 
to be 
submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other 
relevant 
documents 
may be 
submitted) 
 

the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

CABINET - 7 October 

Cabinet 
 

7 Oct 2024 
 

Retrofit Strategy 
 
The Retrofit Strategy will provide 
H&F with a detailed understanding 
of the required approach to 
achieve net zero carbon emissions 
by 2030 on the HRA stock. 
 
PART OPEN 
PART PRIVATE 
Part of this report is exempt from 
disclosure on the grounds that it 
contains information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of a 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 
under paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 
1972, and in all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Housing and 
Homelessness 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Rehan 
Khan 
 
rehan.khan@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
 

7 Oct 2024 
 

Attendance Strategy 
 
The Attendance Strategy has 
been developed in response to 
DfE Guidance ‘Working together to 
improve school attendance’ and 
sets out H&F’s strategic approach 
to ensuring a whole system 
response to working with children, 
young people and their families to 
remove the barriers to good 
attendance. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Children and Education 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Joe 
Gunning 
Tel: 07769672031 
Joe.Gunning@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 274



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the decision 
being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for 
further information 
or relevant 
documents 
 

Documents 
to be 
submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other 
relevant 
documents 
may be 
submitted) 
 

Cabinet 
 

7 Oct 2024 
 

Funding Community Benefits 
Through Planning Obligations 
Draw Down Report 2023/24 
 
The Council is required to use 
funds received from planning 
obligations to address the impact 
of developments carried out . This 
report sets out the use of funds 
received through Section 106 
agreements and received as a 
result of the Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
schedules in force in the Borough. 
It seeks approval to the drawdown 
of these funds for projects which 
have been delivered in 2023/24. 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for the 
Economy 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Rebecca Yee 
Tel: 07786 290034 
Rebecca.Yee@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
 

7 Oct 2024 
 

CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
MONITOR & BUDGET 
VARIATIONS, 2024/25 (FIRST 
QUARTER) 
 
This report reports the quarter 1 
position to Cabinet and seeks 
revisions to the Capital 
Programme which require the 
approval of Cabinet in accordance 
with the Council’s financial 
regulations. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Reform 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome over 
£5m & 
policies or 
new income, 
reserves 
use, 
overspend 
over £300K 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Andre 
Mark 
Tel: 020 8753 7227 
andre.mark@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

CABINET - 13 January 

Cabinet 
 

13 Jan 2025 
 

CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
MONITOR & BUDGET 
VARIATIONS, 2024/25 (SECOND 
QUARTER) 
 
This report reports the quarter 2 
position to Cabinet and seeks 
revisions to the Capital 
Programme which require the 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Reform 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome over 
£5m & 
policies or 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Andre 
Mark 

Page 275



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the decision 
being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for 
further information 
or relevant 
documents 
 

Documents 
to be 
submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other 
relevant 
documents 
may be 
submitted) 
 

new income, 
reserves 
use, 
overspend 
over £300K 
 

approval of Cabinet in accordance 
with the Council’s financial 
regulations. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tel: 020 8753 7227 
andre.mark@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Cabinet 
 

13 Jan 2025 
 

Revenue Budget Review 
2024/25 - Month 6 (September 
2024) 
 
To note the Council's forecast 
position. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Reform 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Sukvinder Kalsi 
 
Sukvinder.Kalsi@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

CABINET - 10 February 

Cabinet 
 

10 Feb 2025 
 

CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
MONITOR & BUDGET 
VARIATIONS, 2024/25 (THIRD 
QUARTER) 
 
This report reports the quarter 3 
position to Cabinet and seeks 
revisions to the Capital 
Programme which require the 
approval of Cabinet in accordance 
with the Council’s financial 
regulations. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Reform 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome over 
£5m & 
policies or 
new income, 
reserves 
use, 
overspend 
over £300K 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Andre 
Mark 
Tel: 020 8753 7227 
andre.mark@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 276



 
 

 

Decision to 
be Made by 
(Cabinet or 
Council) 
 

Date of 
Decision-
Making 
Meeting and 
Reason 
 

Proposed Key Decision 
 
Most decisions are made in 
public unless indicated below, 
with the reasons for the decision 
being made in private. 
 

Lead Executive 
Councillor(s), Wards 
Affected, and officer 
to contact for 
further information 
or relevant 
documents 
 

Documents 
to be 
submitted to 
Cabinet  
(other 
relevant 
documents 
may be 
submitted) 
 

3-day call-in. 
 

Cabinet 
 

10 Feb 2025 
 

FOUR YEAR CAPITAL 
PROGRAMME 2025/26 AND 
CAPITAL STRATEGY 2025/26 
 
This report sets out an updated 
four-year capital expenditure and 
resource forecast and a capital 
programme and strategy for 
2025/26 to 2028/29. 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Reform 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Expenditure/I
ncome over 
£5m & 
policies or 
new income, 
reserves 
use, 
overspend 
over £300K 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: Andre 
Mark 
Tel: 020 8753 7227 
andre.mark@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 

CABINET - 1 April 

Cabinet 
 

1 Apr 2025 
 

2024/25 Corporate Revenue 
Monitor - Month 9 (December 
2024) 
 
To note the Council's forecast 
position. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Reform 

 

A detailed 
report for all 
decisions 
going to 
Cabinet will be 
available at 
least five 
working days 
before the date 
of the meeting. 
Cabinet 
Member 
Decisions and 
Officer 
Decisions 
reports will be 
published at 
the start of the 
3-day call-in. 
 

Reason: 
Affects 2 or 
more wards 
 

Ward(s): 
All Wards 
 

Contact officer: 
Sukvinder Kalsi 
 
Sukvinder.Kalsi@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 277


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the Cabinet Meeting held on 3 June 2024
	4 Third Sector Investment Fund Strategy Report
	5 Queensmill School transitional funding
	6 Hammersmith Town Centre Supplementary Planning Document
	Appendix 1 - Hammersmith SPD
	Delivery and Implementation
	E. Active and Accessible Places
	D. Diversifying and Promoting New Uses
	C. Architectural Excellence
	B. Supporting Appropriate Density
	A. Climate Change and Sustainability 
	Developer Guidance
	Northern Quarter
	Eastern Quarter
	Hammersmith Broadway 
	Realising opportunities
	What we can achieve - Spatial framework
	Objectives for Delivery
	Vision
	Purpose of the SPD 
	Where we are now
	Setting the Scene
	Introduction
	King Street 

	Appendix 2 - Hammersmith SPD EqIA _May24
	Appendix 3 - Schedule of Representations

	7 Forward Plan of Key Decisions

